Ecological Characteristics of Ancient Semi-Natural Woodlands undergoing transformation to an Irregular High Forest silviculture in southern Britain

D. C. Alder

Ecological Characteristics of Ancient Semi-Natural Woodlands undergoing transformation to an Irregular High Forest silviculture in southern Britain

Daniel Carl Alder

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Manchester Metropolitan University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Natural Sciences

Manchester Metropolitan University

Abstract

Ancient woodlands in lowland Britain are repositories of cultural and ecological histories which reflect a long association with human intervention since the Mesolithic. The interests of ancient woodland are valued by society yet demands on woodlands beyond providing woodland produce have increased. Uncertainties around anthropogenic climate change are driving land-use policies towards more resilient outcomes and sustainable forest management is part of the response. Irregular silviculture is one method to achieve continuous cover forestry in the United Kingdom and is promoted as an appropriate method of sustainable forestry management and has been practised at the study site, Rushmore estate since the 1980s. As an exploited resource ancient woodlands were significant in the development of European society providing fuel, building materials and furnace charcoal for metallurgy. Coppice management was prevalent over many centuries, at its height between the 13th and 19th centuries. Despite intensive exploitation, woodland species adapted alongside to form distinct communities against a backdrop of a farming landscape which was more benign than that which modern agriculture has created, causing woods to become isolated remnants of semi-natural habitats. Changes in the way woodlands were generally managed across Europe reflected the increasing sophistication of technology and demands on the types of wood resources required especially during the industrial revolution. The progression of Silviculture as a science ran parallel and many of the traditional coppice-based products became obsolete. High forest silviculture developed as coppice subsided alongside the arrival of plantation management with a focus on producing increasing quantities of timber for construction to meet national demands and security of supply. By the middle of the 20th century coppicing of most ancient woods ceased; woods became either neglected or converted to high forest often with non-native conifers planted which changed conditions for many of the ancient woodland species associated with continuity of coppice management. Under-management is a conservation threat to many species associated with a more heterogenous stand structure. Continued management by coppicing however, remains economically tenuous. This study in the Cranborne Chase with a long history of coppice management across its ancient woodlands provided a unique opportunity to compare habitat structures between active

iii

coppice silviculture, Irregular high forest, transitional stands in the early stages of silvicultural management and limited intervention stands, those neglected between 30-50 years previously. Using a combination of descriptive, multivariate analysis, correlations and modelling with pairwise tests between stand types of the effects of silvicultural management, or the lack of it, upon three different taxonomic groups; birds, bats and plants associated with ancient woodland. Irregular high forest was found to positively influence all three taxonomic groups. Significantly, Irregular silviculture retained many species of conservation interest including the conservation red-listed Marsh Tit Poecile Palustris and Barbastelle Bat Barbastella barbastellus which is listed internationally as near-threatened by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature. Both were found to occupy Irregular stands at greater levels of abundance and activity respectively compared to either coppice or limited intervention stands. For ancient woodland indicator plants and coppice-associated plants as derived by Rackham (2003), there was no significant difference between coppice and Irregular stands. Structural comparisons between Irregular and limited intervention stands were strikingly different with lower basal area, stand structural variation and developing understorey associated most strongly with the former. Irregular silviculture provides structural heterogeneity and complexity associated with early successional growth typical of the coppice cycle and more open woodland, but also older growth features, e.g., deadwood, of mature stands related to larger diameter trees. Both sets of attributes provide important functional resources for a range of woodland species analogous to a woodland successional gradient. This study has identified that Irregular high forest produces a broad ecological 'bandwidth' of environmental conditions for woodland species. Active silvicultural management that includes Irregular in ancient woodland is preferable to neglect associated with limited intervention because it appears to retain structural characteristics important to several groups of woodland species of intrinsic conservation value.

iv

Acknowledgements

Throughout childhood my parents allowed me to indulge my passion for nature despite many times bearing the brunt of escapees; newts, slowworms, water boatmen, invading our home. It was, however, the late Beryl and Brian Williams who, with no children of their own took me and several other children during the late 70's early 80's under their wings and patiently taught us how to identify birds and their habitats on winter evening slide shows and countless fieldtrips to the likes of Maidenhead Thicket and Pagham Harbour. My mentor in the world of work was Nick Hoskins an excellent botanist and horticulturalist who, despite my lack of confidence as a young man, encouraged me to ignore the selfdoubt and use my love of nature in a way I never thought possible. Your friendship and wisdom has meant much to me over the years, thank you. To my friends, Mike Carson, David Percival, Gerard Gorman and Kyle Turner with whom I have badger-watched, birdwatched and shared ideas, thank you. I will always be indebted to the Churchill Fellowship for the incredible opportunity it gave me to visit Hungary in 2002 and gain insight into the ecology and conservation of central European forests; here the seed was sown.

Professor Stu Marsden while steering me along an academic pathway has encouraged, cajoled, and taught me to look at things differently and I will always be indebted to him, while enjoying his friendship and good humour throughout. Dr Stuart Newson of the British Trust for Ornithology has become a good friend too and his expertise, especially in bioacoustics, has been invaluable during the study design and analysis. Dr Danny Norrey at MMU has been vital in helping me address the many statistical challenges along the way. Dr Robyn Grant gave steadfast advice during my annual progress reviews. Professor Rob Fuller, former Research Director at the British Trust for Ornithology has been a wonderful ally to our research and brought a wealth and depth of experience. Similarly, Dr Keith Kirby gave a good deal of his time reviewing the manuscript on plants and significantly enhanced my understanding of the value and nuances of their role as ancient woodland indicators.

Dr Annabel King, a highly respected friend and colleague kindly made the recommendation to the research project funders, The Golden Bottle Trust and Henry Hoare Charitable Trust.

Thank you very much one and all for such an incredible opportunity. It was a chance discussion with Andy Poore, consultant forester to the Rushmore Estate which triggered the research project on the Rushmore Estate. Andy has imparted his extensive knowledge and been integral to the success of this research, and I value the collaboration between us. The Rushmore Estate has been an incredible outdoor laboratory, a culturally and ecologically rich landscape. Thanks are due to Becky Beavis, Ian Burt, Andy Taylor, Rob Taylor and Don Taylor who accommodated my requests for logistical support. To Mark Hooper for cutting access paths through dense bramble so we could position sampling stations. I must have tried the patience of these people several times for which I sincerely apologise! Thanks are due to the managing agent at Rushmore, Mr Phillip Gready, for his support and interest.

My good friends at Dorset Environmental Records Centre; Rhiannon Rogers for her field assistance, good company and diligently managing the budget, to Jon Corkill for GIS expertise and support and Bryan Edwards for botanical fieldwork and discussions on ancient woodland plants, thank you. It was a pleasure to work alongside Dr Phil Sterling and Mike Jeffes who were studying the moth population, both made useful comments on the study design. Dr Daniele de Rigo kindly sent the graphic and references from the Atlas of European Forest Trees. To Dr Mike Allen for use of his graphic in Figure 14 and discussion on the prehistoric landscape of the Chase woods, whose work alongside that of Dr Martin Green has captured my imagination, thank you. Finally, to Heather Kiel my long-suffering partner whose love and support has got me through the trying times and shared in the best of days too. Thank you.

vi

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	v

Chapter 1 Introduction: Biodiversity and Silviculture......1

1.1 Woodlands from Holocene to the Anthropocene	1
1.1.1 Woodland Conservation Preamble	1
1.1.2 British Woodlands Historical Ecology	9
1.1.3 Ancient Woodlands - Concepts, Classifications and Designations	.11
1.1.4 Ecological Characteristics of Ancient Woodland - Categories and Communities	.14
1.1.5 Conservation Rationale in Ancient woodland	.20

1.2 Silvicultural management in British Ancient Woodlands	24
1.2.1 Drivers of change in woodland management since 1600	24
1.2.2 From Coppice to High Forest Systems; a British and European Context	26
1.2.3 High Forest; a British and European Context	30
1.2.4 Irregular Silviculture; transformation from Europe to Britain	34

Chapter 2 Study Area: Description and Overview of Research	38
2.1 Study Area: Background and Description	38
2.1.1 Study Area: Description of Research Woodlands	38
2.1.2 The Cultural Significance of Woodland Development in Cranborne Chase	41
2.1.3 Silvicultural Description of the Study Area	48
2.1.4 Conservation Rationale for Cranborne Chase Woods	52

2.2 Overview of the Research	55
2.2.1 Aims and Objectives	55
•	

2.2.2 Study Design	57
2.2.3 Outline of the Research Chapters	62
2.3 References	64

3.1 Structural Characteristics of the ancient semi-natural woodlands	95
3.1.1 Introduction	95
3.1.2 Methods	96
3.1.3 Results	96
Structural Characteristics	
Dominant Floristic Cover	
3.1.4 Discussion	105
3.1.5 References	108

3.2 Paper 1 Irregular silviculture and stand structural effects on the plant community in a
ancient semi-natural woodland11
3.2.1 Background and Details of Authors Contributions11
Paper 1 Irregular silviculture and stand structural effects on the plant community in a
ancient semi-natural woodland11

Chapter 4 Woodland Birds12	129
----------------------------	-----

4.1 Paper 2 Implications of transformation to irregular silviculture for woodland birds:	
A stand wise comparison in an English broadleaf woodland12	9
4.1.1 Background and Details of Authors Contributions12	9

Paper 2 Implications of transformation to irregular silviculture for woodland birds:	
A stand wise comparison in an English broadleaf woodland	130

5.1 Paper 3. Irregular silviculture positively influences multiple bat species in a lowland	
temperate broadleaf woodland14	40
5.1.2 Background and Details of Authors Contributions14	10

Chapter 6 Discussion	
6.1 Context of the research	159
6.2 Synopsis of results	162
6.3 Woodland Management Implications	165
6.4 Future research	168
6.5 References	171

Appendices18	2
Appendix 1 Glossary of terminology and abbreviations used18	2

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Qualitative evolution from the pre-industrial society to two subsequent
transitions4
Figure 2. Pollen diagram showing relative percentage of species from Longmoor Bog,
Wokingham, Berkshire, United Kingdom11
Figure 3. Relationship between woodland age and degree of naturalness in British
woodland (Forestry Commission 2003)14
Figure 4. National Vegetation Classification for UK woodland with relationship to
geographical location, main soil characteristic and dominant stand tree species16
Figure 5. Herb Paris Paris quadrifolia, an uncommon woodland plant associated with
ancient woodland which is adapted to deep shade emerging in early spring before leave-
burst of canopy trees. Dorset, May 202217
Figure 6. The woodland Dor snail <i>Clausilia bidentata</i> commonly found on tree trunks in
broadleaf temperate woods, Dorset, June 202120
Figure 7. Expected relationships between forest management, habitat attributes and the
resources provided for biodiversity23
Figure 8. Schematic representation of a successional stand development model following
major disturbance and removal of overstorey. (Adapted from Harmer et al. 2010)25
Figure 9. Silvicultural classification system for high forest adapted from Matthews (1991),
high forest systems regenerate through natural seeding or via planting; coppice is included
as a type of intensive even-aged system on short cycles, regeneration is vegetative from
coppice stools27

Figure 15 Model of woodland-scrub-grassland development adapted from Vera (2000) and added to by Kirby (2004) with additional break-up degeneration phase of woodland......43

Figure 16 An engraving from 1857 of a Cranborne Chase Keeper in his protective forest night dress, cutlass and staff, Rushmore 1815......45

Figure 19. The Cranborne Chase woodlands50

Figure 26. Hazel coppice. Previous winters felling evident through open area and standard Oak; the adjacent dense understorey of regrown coppice stools can be clearly seen, (above). Preparing 'sails' (below) for a Hazel hurdle placed upright into the mould behind Don Taylor (Hurdle-maker) with binders woven through. Pole material prepared, ready to be worked. March 2022......102



Silver-washed fritillary *Argynnis paphia* nectaring on a white Marsh thistle *Cirsium palustre*, Chase Wood, Sixpenny Handley, Dorset, July 2013.

"I wish that we would not fight for landscapes that remind us of who we think we are. I wish we would fight, instead, for landscapes buzzing and glowing with life in all its variousness."

Author: Helen Macdonald Macdonald, H. 2014. H is for Hawk. Jonathan Cape, London. 300pp.

"What better life could there be - to get my living out of the land as much as my ancestors had ever done."

Artist: Paul Nash

Haycock, D. B. 2016. Paul Nash, Outline: An Autobiography and Other Writings. Lund Humphries Publishers Ltd, London. 280 pp.

Chapter 1 Introduction: Biodiversity and Silviculture

1.1 Woodlands from Holocene to the Anthropocene

1.1.1 Woodland Conservation Preamble

The starting point of the Anthropocene is subject to considerable argument; empirical evidence points to rates of change in nature e.g., habitat loss and species extinctions occurring in the last 300 years, which are of an unprecedented order of magnitude (Soriano 2020). The Anthropocene epoch, in which *Homo Sapiens* have affected the entire world biome, has amplified in society a sense of urgency to understand and address the causes of ecological destabilisation which, ultimately will lead to global societal conflicts (Steffen *et al.* 2007, Steffen 2021). Unsustainable exploitation of the earth's resources has not only deprived future generations of landscapes and their component biodiversity, it has compromised ecosystem functioning to the extent that it undermines the health of these systems and their resilience to change (Roe *et al.* 2019).

Globally 1.6 billion people are directly reliant on forests and woodlands (hereafter used interchangeably) for their livelihoods, yet losses of intact forests are widely reported with over half of tropical forests destroyed since the 1960's, and more than 3.7 million hectares of European forests degraded through human-induced actions (IUCN 2021). The Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) defined ecosystem services as the contributions that ecosystems make to human well-being, and distinct from the goods and benefits that people subsequently derive from them (Haines-Young and Potschin 2018). As well as provision of resources (provisioning services); timber for construction, wood-fuel and food, forests and woodlands provide a range of other ecosystem services; (regulatory services), acting as carbon sinks, maintaining the functioning of watersheds and nutrient cycles and moderating climate processes (Grantham *et al.* 2020). Additionally, forests provide non-consumptive 'goods' (cultural services) through aesthetic, spiritual, intellectual, physical and experiential interactions with humans (Mae *et al.* 2016). Moreover, forests and woodlands are the most biodiverse terrestrial habitats on earth

(IUCN 2021) and account for most terrestrial species on our planet including 75% of vertebrate species (FAO and UNEP 2020). Many species such as birds and mammals are important dispersers of seeds aiding forest regeneration while fungi, and invertebrates form important components of the nutrient cycling and decomposition (FAO and UNEP 2020). We are only just beginning to understand the value of the complex interactions between fungi and trees which are vital in the functioning of forest ecosystems including the carbon exchange (Johnson et al. 2016) and resilience to drought in a changing climate (Simard 2021, Pickles and Simard 2017). Throughout the quaternary period of 2.6 million years European forests have been subject to significant changes in extent, composition, and structure as a result of a globally changing climate and glacial oscillations, with periods (measured in tens of thousands of years) alternating between the extreme cold of the glaciations and the warm interglacial (Birks and Birks 2004). The influence of humaninduced impacts to woodland cover from the Mesolithic period (9600 - 4000 BC), has also profoundly affected the characteristics of forest and woodland vegetation as palaeoecological studies indicate (Birks and Tinner 2016). The wooded landscapes of Europe were therefore highly dynamic in both space and time; our understanding of longterm ecological change and historical legacies can provide guidance as society wrestles with the possible future trajectories of ecosystem and resource disruption as a consequence of human-induced climate change (Birks 2012). This is perhaps the greatest challenge of our times as we tackle the consequences of increased greenhouse gas emissions resulting from human activity since the onset of the industrial revolution c1800 AD (United nations undated).

The transition towards a bio-based economy is defined as 'reliance on biological processes and natural ecosystems, use natural inputs, expend minimum amounts of energy and do not produce waste as all materials discarded by one process are inputs for another process and are reused in the ecosystem' (Mubareka *et al.* 2016, Johansson 2018). The forestbased sector as part of a bio-based economy is expected to significantly contribute to sustainable development as society phases out fossil fuels and returns to a sustainable preindustrial pathway (Figure 1), which minimises waste, embeds carbon in timber construction, substituting carbon heavy resources like concrete, and provides renewable biomass fuel (Mubareka *et al.* 2016). Sustainable forest management (SFM) 'aims to maintain and enhance the economic, social and environmental values of all types of forests, for the benefit of present and future generations' (FAO 2020¹). Or as Weatherall *et al.* (2022) suggest, forest workers and users (stakeholders) are more likely to describe it as 'a way of managing trees so that when some of them are harvested, the forest survives'. Sustainable forest management may already mitigate climate change by preserving and enhancing environmental values for the benefit of present and future generations. Yet, given the multiple objectives of SFM in providing ecosystem services, forest management (AFM), the 'adaptation of trees, woods, and forests (to a range of dynamic climate change scenarios) and the use of forestry to mitigate climate change as the priority for SFM, so that other ecosystem services can be provided now and, in the future,' (Yousefpour *et al.* 2017, Weatherall *et al.* 2022). Promoting heterogeneity and diversity for genetic resilience is a key objective of the adaptive approach at multiple landscape scales (Yousefpour *et al.* 2017).



Figure 1. Qualitative evolution from the pre-industrial society to two subsequent transitions. First, the transition to the industrial society and economy illustrated by a sharp rise in resource use. Then, toward a bio-based economy based on use of renewable resources. The short-term patterns of the actual evolution may be complex since they are subject to several sources of local fluctuations. The qualitative future trend will also depend on the cumulative feedback effect due to different potential technology and policy scenarios. ((Mubarecka *et al.* 2016), reproduced by kind permission of the author: Dr. Daniele de Rigo).

Inappropriate management depreciates the ecological integrity of forest and woodland systems as a result of modifications to its structure and composition and is often a precursor to deforestation as its value diminishes (Grantham *et al.* 2020). Biodiversity loss is known to disproportionately effect the functioning of forest and woodland ecosystems, reducing the capacity for resilience and adaptation to changes including those caused by humans (Betts *et al.* 2017). Understanding the ecological processes of forest and woodland habitat heterogeneity in readiness of future adaptation to climate change and novel pests and diseases is critical for sustainable resource management (Spiecker 2002). Reduction of forests and woodlands worldwide regardless of protection status, has shown a worrying

increase (Leberger *et al.* 2020) with mean losses per annum of 4.2 million hectares in the decade from 2010 (FAO 2020²). In addition to halting such declines, there is a strong desire to establish monitoring systems which seek to measure the effectiveness of protection of forest and woodland resources beyond simply establishing protected areas so that quality as well as quantity can be better evaluated (Leberger *et al.* 2020). Indeed, evidence is emerging of the value of forest and woodland governance and management systems which link positive outcomes between socio-economic and nature conservation objectives (Powlen *et al.* 2021). Despite direct threats posed to forests and woodlands by climate change, wild fires and the introductions of pests and diseases (San-Miguel-Ayanz *et al.* 2016), policies towards global mitigation of climate related impacts will need to include major contributions from the forest management sector (Gamborg and Larsen 2003, Roe *et al.* 2021). As a result, the future sustainable management of forests and woodlands is likely to depend on a robust yet flexible range of management systems which integrate relevant biodiversity metrics into decision-making processes for forest practitioners and policy-makers alike (Lõhmus *et al.* 2020, Vizzarri *et al.* 2022).

Most European forests and woodlands have undergone management interventions to some degree, influenced by local conditions (abiotic and biotic) and anthropogenic demands typically leading to distinctive wooded landscape typologies with strong cultural linkages (Wascher 2005). Indeed, European forests and woodlands are a complex and heterogenous mix of these characteristics leading to highly localised peculiarities of woodlands and the resources found within them and influencing where they sit within a framework for protection and governance (Table 1). The anthropic factor often dominates the way woods and forests have developed over centuries and millennia intensifying the variability to be found across the European continent (San-Miguel-Ayanz et al. 2016). For instance, wood-pastures (traditional sylvo-pastoral systems associated with high nature value, many of which have been present since the medieval period) are found throughout Europe, and show considerable variations between and within biogeographic regions reflecting a blend of their dynamic characteristics creating a range of habitat mosaics within distinctive geographies (Rotherham 2013, Plieninger et al. 2015). Similarly, coppice woodlands have existed since the neolithic period c.4,500 years BCE, are generally closed canopy understorey woods where livestock are excluded, being found throughout Europe

they vary in their harvesting rotation lengths (repeated cycles of cutting of stems which regrow) between 5 and 30 years depending upon the uses at a particular point in history (Buckley and Mills 2015). Wood-pasture and coppice are widely recognised for their nature conservation value yet each has faced challenges in keeping apace with societal demands and the resulting economic consequences (Kirby and Watkins 2015). There have been some fundamental changes in the way people have exploited European forests and woodlands since the 17th century with a reduction of 153,000km² of coppice, an increase of 818,000km² in high forest management and 593,000km² increase in coniferous woodland, at the expense of broadleaved woods (McGrath et al. 2015). Following the introduction of plantation forest management to Europe in the 18th and 19th centuries the use of fast-growing trees typically non-native species has become prevalent in countries with a low tree species richness; Sitka spruce Picea sitchensis in the UK, Eucalyptus in Portugal and False acacia Robinnia pseudoacacia in Hungary (Quine 2015, Savill 2015). Introduced trees alter the composition of land cover and associated plant and animal communities which can lead to losses of semi-natural habitats with impoverished biodiversity (Souvalis 2000). False acacia is highly invasive, negatively affecting seminatural habitats including native woodlands and grasslands (Vítková et a. 2017, own observation 2002). Between 1950 and 1980 many ancient and semi-natural woodlands in the UK were planted with non-native coniferous species which led to significant changes to the structure and composition of these woods and their native ground flora (Kirby 1988). Policy changes in the UK during the mid-1980's led to a shift towards native broadleaf restoration and removal of conifers from Ancient Woodland Sites (Forestry Commission 1985). Since then, improved silvicultural planning over woodland creation site selection, especially avoiding sensitive semi-natural habitats, and the design and management of new plantations can provide opportunities which incorporate a range of public goods including biodiversity (Quine 2015). Increasingly we are beginning to understand and value the use of natural processes for native woodland establishment on former agricultural land undertaken passively which can efficiently contribute to increasing woodland cover although this relies on nearby semi-natural woodland to act as a donor (Broughton et al. 2021). The importance of forest and woodland management in cultural landscapes is recognised where it sustains varied tree composition and important ecological assemblages in protected areas (Borrinni et al. 2013).

Table 1. IUCN Protected area definitions, management categories and governance types. IUCN describes a protected area as: A clearly defined geographical space, recognised, dedicated and managed, through legal or other effective means, to achieve the long-term conservation of nature with associated ecosystem services and cultural values. The definitions are shown as seven conservation management categories (one with a subdivision), summarized below. For this study we are primarily concerned with IV, V and VI.

1a Strict nature reserve: Strictly protected for biodiversity and also possibly geological/ geomorphological features, where human visitation, use and impacts are controlled and limited to ensure protection of the conservation values

1b Wilderness area: Usually large unmodified or slightly modified areas, retaining their natural character and influence, without permanent or significant human habitation, protected and managed to preserve their natural condition

II National Park: Large natural or near-natural areas protecting large-scale ecological processes with characteristic species and ecosystems, which also have environmentally and culturally compatible spiritual, scientific, educational, recreational and visitor opportunities

III Natural monument or feature: Areas set aside to protect a specific natural monument, which can be a landform, sea mount, marine cavern, geological feature such as a cave, or a living feature such as an ancient grove

IV Habitat/species management area: Areas to protect particular species or habitats, where management reflects this priority. Many will need regular, active interventions to meet the needs of particular species or habitats, but this is not a requirement of the category

V Protected landscape or seascape: Where the interaction of people and nature over time has produced a distinct character with significant ecological, biological, cultural and scenic

value: and where safeguarding the integrity of this interaction is vital to protecting and sustaining the area and its associated nature conservation and other values

VI Protected areas with sustainable use of natural resources: Areas which conserve ecosystems, together with associated cultural values and traditional natural resource management systems. Generally large, mainly in a natural condition, with a proportion under sustainable natural resource management and where low-level non-industrial natural resource use compatible with nature conservation is seen as one of the main aims.

1.1.2 British Woodlands, Historical Ecology

Towards the end of the last glacial maximum, approximately 16,000 years BCE much of Britain was open tundra, a largely treeless landscape analogous with the modern day subarctic region (Birks and Tinner 2016). At the start of the Holocene epoch the climate ameliorated and the vast ice-sheet retreated, trees and shrubs gradually returned from the southern refuges that had escaped the intense cold of the ice-age. This was the start of the current interglacial period, one in which the woodland cover of today is the result of a mixture of environmental and anthropogenic influences (Rackham 1990, Peterken 2015). The succession towards woodland reflected the climatic periods that followed the retreat of the ice-sheet, with Birch Betula spp and Pine Pinus sylvestris establishing during the earlier pre-boreal period approximately 8,500-7500 years BCE (Peterken 1981, Huntley 1990). During subsequent climatic periods additional tree and shrub species expanded their ranges into Britain so that by the relatively warm and wet Atlantic period of 3000 years BCE, woodland composition was similar to that which now exists in semi-natural woodlands, (Huntley 1990, Birks et al. 1975). By which time the rising sea-levels had effectively cut-off Britain and Ireland from the European land-mass, preventing further species from colonising (Rackham 1990). It is likely that between 6500 years BCE and 4000 years BCE woodland extent throughout Britain and Europe had reached its maxim (Zanon et al. 2018). A factor influencing the period which follows is the increasing effect of humans on the vegetation of Britain and Europe. The original wildwood that arose following the ice age (Rackham 1990) was changed and as people cleared the trees for domesticated livestock, they began to have a selective effect on the relative proportions of trees that remained (Kirby and Watkins 2015). Pollen analysis, (see Figure 2), has helped to reveal the relative changes between species as they spread from the southern refuges and were later affected by human activities across the landscape (Peterken 2015). A significant change is detected at the beginning of the Neolithic c.4300 years BCE when settled farming and resultant woodland clearance gave rise to a significant increase in plants of cultivated and open habitats especially *Poaceae*, grasses and cereals, and heather *Calluna vulgaris* (Peterken 2015).

In addressing biodiversity loss and the climate emergency, woodland ecologists today look to the past environmental and anthropogenic evidence to gain insight into possible future trajectories for woodlands to support intact assemblages of species within resiliently functioning habitats (Birks and Tinner 2016). Indeed, there has been much debate, and diverging views, on the relative proportions of openness and woodland cover that existed in prehistory and the drivers, natural and human that created such conditions and the pattern of shifting vegetation dynamics over space and time (Vera 2000, Kirby 2004, Hodder et al. 2009). Woodland clearance across Britain continued through the Bonze-age and Iron Age so that by the Roman conquest the original wildwood had probably vanished (Rackham 1990). What followed across much of the country was the development of nearly every remaining woodland into some form of management to support local demands for fuel, construction and a settled existence on a predominantly farmed landscape. I briefly explore the prehistory and history of the study area below in 1.3, as this demonstrates the localised characteristics and interplay between environment and people from the Mesolithic through to the Medieval period and the ways these factors influenced the woodland composition found there today and the way it is managed.



Figure 2. Pollen analysis diagram showing relative percentage of species from Longmoor Bog, Wokingham, Berkshire, United Kingdom. Increasing depth represents increasing age with the 35cm – 65cm band approximating to the Mesolithic period, pre-farming, huntergatherer human culture. (Redrawn from data source University of Reading). Key: Heather *Calluna vulgaris*, Cereals *Poaceae*, Grasses *Poaceae*, Hazel *Corylus avellana*, Oak *Quercus spp.*, Alder *Alnus glutinosa*, Scots Pine *Pinus sylvestris*, Birch *Betula pendula/pubescens*.

1.1.3 Ancient Woodlands in Britain - Concepts, Classifications and Designations

Ancient woodland in Great Britain is generally recognised to be woodland that is likely to have been continuous woodland cover since at least 1600. AD (1750 in Scotland), (Goldberg *et al.* 2007). The concept was formally promoted by Peterken (1977, 1981) and Rackham (1976, 1990) following their extensive research into the historical ecology of woodlands across Britain. Evidence of ancient woodlands can be based on old estate and Tythe maps, Saxon charters, historical survey records and early editions of ordnance survey maps (Glaves *et al.* 2009). The use of biological indicators of ancient woodlands has been primarily based on phytosociological classifications pertaining to associations between stand (tree and shrub community) composition and ground flora communities (Peterken 1983). An Ancient woodland inventory was started by the Nature Conservancy Council in 1981 and published a decade later (Spencer and Kirby 1992). Ancient woodlands include some which are believed to have a direct link back to the Atlantic period 3000 years BCE, alongside those which may have been subject to varying degrees of human intervention (Goldberg et al. 2007). More recent studies have highlighted how varied woodland cover is likely to have been across Britain with some woods cleared entirely or partially as evidence of earth works from Neolithic to the Roman period, 4300 years BCE down to 50 years CE,indicate (Rackham 1990, Barker 1998, Peterken 1981, Day 1993). Ancient woodland which is believed to have had no intervention or has developed from a natural succession following a natural disturbance e.g., a landslip, are termed Primary ancient woodlands, while those that arose following clearance are termed Secondary and/or recent (Peterken 1981). However, this distinction becomes considerably more blurred depending upon location and the available historical and archaeological record; woodlands which were believed to demonstrate continuity of woodland cover from their phytosociological associations have been found, from detailed pollen studies, to have undergone considerable structural changes resulting from human interventions (Bradshaw et al. 2015). Studies in Norfolk by Barnes and Williamson (2015) highlight the ebb and flow of woodland cover in response to the vagaries of human influence based around resource use or neglect, which could be especially dynamic. Ancient woodlands could become enclosed to prevent livestock entering and harvested for their underwood as coppice, or subject to emparkment and fenced to become parkland for deer especially from the Saxon period onwards (Rackham 1990). Examples exist of open common and farmed land rejuvenating as secondary ancient woodland in some cases after decades or centuries of continual use (Rotherham 2018, Barnes and Williamson 2015). It seems likely that there are few, if any, woods in the British Isles that have not been affected by human activities, and we should value this cultural association as much as any other archaeology in our landscape (Rotherham 2018). Perhaps as Barnes and Williamson (2015) suggest, the blurring of the distinction between ancient and recent woods does not reduce the importance of the former as much as it raises it for the latter. Box 1 summarises the types of woodland cover to be found in the British Isles which includes ancient woodlands (Kirby

and Watkins 2015) while Figure 3 illustrates the relationship between woodland age, degrees of naturalness in respect of ancient and modern woodland (Forestry Commission 2003).

In the UK ancient woodland over 2 hectares has been identified and included in a national inventory, the most recent of which covering England and Wales was undertaken in 1992 (Spencer and Kirby 1992). While the inventory did not confer any additional protection to woodlands at the time it has since been used to inform guidance and planning policy. Ancient woodlands are recognised in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2021) with a presumption against loss or deterioration unless there are wholly exceptional circumstances (MH C and LG 2021). The Keepers of Time policy document (DEFRA 2022) sets out the UK government's position for protecting, restoring and sustainably managing the UK's ancient woodland and veteran trees for the benefit of society. In addition to influencing planning decisions the policy has promoted the updating of the ancient woodland inventory (Spencer and Kirby 1992) which, since 2006 includes additional ancient woodlands smaller than 2 hectares. The Keepers of Time policy has been brought in line with a wider suite of policies and environmental targets to attain net zero signifying the important role that ancient woodlands contribute towards Nature Recovery Networks following the Environment Act 2021 (DEFRA 2022).





1.1.4 Ecological Characteristics of Ancient Woodland - Categories and Communities

This section considers some of the main communities associated with Ancient seminatural woodlands and the principal objectives of conservation management for them. Alongside knowledge of woodland history an overarching objective for woodland managers is to understand the community of plants including the tree and shrub composition and associated higher (Tracheophytes) and lower (Bryophytes) plant assemblages (Kirby and Hall 2019). It was during the preparation of the seminal work, A Nature Conservation Review (Ratcliffe 1977), when conservation scientists realised there was an urgent need to better define and interpret the vegetation of Great Britain. The result was the National Vegetation Classification (NVC) system which aimed to produce a systematic categorisation of the main plant communities found in the UK (Rodwell 1991). There are twenty-five communities for the volume on woodlands and scrub which were based on 2,648 samples from ancient and recent woods throughout Britain with eighteen main woodland types categorised (Rodwell 1991). Using phytosociological associations of woods surveyors captured data across plots of varying size according to the scale of the community being sampled with fine-grade ground flora and bryophytes sampled in the smallest quadrats through to understorey, scrub and canopy trees in the larger (Rodwell 1991). Prior to NVC Peterken (1981) proposed thirteen categories based around the tree stand type linked to soils and soil moisture. Both systems reflect geographical and edaphic affiliations and include additional sub-categories in an attempt to capture subtle variations. Rackham (1980) adopted a similar approach to Peterken (1981) and was critical of the NVC as being less detailed and comprehensive than either (Rackham 2003). However, conservation scientists believe NVC aligns better with similar phytosociological assessments in Europe particularly the European Nature Information System (EUNIS), (Davies et al. 2004) where the aim is more about understanding how communities of vegetation relate to one another as much as the processes, including anthropogenic, by which they arose (Rodwell 1991). Usefully, for cross referencing, Peterken stands are included in the synonymous index of Rodwell (1991) while Latham et al. (2018) give the corresponding EUNIS woodland categories used in Europe. Of the NVC classifications eighteen main woodland communities have been identified (Figure 4), while Rackham (2003) lists fifty-four tree communities. Of those woodland NVC communities five do not fit within ancient woodland as they all relate to successional woodland on recently disturbed or restored land e.g., *Salix spp*. Willow Carr (Marren 1990).



Figure 4. National Vegetation Classification for UK woodland with relationship to geographical location, main soil characteristic and dominant stand tree species. Communities 1,2,3,4 and 6 are rarely associated with ancient woodland communities in Britain as they are frequently disturbed through human activities or mostly through early successional re-initiation in wetlands and river systems. Adapted from Whitbread and Kirby (1992).

Ancient semi-natural woodlands (a spectrum of woodlands that represent both ancient woodlands and those which originated in historic times) are generally species rich, so that catering for an individual species conservation is fraught with difficulties; it is better to consider broader community integrity (Fuller and Peterken 1995). Despite most ancient woodlands having been influenced by people over many centuries or millennia (Rackham 2003), they still retain important vestiges of woodland species which were believed to be present in the wildwood (Watkins 1990). Although this assumption has been challenged more recently as woodlands have been shown to have been more dynamic and subject to periods of clearance, tillage and grazing followed by abandonment (Barnes andWilliamson 2015). Nevertheless, Barnes and Williamson (2015) recognise that the value of woodlands of more recent origin can be as important as those truly ancient woodlands as much

because they have a strong archaeological and cultural value. Indeed, recent woods often include many of the species associated with continuity across a broad bandwidth of ecological conditions especially where they are part of an otherwise ancient countryside which has retained many of the features of the past despite alterations to its structure (Rackham 1990). Formerly wooded common land and wood-pastures can retain some of their characteristic vegetation long after it had been cleared e.g., during the feudal system of land-use from the 13th Century; the so called 'shadows and ghosts' of lost woods in the landscape (Rotherham 2017).

A crucial aim of woodland nature conservation is to provide conditions which replicate those to which most ancient woodland species are adapted (Peterken and Game 1984). Although, as mentioned previously, our knowledge of conditions of prehistoric woodlands is a useful guide, we are unlikely to ever know for sure what the primeval woodlands (referred to as the wildwood) looked like and indeed so much is likely to have changed in the 5000 years since humans settled the landscape (Fuller and Freeman 2021). Certainly, the landscapes of Britain were varied in the Mesolithic (Allen 2017). The species assemblages present in ancient (and some recent) woodlands today have survived in spite of human intervention, and many because of it (Rackham 2008).



Figure 5. Herb Paris *Paris quadrifolia*, an uncommon woodland plant confined to ancient woodland which is adapted to deep shade emerging in early spring before leave-burst of canopy trees. Dorset, May 2022.

Possibly the best-known species strongly associated with ancient woodlands are vascular plants (ancient woodland indicators – AWI's) which have adapted to the cycles of cutting trees, primarily of underwood since the neolithic period (Rackham 2003). The distinctiveness of these plant communities and their persistence in ancient woodlands is bound up with the activities of management, as such they are very useful as bio-indicators (Figure 5), for monitoring changes including those driven by human-induced climate anomalies (Ellis 2015). While they may be found beyond ancient woodlands, they exist within semi-natural habitats which have not been modified other than having their tree cover removed or changed (Webb and Goodenough 2018). Nevertheless, ancient woodland indicator plants are a valuable resource demonstrating continuity due to their low dispersal capacity and regional distinctiveness (Swallow et al. 2020). There are similarly distinct communities of Lichens which are indicators of woodland continuity and slow dispersal as they are restricted to particular niches; probably the best known in lowland British ancient woodlands is Lobaria pulmonaria the tree lungwort. Bryophytes, mosses and liverworts, that are associated with ancient woods tend to be found in the cooler, wetter parts of Britain with important communities found in the Atlantic oakwoods of the western sea-board, including the wholly epiphytic species Ulota calvescens (Marren 1990). Fungi are an incredibly diverse Kingdom with many species found in woodland across different niches (Laessøe and Petersen 2019). They are critically important in the functioning of the ecosystem in recycling nutrients and carbon while creating microhabitats e.g., cavities and wet rots, for a range of other species including cavity-using bats and birds but also specialist saproxylic invertebrate communities (Lonsdale et al. 2007). Indeed, standing and fallen deadwood is an essential component of functioning woodlands (Hodge and Peterken 1998) with many species e.g., wood-boring beetles Coleoptera which use deadwood as breeding habitats. Several species of woodboring beetles of the Cerambycidae also require open sunny areas within woodland as they feed on nectar of various woodland vascular plants (Kirby, 2013). Deadwood is widely associated with old growth associated with mature and veteran trees typicaly over 250 years old, which are entering a degenerative phase in their lifecycle and are especially important (Siitonen et al. 2015, Read 2000). Land snail Gastrapoda assemblages are valuable in demonstrating the gradients between closed canopy shaded damp woods through to open and dryer habitats (Allen 2017). Several species are associated with fallen

deadwood and moist conditions in deep leaf-litter e.g., Carychium tridentatum others use bark substrate on living trees e.g., dor snail Clausilia bidentata (Figure 6), while some are associated with more open edge habitats on dryer calcareous soils including Pomatias *elegans* (Allen 2017). Land snails are a very useful group in helping to understand past habitat changes including woodland clearance (Evans 1972). Probably the best-known invertebrate community associated with ancient woodlands in Britain are butterflies Lepidoptera, with many restricted to native broadleaf and mixed woods (Warren andKey 1991). Several woodland butterflies have a strong dependency on open habitats following gap creation e.g., Pearl-bordered fritillary *Boloria euphrosyne* found in areas of clear-felled woodland and actively coppiced seminatural woods, where they benefit from the thermophilic conditions (Kirby 2001). For vertebrate groups, birds Aves and bats Chiroptera, woodlands provide breeding and roosting opportunities for cavity dwelling species and nesting locations in dense scrub for several bird species, and foraging resources in terms of substrate, foliage and fruits (Fuller 1995, Ferris and Humphrey 1999). Small mammals such as wood mouse Apodemus sylvaticus and bank vole Myodes glareolus exert an important influence as seed predators in woodland affecting tree regeneration, and whose populations respond to changes in understorey cover including that caused by deer (Buesching et al. 2011). Wild deer in many UK ancient woodlands pose a serious concern as their populations are believed to have been increasing for at least 200 years, as browsers and selective grazers of woodland vegetation this has had negative consequences for other species e.g., woodland birds (Gill and Fuller 2007) and Hazel Dormouse Muscardinus avellenarius (Goodwin et al.2018). Roe Capreolus capreolus and red Cervus elaphus deer are both native to Britain and along with feral non-native species such as Reeve's muntjac Muntiacus reevesii and Sika Cervus nippon influence woodland with positive and negative impacts depending upon browsing levels, creating structural heterogeneity at different thresholds but with severe levels leading to loss of vegetation affecting sustainable woodland management, woodland biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (Eichhorn et al. 2018, Brake et al. 2020). Of the vertebrate groups birds and bats may be especially valuable as indicators of both varying structure and composition of woodland vegetation and act as a proxy for other taxonomic groups (Ferris and Humphrey 1999). Within ancient and seminatural woodlands a mix of stages of woody growth from early successional through to old growth along with temporary and permanent open habitats across varied aspects and sizes within the woodland provides a range of opportunities for many species; their conservation within each individual wood will vary depending upon local site conditions and characteristics, and regional distinctiveness (Peterken 1981).



Figure 6. The woodland Dor snail *Clausilia bidentata* commonly found on tree trunks in broadleaf temperate woods, Dorset, June 2021.

1.1.5 Conservation Rationale in Ancient woodland

At the time of Domesday 1086 AD Britain's ancient woodlands were probably less than 20% of land cover and by the late 19th century this figure diminished to under 6% (Rackham 1990). Within 50 years until the mid-1980's at least 40% of England's ancient woodland was destroyed most through conversion to intensive agriculture, with further degradation through felling and replanting with conifers (Rackham 2006). The picture across 20th century Britain was similar, with additional losses of semi-natural habitats e.g., species rich semi-natural grasslands, in between the remaining woodlands which compounded the effects of fragmentation as woods became increasingly ecologically isolated (Hopkins and Kirby 2007). The ecological quality of the ancient woodlands which remain is clearly
important for nature conversation. Partly in response to the requirement for national governments to monitor biodiversity under article 7 of the global Convention on Biological Diversity, (https://www.cbd.int/) a National Forest Inventory (NFI) was undertaken between 2010-2015 and included an assessment of woodland ecological condition in Britain (Forestry Commission 2020). The stratified and random sampling covered native species woodlands, including ancient woods, and produced outputs from 15 metrics to inform future policy decisions around the management of UK woodlands and conservation of its biodiversity. Among the key findings for native woodland which includes ancient seminatural woods, was that only 7% was in favourable ecological condition with most 91% in the intermediate condition category (Forestry Commission 2020). Of special reference was a paucity of open habitat with 83% in unfavourable condition, and secondly the volume of deadwood was in unfavourable condition in 80% of samples within native woodlands. In more than 40% of sampled woods grazing pressure, mostly from deer *Cervidae*, was unfavourable as it affected natural regeneration. These findings generally accord with other recent national surveys notably the repeat woodland bird survey where changes in the structure and composition of woods were compared between the 1980's and 2003-4 (Amar et al. 2010). Canopy closure and structural changes leading to shading and homogenisation of the woodland stands was common. There were regional differences yet most localities exhibited increased understorey (sub-canopy) cover suggesting structures were following a similar pattern of change most as a result of undermanagement (Amar et al. 2010). In contrast to the NFI woodland ecological condition findings for deadwood (Forestry Commission 2020), Amar et al. (2010) found there was an increase in deadwood between the 1980's and 2003-4 which they suggest was down to self-thinning by regenerating even-aged stems as they competed for the available resources.

Ancient woodlands in Britain are complex terrestrial habitats and have been subject to considerable conservation interest and efforts in the latter half of the 20th century by the statutory agencies, wildlife conservation charities and local authority countryside departments (Rackham 2003). During this time questions were raised about the benefits of reinitiating traditional woodland management practices without full consideration of alternative approaches based on the restoration of past habitats of the late Holocene

(Hambler and Speight 1995). Rackham (2003) countered this view arguing that any objectives for ancient woodland conservation must consider a broader ecological philosophy which include the archaeological, cultural alongside ecological interests. The characteristics of woodland that help promote biodiversity conservation in ancient woodlands are varied and will depend upon a range of local site-based factors which include management history (Woodland Trust 2020). Restoration of traditional practices such as coppice management may be worthwhile but should be guided by prior site evaluation for species of conservation interest (Watkins 1990). Perhaps, as Rackham (2003) suggested, 'varied styles of management are needed, even if some are less fashionable than others.' Indeed, Rackham (2008) argued that one threat to ancient woods is a lack of human intervention through periodic harvesting of trees and underwood (coppice); the increased shade in British woodlands has led to a reduction in woodland plants including communities associated with permanent grasslands found in woods (Peterken and Francis 1999). Conversely, modern day threats to ancient woods are mainly driven by human exploitation as external influences from pollution, nutrient enrichment from fertilizer, importation of pest species and diseases and increased browsing from an exceptionally high deer population (Rackham 2008). Evidence suggests pre-industrial landscapes (c. 1200-1750) including woodland in Britain would have been subject to varying degrees of intensive exploitation (including of deer), often at very localised levels creating a spatially diverse and highly heterogeneous landscape (Fuller et al. 2017). A combined knowledge of the needs of those species present, and understanding of past practices will allow for the better management of those surviving in ancient woodland where historic assemblages persist – with 'greater emphasis on physical disturbance and variability in prescriptions both temporally and spatially,' (Fuller et al. 2017). It is highly probable that unlike modern land use, which has partitioned woodland from farmland management systems, a more integrated and intimate pattern of exploitation existed (Rackham 1986). This varied over time depending upon changing resource needs and so allowed for the creation of localised and heterogeneously dynamic woodland management over the centuries (Fuller et al. 2017). Replicating the broad range of resource needs of ancient woodland species, (Figure 7), in the highly fragmented modernday agricultural landscape is challenging, yet woodland management provides an opportunity to address at least some of these requirements (Fuller 2013).



Figure 7. Expected relationships between forest management, habitat attributes and the resources provided for biodiversity. The linkages should be regarded as hypotheses based on existing knowledge of the broad resource needs of exemplar species groups and in many cases need verification through research. Management actions and decisions (left) affect three broad sets of habitat attributes (centre). These attributes affect resource provision for species living within forests (right). Relevance of management actions to active coppice and high forest (which I discuss below in 1.2) is indicated by (C) and (F), respectively. Relevant sources include Fuller and Warren (<u>1991</u>); Clarke *et al.* (<u>2011</u>); Fuller, Smith and Hinsley (<u>2012</u>). Reproduced from Fuller (2013) courtesy of John Wiley and Sons Licence number 5277670539219.

1.2 Silvicultural management in British Ancient Woodlands

1.2.1 Silvicultural systems

Silviculture is a process of tending trees within a woodland or forest to a point when they are harvested to meet a particular demand following which they are replaced (Ashton and Kelty 2018). In Europe, including Britain, coppice systems were the earliest known methods of managing trees although by the 18th and 19th Centuries the rise of high forest silviculture following a more systematic approach and attitude towards forestry as a science began to prevail (Savill 2015). Today methods for silvicultural management reflect the fundamental understanding of natural disturbances which typify the response of woodland vegetation through natural succession (Harmer et al. 2010). Stand development for instance, following a major storm, effectively reinitiates the ecological succession when most of the trees within an area have been blown down (Figure 8). In reality the duration at each stage is subject to variation dependent upon prevailing conditions with some sites taking most time in the stem exclusion phase or before where regeneration is halted through the effects of browsing herbivores (Harmer et al. 2010). The selection of a particular forest management system is related to site history as well as soil type, exposure and social, environmental and economic objectives and constraints. Undertaking any intervention including felling by thinning, clear-felling an entire stand or selectively felling individual trees or small groups can mimic natural disturbances and is useful in maintaining or enhancing particular species composition and diversity depending upon the scale at which it is undertaken (Harmer et al. 2010, Kuuluvainen et al. 2021). Nevertheless, care in manipulating the stand structure is required where the rate of change to which woodland species have adapted maybe slower than that being proposed and may negatively impact some species groups e.g., slow colonising plants, or destabilise remaining trees through increased exposure to wind (Ashton and Kelty 2018).



Figure 8. Schematic representation of a successional stand development model following major disturbance and removal of overstorey. (Adapted from Harmer *et al.* 2010).

Thinning is a term used to describe a broad spectrum of felling intensities from highly selective of individual trees, to groups of trees or removal of most trees (Kerr and Haufe 2011). Depending upon the objectives of management thinning at the stem exclusion stage is often undertaken to facilitate reduced competition of the crowns of canopy trees allowing dominant trees to increase their incremental stem growth yield for timber production (Harmer et al. 2010). In reality thinning meets multiple objectives often in the same stands; a) to enable re-initiation of the understorey through natural regeneration (or from planted saplings where regeneration is unreliable), by allowing more light to penetrate the woodland floor; b) to promote the viability of the most economically desirable trees that have been retained following removal of lower quality competitors; and c) for the benefit of habitat diversity where nature conservation is a priority to encourage structures to support the various functional resources. It can therefore, speed up processes found within the successional model or indeed arrest the succession at a desired point as found in the coppice management system described below. The natural restructuring of even-aged woodland can take in excess of 160 years to reach a mixed size stage ranging from open habitats in early seral stages to old growth characteristics

associated with senescent trees (Peterken 1996). Different forest management categories may be classified by their method of regeneration and different age-classes of trees (Figure 9), which influences the structure of the stand, and may be considered along a gradient of intensity of management from clear-felling or coppicing to single tree selection (Savill 2015).

1.2.2 Drivers of change in woodland management – the coppice era.

Ancient woodlands in Britain were subject to silvicultural management which developed from the late Holocene wildwood. The earliest known use of round-wood derived from woodland management comes from Starr carr in Yorkshire, UK where archaeological evidence of cut and worked willow Salix spp and aspen Poplus tremula was identified, used as a platform for brushwood and possibly as a landing stage for boats, dated to the Mesolithic 9,000 years BCE (Conneller *et al.* 2012). Another early example known as the Sweet track, found during archaeological investigation in the Somerset levels, was an elaborate mixture of worked, split wooden poles constructed in the Neolithic 3800 years BCE, to enable passage across the wetland moors (Brunning 1995, Rackham 1990). Archaeology informs us that wood was widely used but very little evidence exists of systematic woodland management before and during the Roman occupation of Britain. The picture becomes clearer in the Anglo-Saxon period as place names revealed attachment to woodland and Anglo-Saxon charters describe the landscape within perambulations of settlements during land exchange . However, the 1086 AD Domesday presents us with the clearest idea of how much woodland existed; of more than 12,000 settlements with sufficient information approximately half possessed woodland (Rackham 1990). From the Norman conquest of 1066 AD, the management of woodlands could be broadly split into two forms, wood-pasture (or sometimes called pasture-woodland), and coppice. First wood-pasture which could be sub-divided into commons where ordinary people (commoners) were able graze livestock and collect fire-wood. Medieval deer parks were typically areas of wood-pasture subject to emparkment within a park-pale fence and were used primarily for maintaining deer for hunting and food. Secondly, Royal forests and their equivalent private chases used primarily for the benefit of 'beasts of the chase' including deer Cervidae and wild boar Sus scrofa as hunting preserves for the likes of Royalty, Noblemen and their followers (Rotherham 2018). Second, and more widespread,

woods became coppice with frequent successive harvesting of the understorey, a system which changed little for at least 650 years until the start of its economic demise during the mid-19th century (Mason 2007).



Figure 9. Silvicultural classification system for high forest adapted from Matthews (1991), high forest systems regenerate through natural seeding or via planting; coppice is included as a type of intensive even-aged system on short cycles, regeneration is vegetative from coppice stools.

Coppice could be woodland or parts of woods entirely subject to cyclical harvesting of underwood on rotations ranging between 7 and 30 years, known as simple coppice, or as

coppice with standards (Harmer and Howe 2003). The latter included taller canopy trees (the standards) harvested for their timber on much longer rotations exceeding 70 years selecting i.e., Oak for construction of buildings and ships (Colebourn 1983, 1989). Throughout the Middle Ages up until the 19th century, coppice had become a highly regularised system of woodland management with woodlands divided up by internal plots through the construction of wood banks to demark ownership and tenure (Buckley and Mills 2015). Coppice woodland was mostly enclosed to prevent grazing of livestock and deer, although in some woods temporary grazing was permitted once regrowth had reached a certain age at which it could withstand grazing animals moving through (Best 1998). Coppice products ranged from wattle and daub used in the construction of buildings, woven hurdles linked to sheep husbandry, firewood and the production of charcoal (Figure 10), used to smelt iron from the iron-ore up to the arrival of coal in the 18th century (Morris 2009). Before the widespread advent of coal in the 19th century charcoal was very important across Britain and Europe to fire the furnaces for glass production (Buckley and Mills 2015). The scale of the coppice industry is illustrated by the requirements for provisioning furnaces across Europe; a large 16th century furnace in the Forest of Dean required 53km² of managed coppice woods to sustain it (Crossley 2013), while the furnace at Bagot's Park, Staffordshire used approximately 1560 tonnes of wood a year from 19 ha of 15-year-old coppice (Crossley 1967). The use of Oak Quercus spp. bark for the leather tanning industry was also an important use of coppice but by the 19th century synthetic chemicals were developed and together with coal replacing charcoal, coppice wood as a resource began to decline (Buckley and Mills 2015). Coppice management developed by the 18th and 19th centuries to the extent that species were selected for particular use and planted to become almost pure stands of one or two species, Hazel Corylus avellana a good example in southern England in response to the burgeoning demand for sheep hurdles (Peterken 2015). Coppice management continued throughout the 19th century and into the middle of the 20th but demands for underwood declined substantially during this period, and accelerated between the 1947 and 2000 census of woodlands in Britain with an 80% reduction (Buckley and Mills 2015). As coal became more easily available demand for charcoal diminished across Europe, although its production continued in parts of central Europe well into the 20th century (Máliš et al. 2021). The rapid advancement of iron foundry technologies alongside the establishment

of the railway network in Britain led to a corresponding reliance on coal much earlier than many other parts of Europe (Evans and Rydén 2017). Woodland management at this point continued along a trend for high forest silviculture and the arrival of plantation forestry which had begun in the 18th century, and succeeded coppice as the primary system (Savill 2015). Most ancient woodland in lowland Britain had been coppiced and following abandonment of this practice those which were not converted to high forest silviculture became closed canopy, even-aged and high forest from neglect (Kirby *et al.* 2017). Despite a revival of interest in coppicing particularly in nature reserves in the latter part of the 20th century, coppicing on a commercial scale is a specialised and limited in scale reflecting niche markets in the UK (Harmer and Howe 2003).



Figure 10. an example of a commercial charcoal production clamp showing a burn, above, with soil placed over the stack of prepared logs, below. A method in use in Europe since the Iron-age. Börzsöny, Hungary 2002.

1.2.3 High Forest; a British and European Context

High forest silviculture developed in earnest from the 18th century at a time when there were huge demands for timber resources to supply the needs of a growing population across an increasingly industrialised Europe (Savill 2015). Coppice silviculture (reliant on underwood harvesting) became redundant or was altered to timber production from the harvesting of canopy trees either through allowing coppice to develop as overstorey, e.g., through singling, from naturally regenerated seedlings, or were replanted using nursery

grown stock (Harmer *et al.* 2010). There was also a switch from local supplies of wood to increased trade in timber between neighbouring European countries which prior to the advent of canals, railways and roads had been near impossible (Savill 2015). While woodfuel was still important for most people in the 18th and 19th centuries there were moves by governments to ensure strategic supplies of timber were available, for instance for naval use (Williams 2002). The burgeoning demand and growing concern for security of supplies was largely responsible for the development of new systems for producing trees which could be sustained, as well as predictable for future use (Williams 2002). This led to more regulated systems of governance which replaced the archaic, often complex forest laws in countries such as Britain (Rackham 1990) and especially France, where, simultaneously Forestry management was given a higher profile so that it became an important element of the state economy (Rochel 2015). In Germany in 1713 AD, Hans Carl von Carlowitz published *Silvicultura oeconomica* which proposed methods for sustainable yields across longer felling rotations alongside promoting the planting of fast-growing coniferous species, particularly Norway spruce Picea abies (Bürgi et al. 2015). This approach was adopted throughput central Europe and the mountainous regions of Italy and Slovenia (Johann 2006). Forestry was becoming a profession and taught in several Universities in Germany towards the end of the 18th century, and as a result there was wider adoption of plantations and even-aged high forest (Savill 2015). However, despite a move towards a reduced number of harvestable species, high forest systems of the 19th and 20th centuries could be varied and refined to suit conditions which included the use of natural regeneration (Troup 1928). A more scientific approach to silviculture which arose from the German forestry schools reflected a European social and economic context undergoing considerable changes in how land was used and timber resources were becoming increasingly valued during the 19th century (Johann 2006).

The variability of high forest systems is considerable across modern-day Europe; and particularly in mixed species forests requires detailed understanding and ecological expertise in the implementation of suitable management systems for the prevalent environmental conditions (Pach *et al.* 2018). Today we generally recognise three forms of high forest systems (See Figure 9); a) selection system, b) shelterwood system, and c) clear-felling creating even-aged stands, although there are many variants around these (Harmer

et al. 2010). The foundations of ecologically minded forestry were well established by the turn of the 20th century using Continuous Cover Forestry (a broad approach covering a wide range of forest management systems and ideas, but also referred to as 'back to nature', and 'close to nature' in parts of Europe) which were based on natural processes including natural regeneration, developing a mixed-age cohort of trees and selection harvesting of single or small groups of trees (Johann 2006). Shelterwood systems, common in France, rely on natural tree regeneration following a thinned canopy, which once young saplings are sufficiently established, is removed, although there is usually a succession of preparatory thinning to develop the crowns of seed-bearing trees (Pach et al 2018). The result is a mixture of a partly even-aged stand development over much of the cycle, although this could be varied depending upon location and conditions (Peterken 1996). Clear-felling following even-aged high forest management involves the felling of an entire block of trees; anything between 1 and 20 hectares at maturity, (although UKWAS includes areas > 0.25ha with no upper limit (UKWAS 2018)) and became common especially in monoculture plantation forestry during the 19th and 20th century (Savill 2015). Some authorities have suggested that adopting this system mirrored an attitude towards nature, of dominance and subjugation which was prevalent during the industrial revolution (Johann 2006). However, modern day even-aged forestry can be varied and include systematic thinning of trees before a final felling of the entire block, followed by replanting of native or non-native trees or by relying on natural regeneration from either (Savill 2015).

The First World War gave impetus to the establishment in Britain of the Forestry Commission in 1919 such had been the demands on timber resources and difficulties in securing them during the early part of the 20th century (Raum 2020). In Britain, with a comparatively low number of tree species compared to mainland Europe, high forest has become the dominant silviculture with coniferous plantation accounting for more than half the area under production (Harmer *et al.* 2010). For broadleaf woodland high forest accounts for 97% which is a combination of managed woods and those which were formerly managed and developed a high forest structure (Hopkins and Kirby 2007). There are today many examples of lowland broadleaf woodlands which were neglected e.g., abandoned coppice which has become closed-canopy overstorey and even-aged (Hopkins and Kirby 2007). During the 20th century following the establishment of the Forestry Commission the area of woodland cover in Britain increased from 4.7% to 13.5% (Harmer et al. 2010). The ensuing large-scale afforestation primarily entailed planting introduced Sitka spruce on open land including areas of semi-natural habitat such as moorland and bogs of the uplands, much of which was in Scotland, with financial incentives and tax breaks to help offset costs for landowners (Tsouvalis 2000). During the 1980's the nature conservation movement highlighted the ecological problems of widescale planting on important upland moorland habitats (Avery and Leslie 1990) along with effects on some water catchments with increased acidification from chemical changes in soils caused by coniferous leaf-litter (Ormerod and Gee 1990). Coniferous species such as Sitka spruce being relatively fast growing are commonly harvested before 60 years old and remain economically important in many areas of northern and western Britain (Quine 2015). Broadleaved plantations are generally associated with new woodland creation in Britain since the introduction of the broadleaved policy of 1985 which encouraged amenity tree planting, or following removal of conifers from previously broadleaved woodland (Harmer et al. 2010). Broadleaf trees managed under high forest silviculture are harvested between 50 and 160 years old depending upon species, quality and uses (Kerr and Evans 1993). In Britain perhaps the best-known example of a continuous cover system is in the Chiltern Hills which developed following transformation to favour Beech Fagus sylvatica to supply the furniture industry (Peterken 1981). High forest management generally dominates much of European forestry although its ecologies will depend on its origin, species mix and subsequent management; on one hand high forest derived from the long-term traditional management of ancient woodland coppice, on the other non-native plantation. With 44% of all woodland known to be certified under the UK woodland assurance scheme, (a sustainable silviculture standard designed to reflect the requirements set out in the governmental UK Forestry Standard (UKWAS 2018)), there is likely to be a significant proportion of under-managed woodland in Britain today (Forest Research 2021). For England 41% of woodlands are estimated to be unmanaged (Royal Forestry Society 2019).

1.2.4 Irregular Silviculture – Transformation from Europe to Britain

The 19th century gave rise to an increasing move towards selective systems of forestry in Europe as an alternative response to the purely economic and production utility of clearcutting even-aged plantations (Johann 2006). This was primarily down to concerns over the vulnerability of homogenous stands to insect outbreaks, storm susceptibility and frost damage alongside a better understanding of plant and soil sciences (Jacobsen 2001). Despite considerable debate over definitions, there are many variations of selective and irregular management; the principles revolve around utilising adaptation to site conditions and avoidance of clear-cutting with varying degrees of reliance on natural regeneration of trees (Bürgi 2015). At the turn of the 20th century ecology was in its infancy yet understanding ecological concepts in the natural succession of woodland vegetation and working with woodland dynamics in tree species selection, helped to further promote the idea of close-to-nature-silviculture (Bürgi 2015). Key to this was knowledge of localised site conditions, soils, topography, tree growth, especially incremental increase in stem volume and climatic constraints. A move away from clear-cutting to sustain timber resources was adopted by the French forester Adolphe Gurnaud who promoted the concept of optimal distribution of tree size-classes in every compartment which was a fundamentally different approach (Pommerening et al. 2004). The ideas of Gurnaud centred around the way forest compartments must be managed, independently of each other maintaining high growth rate, where timber yield and volume increment are assessed by comparing subsequent inventories; the amount removed is equal to the increment if the forest is in "balance". Importantly, tree selection is made by foresters based on their experience and knowledge of the forest, which has helped it win support by private woodland owners opposed to constraints imposed by state forestry (Nocentini 2021). Ideas around single tree selection were further developed by Alfred Möller a German mycologist who saw the forest as an organism and that maintaining it as a functioning ecosystem was integral to sustaining silvicultural management (Bürgi 2015). Möller's 'Dauerwald' (continuous forest) ideas from the 1920's shaped the Working Group on Close -to - Nature Silviculture, which eventually became Pro Silva Europe an organisation which continues today to promote the principles of continuous cover forestry through a country wide network (Bürgi 2015).

The demise of coppice and rise of even-aged stands in Britain was largely as a result of the drive towards high forest management, particularly plantations managed through clearcutting and replanting of coniferous species between 1945 and 1980 (Hopkins and Kirby 2007). The remaining broadleaved woodlands in lowland Britain developed into high forest from coppices because they were largely unmanaged (Kirby et al. 2005). Despite the continued increase of plantations across Europe during the 20th century (McGrath et al. 2015) there was a strong revival in the development of CCF during the 1980's and adoption of ideas around mimicking natural disturbances through selective felling. From this time the use of CCF and CNF has been adapted to include mixed and broadleaved forests across France in particular but adopted by a few in the UK and Ireland mostly by private landowners, despite opposition from state-run forestry (Bürgi 2015). Recent studies have highlighted how CCF can support a range of ecosystem services making it increasingly attractive in providing various social, economic and environmental benefits which modern forestry is expected to provide (Kerr 1999, Pukkala et al. 2016). Moreover, CCF is being promoted by the UK Forestry Commission and Natural England as a way of increasing resilience and adaptation of forest management systems to the effects of a changing climate (Forestry Commission 2020, Rural Payments Agency and Natural England 2020). Today an estimated 30% of European forests are managed under a form of CCF yet uncertainties remain around its wider adoption to meet with the range of demands placed on forest and woodlands due in part to lack of evidence of its suitability and limited experience in the forest management sector (Mason et al. 2022).

In British nature conservation there have been divergent opinions expressed over the merits of restoring coppice management in lowland broadleaved woodlands. Hambler and Speight (1995) challenged what they saw as the dogmatic views surrounding the use of traditional coppice. They argue such an approach caters for comparatively few organisms associated with early successional scrub at the expense of later seral stages where a more dynamic habitat complexity can develop and thus a broader compliment of habitat niches supporting a wider assemblage. Nevertheless, the demise of coppicing has led to a corresponding reduction of some species associated with the continuity of gap creation in British woods, e.g., birds including nightingale *Luscinia megarhynchos* and butterflies like the pearl bordered fritillary *Boloria euphrosyne* (Fuller and Warren 1991). There is a

genuine concern too for the loss of cultural association and species affiliated with a coppice system prevalent since at least the neolithic (Rackham 2006). A particular challenge in Britain is to accommodate a range of species along the successional gradient model found in woodlands which may go some way to address concerns across the spectrum of debate (Colak et al. 2003). A key question is can high forest management systems achieve the necessary structures to maintain species associated with traditional landscape practices (Kirby et al. 2017)? Or indeed adopt natural woodland processes whilst including anthropogenic intervention (Colak et al. 2003). In a changing environmental context that includes climate driven impacts and those from rising deer numbers, there is increasing focus on wilding land using natural processes where CCF may be complimentary (Bennett and Morgan 2018). The Association Futaie Irrégulière is a group of foresters mainly managing broadleaved forests and woodlands in France based on single tree selection; the network promotes dissemination of knowledge and has established research stands across the country which has, since the early 1990's, included several woodlands in the UK (Susse et al. 2011), (Figure 11). The collection of forest mensuration data includes overall stand condition, individual tree performance, biological data mainly focussed on deadwood and microhabitat features associated with old growth characteristics, alongside economic performance and provides a powerful tool for maximising income using irregular silviculture (Susse et al. 2011). For nature conservation CCF including irregular may offer potential for a broad range of species associated with early succession and old growth characteristics e.g., the retention of important habitat trees (Gustafsson et al. 2020). High forest systems with mixed growth stages in CCF managed forests are analogous with natural woodland, more so than coppice which is primarily based on the transient stages of young woodland growth (Peterken 1996). Another characteristic of the transformation towards CCF management is that it is purported by its advocates to be flexible in being adaptive to changing circumstances and that resilience (to retain overall woodland structure and function) is integral by following ecologically based principles (Diaci et al. 2011, Brang et al. 2014). However, the development of multi-aged forestry also requires experiential insight from foresters about how they may skilfully manipulate forests and woodlands towards resilience and sustainability, in an increasingly dynamic market to meet with the multiple demands of society (O'Hara 2015). The current UK Forestry Standard promotes the restructuring of even-aged woodlands to uneven-aged to create diverse mosaics of species, sizes, ages, spatial scales and regeneration cycles (UKWAS 2018). As humanity faces threats from a changing climate and increased expectations are placed on forests and woodlands to provide a range of ecosystem services and public goods, CCF and CNF silviculture is likely to be tested to provide a suite of novel solutions in the coming decades (O'Hara 2015, Gamborg and Larsen 2003).



Figure 11. Location of woodlands contributing to the AFI network, Annee = Year, Nombre = Number of woods in each region.

Chapter 2 Study Area Description and Overview of Research

2.1 Study Area: Background and Description

2.1.1 Study Area: Description of Research Woodlands

The study area on the Rushmore Estate lies within the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty on the Dorset, Wiltshire border Latitude: 50°.95' North, Longitude: -2°.08' West, (Figure 12). The underlying geology is chalk laid down from marine sediments during the late Cretaceous period 66 to 100 million years ago. The landscape is one of rolling chalk downland with expansive chalk plateau which arose after the major geological uplifting around 37 million years ago and has been subsequently influenced through post-glacial wash and erosion (Natural England 2013). The Rushmore Estate woodlands are predominantly found on the plateau and gently sloping dry valleys between 100 metres and 260 metres above sea level but extending to the top of the escarpment. The soils reflect the parent rock in being rendzinas with chalky, flinty material on the plateau and exposed slopes, typically with high pH, due to free calcium, although deeper soils of brown-earth have developed where woodland cover has persisted over many centuries. Clay with flints maybe moderately acidic where the influence of chalk is not prevalent, elsewhere soils that developed a mull humus may be neutral pH (Smith 1980). There is no surface water within the woodlands estate although the porous nature of the soils and underlying chalk has a high water holding capacity and is not drought-prone (Poore 2016). Average rainfall is 896mm (Met Office Undated). The Ecological Site Classification version ESC 4 (Forest Research https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/tools-and-resources/fthr/ecological-siteclassification/) identifies the site which has a warm, moderately exposed and moist climate. The soils are slightly dry moisture status and rich nutrient status.



Figure 12. Location of Rushmore Estate study area within Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in central southern England, United Kingdom.

The Rushmore estate sits entirely within the designated landscape of the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty established in 1981 (Natural England 2013). The primary purpose of AONB designation is 'conserving and enhancing the natural beauty' of the area. In 1991, the Countryside Commission stated 'In pursuing the primary purpose of designation, account should be taken of the needs of agriculture, forestry and other rural industries and of the economic and social needs of local communities.' Particular regard should be paid to promoting sustainable forms of economic and social development that in themselves conserve and enhance the environment (CCand WWD AONB 2019). The AONB landscape is also of international importance. The International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) recognise it as a Category V Protected Landscape which they define as: A protected area where the interaction of people and nature over time has produced an area of distinct character with significant ecological, biological, cultural and scenic value, and where safeguarding the integrity of this interaction is vital to protecting and sustaining the area and its associated nature conservation and other values. (Lausche 2011). In 2013, the IUCN UK Committee reaffirmed the Category V status of all AONBs, confirming the significant contribution they make to conserve the UK's biodiversity (CC and WWD AONB 2019). The Rushmore woodlands form part of the Wooded Chalk Downlands Landscape Character Area (3a).

The key aims under the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2020- 2024 (CCand WWD AONB 2019) for "Conserving and Enhancing the Outstanding landscapes" are:

- All natural resources in the AONB are sustainably managed.
- Wildlife thrives in the AONB and is able to move freely around the area.
- The natural environment to be healthy and resilient to the effects of climate change.

The Rushmore study area covers 442 hectares of ancient semi-natural broadleaved woodland all of which is within the Cranborne Chase woodland Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). The Rushmore woodland form 91% of the SSSI (Poore 2016). The SSSI was designated in 1989 under the Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981). "Cranborne Chase SSSI is one of the largest tracts of ancient semi-natural woodland in southern lowland England. It is a mosaic of oak / ash / maple / hazel woodland on base rich soils influenced by the underlying chalk, interspersed with oak / birch / hazel woodland on base poor soils of the overlying surface deposits" (Natural England undated). Due to historical continuity of woodland cover and because the Rushmore estate woodlands are the most extensive and contiguous tract in central southern England, the site has the most diverse lichen assemblage in the region outside of the New Forest (Natural England 2013). The Rushmore Estate woodlands are a mixture of two National Vegetation Communities (NVC), being composed of W8 Ash Fraxinus excelsior, Field Maple Acer campestre, and W10 Oak Quercus robur, Ash Fraxinus excelsior stand types (Rodwell 1991). The latter includes stands of Birch Betula pendula which in some areas forms the dominant stand, while Beech Fagus sylvatica, Oak and Field Maple stands are locally prominent with Whitebeam Sorbus aria on the dryer soils (NCC 1989). There is a rich assemblage of shrub species representative of variations in the soil with Spindle Euonymus europaeus, Holly Ilex aquifolium, Dogwood Cornus sanquinea, locally common Butcher's broom Ruscus aculeatus, Old Man's beard Clematis vitalba and Bramble Rubus fruticosus. The ground flora is especially rich and one of the primary reasons for the SSSI designation with 57 species of ancient woodland indicator plants (AWI) recorded alongside nationally important lower plant communities (NCC 1989).

2.1.2 The Cultural Significance of Woodland Development in Cranborne Chase

With a rich landscape history, the area of Cranborne Chase has been subject to considerable archaeological studies which has revealed chronological insights into its vegetation history and land-use patterns from the Mesolithic onwards (Green 2000, Allen 2002). The chalklands of Cranborne Chase has produced more prehistoric evidence of human activity at this time than any other chalk landscape in Britain (Green and Allen 1997). Analysis of pollen and land snail assemblages from deposits found within a naturally sunken shaft (known as the Fir tree shaft) in the chalk at Down Farm, Sixpenny Handley suggest humic soil conditions were present with Boreal woodland (i.e., Mesolithic- c. 7,500–5,000 BCE), cover likely to have comprised Scots pine Pinus sylvestris and hazel *Corylus* avellana (Green and Allen 1997). Furthermore, analysis of deposits from peatlands of the Allen Valley within Cranborne Chase suggest these Mesolithic woodlands were considerably more open and patchily distributed than the presumed closed canopy climax woodland (French et al. 2003). Given the recurring amount of charcoal found within the strata of the Fir tree shaft and the considerable quantity of flint scatters, (Figure 13), it has been suggestested humans were influencing the characteristics of the vegetation of the Cranborne Chase chalklands during the Mesolithic (Allen 2002, French et al. 2003). However, and in contrast to other chalkland regions in southern Britain, (Figure 14), this evidence suggests the landscape was already lightly wooded with open grassland, because soils were not fully developed as either light brown-earth or Rendzinas more commonly associated with thin soils of chalk downland (Allen and Gardiner 2009). It appears that the hunter-gatherer people of the time were attracted to the ecological diversity of those mosaics of wooded/open habitats which were occupied by wild animals including deer which they exploited along with a range of fruits and seeds (Allen and Gardiner 2009). The development of the native vegetation and interaction between people and ungulates in Cranborne Chase, has direct relevance to models of past woodland equilibrium postulated by ecologists particularly Vera (2000) and Kirby (2004), (Figure 15), and further referenced by palaeoarchaeologists Allen and Gardiner (2009) and Allen (2017), in their research on Cranborne Chase. Recent discussions around modern rewilding of landscapes have focussed on trying to understand a) the degree of woodland cover and openness in the Holocene and, b) what we might be able to usefully derive from our understanding of

landscape characteristics that may have been prevalent before farming began in the Neolithic, towards current land management philosophies (Hodder *et al.* 2009). Pertinent to which is the understanding of natural processes used in CCF and irregular silviculture, which is having resonance with several of its promoters who contend that rewilding is complementary (Bennett and Morgan 2018).



Figure 13. Neolithic flint working, Chase wood, Sixpenny Handley, Dorset, September 2014.



Figure 14. Contrasting postglacial woodland development between the Wessex Chalklands including Cranborne Chase, and the South Downs of Sussex. Evidence suggests the former was more open in character while the latter was densely wooded. (Figure © Mike Allen, from Allen (2017)).



Figure 15. Model of woodland-scrub-grassland development adapted from Vera (2000) and added to by Kirby (2004) to include a break-up degeneration phase of woodland.

The expansion of human settlement across Cranborne Chase chalklands reflected the relatively close proximity of a diverse range of habitats, and continued throughout the Neolithic and Bronze Age. The area developed into a sacred landscape full of social and cultural meaning as is evident from the hundreds of prehistoric burial and ritualistic earthworks of the area (Green 2000). By the time of the Roman occupation 43 AD a more regularised system of land management existed with clearance of woodland followed by cultivation of the lighter soils (Rackham 1986). This was set to change following the demise of the Roman empire in 410 AD as the Saxon settlers occupied river valley locations and the old chalkland villages of the previous occupiers became neglected (Green 2000).

Rushmore lay at the heart of Cranborne Chase an area which despite clearance over much of the surrounding chalk landscape remained largely wooded (Allen & Gardiner 2009). The Chase was to become an important hunting preserve, established by Saxon charters under the Lordship of Bictric son of Algar (Hawkins 1980). Following the Norman Conquest of 1066 AD, the Chase transferred to Matilda of Flanders, the wife of William the Conqueror (Crittall 1959). Although not established as a Royal Hunting Forest its status as a Chase meant that it was subject to similar forest laws with rights given to those who owned and managed the land with the Chase court held twice-yearly at the village of Cranborne, Dorset (Hawkins 1980). The system was two-tiered with an overall Chase ownership covering the outer perambulation which extended for 800,000 acres (323,748 ha) and individual Barons who were awarded tenancy of estates with a peasant workforce who lived and worked on the land which followed the feudal system that operated in Medieval England (Crittall 1959). Over many centuries ownership of the Chase changed and included Royalty from King John who became the Earl of Gloucester at the end of the 12th century, until King James 1st in the early 17th century (Barker 2006).

Throughout the medieval period until the early 19th century common rights existed over the woodland. There were areas of enclosed coppice that were protected from grazing to ensure the regrowth of trees and also more open wood pasture with rights to firewood 'wood bote' and rights to graze livestock, which often blurred the distinction between woodland and grassland in some areas at the edges of Rushmore (Poore 2016). There were rights to graze some of the coppices once the regrowth had attained a certain height and as with the other rights would have been subject to close regulation (Peterken 1981). The Chase as a regulated land-use helped to preserve the woodland character so that by the 15th century underwood managed as coppice was well established as a silvicultural system across most of the woodlands. To uphold the forest laws and resolve disputes a number of Chase officials were employed as wood wardens, foresters, keepers and rangers, (Figure 16), who often dealt with issues around the protection of 'beasts of the Chase' especially deer, protection of the 'vert' or vegetation in and on which the deer lived, and husbandry of the land (Hawkins 1980). For instance, in Rushmore in 1554, fines were imposed for allowing un-ringed pigs to pannage in the Chase wood, and coppice being left un-cut past its usual harvest time was also met with punishment meted out by the Cranborne Manor

court. However, fines were the most commonly used punishment as it raised revenue for the Chase owner and ultimately the Monarchy (Crittall 1959).



Figure 16. An engraving from 1857 of a Cranborne Chase Keeper in his protective forest night dress, cutlass and staff, Rushmore 1815. Salisbury Museum© Salisbury Museum /Bridgeman Images

Extensively managed coppice woodland at Rushmore was well developed by the 14th century; records in the 14th and 15th century show an elaborate system of strictly controlled, temporary, 'dead' hedging being used to protect recently cut coppice from browsing. National statutes covered this practice and in 1483 AD a law was passed which increased the maximum period of enclosure from 3 to 7 years (Poore 2016). Coppice was sold by the acre with an additional area given to provide material for the hedge and a contra payment 'by the perch' to the purchaser for the construction of the hedge. The Chase map of Aldwell 1618 AD shows extensive, named coppices across much of the

woodland at Rushmore. In a survey of 15 coppices here in 1547 AD the current years of growth varied from 1 to 28 years with 6 in the 20's. The coupe size ranged from 8 to 24 acres (3.2 to 9.7 hectares) that would have produced material largely for firewood. It appears that long rotations were the norm until after 1829 AD following disenfranchisement (abolition) of the Chase rights (Hawkins 1980). The long rotations and restrictive environment also suggest that little conscious effort would have been made to alter the species composition of the underwood (Poore 2016). However, Rushmore became an important area for the coppice industry in the 19th century with many woodland compartments being planted with hazel to meet with the burgeoning demand for hurdles for the folding (penning in) of sheep on the chalk downs and water meadows around the many chalk streams of the area (Hawkins 1980).

Wooded commons (wood pasture) of Rushmore which later developed into woodland existed at Farnham Common and the adjacent Tollard Green. Despite the disenfranchisement of the Chase Rights in 1829 much of the woodland at Rushmore survived, more so than on other estates within Cranborne Chase. Common grazing rights had been removed from most of the Wiltshire woods of the Chase in 1794 and in Dorset in 1796 and 1852. In the 19th century Bridmore Green and Farnham Common Wood were planted with hazel and Old Hewitts was cleared. Only Tollard Green survived as grazed woodland into the 20th century (Poore 2016). The Rushmore woodlands at the beginning of the 19th century were dominated by hazel and birch underwood while high forest stands dominated by ash and oak were a rarity; this situation had probably existed for centuries previously. After disenfranchisement coppice management intensified and Rushmore became one of the principal centres of the hazel underwood trades which served the wood trade across Wessex; Dorset, Wiltshire and Hampshire (Colebourn 1983). This remained the case up to the 1950's and underwood auctions continued until the early 1970's. The main products were hurdles for sheep folding, and spars for thatching ricks and houses (Poore 2016, Hawkins 1980). Today (2022) hurdle making continues with a single hurdle-maker providing hurdles for garden screens and ornamental fences, (Figure 17). There are several stands of pure Birch *Betula pendula/pubescens* coppice cut on short rotation for use as horse jumps, revetments for riverbank restoration and besom brooms (Figure 18); sales of the latter have increased since the Harry Potter films!



Figure 17. Don Taylor, Hurdle-Maker constructs a hazel hurdle from the coppice he has recently cut, a process followed by successive generations of coppice-workers for at least 500 years in the Chase woods. Rushmore, Wiltshire, April 2014.



Figure 18. Produce from an area of pure Birch *Betula spp* coppice cut on a 3–4-year rotation stacked awaiting collection for use as horse jumps and revetments for river bank restoration. March 2014.

2.1.3 Silvicultural Description of the Study Area

Following the national trend in the 20th century there was a steady decline at Rushmore of coppice management up to World War One and a rapid decline thereafter (Poore 2016). Around 150 acres (60 ha) was sold annually up to 1913 (indicating an on-rotation (cutting every c.7 years), area of 1200 to 1400 acres (485 to 566 ha)), 40 acres (19 ha) in 1946 and less than 10 acres (4 ha) when the underwood auctions ceased in the mid 1970's. With the decline in coppicing after the Second World War, there was some conversion of coppice woodland to conifers and more locally to beech. By the mid-1980's, however, over half of the Estate's 2000 acres (800 ha) of woodland remained as neglected coppice woodland with a direct link to the woodland area which had attracted the attention of the Saxon Rulers (Poore 2016). Because of this continuity and despite cessation of active management, Cranborne Chase's ancient semi-natural woodland with its long history of coppice management became recognised as being of great importance for nature conservation (NCC 1989). It contains the largest block of semi-natural woodland suitable for restoration to coppice management in southern Britain (NCC 1989). Potentially it could support sustainable populations of a range of woodland plants, woodland birds including garden warbler Sylvia borin and insects, such as fritillary butterflies, and mammals, including bats Chiroptera and hazel dormouse Muscardinus avellenarius, which are reliant on structurally varied habitat, which has become increasingly reduced and fragmented negatively affecting their conservation (NCC 1989, Bright and Morris 1996). In 2009 the Cranborne Chase woods became one of four ancient woodland priority areas in south-west England identified by the Forestry Commission as robust, permeable networks of existing woodland habitats with the potential for expansion, and to link areas of suitable habitat that are otherwise fragmented (CCandWWD AONB 2019). Between 1991 and 2009 the Rushmore Estate and Natural England, with assistance from the Forestry Commission, were engaged on a major project to restore underwood stands for coppice where appropriate. Across the remaining native woodland area, the aim has been to promote the development of semi-natural high forest, particularly using irregular high forest (Poore 2016). There are 442 ha of ancient semi-natural woodland on the Rushmore Estate with a common history, mostly from coppice and some areas of former common land which were planted or reverted to woodland (Poore 2016). The transformation of some of the seminatural woodland to an Irregular high forest began in the 1980's and continues to the present day with various stands in different stages of development, while in-rotation coppice of hazel and pure birch stands remains actively managed (Table 2, and Figure 19 and Figure 20). Transitional high forest are stands undergoing the first stages of transformation towards Irregular (typically with their first or second silvicultural intervention within the preceding 5 – 8 years) and are typically derived from even-aged high forest, overstood neglected coppice or limited intervention stands (Poore 2016). The latter are stands with a mix of undermanagement from former coppice or high forest and have typically not been managed for at least 50 years in the case of coppice or 30 years for high forest (Poore 2016).

Woodland type UK Priority Habitat*	Silvicultural Management	Area (ha)	% Broadleaf Wood	% SSSI Area
Ancient Semi- Natural Broadleaved Woodland	Irregular High Forest	137.1	31	25.2
	Transitional High Forest	97.4	22	26.6
	Limited intervention	102	23	16.5
	Coppice	106.1**	24	23.5
Total		442.6	100	91.8

Table 2. Summary of ancient semi-natural broadleaved woodland and current silvicultural management at Rushmore used in the study.

* Habitat of principal importance in United Kingdom s41 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (JNCC 2011).

** 84.3 ha of hazel dominated and 21.9 ha of birch dominated coppice



Figure 19. The Cranborne Chase woodlands.



Figure 20. Ancient woodland locations used in the study across the Rushmore Estate Tollard Royal, Wiltshire 2014 -2016; stand descriptions are given.

2.1.4 Conservation Rationale for Cranborne Chase Woods

The intrinsic value of the Rushmore woodland which forms the basis of this study are recognised through statutory landscape and nature conservation designations. As such these influence the aims and objectives of the management of the woodland. The aims and objectives for land management reflect the UK government policies e.g., The 25 Year Environment Plan (DEFRA 2018), to promote sustainability across all sectors including forestry with biodiversity conservation as a primary objective. At a landscape scale the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty within which the Rushmore woodlands sits outlines the following objectives for the Cranborne Chase woodlands in general terms through the AONB management plan (2019-2024):

- The landscape character, tranquillity and special qualities of the AONB and its settings are conserved and enhanced.
- Sustainable ecological networks are established and maintained across the AONB.
- Farmers, foresters, game and fishery managers actively assist in conserving and enhancing the landscape and environment of the AONB through their business operations.
- Local communities benefit from a sustainable rural economy, based on the resources of the AONB, that also conserves and enhances its landscape character and special qualities.

The United Kingdom Forestry Standard (UKFS) promotes the sustainable adoption of best practice in forestry to enable the UK government to comply with international obligations and treaties around the following criteria (Forestry Commission 2017):

- Maintenance and appropriate enhancement of forest resources and their contribution to global carbon cycles.
- Maintenance of forest ecosystem health and vitality.
- Maintenance and encouragement of productive functions of forests (wood and non-wood).

- Maintenance, conservation and appropriate enhancement of biological diversity in forest ecosystems.
- Maintenance and appropriate enhancement of protective functions in forest management (notably soil and water).

All forest managers and practitioners in the UK are expected to meet the UKFS requirements and the authorities will assess applications for forestry proposals (felling licence and woodland grant applications) against these standards before giving permission and offering grant aid (Forestry Commission 2017). The requirement for an approved management plan is embedded within this approach to satisfy the statutory agencies i.e., Forestry Commission and Natural England who will be consulted and comment before approval. For Rushmore the woodland management objectives for the ancient semi-natural woodlands have been established by Poore (2016), as follows:

<u>Objectives</u>

- To maintain the scenic, historic and scientific interest of the outstanding landscape and preserve its character in accordance with the undertakings as amplified in the Rushmore Heritage Landscape Management Plan.
- 2. To conserve, and where appropriate enhance, those wildlife habitats identified as being of significance in consultation with Natural England as appropriate.
- To create a structure across the Woodland Estate which maintains positive cash flows as far as possible through reducing costs and which seeks, in the long term, to maximise the production of quality sawlogs and where appropriate, larger dimension timber.
- 4. To create a forest structure and composition which will be resilient to biotic and climatic threats.
- 5. To manage the forest with due regard to the UK Forestry Standard.
- 6. To protect features of historic and archaeological interest and their settings in consultation with Historic England as appropriate.
- 7. To provide reasonable public access for walkers and riders.

OBJECTIVES

Silviculture

- a) Stand improvement shall be given the highest priority where it does not conflict with other objectives. Aim for a structure that maximises diameter growth of the best individuals whilst maintaining stability and timber quality.
- b) Aim to create mixtures with one main species and one to three secondary species.
- c) Aim to reduce re-stocking costs by avoiding clear-felling and promoting a structure which promotes natural regeneration of the preferred species.
- d) Aim to produce high quality sawlogs of species appropriate to the site.
- e) Aim to market directly to the processor/ end-user wherever possible.

Nature Conservation

• Maintain and, where appropriate enhance, biodiversity and take regard of nationally and locally important species and habitats.

• Manage stands within Cranborne Chase and Rotherley Downs SSSIs in consultation with Natural England.

• Ancient Semi-natural Woodlands: achieve a range of habitat types and degrees of habitat dynamism by:

- maintaining a network of open habitats in rides and glades and areas of 'open high forest'.
- managing a significant proportion of stands for underwood production on a short rotation

- promoting the development of diverse, high forest stands as Continuous Cover High Forest using a selection system, with some supplementary planting where appropriate.
- maintaining a network of stands in which silvicultural development is not directed and where old growth characteristics are encouraged.
- Deadwood:
 - to provide both standing and fallen deadwood habitats throughout the woodland, where this does not conflict with the safety of the public or forestry workers or the health of the woodland.
 - to aim to accumulate deadwood on key sites so that 10-20 cubic metres per hectare of standing and fallen deadwood are present or 5-10% of standing volume. Emphasis will be placed on conservation of standing deadwood and large-diameter sections of fallen deadwood.
 - to safeguard deadwood habitats by avoiding drastic changes in conditions through the use of Continuous Cover Forest management

2.2 Overview of the Research

2.2.1 Aims and Objectives

A primary ambition for this study has been to address the paucity of information around the introduction of Irregular high forest in Britain (Mason *et al.* 2022). Against a backdrop of building resilience in which woodlands are increasingly being managed for adaptation to changes in climate and tree pests and diseases (Read *et al.* 2009, Forestry Commission 2020), we require a more complete understanding of how variants in woodland management affect biodiversity when developing future woodland management practices (Fuller 2013). As the Rushmore estate woodlands are part of the Cranborne Chase SSSI, evidence for changing the way land management is undertaken as part of the SSSI reform being promoted under the UK governments 25-year environment plan, will contribute to improved understanding of adaptive management and future woodland policy (Natural England 2021). Diversification of woodland structure and allowing natural

processes to lead the management response is seen as critically valuable (Natural England 2021, Forestry Commission 2020). Both are principal drivers underpinning the approach to management of transformation of under-managed woodland to an irregular high forest at Rushmore (Poore 2016). Structural attributes of temperate broadleaf woodland influence a range of species of conservation interest, plants, woodland birds and bats (Peterken 1996, Quine *et al.* 2007, Bouvet *et al.* 2016). Therefore, understanding how structure varies between and within silvicultural management types was fundamental to this research as much as how species responded to it. This study also aims to demonstrate how different taxonomic groups respond to stands undergoing silvicultural treatment where the economic and ecological returns may be reconciled (Aggestam *et al.* 2020). In Europe balancing economics with nature conservation has been fraught with challenges where a more constrained criteria around governance and certification has led to a reduction in forest structural diversity at a landscape scale (Kuuluvainen *et al.* 2019).

The scale and configuration of the woodlands at the Rushmore estate were especially conducive to scientific study because different silvicultural treatments were intermixed (see Figure 20). As such spatial bias could be more easily considered and addressed during analysis as sampling locations were geographically represented across the study area and stratification of silvicultural management was therefore straightforward to achieve (Kent 2012).

The research objectives were:

1) To examine the structural habitat characteristics of vegetation within the study woodlands and identify how any variations relate to stand management.

2) To examine the woodland flora community composition and richness using phytosociological groups and relate these to the structural habitat characteristics across the following stand management types; coppice, Irregular and limited intervention.

3) To identify patterns of bird community composition and abundance in spring and winter across different woodland management regimes of the broadleaf woodland
mosaic (i.e., between areas of coppiced woodlands, irregular high forest stands, transitional stands and limited intervention stands).

4) To identify the bat community composition present within each stand type and identify the relative patterns of activity for each species. Activity will be analysed using acoustic recognition, and to examine the habitat structural characteristics of those locations used by bats across the stands.

5) To use the results of 1-4 to produce recommendations and guidance to the forestry industry and statutory nature conservation bodies.

2.2.2 Study Design

The fundamental requirement of all the research described in this thesis was that as acomparison study across the different stand management types, it required sufficient plots from which to sample the habitat structures and different taxonomic groups.. A plot-based study within which all measures of both habitat and species are gathered gives greater detail and precision when investigating a species- habitat relationship (Bibby et al. 2000). A variable plot-based sampling method was employed (Figure 21), from where all measurements were collected to best capture the variability of habitat structures across the woodland and consequently be representative of each stand management type (Kent 2012, Bibby et al. 2000, Hansen and Hounihan 1998). A systematic sampling protocol was used stratified across the stand management types (Figure 22). Plots were placed at least 100 metres apart and 30 metres from the edges of each stand to reduce the effect of proximate habitats e.g., permanent rides (Kirby and Hall 2019, Bibby et al 2000). Within each plot all structural habitat measures were collected from circular plots and vascular plant data from within the 20mx20m quadrat. Point counts and Acoustic activity measures for birds and bats respectively were collected at the plot centre. Plot adapted from Hansen and Hounihan (1996). Site effects which may unduly influence the silvicultural treatment effects were accounted for by including each of the sample plots (sub-samples) within each stand unit as the overall sample. To overcome possible

pseudoreplication as a result of plots being spatially autocorrelated (therefore nonindependent samples), a stand unit number was incorporated into the analyses of the three taxonomic groups as a random factor (Davies and Gray 2015).



Figure 21. Variable plot layout as used in the study.



A)



B)

Figure 22. A) Locations of all study plots within each of four stand types using 310 sample plots for woodland birds and their habitat structural measures with a subset of 120 sample plots B) selected for sampling birds, bats, vascular plants, and moths for three stand types; key: yellow limited intervention, red Irregular high forest, orange coppice and blue transitional. Rushmore, Wiltshire.

The habitat structural measures selected represent the layers of the woodland canopy and understorey with the aim of exploring how these interact and reflect the stand interventions. The measures collected were used to provide an insight into the relative attributes of each stand type which in turn may be associated with the occurrence of the different species of birds and bats encountered. The presence of these attributes provides, in varying degrees, the functional resources required by these species in respect of foraging, nesting, roosting and dispersal (Fuller 2013, Carr *et al.* 2020). Similarly, the structure of the woodland affects the vascular plant community as woodland species responses vary according to light availability (Barkham 1992). Plot measures taken were as follows and measures of central tendency median and means plus ranges, standard deviation and coefficient of variance calculated as required for each.

Within the 30-metre diameter circular plot (707m²);

- Basal Area m² /ha as a measure of biomass; using a factor of 2.25 a relascope sweep of 360⁰ was taken using the android phone forest measurement application MOTI (Rosset *et al.* 2014). The camera is calibrated so that it reflects the BA factor and all stems >7.5cm diameter at breast height (dbh) within the sweep are counted as 'in' where they sit within the vertical lines shown.
- Number of the five largest canopy Oak *Quercus robur* and Ash *Fraxinus excelsior* in plot as measured by dbh.
- Count of all woody stems as a measure of tree density across 3 categories: Stems ha⁻¹. 1) >50cm , 2) 17.5 -50cm, 3) 7.5cm-17.5cm diameter at breast height.
- Estimate of Standing deadwood frequency for each of 4 dbh categories; 1) 3-7.5cm, 2) 7.5-30cm,3) >30cm. 4) For multi-branched dead trees >30cm the number of main branch points as an index of cover.
- Index of estimated fallen deadwood across 2 categories; 1) Length of fallen logs over 30cm diameter; 2) Volume in m³ of coarse woody debris, fallen branchwood and cut scrub.
- Dbh in centimetres of the 5 largest trees regardless of species within the plot and their distances from the centre to the nearest 0.5 metre.
- The dominant % field layer in plot including seedlings ≤ 0.5m height using Domin values 1= few 2= several 3=many 4 = 4-10% 5 = 11-25% 6 = 26-33% 7= 34-50%

Within the five circular 3 metre diameter sub-plots 4 were positioned at 10 metres from centre at each cardinal point N, E, S, W and 1 was positioned at 2 metres from centre of the main plot with its centre location derived from using a random compass bearing (7.1m²);

- Number of saplings and coppice stems > 0.5m height from 5 sub plots extrapolated to whole plot at 10m from centre; 1) <3cm dbh, 2) > 3 - 7.5cm dbh.
- Understorey density at 4 sub-plots based on the compass cardinal points 10m from centre at 0.5, 1.5, 2.0m height bands. A measure of vegetation obscuring the chequerboard was estimated to the nearest 5%, against a 30cm x 15cm chequerboard, to derive a mean understorey density value per plot for each height for comparison between stand types (Figure 23).
- Canopy openness % calculated from the proportion of grid-squares on the mirror open to sky at 4 cardinal points 10m from centre measured using a convex mirror spherical densiometer (Lemmon 1956) to derive a mean value per plot to compare across stand types (Figure 23).



Figure 23. Chequer board as used to estimate woodland understorey density across a horizontal plane by moving it up or down a measuring pole. Three height bands were sampled 0.5 m, 1.5m and 2 m to look at variation in structure across the understorey strata. Spherical densiometer on right for measuring canopy cover.

2.2.3 Outline of the Research Chapters

The aim of the research at Rushmore were to compare stands undergoing transformation towards an irregular high forest silviculture against those traditionally managed as coppice and stands that had been under-managed for at least 50 years.

Using a plot-based stratified sampling approach the research focussed on vegetation structure and three taxonomic groups; woodland plants, woodland birds and bats. Multivariate community analysis using Principal Components Analysis was used to explore the relationships between woodland habitat structures and species in relation to stand management type and identify gradients along each axis which represent these. Non-Metric Multidimensional Scaling was used to look at Ancient Woodland Indicators of vascular plants. Generalised linear models and Generalised linear mixed models were used to compare species groups between stands with pairwise comparisons. Habitat associations were also explored using Generalised Additive Mixed Models. Multi-taxa studies of this type are unusual in UK woodlands and the results provide a unique contribution to our understanding of the dynamics of the habitats resulting from silvicultural interventions in ancient semi-natural woodland.

The following chapters 3, 4 and 5 relate to three peer-reviewed papers which have been accepted and published, and a final discussion chapter which draws together the main findings of the research, identifies where the study has given insight and where future research may be directed.

Chapter 3 introduces the wider study area across all 310 sample plots and uses multivariate analysis to give an over view of the vegetation communities and structural characteristics of the ancient semi-natural woodlands at Rushmore. The structural attributes of the different stand types were measured and compared and form the basis of the work on the vertebrate groups studied in subsequent chapters. It then focusses down onto the ancient woodland vascular plant community. Using a subset of 120 sample plots, Paper 1 demonstrates how woodland plants are influenced by silvicultural interventions using Generalised Linear Mixed Models with post-hoc pair-wise tests looking for differences in phytosociological groups of plants that indicate different

environmental conditions in ancient woodland. A community analysis, was used to look at how ancient woodland indicator and coppice guild species of plants associated with woodland continuity and traditional coppice management respond to the effects of structures in the different silvicultural management types. Indicator species analysis uses a combination of abundance and occurrence at each plot and identified those ancient woodland plants which had the strongest affinity to a particular stand management type or types. The context of these findings is discussed in respect of woodland habitat structure and silvicultural management.

In Chapter 4, Paper 2 elucidates how woodland structure as driven by silvicultural management influences the woodland bird community. Using point counts across all 310 plots in both the breeding season and winter shows how the calculated densities of key woodland species including several of conservation concern, varied between stand management types and season using pairwise tests. Tests were undertaken to explore seasonal shifts when looking at niche breadth, and related birds to the structural attributes prevalent within each stand management type within a community analysis.

In chapter 5 Paper 3 demonstrates the differences in woodland bat activity across three stand management types and relate bat activity for each species to woodland structure. Using passive acoustic recordings across the breeding season and post breeding period two metrics of activity were developed for each sample plot; overall activity based on number of passes between sunset and sunrise and secondly the number of periods across each night at each plot where bat activity was detected.

In chapter 6, the final chapter considers the results of the three papers and introduces ideas for further analysis of congruence between the different taxonomic groups with the addition of moth data collected by other researchers from the same study area. It places the study in the wider context of woodland forest management policies and concludes by considering how irregular high forest management can contribute to biodiversity conservation. The chapter provides a synopsis of the main findings of the research and considers the ecological implications for the different groups along the main structural habitat gradients identified in the different stand management types. The chapter

considers the implications of the research to woodland managers and recommendations for future work. The final section brings together the work in a general conclusion of the study and how both structural habitat characteristics and each group may serve as useful indicators of overall conservation management.

2.3 References

Allen, M., J. 2002 The Chalkland Landscape of Cranborne Chase: A Prehistoric Human Ecology, Landscapes, 3:2, 55-69

Allen, M J, and Gardiner, J, 2009 If you go down to the woods today; a re-evaluation of the chalkland postglacial woodland; implications for prehistoric communities. In, Land and People; papers in memory of John G. Evans (eds M J Allen, N Sharples and T P O'Connor), 49–66, Prehistoric Society Research Paper 2, Oxford

Allen, M., J. 2017 Molluscs in Archaeology: Methods Approaches and Applications. Studying Scientific Archaeology 3. Oxbow Books.

Amar, A., Smith, K. W., Butler, S., Lindsell, J. A., Hewson, C. M., Fuller, R. J., &and Charman, E. C. 2010. Recent patterns of change in vegetation structure and tree composition of British broadleaved woodland: evidence from large-scale surveys. Forestry, 83(4), 345-356.

Ashton, M. S., and Kelty, M. J. 2018. The practice of silviculture: applied forest ecology. John Wiley and Sons. 776pp.

Avery, M., and Leslie, R. 2010. Birds and forestry. Bloomsbury Publishing. 312pp.

Bell, M., and Noble, G. 2012. Prehistoric woodland ecology. Image, Memory and Monumentality Archaeological Engagements with the Modern World, 80-92.

Barker, K. 2006 The Chase, the Hart and the Park, An exploration of the historic landscapes of the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Occasional Papers Series 1. Published by Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB

Barker, S. 1998. The history of the Coniston woodlands, Cumbria, UK. In K. J. Kirby, and C. Watkins (Eds.), The ecological history of European forests (pp. 67–183). Wallingford: CABI.

Barkham, J. P. 1992. The effects of management on the ground flora of ancient woodland, Brigsteer Park Wood, Cumbria, England. Biological conservation, 60(3), 167-187.

Barnes, G., and Williamson, T. 2015. Rethinking ancient woodland: the archaeology and history of woods in Norfolk. University of Hertfordshire Press.

Bellamy, C., Barsoum, N., Cottrell, J. and Watts, K. 2018. Encouraging biodiversity at multiple scales in support of resilient woodlands. Forestry Commission Research Note 33, Edinburgh.

Bennett, G. and Morgan, P. 2018 Continuous Cover Forestry and Rewilding ECOS vol.
39(1), British Association of Nature Conservationists.
www.ecos.org.uk/ecos-39-1-continuous-cover-forestry-and-rewilding/.
Date accessed 15/4/2022

Bengtsson, J., Nilsson, S. G., Franc, A., and Menozzi, P. 2000. Biodiversity, disturbances, ecosystem function and management of European forests. Forest ecology and management, 132(1), 39-50.

Best J, A. 1998. Persistent Outcomes of Coppice Grazing in Rockingham Forest, Northamptonshire, UK. In Kirby, K and Watkins, C.(Eds) Ecological History of European Forests. CABI Oxford, UK. 384 pp.

Betts, M. G., Wolf, C., Ripple, W. J., Phalan, B., Millers, K. A., Duarte, A., and Levi, T. 2017. Global forest loss disproportionately erodes biodiversity in intact landscapes. Nature, 547(7664), 441-444.

Bibby, C. J., Burgess, N. D., Hillis, D. M., Hill, D. A., and Mustoe, S. 2000. Second Edition. Bird census techniques. Academic Press, 302pp.

Birks, H. H., and Birks, H. J. B. 2004. The rise and fall of forests. Science, 305(5683), 484-485.

Birks, H. J., Deacon, J., and Peglar, S. 1975. Pollen maps for the British Isles 5000 years ago. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B. Biological Sciences, 189(1094), 87-105.

Birks, H. J. B. 2012. Ecological palaeoecology and conservation biology: controversies, challenges, and compromises. International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services and Management, 8(4), 292-304.

Birks, H. J. B., Tinner, W., 2016. Past forests of Europe. In: SanMiguel-Ayanz, J., de Rigo, D., Caudullo, G., Houston Durrant, T., Mauri, A. (Eds.), European Atlas of Forest Tree Species. Publ. Off. EU, Luxembourg, pp. e010c45+

Borrini, G., Dudley, N., Jaeger, T., Lassen, B., Neema, P., Phillips, A., and Sandwith, T. 2013. Governance of protected areas: from understanding to action. Best practice protected area guidelines series, (20). https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/29138 Date accessed 15/3/2022

Bradshaw, R. H., Jones, C. S., Edwards, S. J., and Hannon, G. E. 2015. Forest continuity and conservation value in Western Europe. The Holocene, 25(1), 194-202.

Brang, P., Spathelf, P., Larsen, J.B., Bauhus, J., Boncčina, A., Chauvin, C., Drössler, L., García-Güemes, C., Heiri, C., Kerr, G. and Lexer, M.J., 2014. Suitability of close-to-nature silviculture for adapting temperate European forests to climate change. Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research, 87(4), pp.492-503.

Bright, P. W., & Morris, P. A. 1996. Why are dormice rare? A case study in conservation biology. Mammal Review, 26(4), 157-187.

BRIG 2011 BRIG. 2011. UK Biodiversity Action Plan: Priority Habitat Descriptions. JNCC, Peterborough. https://hub.jncc.gov.uk/assets/2829ce47-1ca5-41e7-bc1a-871c1cc0b3ae#UKBAP-BAPHabitats-30-LowlandMixedDecWood.pdf Available under the Open Government Licence 3.0 Date Accessed 5/9/2022

Broome, A., Mitchell, R., and Harmer, R. 2014. Ash dieback and loss of biodiversity: can management make broadleaved woodlands more resilient? Quarterly Journal of Forestry, 108(4), 241-248.

Broome, A., Ray, D., Mitchell, R., and Harmer, R. 2019. Responding to ash dieback (*Hymenoscyphus fraxineus*) in the UK: woodland composition and replacement tree species. Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research, 92(1), 108-119.

Brunning, R. 1995. Sweet track assessment: An interim report. Archaeology in the Severn Estuary, 3-8.

Bürgi, M. 2015: "Close-to-nature forestry." In, Kirby K, Watkins C (eds) Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes; Cabi Int, Oxfordshire, UK, CABI, Wallingford 107-115.

Buckley, P., and Mills, J. 2015. Coppice silviculture: from the Mesolithic to the 21st century. In, Kirby K, Watkins C (Eds) Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes; Cabi Int, Oxfordshire, UK, 77-92.

Calladine, J., Jarrett, D., Wilson, M., and Edwards, C. 2017. Stand structure and breeding birds in managed Scots pine forests: Some likely long-term implications for continuous cover forestry. Forest Ecology and Management, 397, 174-184.

Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A. and Kinzig, A.P., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature, 486(7401), pp.59-67.

Carr, A., Weatherall, A., and Jones, G. 2020. The effects of thinning management on bats and their insect prey in temperate broadleaved woodland. Forest Ecology and Management 457 :117682.

Clarke, S.A., Green, D.G., Bourn, N.A. and Hoare, D.J. 2011. Woodland Management for Butterflies and Moths: a Best Practice Guide. Butterfly Conservation, Wareham.

Colak, A. H., Rotherham, I. D., and Calikoglu, M. 2003. Combining 'naturalness concepts' with close-to-nature silviculture. Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt vereinigt mit Tharandter forstliches Jahrbuch, 122(6), 421-431.

Colebourn, P. 1983. Ancient woodland. Hampshire's Countryside Heritage. Hampshire County Council.

Coll, L., Ameztegui, A., Collet, C., Löf, M., Mason, B., Pach, M., Verheyen, K., Abrudan, I., Barbati, A., Barreiro, S. and Bielak, K., 2018. Knowledge gaps about mixed forests: What do European forest managers want to know and what answers can science provide?. Forest Ecology and Management, 407, pp.106-115.

CCandWWD AONB 2019. Cranborne Chase AONB Management Plan 2019 – 2024. https://cranbornechase.org.uk/publications/aonb-management-plan/ Date accessed 21/4/2022 Crittall, E., (ed.) 1959. "Cranborne Chase". A History of the County of Wiltshire. Vol. v. 4. pp. 458–460. https://www.british-history.ac.uk/vch/wilts/vol4/pp458-460 Date accessed 7/4/2022

Crossley, D. W. 1967. Glassmaking in Bagot's Park, Staffordshire, in the 16th century. Post-Medieval Archaeology, 1(1), 44-83.

Crossley, D. W. 2013 The supply of fuel for Post -Medieval Metal Industries. Archaeology Datasheet 305, The Historical Metallurgy Society, Gateshead, UK. https://historicalmetallurgy.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/HMSdatasheet305.pdf Date accessed 16/8/2022

Davies, A. L., and Bunting, M. J. 2010. Applications of palaeoecology in conservation. The Open Ecology Journal, 3(1).

Davies, A. L., Colombo, S., and Hanley, N. 2014. Improving the application of long-term ecology in conservation and land management. Journal of Applied Ecology, 51(1), 63-70.

Davies, G. M., and Gray, A. 2015. Don't let spurious accusations of pseudoreplication limit our ability to learn from natural experiments (and other messy kinds of ecological monitoring). Ecology and Evolution, 5(22), 5295-5304.

De Frenne, P., Zellweger, F., Rodriguez-Sanchez, F., Scheffers, B.R., Hylander, K., Luoto, M., Vellend, M., Verheyen, K. and Lenoir, J., 2019. Global buffering of temperatures under forest canopies. Nature ecology and evolution, 3(5), pp.744-749.

DEFRA, J. 2018. A green future: our 25 year plan to improve the environment. London: Department for Environment, Fisheries and Rural Affairs. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan Date accessed 8/4/2022 DEFRA. 2011. Biodiversity 2020: a strategy for England's wildlife and ecosystem services. London: Department for Environment, Fisheries and Rural Affairs.

DEFRA 2013 Government forestry and woodlands policy statement. Final Report .https://assets.publishing.service.g.,ov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment_data/file/221023/pb13871-forestry-policy-statement.pdf

Diaci, J., Kerr, G., and O'hara, K. 2011. Twenty-first century forestry: integrating ecologically based, uneven-aged silviculture with increased demands on forests. Forestry, Vol. 84, No. 5, pp.463-465.

Dudney, J., Hobbs, R. J., Heilmayr, R., Battles, J. J., and Suding, K. N. 2018. Navigating novelty and risk in resilience management. Trends in ecology and evolution, 33(11), 863-873.

Elleason, M., Guan, Z., Deng, Y., Jiang, A., Goodale, E., and Mammides, C. 2021. Strictly protected areas are not necessarily more effective than areas in which multiple human uses are permitted. Ambio, 50(5), 1058-1073.

Ellis, C. J. 2015. Ancient woodland indicators signal the climate change risk for dispersallimited species. Ecological Indicators, 53, 106-114.

Edwards, D.M., Jay, M., Jensen, F.S., Lucas, B., Marzano, M., Montagné, C., Peace, A. and Weiss, G., 2012. Public preferences across Europe for different forest stand types as sites for recreation. Ecology and Society, 17(1).

Eichhorn, M. P., Ryding, J., Smith, M. J., Gill, R. M., Siriwardena, G. M., and Fuller, R. J. 2017. Effects of deer on woodland structure revealed through terrestrial laser scanning. Journal of Applied Ecology, 54(6), 1615-1626.

Enderle, R., Stenlid, J., and Vasaitis, R. 2019. An overview of ash (Fraxinus spp.) and the ash dieback disease in Europe. CAB Rev, 14, 1-12.

Eurostat. 2019. Agriculture, forestry and fishery statistics – 2019. DOI: 10.2785/798761 edition.

https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-statistical-books/-/KS-FK-19-001 Date accessed 27/04/2020

Evans, J. G. 1972. Land snails in archaeology: with special reference to the British Isles. Seminar Press.

Evans, J. 2009. 8 Sustainable silviculture and management. In Evans, J. (ed.) Planted forests: Uses, impacts and sustainability, 113-140. CABI, Wallingford

Evans, C., and Rydén, G. (Eds.). 2017. The industrial revolution in iron: the impact of British coal technology in nineteenth-century Europe. Taylor and Francis.

FAO. 2020. Global Forest Resources Assessment 2020 – Key findings. Rome.
https://doi.org/10.4060/ca8753en
Date accessed 23/3/2022

FAO 2020. Sustainable Forest Management.http://www.fao.org/forestry/sfm/en/Date accessed 21/3/2022

Ferris, R., and Humphrey, J. W. 1999. A review of potential biodiversity indicators for application in British forests. Forestry, 72(4), 313-328.

Forestry Commission 2003 The management of semi-natural woodlands: 3 Lowland mixed broad-leaved woodland. Forestry Commission Practice Guide. Edinburgh 30pp.

https://assets.publishing.service.g.,ov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment_data/file/1037796/Managing_semi-natural_woodland_in_England.pdf Date accessed 24/3/2022 Forestry Commission 2017 FC, 2017. The United Kingdom Forestry Standard: The Governments' Approach to Sustainable Forestry. https://assets.publishing.service.g.,ov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment_data/file/687147/The_UK_Forestry_Standard.pdf Date accessed 24/02/2022

Forestry Commission 2020 Managing England's woodlands in a climate emergency. https://assets.publishing.service.g.,ov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment_data/file/844624/Climate_change_guidance_-_FINAL.pdf Date accessed 6/04/2022

Forestry Commission 2022 Policy paper. Keepers of time: ancient and native woodland and trees policy in England. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/keepers-oftime-ancient-and-native-woodland-and-trees-policy-in-england/keepers-of-timeancient-and-native-woodland-and-trees-policy-in-england Date accessed 16/8/2022

Forestry Commission and Natural England 2019. Guidance, Ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees: protecting them from development. What planning authorities should consider for developments affecting ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-licences

Date accessed 25/02/2020

Forest Research 2021. Forestry Statistics 2021 A compendium of statistics about woodland, forestry and primary wood processing in the United Kingdom. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh

https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/documents/8205/Complete_FS2021_JvYjBWA.pdf Date accessed 31/3/2022.

FSC 2018. International Generic Indicators. Forestry Stewardship Council. https://fsc.org/en/document-centre/documents/resource/262 Date accessed 24/04/2020

French, C., Lewis, H., Allen, M. J., Scaife, R. G., Green, M., Gardiner, J., and Gdaniec, K. 2003. Archaeological and palaeo-environmental investigations of the upper Allen valley, Cranborne Chase, Dorset (1998–2000): a new model of earlier Holocene landscape development. In Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society (Vol. 69, pp. 201-234). Cambridge University Press.

Fuller, R.J. and Warren, M.S. 1991 Conservation management in ancient and modern woodlands: responses of fauna to edges and rotations. The Scientific Management of Temperate Communities for Conservation (eds I.F. Spellerberg, F.B. Goldsmith and M.G. Morris), pp 445–472. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.

Fuller, R.J., Smith, K.W. and Hinsley, S.A. 2012 Temperate western European woodland as a dynamic environment for birds: a resource-based view. Birds and Habitat: Relationships in Changing Landscapes (ed R.J. Fuller), pp 352–380. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Fuller, R. J. 2013. Searching for biodiversity gains through woodfuel and forest management. Journal of Applied Ecology, 50(6), 1295-1300.

Fuller, R. J., Williamson, T., Barnes, G., and Dolman, P. M. 2017. Human activities and biodiversity opportunities in pre-industrial cultural landscapes: relevance to conservation. Journal of Applied Ecology, 54(2), 459-469.

Gamborg, C., and Larsen, J. B. 2003. 'Back to nature'—a sustainable future for forestry?. Forest Ecology and Management, 179(1-3), 559-571. Gamfeldt, L., Snäll, T., Bagchi, R., Jonsson, M., Gustafsson, L., Kjellander, P., Ruiz-Jaen, M.C., Fröberg, M., Stendahl, J., Philipson, C.D. and Mikusiński, G., 2013. Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species. Nature communications, 4(1), pp.1-8.

Gichuki, L., Brouwer, R., Davies, J., Vidal, A., Kuzee, M., Magero, C., Walter, S., Lara, P., Oragbade, C. and Gilbey, B. 2019. Reviving land and restoring landscapes: Policy convergence between forest landscape restoration and land degradation neutrality. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. viii + 34pp

Glaves, P., Rotherham, I. D., Wright, B., Handley, C., and Birbeck, J. 2009. A Report to the Woodland Trust The identification of ancient woodland: demonstrating antiquity and continuity-issues and approaches.

Gill, R. M., and Fuller, R. J. 2007. The effects of deer browsing on woodland structure and songbirds in lowland Britain. Ibis, 149, 119-127.

Godwin, H., and Tansley, A. G. 1941. Prehistoric charcoals as evidence of former vegetation, soil and climate. Journal of Ecology, 29(1), 117-126.

Goldberg, E., Kirby, K., Hall, J., and Latham, J. 2007. The ancient woodland concept as a practical conservation tool in Great Britain. Journal for Nature Conservation, 15(2), 109-119.

Goodwin, C.E., Suggitt, A.J., Bennie, J., Silk, M.J., Duffy, J.P., Al-Fulaij, N., Bailey, S., Hodgson, D.J. and McDonald, R.A., 2018. Climate, landscape, habitat, and woodland management associations with hazel dormouse Muscardinus avellanarius population status. Mammal Review, 48(3), pp.209-223.

Grantham, H.S., Duncan, A., Evans, T.D., Jones, K.R., Beyer, H.L., Schuster, R., Walston, J., Ray, J.C., Robinson, J.G., Callow, M. and Clements, T., 2020. Anthropogenic modification of forests means only 40% of remaining forests have high ecosystem integrity. Nature communications, 11(1), pp.1-10.

Grassi, G., Cescatti, A., Matthews, R., Duveiller, G., Camia, A, Federici, S., House, J., de Noblet-Ducoudré, N., Pilli, R., and Vizzarri, M. 2019. On the realistic contribution of European forests to reach climate objectives. Carbon Balance Management 14, 8.

Green, M. G. 2000. A Landscape Revealed: 10,000 Years on a Chalkland Farm, Tempus Stroud. 160pp.

Gustafsson, L., Bauhus, J., Asbeck, T., Augustynczik, A.L.D., Basile, M., Frey, J., Gutzat, F., Hanewinkel, M., Helbach, J., Jonker, M. and Knuff, A., 2020. Retention as an integrated biodiversity conservation approach for continuous-cover forestry in Europe. Ambio, 49(1), pp.85-97.

Haines-Young, R. and Potschin, M.B. 2018: Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) V5.1 and Guidance on the Application of the Revised Structure.

Date accessed 17/3/2022

Hambler, C., and Speight, M. R. 1995. Biodiversity conservation in Britain: science replacing tradition. British Wildlife, 6, 137-137.

Hansen, A.J. and Hounihan, P. 1996 Canopy tree retention and avian diversity in the Oregon Cascades. In (eds Szaro R.C. and Johnston D.W.), Biodiversity in Managed Landscapes Theory and Practice pp. 402–421. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.

Harmer, R., and Howe, J. 2003. The silviculture and management of coppice woodlands. The silviculture and management of coppice woodlands. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh 88pp.

Helliwell, R., and Wilson, E. 2012. Continuous cover forestry in Britain. Quarterly Journal of Forestry, 106, 214-224.

Hodder, K. H., Buckland, P. C., Kirby, K. K., and Bullock, J. M. 2009. Can the mid-Holocene provide suitable models for rewilding the landscape in Britain? British Wildlife, 20(5), 4-15.

Hodge, S. J., and Peterken, G. F. 1998. Deadwood in British forests: priorities and a strategy. Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research, 71(2), 99-112.

Hooper, D.U., Adair, E.C., Cardinale, B.J., Byrnes, J.E., Hungate, B.A., Matulich, K.L., Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J.E., Gamfeldt, L. and O'Connor, M.I., 2012. A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. Nature, 486(7401), pp.105-108.

Hopkins, J. J., and Kirby, K. J. 2007. Ecological change in British broadleaved woodland since 1947. Ibis, 149, 29-40.

Horák, J., Pavlíček, J., Kout, J., and Halda, J. P. 2018. Winners and losers in the wilderness: response of biodiversity to the abandonment of ancient forest pastures. Biodiversity and Conservation, 27(11), 3019-3029.

Huntley, B. 1990. European post-glacial forests: compositional changes in response to climatic change. Journal of Vegetation Science, 1(4), 507-518.

IUCN. 2021. Deforestation and forest degradation. Issues brief February 2021. International Union for the Conservation of Nature. https://www.iucn.org/sites/dev/files/deforestationforest degradation issues brief 2021.pdf Date accessed 15/3/2022

IPCC. 2019. Climate change and land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes interrestrial ecosystems, Geneva. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

Jacobsen, M.K. 2001. History and principles of close to nature forest management: A Central European perspective. In: Read, H., Forfang, A. S., Marciau, R., Paltto, H., Andersson, L., and Tardy, B. (eds). Textbook 2 - Tools for preserving woodland biodiversity. Naconex (Nature Conservation Exchange Experience) 2001, Pro-Natura, Göteborg, Sweden, pp. 56 – 60.

http://www.pro-natura.net/naconex/news5/E2_11.pdf Date accessed: 6/4/2022

Johnson, N. C., Gehring, C., and Jansa, J. 2016. Mycorrhizal mediation of soil: fertility, structure, and carbon storage. Elsevier. 526pp.

Johann, E. 2006. Historical development of nature-based forestry in Central Europe. In: Diaci, J (ed.) Nature-based forestry in Central Europe. Alternatives to industrial forestry and strict preservation. Biotechnical Faculty, Department of Forestry and Renewable Forest Resources, Ljubljana, Slovenia, 1-17. http://www.natura2000.si/fileadmin/user_upload/knjiznica/publikacije/Diaci_Nature_b ased_forestry.pdf#page=11 Date accessed: 6/4/2022

Johansson, J. 2018. Collaborative governance for sustainable forestry in the emerging biobased economy in Europe. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 32, 9-16.

Johnson, C. N., Balmford, A., Brook, B. W., Buettel, J. C., Galetti, M., Guangchun, L., and Wilmshurst, J. M. 2017. Biodiversity losses and conservation responses in the Anthropocene. Science, 356(6335), 270-275.

Jonsson, B. G., Svensson, J., Mikusiński, G., Manton, M., and Angelstam, P. 2019. European Union's last intact forest landscapes are at a value chain crossroad between multiple use and intensified wood production. Forests, 10(7), 564.

Kerr, G., and Evans J. 1993. Growing broadleaves for timber. Handbook 9. The Forestry Authority. The Forestry Commission, Edinburgh. HMSO https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/documents/1699/FCHB009.pdf Date accessed 31/3/2022

Kerr, G. 1999. The use of silvicultural systems to enhance the biological diversity of plantation forests in Britain. Forestry, 72(3), 191-205.

Kerr, G., and Haufe, J. 2011. Thinning practice: a silvicultural guide. Forestry Commission,1.

Kirby, P. 2001 Habitat management for invertebrates. A practical handbook. Joint Nature Conservation Committee. RSPB Sandy.

Kirby, K. J. 2004. A model of a natural wooded landscape in Britain as influenced by large herbivore activity. Forestry, 77(5), 405-420.

Kirby, K. J., Smart, S. M., Black, H. I. J., Bunce, R. G. H., Corney, P. M., and Smithers, R. J. 2005. Long term ecological change in British woodland (1971–2001). English Nature research reports, 653, 1-139.

Kirby, K. J., and Watkins, C. 2015. Overview of Europe's Woods and Forests. Europe's Changing Woods and Forests. In Kirby,K.J. and Watkins, C.(eds) From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes. Wallingford: CABI, 3-17.

Kirby, K. J., and Watkins, C. 2015. Evolution of modern landscapes. Europe's Changing Woods and Forests. In Kirby, K.J. and Watkins, C.(eds) From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes. Wallingford: CABI, 46-58.

Kirby, K. J., Buckley, G. P., and Mills, J. 2017. Biodiversity implications of coppice decline, transformations to high forest and coppice restoration in British woodland. Folia geobotanica, 52(1), 5-13.

Kirby, K., and Hall, J. 2019. Woodland Survey Handbook: Collecting Data for Conservation in British Woodland. Pelagic Publishing Ltd.

Kuuluvainen, T., Angelstam, P., Frelich, L., Jõgiste, K., Koivula, M., Kubota, Y., Lafleur, B. and Macdonald, E., 2021. Natural disturbance-based forest management: moving beyond retention and continuous-cover forestry. Frontiers in Forests and Global Change, 4, p.629020.

Kuuluvainen, T., Lindberg, H., Vanha-Majamaa, I., Keto-Tokoi, P., and Punttila, P. 2019. Low-level retention forestry, certification, and biodiversity: case Finland. Ecological Processes, 8(1), 47.

LUC 2003. Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Integrated Landscape Character Assessment. Land Use Consultants for the Countryside Agency.

https://cranbornechase.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2020/04/LandscapeCharacterAssessment_FULL-1.pdf Date accessed 19/4/2022

Landuyt, D., De Lombaerde, E., Perring, M.P., Hertzog, L.R., Ampoorter, E., Maes, S.L., De Frenne, P., Ma, S., Proesmans, W., Blondeel, H. and Sercu, B.K., 2019. The functional role of temperate forest understorey vegetation in a changing world. Global change biology, 25(11), pp.3625-3641.

Latham, J, Hall, J, Holl, K, Perry, S, Goldberg, E. 2018. Guidelines for the Selection of Biological SSSIs. Part 2: Detailed Guidelines for Habitats and Species Groups. Chapter 2a Woodlands, Wood Pasture and Parkland, and Veteran Trees. Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough. Leberger, R., Rosa, I. M., Guerra, C. A., Wolf, F., and Pereira, H. M. 2020. Global patterns of forest loss across IUCN categories of protected areas. Biological Conservation, 241, 108299.

Lelli, C., Bruun, H.H., Chiarucci, A., Donati, D., Frascaroli, F., Fritz, Ö., Goldberg, I., Nascimbene, J., Tøttrup, A.P., Rahbek, C. and Heilmann-Clausen, J., 2019. Biodiversity response to forest structure and management: Comparing species richness, conservation relevant species and functional diversity as metrics in forest conservation. Forest ecology and management, 432, pp.707-717.

Lemmon, P. E. 1956. A spherical densiometer for estimating forest overstory density. Forest science, 2(4), 314-320.

Laessøe, T. ,and Petersen, J. 2019. Fungi of Temperate Europe. Volume 1 and 2. Princeton University Press. 1715pp.

Lindner, M., Maroschek, M., Netherer, S., Kremer, A., Barbati, A., Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Seidl, R., Delzon, S., Corona, P., Kolström, M. and Lexer, M.J. 2010. Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. Forest ecology and management, 259(4), pp.698-709.

Lõhmus, A., Kont, R., Runnel, K., Vaikre, M., and Remm, L. 2020. Habitat models of focal species can link ecology and decision-making in sustainable forest management. Forests, 11(7), 721.

Lonsdale, D., Pautasso, M., and Holdenrieder, O. 2008. Wood-decaying fungi in the forest: conservation needs and management options. European Journal of Forest Research, 127(1), 1-22.

Maes, J., Liquete, C., Teller, A., Erhard, M., Paracchini, M.L., Barredo, J.I., Grizzetti, B., Cardoso, A., Somma, F., Petersen, J.E. and Meiner, A. 2016. An indicator framework for assessing ecosystem services in support of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020. Ecosystem Services, 17, pp.14-23.

Maes, S.L., Perring, M.P., Depauw, L., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Blondeel, H., Brūmelis, G., Brunet, J., decocq, G., den Ouden, J., Govaert, S. and Härdtle, W., 2019. Plant functional trait response to environmental drivers across European temperate forest understorey communities. Plant Biology.

MacDicken, K., Jonsson, Ö., Piña, L., Maulo, S., Contessa, V., Adikari, Y., Garzuglia, M., Lindquist, E., Reams, G. and D'Annunzio, R., 2016. Global forest resources assessment 2015: how are the world's forests changing? Forest and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations.

MacDicken, K. G. 2015. Global forest resources assessment 2015: what, why and how?. Forest Ecology and Management, 352, 3-8.

Máliš, F., Bobek, P., Hédl, R., Chudomelová, M., Petřík, P., Ujházy, K., Ujházyová, M. and Kopecký, M., 2021. Historical charcoal burning and coppicing suppressed beech and increased forest vegetation heterogeneity. Journal of Vegetation Science, 32(1), p.e12923.

Marren, P. 1990. Britain's Ancient Woodland. Woodland Heritage. David and Charles. Newton Abbot. 192pp.

Martínez Pastur, G.J., Vanha-Majamaa, I. and Franklin, J.F. 2020). Ecological perspectives on variable retention forestry. Ecological Processes 9, 12

Mason, W. L. 2007. Changes in the management of British forests between 1945 and 2000 and possible future trends. Ibis, 149, 41-52.

Maskell, L.C., Botham, M., Henrys, P., Jarvis, S., Maxwell, D., Robinson, D.A., Rowland, C.S., Siriwardena, G., Smart, S., Skates, J. and Tebbs, E.J. 2019. Exploring relationships between land use intensity, habitat heterogeneity and biodiversity to identify and monitor areas of High Nature Value farming. Biological Conservation, 231, pp.30-38.

Matthews, J. D. 1991. Silvicultural systems. Oxford University Press. 284pp.

McGrath, M.J., Luyssaert, S., Meyfroidt, P., Kaplan, J.O., Bürgi, M., Chen, Y., Erb, K., Gimmi, U., McInerney, D., Naudts, K. and Otto, J., 2015. Reconstructing European Forest management from 1600 to 2010. Biogeosciences, 12(14), pp.4291-4316.

Messier, C., Bauhus, J., Doyon, F., Maure, F., Sousa-Silva, R., Nolet, P., Mina, M., Aquilué, N., Fortin, M.J. and Puettmann, K., 2019. The functional complex network approach to foster forest resilience to global changes. Forest Ecosystems, 6(1), p.21.

Met Office Undated. UK climate averages. Fontmell Magna, Dorset 1991 – 2020. https://www.metoffice.g.,ov.uk/research/climate/maps-and-data/uk-climateaverages/gcn3y738h Date accessed 21/4/2022

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 2021 15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. Habitats and biodiversity paragraph 180. In: National Planning Policy Framework, July 2021, Stationery Office.

https://assets.publishing.service.g.,ov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf

Date accessed 23/3/2022

Mitchell, R.J., Bellamy, P.E., Ellis, C.J., Hewison, R.L., Hodgetts, N.G., Iason, G.R., Littlewood, N.A., Newey, S., Stockan, J.A. and Taylor, A.F.S., 2019. Collapsing foundations: The ecology of the British oak, implications of its decline and mitigation options. Biological conservation. Mitchell, R.J., Beaton, J.K., Bellamy, P.E., Broome, A., Chetcuti, J., Eaton, S., Ellis, C.J., Gimona, A., Harmer, R., Hester, A.J. and Hewison, R.L., 2014. Ash dieback in the UK: a review of the ecological and conservation implications and potential management options. Biological Conservation, 175, pp.95-109.

Mitchell, R.J., Hewison, R.L., Hester, A.J., Broome, A., Kirby, K.J. 2016. Potential impacts of the loss of Fraxinus excelsior (*Oleaceae*) due to ash dieback on woodland vegetation in Great Britain. New Journal of Botany, 6 (1), pp.2–15.

Morris, J.K. 2009. The Cultural Heritage of Chiltern Woods: An illustrated guide to archaeological features. Chiltern Woodlands Project

Mölder, A., Meyer, P., and Nagel, R. V. 2019. Integrative management to sustain biodiversity and ecological continuity in Central European temperate oak (*Quercus robur*, Q. petraea) forests: An overview. Forest ecology and management, 437, 324-339.

Mubareka, S.; Jonsson, R.; Rinaldi, F.; Azevedo, J.C.; de Rigo, D.; Sikkema, R. Forest biobased economy in Europe 2016. In, San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., de Rigo, D., Caudullo, G., Houston Durrant, T., and Mauri, A. (Eds). European Atlas of Forest Tree Species; Publication Office of the EU: Luxemburg, 2016; pp. 20–23.

Natural England 2013. National Character Area profile:134. Dorset Downs and Cranborne Chase

https://nationalcharacterareas.co.uk/dorset-downs-and-cranborne-chase/ Date accessed 21/4/2022

Natural England. Undated. Designated Sites View. Cranborne Chase SSSI https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/SiteDetail.aspx?SiteCode=S1003368andSi teName=cranborne%20chaseandcountyCode=andresponsiblePerson=andSeaArea=andI FCAArea=

Date accessed 21/4/2022

NCC. 1989. Citation Cranborne Chase, Wiltshire, Dorset. Site of Special Scientific Interest https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/PDFsForWeb/Citation/1003368.pdf Date accessed 10/5/2022

Natural England 2021. Natural England's climate change risk assessment and adaptation plan (2021) (NE761). http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/4891702237331456 Date accessed 11/5/2022

Nocentini, S., Ciancio, O., Portoghesi, L., and Corona, P. 2021. Historical roots and the evolving science of forest management under a systemic perspective. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 51(2), 163-171.

O'Hara, K. L. 2016. What is close-to-nature silviculture in a changing world? Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research, 89(1), 1-6.

Ormerod, S. J., and Gee, A. S. 1990. Chemical and ecological evidence on the acidification of Welsh lakes and rivers. Acid waters in Wales, 11-25.

Pach, M., Sansone, D., Ponette, Q., Barreiro, S., Mason, B., Bravo-Oviedo, A., Löf, M., Bravo, F., Pretzsch, H., Lesiński, J. and Ammer, C. 2018. Silviculture of mixed forests: a European overview of current practices and challenges. Dynamics, silviculture and management of mixed forests, pp.185-253.

Peterken, G. F. 2015. 18 Woodland History in the British Isles–An Interaction of Environmental and Cultural Forces. In Kirby, K.J. and Watkins, C.(eds) Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes, 265.

Peterken, G. F. 1996. Natural woodland: ecology and conservation in northern temperate regions. Cambridge university press.

Peterken, G., and Mountford, E. 2017. Woodland development: a long-term study of Lady Park Wood. CABI.

Peterken, G. F. 1983. Woodland conservation in Britain. In A. Warren, and F. B. Goldsmith (Eds.), Conservation in perspective (pp. 83–100). Chichester: Wiley.

Peterken, G. F. 1977. Habitat conservation priorities in British and European woodlands. Biological Conservation, 11, 223–236.

Peura, M., Burgas, D., Eyvindson, K., Repo, A., and Mönkkönen, M. 2018. Continuous cover forestry is a cost-efficient tool to increase multifunctionality of boreal production forests in Fennoscandia. Biological Conservation, 217, 104-112.

Pickles, B. J., and Simard, S. W. 2016. Mycorrhizal networks and forest resilience to drought. In Johnson, N. C., Gehring, C., and Jansa, J. (Eds) Mycorrhizal mediation of soil: fertility, structure, and carbon storage. (pp. 319-339). Elsevier.

Plieninger, T., Hartel, T., Martín-López, B., Beaufoy, G., Bergmeier, E., Kirby, K., Montero, M.J., Moreno, G., Oteros-Rozas, E., Van Uytvanck, J., 2015. Wood-pastures of Europe: geographic coverage, social–ecological values, conservation management, and policy implications. Biol. Conserv. 190, 70–79.

Pommerening, A., and Murphy, S. T. 2004. A review of the history, definitions and methods of continuous cover forestry with special attention to afforestation and restocking. Forestry, 77(1), 27-44.

Poore, A. 2016. Rushmore Estate Woods; management plan 2016-2026. Estate Office, Tollard Royal, Wiltshire.

Powlen, K. A., Gavin, M. C., and Jones, K. W. 2021. Management effectiveness positively influences forest conservation outcomes in protected areas. Biological Conservation, 260, 109192.

P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, R. Slade, R. van Diemen, E. Haughey, J. Malley, M. Pathak, J. Portugal Pereira (eds.) 2019. Technical Summary, 2019. In: Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, E. Calvo Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, P. Zhai, R. Slade, S. Connors, R. van Diemen, M. Ferrat, E. Haughey, S. Luz, S. Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. Portugal Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, K. Kissick, M, Belkacemi, J. Malley, (eds.)]. In press.

https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/4/2019/11/03_Technical-Summary-TS.pdf

Date accessed 19/2/2020

Puettmann, K. J., Coates, K. D., and Messier, C. C. 2012. A critique of silviculture: managing for complexity. Island press.

Quine C, Cahalan C, Hester A, Humphrey J, Kirby K, Moffat A, Valatin G 2011. Chapter 8: Woodlands. In: Watson RT, Albon SD (eds) UK National ecosystem assessment. UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge. http://uknea.unep-wcmc.org/Resources/tabid/82/Default.aspx Date accessed 24/02/2020

Quine, C. 2015. The Curious Case of the Even-aged Plantation: Wretched, Funeral or Misunderstood? In Kirby, K.J. and Watkins, C.(eds) Europe's Changing Woods and Forests, From Wildwood to Managed landscapes 207-223.

Quine, C. P., Bailey, S. A., and Watts, K. 2013. Practitioner's perspective: sustainable forest management in a time of ecosystem services frameworks: common ground and consequences. Journal of Applied Ecology, 50(4), 863-867.

Rackham, O. 1990. Trees and Woodlands in the British Landscape. J.M. Dent 234pp.

Rackham, O. 2003. Ancient woodland, its history, vegetation and uses in England. New ed. Dalbeattie: Castlepoint Press. (Original work published 1980).

Rackham, O. 2006. Woodlands. New Naturalist. London: Harper Collins.

Rackham, O. 2008. Ancient woodlands: modern threats. New Phytologist, 571-586.

Raum, S. 2020. Land-use legacies of twentieth-century forestry in the UK: a perspective. Landscape Ecology, 35(12), 2713-2722.

Ratcliffe, D. (Ed.). 1977. A nature conservation review: volume 1: the selection of biological sites of national importance to nature conservation in Britain (Vol. 1). Cambridge university press. 401pp.

Ray, D., Bathgate, S., Moseley, D., Taylor, P., Nicoll, B., Pizzirani, S., and Gardiner, B. 2015. Comparing the provision of ecosystem services in plantation forests under alternative climate change adaptation management options in Wales. Regional Environmental Change, 15(8), 1501-1513.

Read., H. 2000. Veteran Trees a Guide to Good Management. English Nature. 176pp.

Read, D. J., Freer-Smith, P. H., Morison, J. I. L., Hanley, N., West, C. C., and Snowdon, P. 2009. Combating climate change: a role for UK forests. An assessment of the potential of the UK's trees and woodlands to mitigate and adapt to climate change. The Stationery Office Limited.

Richer, S., and Gearey, B. 2018. From Rackham to REVEALS: reflections on palaeoecological approaches to woodland and trees. Environmental Archaeology, 23(3), 286-297.

Rist, L., and Moen, J. 2013. Sustainability in forest management and a new role for resilience thinking. Forest Ecology and Management, 310, 416-427.

Rochel, X. 2015. 19 Forest Management and Species Composition: A Historical Approach in Lorraine, France. In Kirby,K.J. and Watkins, C.(eds) Europe's Changing Woods and Forests: From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes, 279 - 289.

Roe, S., Streck, C., Obersteiner, M., Frank, S., Griscom, B., Drouet, L., Fricko, O., Gusti, M., Harris, N., Hasegawa, T., Hausfather, Z., Havlík, P., House, J., Nabuurs, G.-J., Popp, A., Sánchez, M. J. S., Sanderman, J., Smith, P., Stehfest, E., and Lawrence, D. 2019. Contribution of the land sector to a 1.5 °C world. Nature Climate Change, 9(11), 817–828.

Roe, S., Streck, C., Beach, R., Busch, J., Chapman, M., Daioglou, V., Deppermann, A., Doelman, J., Emmet-Booth, J., Engelmann, J. and Fricko, O., 2021. Land-based measures to mitigate climate change: Potential and feasibility by country. Global Change Biology, 27(23), pp.6025-6058.

Rosset, C., Brand, R., Caillard, I., Fiedler, U., Gollut, C., Schmocker, A., Weber, D., Wuillemin, E. and Dumollard, G., 2014. MOTI: L'inventaire forestier facilité par le smartphone. Haute école des sciences agronomiques, forestières *et al*imentaires HAFL.

Rotherham, I. D. 2013. Trees, forested landscapes and grazing animals. A European Perspective on Woodlands and Grazed Treescapes. Routledge, London. 432pp.

Royal Forestry Society. 2019. Bringing woodland into management: The missed opportunities in England and Wales January 2019. Royal Forestry Society, Banbury, Oxfordshire.

https://rfs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/woodland-management-missedopportunities.pdf Date accessed 27/2/2023

Rural Payments Agency and Natural England. 2020. Countryside Stewardship grants WD2: Woodland improvement https://www.gov.uk/countryside-stewardship-grants/woodland-improvementwd2#how-this-option-will-benefit-the-environment Date accessed 9/10/2022

San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., de Rigo, D., Caudullo, G., Houston Durrant, T., Mauri, A. (Eds.), 2016. European Atlas of Forest Tree Species. Publication Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Schütz, J. P. 2011. Development of close to nature forestry and the role of ProSilva Europe. Zbornik gozdarstva in lesatrsva, 94, 39-42.

Savill, P. 2015. High forest management and the rise of even-aged stands. In Kirby, K.J. and Watkins, C.(eds) Europe's Changing Woods and Forests, From Wildwood to Managed landscapes 93-106.

Seddon, N., Chausson, A., Berry, P., Girardin, C. A., Smith, A., and Turner, B. 2020. Understanding the value and limits of nature-based solutions to climate change and other global challenges. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 375(1794), 20190120.

Shorta, I., and Haweb, J. 2018. Ash dieback in Ireland A review of European management options and case studies in remedial silviculture. Irlsh Forestry, 75.

Siitonen, J., and Thomas, R. 2015: The Importance of Veteran Trees for Saproxylic Insects." In Kirby, K.J. and Watkins, C.(eds) Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes 140.

Smith, P. L. 2018. Copying ancient woodlands: a positive perspective. Biodiversity and conservation, 27(5), 1041-1053.

Smith, C. J. 1980. Ecology of the English chalk. Academic Press. 573pp.

Soriano, C. 2020. On the Anthropocene formalization and the proposal by the Anthropocene Working Group. Geologica acta: an international earth science journal, 18(1), 6.

Sousa-Silva, R., Verbist, B., Lomba, Â., Valent, P., Suškevičs, M., Picard, O., Hoogstra-Klein, M.A., Cosofret, V.C., Bouriaud, L., Ponette, Q. and Verheyen, K., 2018. Adapting forest management to climate change in Europe: Linking perceptions to adaptive responses. Forest Policy and Economics, 90, pp.22-30.

Spencer, J. W., and Kirby, K. J. 1992. An inventory of ancient woodland for England and Wales. Biological conservation, 62(2), 77-93.

Stafford, R., Chamberlain, B., Clavey, L., Gillingham, P.K., McKain, S., Morecroft, M.D., Morrison-Bell, C. and Watts, O. (Eds.) 2021. Nature-based Solutions for Climate Change in the UK: A Report by the British Ecological Society. London, UK. https://www.britishecologicalsociety.org/policy/nature-based-solutions/ Date accessed 15/3/2022

Steffen, W., and Crutzen, P, J. McneillJR. 2007. The Anthropocene: Are humans now overwhelming the great forces of nature. Ambio, 36(8), 614.

Steffen, W. 2021. Introducing the Anthropocene: The human epoch. Ambio, 1-4.

Storch, I., Penner, J., Asbeck, T., Basile, M., Bauhus, J., Braunisch, V., Dormann, C.F., Frey, J., Gärtner, S., Hanewinkel, M. and Koch, B., 2020. Evaluating the effectiveness of retention forestry to enhance biodiversity in production forests of Central Europe using an interdisciplinary, multi-scale approach. Ecology and Evolution, 10(3), pp.1489-1509.

Susse, R., Allegrini, C., Bruciamacchie, M., and Burrus, R. 2011. Management of irregular forests. AFI, Besancon, 144pp.

Swallow, K. A., Wood, M. J., and Goodenough, A. E. 2020. Relative contribution of ancient woodland indicator and non-indicator species to herb layer distinctiveness in ancient semi-natural, ancient replanted, and recent woodland. Applied Vegetation Science, 23(4), 471-481.

Simard, S. 2021. Finding the mother tree: Discovering how the forest is wired for intelligence and healing. Penguin Canada. 348pp.

Thomas, R. C., Kirby, K. J., and Reid, C. M. 1997. The conservation of a fragmented ecosystem within a cultural landscape—the case of ancient woodland in England. Biological Conservation, 82(3), 243-252.

Troup, R.S. 1928. Silvicultural Systems. Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK.

Tsouvalis, J. 2000. A critical geography of Britain's state forests. A critical geography of Britain's state forests.

UKWAS. 2018. UKWAS: UK Woodland Assurance Standard (Fourth Edition). United Kingdom Woodland Assurance Standard. http://ukwas.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/UKWAS_Stand ard_FourthEdition_digital.pdf Date accessed 24/02/2022

FAO and UNEP. 2020. The State of the World's Forests 2020. Forests, biodiversity and people. Rome. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and United Nations Environmental Programme (UNEP) https://doi.org/10.4060/ca8642en Date accessed 26/3/2022

United Nations. Undated. What is Climate Change? https://www.un.org/en/climatechange/what-is-climate-change Date accessed 21/3/2022 Urquhart, J. 2007. Woodland management and public good outputs: Appraising the trade-offs in English woodlands. Small-Scale Forestry, 6(3), 257-271.

Valatin, G., and Starling, J. 2010. Valuation of ecosystem services provided by UK woodlands. UK NEA Economic Analysis Report.

Vauhkonen, J., and Packalen, T. 2019. Shifting from even-aged management to less intensive forestry in varying proportions of forest land in Finland: Impacts on carbon storage, harvest removals, and harvesting costs. European journal of forest research, 138(2), 219-238.

Vítková, M., Müllerová, J., Sádlo, J., Pergl, J., and Pyšek, P. 2017. Black locust (*Robinia pseudoacacia*) beloved and despised: A story of an invasive tree in Central Europe. Forest ecology and management, 384, 287-302.

Vizzarri, M., Pilli, R., Korosuo, A., Frate, L., and Grassi, G. 2022. The role of forests in climate change mitigation: the EU context. In Tognetti, R., Smith, M., and Panzacchi, P. (Eds). Climate-Smart Forestry in Mountain Regions (pp. 507-520). Springer, Cham.

Vizzarri, M., Tognetti, R., and Marchetti, M. 2015. Forest ecosystem services: issues and challenges for biodiversity, conservation, and management in Italy. Forests, 6(6), 1810-1838.

Wascher, D.M. (ed). 2005. European Landscape Character Areas – Typologies, Cartography and Indicators for the Assessment of Sustainable Landscapes. Final Project Report as deliverable from the EU's Accompanying Measure project European Landscape Character Assessment Initiative (ELCAI), funded under the 5th Framework Programme on Energy, Environment and Sustainable Development (4.2.2), x + 150 pp.
Watson, J. E., Evans, T., Venter, O., Williams, B., Tulloch, A., Stewart, C., ... and McAlpine, C. 2018. The exceptional value of intact forest ecosystems. Nature ecology and evolution, 2(4), 599-610.

Watson, J. E., Venter, O., Lee, J., Jones, K. R., Robinson, J. G., Possingham, H. P., and Allan, J. R. 2018. Protect the last of the wild. Nature 563, 27-30

Weatherall, A., Nabuurs, G.J., Velikova, V., Santopuoli, G., Neroj, B., Bowditch, E., Temperli, C., Binder, F., Jamnická, G., Lesinski, J. and Porta, N.L. 2022. Defining Climate-Smart Forestry. In Climate-Smart Forestry in Mountain Regions (pp. 35-58). Springer, Cham.

Webb, J. C., and Goodenough, A. E. 2018. Questioning the reliability of "ancient" woodland indicators: Resilience to interruptions and persistence following deforestation. Ecological indicators, 84, 354-363.

Williams, M. 2002. Deforesting the Earth: From prehistory to global crisis. University of Chicago Press, 689 pp.

Willoughby, I., and Peace, S. 2019. Delivering Resilient Forests. Quarterly Journal of Forestry Vol 113 No.3

Woodland Trust. 2020. Practical Guidance Module 1 Ancient woodland restoration. Phase one: Introduction to the Principles of Restoration Management November 2018. https://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/media/48757/ancient-woodland-restorationmanagement-principles-introduction.pdf Date accessed 28/3/2022 Yousefpour, R., Temperli, C., Jacobsen, J.B., Thorsen, B.J., Meilby, H., Lexer, M.J., Lindner, M., Bugmann, H., Borges, J.G., Palma, J.H. and Ray, D. 2017. A framework for modeling adaptive forest management and decision making under climate change. Ecology and Society, 22(4).

Chapter 3 The structure and composition of the vegetation and its response to silviculture

3.1 Structural Characteristics of the ancient semi-natural woodlands

3.1.1 Introduction

Structural attributes of a woodland habitat, particularly woody growth features across the woodland strata, are known to significantly influence the communities of birds (Fuller et al. 2012), bats (Froidevaux et al. 2016) and vascular plants (Kirby et al. 2017). While physiognomy is important an understanding of the composition of vegetation can be especially valid when explaining the relative contributions made by different vegetation treatments (Rotenberry 1985, Fuller and Rothery 2013). Increasing structural heterogeneity in temperate woodland is known to contribute towards species diversity although the responses can differ depending upon a particular species requirement of resources (Heidrich et al. 2020). Indeed, contingent with this view is that the characteristics of vegetation shared between sites can vary in the fine-scale resources they may offer a particular species depending upon the structural state of the vegetation at a given time (Hewson et al. 2011). It is important to recognise the scale at which structural heterogeneity operates particularly because landscape context will influence processes around both succession and woodland disturbances as much as at the standlevel (Brūmelis et al. 2011). Despite this limitation, this study focusses on stand-level comparisons where there can be considerable variation both within and between stands undergoing different management treatments and where edge habitats and ecotonal variability is driven by the configuration of the stands (Dunning et al. 1992, McCollin 1998). The Rushmore woodlands have a common history and share similar tree composition throughout the estate (Poore 2016) typical of the Wooded Chalk Downland landscape character (LUC 2003). A primary focus of the study is to explore the structural characteristics of the ancient woodlands and elucidate some of the differences in these between the stand management types.

3.1.2 Methods

The first section of chapter 3 aims to provide an overview using descriptive methods. The structural attributes are therefore described for all 310 sampling plots representing four stand treatment types described in detail in Chapter 2. The dominant floristics, (those species contributing the most cover in each plot estimated by percentage), provide an overview of the ground layer characteristics, which are presented in a community analysis. Data collection and plot layout is explained in detail in Chapter 2.An analysis of variance (ANOVA) with pairwise comparisons across the four stand management types was used for each of the main habitat structural measures. Stand unit was included as a random factor to account for spatial autocorrelation (Davies and Gray 2015). Multivariate analysis with Spearman's Rank Correlation was used to explore the habitat structural and dominant floristic variables and a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) from the variables selected to identify the main habitat gradients across the wider woodland area represented by the four stand management types. The mean positions of the four main silvicultural treatments are shown in the PCA. The floristics are including in the PCA as supplementary variables to show how they relate to (but do not influence) the effects of the structural variables used to construct the gradient (Graffelman and Aluja-Banet 2003).

Following on from this exploratory and descriptive analysis, the publication shown at 3.2, Paper 1, Irregular silviculture and stand structural effects on the plant community in an ancient semi-natural woodland, specifically investigates the responses of the woodland flora to stand management (in a subset of 120 plots across three stand management types). The ground flora of ancient and semi-natural woodland is recognised as an intrinsically important taxonomic group which also contributes to the ecological functioning of the ancient woodland (Kirby 2020).

3.1.3 Results

Structural Characteristics

A total of 17 habitat structural variables were compared across the four stand management types with significant differences detected in 12 of these and one which was near significant for canopy openness Table 3. Limited intervention woodland was characterised by increased woody biomass particularly for the number of tree stems 7.5 – 17.5cm dbh and was also reflected in higher basal area than for all other stand types. Canopy openness was significantly lower in limited intervention stands compared with Irregular. Limited intervention stands were much shadier, had more bare ground and less understorey density at 0.5m than coppice or Irregular stands. As canopy openness increased Bramble *Rubus fruticosus* cover showed a corresponding increase in Irregular stands particularly compared to all three other stand types. Correlation analysis identified several of the variables as being significantly positively correlated. (Table 4). The five stem dbh variables were pooled to give an overall stem density per plot. Six variables were therefore selected for showing the habitat gradients related to the stand types, (Figure 24). Two clear gradients emerged with cumulative variance of 67% captured for axis 1 and axis 2. Axis 1 revealed a gradient from low stem density to greater basal area and closed canopy. Along Axis 2 the gradient followed a pattern of higher understorey density at 2 m towards an open canopy but with larger trees.

Table 3. Median values of habitat structural variables measured across the four stand types; lower and upper quartiles in parenthesis and results of ANOVA tests for random effects (stand number) and fixed effects (stand type) Pairwise comparisons using Tukey's post-hoc test, for stands; C - coppice, I - Irregular, L - Limited intervention and T - Transitional; those in bold are highly significant P < 0.005.

Habitat Variable	Соррі	ce (n 101)	Irregu	ular (n 73)	Limit	ed (n 61)	Trans	ition (n 75)	Random	Fixed
Basal Area	18.0	(11-22) L	18.0	(15-22) L	29.0	(24 -33) T	22.0	(18-27) L	0.001	< 0.001
Canopy Openness	10.4	(8-19)	21.3	(14-29) L	9.9	(8-14) I	10.9	(8-21)	0.001	0.05
Mean dbh	36.0	(24-49) I	50.6	(44-56) C	42.8	(34-53)	39.4	(34- 50)	0.001	0.001
Largest dbh	61.0	(46-79)	71.0	(58-82)	67.0	(52-83)	62.0	(51-70)	0.02	0.07
No. Oak	1.0	(0-2)	1.0	(0-2)	0.0	(0- 0)	1.0	(0-2)	0.001	0.10
No. Ash	1.0	(0-2) I L	3.0	(2-4) C	2.0	(1-3) C	2.0	(1-4)	0.001	0.002
No. deadwood snags	8.0	(4-12)	13.0	(7-17)	8.0	(6-12)	8.0	(6-16)	0.001	0.07
Logs (m) per plot	0.0	(0-4) L	0.0	(0-4)	3.0	(0-8) C	1.0	(0-4)	0.001	0.02
Understorey density 0.5m	48.0	(25-85) L T	56.0	(19-75) L T	7.0	(3-22) C I	20.0	(11-36) I C	0.001	<0.001
Understorey density 2m	52.5	(30-76) I L T	23.8	(8-39) C	13.8	(5-28) C	17.5	(9-28) C	0.001	<0.001
No. stems ≤3 cm dbh	9.2	(5-18) I L T	2.8	(1-7) C	0.6	(0-2) C	5.4	(2-10) C	0.001	<0.001
No. stems 3-7.5 cm dbh	3.2	(1-7) I L	0.2	(0-1) C	0.8	(1-2) C	2.2	(0-4)	0.001	<0.001
No. trees 7.5-17.5 cm dbh	9.0	(1-39) L	9.0	(1-21) L	69.0	(43-88) C I T	21.0	(7-59) L	0.001	<0.001
No. trees 17.5-50 cm dbh	2.0	(0-4) L T	5.0	(2-7) L	11.0	(5-16) I C	7.0	(3-12) C	0.001	<0.001
No. trees ≥50cm dbh	1.0	(0-2)	2.0	(1-3) C T L	2.0	(1-3)	1.0	(1-2)	0.001	0.10
Bramble % cover	2.8	(0-19) I	30.0	(5-56) C T L	0.0	(0-4) I	0.0	0-7 I	0.001	<0.001
Bare ground %	8.4	(0-29) I	1.4	(0-12) L	26.0	(13-59) I	12.6	(6-35)	0.001	0.008

Variables	Bosol	No of large	No	Mean Canopy	Mean	Largest	Mod	Mo of a	density d	U/ density	Stems 1	No Tr Stems S	Tiree No L Silem -	17.5cm 1 -S0cm 1	1.5cm 17.5cm	lare moved Barken Brankle	arten B	unkle E	Dogs (Ground		More Notice		Interior	8	a.	Fornirs Trancilian Investidar
Basal Area	۲											- 1	- 1		- 1										b	-0.312	312 0.094
No of large Oak	-0.193	-																						0.264	2	800.0	
No of large Ash	0.092	-0.304	+																				-	0,029	è.	0.313	
Mean Conopy openness	-0.487	0.188	-0.035	••																			÷	0.179	9	760,0	007 -0.063
Mean dbh	-0.040	0.541	0.140	0.172																			2	0.038	2	0.270	-0.081
Largest dbh	-0.139	0.444	-0.102	0.132	0.682	۲																		0.1159	5	0.102	680.0 201
No of Snog	-0.088	0.589	-0.045	0.242	0.623	0.517	*																~	0,044	8	0.140	40 0.017
No of Logs	0.174	-0.054	0.010	-0.083	0.138	0,075	0.029	-																0.221	0.134	#	1
Understorey density 0.5 m	-0.585	0.187	-0.123	0,459	0.023	0,085	6000	-0.173	-															0.396	806.0	26	8 -0.177
Understorey density 2 m	-0.243	0.045	-0.138	-0.150	-0.141	-0.018	-0.097 -	-0.134	0.497	•														0.247	0,477	-	7 -0.195
No Stems 3cm	-0.383	0.231	-0.127	-0.049	-0.149	-0.061	-0.081 -	-0.212	0.320	0.506	*													0.456	0.470	~	0.060
No Stens 7.5cm	0.218	801.0-	-0.137	-0.669	-0.322	-0.208	-0.261	. 1000	-0.173	0.417	0.314	۲												0.132	1945	-	0.057
Tree No SOcm dbh	-0.099	0.565	0.007	0.085	0.831	0.647	0.588	0.069	0.058 -	-0.020 -	-0.056 -	-0.188	-											0.023	0.112		-0.082
No stems 17.5cm - 50cm dbh	0.428	-0.207	0.281	-0.027	0.029	-0.247	0000	0.234	-0.322 -	-0.387 -	-0.455 -	-0.218 -4	-0.198	*									2	0,357	0.461	1	8310
No stems 7.5cm - 17.5cm dbh	0.651	-0.417	-0.049	-0.501	-0.344	-0.228	-0.325	0.149	-0.528	-0161 -	-0.432	0.371 4	-0.300	0.294	-								3	0.456	0.194	1	0.000
Bare ground	0.385	0.085	-0.205	-0.425	0069	0.073	0.043	6810	-0.376	0.024	1000	0.252	0.057 0	0.059 0	0.264	•							-	0.303	0.070	~	0.098
Bracken cover %	-0.235	0.025	-0.128	0.299	0.007	0.115	800.0	10007	0.329	0.009	-0.065 -	-0.204	P 810'0	- 9600-	-0.221 -	-0.132	+							0,095	BLOD	-	-0.060
Bramble cover %	-0.454	0.172	0.165	0.568	0.263	0,179	. 4670	-0.202	885.0	0.152	0.022 -	-0.416 0	0.224 -	-0.114 -	-0.526 -	-0.507 0	0.215	•						0.243	0.001		-0.205
Dogs Mercury cover %	0.163	-0.063	0.034	-0.127	0.162	0.113	0.074	0.224	-0.276 .	0.155 -	-0.260 -	-0.017	0.124 0	0.203 0	0.197 0	0.179 -(-0.063 -	-0.286	-					0.223	0.244	-	1 -0.005
Ground My	-0.103	-0.001	-0.019	0.197	0.019	0.059	0.054 -	-0.158	0.091 .	0.123	-0.044 -	0 6010	0.028 -	-0.029 -	-0.046 -4	-0.264 0	0.124 0	0.138 .	-0.117	-				0.027	-0.019	-	0.040
Grass cover %	-0.273	0.041	0.014	0.470	0.096	0.058	0.084	9800-	0.174	0.203	- 6000	-0.356	0.015 -	-0.025 +	-0.227 -	-0.411 0	0.133 0	0.407	-0.217	0.174	۲			0.047	EROTO	Lat	840.0
Moss cover %	0.090	-0.228	0.201	-0,418	-0.324	-0.306	-0.302	0.030 -	-0.222	0.115	0.228	0.499 -	-0.245	0.024 0	0.238 -	0.202 -0	0.251 4	-0.260	-0:051	0.025 -	0.081	-	2	0,140	0.216	-	8 0.118
Perennial Nettle cover %	-0.055	0.066	-0.063	0.267	0.212	0.182	0170	0.180	0.125	0.094 -	-0.322 -	-0.240 0	0.155	0.095 0	0.007 -	-0.051 0	0.141 0	0.091	106.0	0.139 (0.004 -4	-0.295	-	0.1%	0.227	7	910.0- 4
Limited	0,455	-0.264	650/0	-0.179	8000	0,059	#HOTO-	0.221	-0,396 -	0,247	-0.456	-0.132 -	-0,023	0.357 0	0,456 0	P 6050	- 550'0	0243	0.233	-0.027 -	0.047 4	-0,140 0	0,126	*	1344	*	4 -0.280
Copple	-0.312	0.008	-0.313	160'0-	-0.270	-0.102	-0.140	-0.134	806.0	0,477	0.470	0.345 -	0.112 -	0.461 -	-0.194 -	0.070 0	0.078 0	1000	0,244	- 610.0-	0,093 0	0.216 -0	-0.227	0.344	-		-0.393
Iransilian	0.094	0.068	6,049	6.063	1800	6800-	0.01/	0.016	-0.177 -	-0.195	0.060	0.057 -	0.052 0	9910	0.060	8800	F 0.00	-0.205	0.005	0.040 -	-0.045 0	0.118 0	0.015	-0.280	0.398	~	8 1
													ļ	No. of Lot of Lo		1 2000	1.122	D date	The second se	and a	0400 0410 0410						

correlation values in bold are significant P < 0.05 stand management types. Correlation coefficient values are shown between -1 negative correlation and 1 positive Table 4. Spearman's Rank Correlation Coefficient values of main structural and floristic variables sampled across all four



Figure 24. Principal Components Analysis ordination graph of habitat structural measures for the wider area of ancient semi natural woodland, Rushmore, Tollard Royal, Wiltshire. Stand management types are shown.

Dominant Floristic Cover

Seven floristic measures were identified which represent the most commonly occurring species by percentage cover (Figure 25). Factor scores (correlations) are given in Table 5. Shade tolerant Dog's Mercury was associated with higher basal area and closed canopy found in Limited intervention stands and Transition stands. The latter having reduced understorey is positioned mid-way in the ordination between Limited and Irregular stands. Conversely, grasses were positively associated with canopy openness and closely aligned with Irregular high forest stands. Higher stem density vector correlated with Bare ground and Moss yet the latter was most correlated with coppice and limited intervention on the gradient with higher stem numbers associated with each stand management.. Bracken *Pteridium aquilinum* and Ground Ivy *Glechoma hederacea* were both associated with Canopy openness while Perennial Nettle *Urtica dioica* and Bramble *Rubus fruticosus* were significant in this part of the gradient. As found in the pairwise tests from the

ANOVA, Bare ground was only significantly associated with Limited Intervention stands with a larger basal area and stem density.



Figure 25. Principal Components Analysis ordination graph of habitat structural variables with correlations of floristic variables and bare ground for the wider woodland area of ancient seminatural woodland. Mean positions of the four stand types are shown. Rushmore, Tollard Royal, Wiltshire.

Examples of the four stand types are illustrated; (Figure 26) coppice, (Figure 27) Limited Intervention, (Figure 28) Irregular high forest and (Figure 29) Transitional.



Figure 26. Hazel coppice. Previous winters felling evident through open area and standard Oak; the adjacent dense understorey of regrown coppice stools can be clearly seen, (above). Preparing 'sails' (below) for a Hazel hurdle placed upright into the mould behind Don Taylor (Hurdle-maker) with binders woven through. Pole material prepared, ready to be worked. Chase Wood, Sixpenny Handley, Dorset March 2022



Figure 27. Limited intervention stand composed of Ash and overstood Hazel coppice last managed c.50 years previously; heavily shaded and higher basal area than other stands with evidence of self-thinning stems falling to the woodland floor. The ground flora is dominated by vernal species flowering and storing carbohydrate reserves in their bulbs before canopy leaf-burst. Tollard Royal, Wiltshire, April 2022.



Figure 28. Irregular stand with open canopy, mixed trees and variable, patchy understorey of Bramble, Hawthorn and Hazel interspersed with openness as shown by the emergent ground flora of vascular plants and grasses. Sixpenny Handley, Dorset April 2022.



Figure 29. Transition stands comprised of even-aged trees at pole-stage and not mature therefore requiring transformation to restructure age-classes and encourage natural regeneration; the first thinning has taken place the previous winter with Hazel understorey having been cut which can be seen resprouting. Further trees are marked to be felled to open the canopy. Tollard Royal, Wiltshire May 2014.

Table 5. Principal Component scores of significant habitat and floristic variables used in the community analysis across each of four stand types, Rushmore, Tollard Royal, Wiltshire. Values in bold are significant at P = 0.05.

Variable	F1	Variable	F2
BASAREA	0.854	Mean dbh	0.738
Total stems	0.799	Irregular	0.302
Limited	0.47	Mean Cano	0.277
Transition	0.147	Transition	0.129
Moss	0.097	Moss	0.116
Bare ground	0.037	Limited	0.099
Grass	0.012	Grass	0.098
Nettle	-0.019	BASAREA	0.071
Bramble	-0.028	Bracken	-0.012
Dogs Mercury	-0.056	Ground Ivy	-0.012
Bracken	-0.116	Bare ground	-0.025
Mean dbh	-0.16	Bramble	-0.033
Ground Ivy	-0.208	Nettle	-0.06
Irregular	-0.274	Dogs Mercury	-0.178
Coppice	-0.285	Dens 0.5m	-0.309
Dens 2m	-0.439	Total stems	-0.407
Mean Cano	-0.646	Coppice	-0.475
Dens 0.5m	-0.817	Dens 2m	-0.703

3.1.4 Discussion

The four silvicultural management types varied between the stands sampled and related to the habitat structural differences across the woodland strata. Stand interventions, particularly canopy opening influenced the characteristics of the understorey which appeared to respond proportionately to the varying levels of intervention. Transitional stand type in the initial phases of silvicultural management lacked understorey development and was therefore at an early stage in the successional phase of stand reinitiation (Harmer *et al.* 2010). Moreover, despite the removal of all of the understorey during this transformation stage the felling of canopy trees is undertaken gradually to avoid windthrow risk which can inhibit rapid regeneration associated with natural disturbances such as storm events (Kerr 1999, Kerr and Haufe 2011). Structurally Irregular

high forest was similar to coppice in terms of basal area and understorey density at 0.5m height-band. However, there were clear differences with Irregular having lower overall stem number and lower understorey density at 2 m height-band as found in coppice that has grown from the 3rd year following cutting (Harmer and Howe 2003). It is likely that canopy openness in coppice was masked by the way it was measured below the understorey canopy. Stand management which retains some of the attributes of traditional coppice management and the associated flora and fauna are important to recognise for the conservation of biocultural heritage (Agnoletti et al. 2022). At Rushmore which was a centre of the coppice trade in the 19th century a proportion (12-15%) of the coppice woodland is likely to be retained because of its cultural and nature conservation significance (Poore 2016). A feature of the coppice system is the management of standard trees which were managed at a low density so as to avoid impeding the growth of the underwood which historically was most valuable (Harmer and Howe 2003). While Irregular silviculture focuses on managing canopy trees for timber it does so by creating openings and canopy gaps which while not directly analogous with coppice can give a similar appearance and set of conditions that are spatially heterogenous; notably varying age-classes of trees while encouraging understorey which helps in the natural regeneration of woody species as it acts as a 'nurse' to young tree seedlings (Kerr 1999). Understanding the structural characteristics of stands is important to meet with the multifunctional demands placed on woodlands by society and requires balancing economic objectives without compromising stand resilience and biodiversity interests (Aszalós et al. 2021).

Natural disturbances including extremes from drought impacts, increased or reduced rainfall and wind-speed in the future, could be increasingly more severe and unpredictable (Brang *et al.* 2014). Similarly, pest outbreaks can be exacerbated as forest vegetation is subjected to climatic extremes and ecosystem functioning is negatively altered (Hlásny *et al.* 2021). The impacts to biodiversity may include changes to an organism's behavioural patterns, niche separation and physiology while bringing together species which had not previously existed side by side (de Frenne *et al.* 2021). Structural heterogeneity associated with CCF and Irregular silviculture in particular may ameliorate such effects and is known to be an important driver of biodiversity conservation in

temperate European forests (Kuuluvainen et al. 2021, Tinya et al. 2021). Uneven-aged management as a form of high forest silviculture may better replicate natural woodland dynamics than coppice but this must be caveated by acknowledging it is different as it relies on harvesting a crop and is where understanding the effects on a range of woodland species is important to guide future management trajectories (Kirby et al. 2017). Moreover, coppice abandonment is seen as a serious concern for conservation biologists as species declines are known to be associated with its demise (Müllerová et al. 2015). There is a focus on increasing ecological attributes in CCF management but these often focus on old growth features e.g., dead-wood with a lack of reference to scrub regeneration or successional dynamics (Gustafsson et al. 2020). Additionally, CCF management which produces a diverse tree and shrub species composition may be more sustainable in respect of reliance as a response to climate change effects (Tinya et al. 2020). High forest management has many variants and creating a range of structures which can include early successional scrub habitats using CCF and irregular high forest may address some of these concerns (Kirby et al. 2017, Calladine et al. 2017). Despite concerns over the loss of traditional forms of coppice management novel methods of stand management can create opportunities to develop structural attributes which are complementary for biodiversity and the ecological functioning required for sustainable woodland management (Dolman et al. 2017). Moreover, stand management can create ecological resources for a range of species much more rapidly than through natural stand dynamics (Kerr 1999, Quine et al. 2007, Peterken and Mountford 2017). As such the introduction of Irregular silviculture provides a unique opportunity for studying the effects on a range of taxa.

3.1.5 References

Aszalós, R., Thom, D., Aakala, T., Angelstam, P., Brūmelis, G., Gálhidy, L., Gratzer, G., Hlásny, T., Katzensteiner, K., Kovács, B. and Knoke, T. 2022. Natural disturbance regimes as a guide for sustainable forest management in Europe. Ecological Applications, p.e2596.

Buckley, P. 2020. Coppice restoration and conservation: a European perspective. Journal of Forest Research, 25(3), 125-133.

Calladine, J., Jarrett, D., Wilson, M., and Edwards, C. 2017. Stand structure and breeding birds in managed Scots pine forests: some likely long-term implications for continuous cover forestry. Forest Ecology and Management, 397, 174-184.

Davies, G. M., and Gray, A. 2015. Don't let spurious accusations of pseudoreplication limit our ability to learn from natural experiments (and other messy kinds of ecological monitoring). Ecology and Evolution, 5(22), 5295-5304.

De Frenne, P., Lenoir, J., Luoto, M., Scheffers, B.R., Zellweger, F., Aalto, J., Ashcroft, M.B., Christiansen, D.M., Decocq, G., De Pauw, K. and Govaert, S. 2021. Forest microclimates and climate change: Importance, drivers and future research agenda. Global Change Biology, 27(11), pp.2279-2297.

Dolman, P,. Williamson T,. Fuller R,.and Barnes,.G. 2017. "What does 'traditional'management really mean?." British Wildlife 29, no. 2 113-119.

Dunning, J.B., Danielson, B.J., Pulliam, H.R. 1992. Ecological processes that affect populations in complex landscapes. Oikos 65, 169–175.

Froidevaux, J. S., Zellweger, F., Bollmann, K., Jones, G., and Obrist, M. K. 2016. From field surveys to LiDAR: Shining a light on how bats respond to forest structure. Remote Sensing of Environment, 175, 242-250.

Fuller, R.J., Smith, K.W., Hinsley, S.A., 2012. Temperate western European woodland as a dynamic environment for birds: a resource-based view. In: Fuller, R.J. (Ed.), Birds and Habitat: Relationships in Changing Landscapes. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Graffelman, J., and Aluja-Banet, T. 2003. Optimal representation of supplementary variables in biplots from principal component analysis and correspondence analysis. Biometrical Journal: Journal of Mathematical Methods in Biosciences, 45(4), 491-509.

Gustafsson, L., Bauhus, J., Asbeck, T., Augustynczik, A.L.D., Basile, M., Frey, J., Gutzat, F., Hanewinkel, M., Helbach, J., Jonker, M. and Knuff, A. 2020. Retention as an integrated biodiversity conservation approach for continuous-cover forestry in Europe. Ambio, 49(1), pp.85-97.

Harmer, R., and Howe, J. 2003. The silviculture and management of coppice woodlands. Forestry Commission.

Heidrich, L., Bae, S., Levick, S., Seibold, S., Weisser, W., Krzystek, P., Magdon, P., Nauss, T., Schall, P., Serebryanyk, A. and Wöllauer, S. 2020. Heterogeneity–diversity relationships differ between and within trophic levels in temperate forests. Nature ecology and evolution, 4(9), pp.1204-1212.

Hlásny, T., Zimová, S., Merganičová, K., Štěpánek, P., Modlinger, R., and Turčáni, M. 2021. Devastating outbreak of bark beetles in the Czech Republic: Drivers, impacts, and management implications. Forest Ecology and Management, 490, 119075.

Kerr, G. 1999. The use of silvicultural systems to enhance the biological diversity of plantation forests in Britain. Forestry, 72(3), 191-205.

Kerr, G., and Haufe, J. 2011. Thinning practice: a silvicultural guide. Forestry Commission, 1. Forestry Commission.

Kirby, K. 2020. Woodland flowers: Colourful past, uncertain future. Bloomsbury Publsihing.

Kirby, K. J., Buckley, G. P., and Mills, J. 2017. Biodiversity implications of coppice decline, transformations to high forest and coppice restoration in British woodland. Folia geobotanica, 52(1), 5-13.

Kuuluvainen, T., Angelstam, P., Frelich, L., Jõgiste, K., Koivula, M., Kubota, Y., Lafleur, B,. and Macdonald, E. 2021. Natural disturbance-based forest management: moving beyond retention and continuous-cover forestry. Frontiers in Forests and Global Change, 4, 629020.

McCollin, D., 1998. Forest edges and habitat selection in birds: a functional approach. Ecography 21, 247–260.

Peterken, G., and Mountford, E. 2017. Woodland development: a long-term study of Lady Park Wood. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.

Müllerová, J., Hédl, R., and Szabó, P. 2015. Coppice abandonment and its implications for species diversity in forest vegetation. Forest Ecology and Management, 343, 88-100.

Peterken, G. F., and Francis, J. L. 1999. Open spaces as habitats for vascular ground flora species in the woods of central Lincolnshire, UK. Biological Conservation, 91(1), 55-72.

Quine, C. P., Fuller, R. J., Smith, K. W., and Grice, P. V. 2007. Stand management: a threat or opportunity for birds in British woodland?. Ibis, 149, 161-174.

Rotenberry, J. T. 1985. The role of habitat in avian community composition: physiognomy or floristics?. Oecologia, 67(2), 213-217.

Susse, R., Allegrini, C., Bruciamacchie, M., Burrus, R. 2011. Management of Irregular Forests: developing the full potential of the forest. Association Futaie Irreguliere. English translation P. Morgan, 144p.

Tinya, F., Kovács, B., Aszalós, R., Tóth, B., Csépányi, P., Németh, C., and Ódor, P. 2020. Initial regeneration success of tree species after different forestry treatments in a sessile oak-hornbeam forest. Forest Ecology and Management, 459, 117810.

Tinya, F., Kovács, B., Bidló, A., Dima, B., Király, I., Kutszegi, G., Lakatos, F., Mag, Z., Márialigeti, S., Nascimbene, J. and Samu, F., 2021. Environmental drivers of forest biodiversity in temperate mixed forests–A multi-taxon approach. Science of the Total Environment, 795, p.148720. 3.2 Paper 1 Irregular silviculture and stand structural effects on the plant community in an ancient semi-natural woodland.

3.2.1 Background and Details of Authors Contributions

The following authors contributions are listed with their signatures. Daniel Alder, Main Author 80%: Conceptualisation, Study design, Data collection of all habitat structural measures, Preparation of botanical data and statistical analysis, writing, responding to Journal Editor and two reviewer's comments and re-wrote text prior to resubmission.

DIAL

Bryan Edwards: Field data collection of all botanical measures of vascular plants.

BW. Sowands

Andrew Poore: Advice on silvicultural aspects and assistance with reviewer's comments from first submission.

Al

Dr. John Norrey: Statistical advice on models.

Prof. Stuart Marsden: Conceptualisation, Study design, Supervision of data collection and preparation, Writing/Comments on text.

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Forest Ecology and Management

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco



Irregular silviculture and stand structural effects on the plant community in an ancient semi-natural woodland

D.C. Alder^{a,b,*}, B. Edwards^a, A. Poore^c, J. Norrey^b, S.J. Marsden^b

^a Dorset Environmental Records Centre, Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP, UK ^b Department of Natural Sciences, Manchester Metropolitan University, Chester Street, Manchester M1 5GD, UK ^c The Estate Office, Rushmore Estate, Tollard Royal, Salisbury, Wiltshire SP5 5PT, UK

ARTICLEINFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords Woodland stand management Coppice plant groups Woodland structure Canopy openness Continuous cover silviculture Ancient woodland indicator plants Species richness Understorey Rubus fruticosu Irregular High Forest

Plants associated with traditional forms of coppice management are affected by changes in, or cessation of, stand management which produce differences in structure, usually in the direction of high forest. The habitat structure, ground flora richness, and composition of an ancient woodland in southern England were compared across three distinct management treatments: traditional Coppice (the cyclical cutting of underwood on rotations), Limited Intervention (representing the effective cessation of management), and Irregular High Forest silviculture (a form of continuous cover forestry using single and small group selective tree harvesting). Coppice and Irregular silviculture showed a more complex woody stand structure whereas Limited Intervention was strongly correlated with closed-canopy, single-storied structures and no developing understorey. Increased bramble Rubus fruticosus cover was strongly associated with Irregular silviculture, bare ground mostly with the limited intervention closed-canopy stands. Distinct plant-habitat associations were identified across stand management types with the greatest differences between Limited Intervention and the two active interventions. Overall vascular plant species and Coppice group species were lowest in Limited Intervention stands. Using ancient woodland indicator and Coppice plant species and groups, we found a similar community pattern between Coppice and Irregular silviculture. More ancient woodland species were accommodated within the comparatively heterogenous woodland habitat associated with active silvicultural interventions of Coppice and Irregular High Forest management. The study indicates that the introduction of Irregular silviculture as practiced here can conserve most ancient woodland and Coppice plants associated with traditional coppicing, a practice which has declined significantly in the UK since the late 19th Century.

1. Introduction

The woodland ground flora contributes to biological diversity and plays an important role in the ecological functioning of temperate woodland via nutrient cycles, soil formation and resource provision for other species (Decocq et al., 2004, Ford & Newbould, 1977, Jaros et al., 2021). Specialist ancient forest and woodland plants e.g., ancient woodland vascular plants (Rose, 1999), are distinguished by their associations with light and dark phases relating to canopy openness, edaphic factors and adaptation to periods of shade and stress tolerance (Naaf & Wulf, 2010, Gilliam, 2007, Peterken, 1993). Generalist species are characterised by a wider ecological niche related to open and ruderal habitats often associated with external woodland edges and higher nutrient levels influenced by agriculture (Hermy, 2015). Abandonment of coppicing can reduce plant species diversity as succession leads to

closed canopy and conditions where only specialist shade-adapted woodland plants can persist (Campetella et al., 2011). This is a limiting factor favouring species with higher light demands which restrict their flowering phenology to the short vernal periods prior to canopy closure (Ottaviani et al., 2019).

In the United Kingdom, woodland specialists associated with ancient woodland are important as determining criteria for the ageing of a woodland and for its inclusion within the ancient woodland inventory (Spencer & Kirby, 1992, Goldberg, 2015) and are an important means of conservation evaluation (Rose, 1999, Goldberg et al., 2007, Kimberley et al., 2013). Supposedly, Coppice-adapted plants are relicts of species assemblages in ancient woodlands with a direct physical link to the past activities of people and provide both biological and archaeological value (Nordén, et al., 2014, Barnes & Williamson, 2015), However, it is not entirely clear how these species respond to changes in silviculture

* Corresponding author at: Dorset Environmental Records Centre, Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP, UK.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120622

Received 4 May 2022; Received in revised form 18 October 2022; Accepted 31 October 2022

Available online 9 November 2022 0378-1127/© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/).

practice (von Oheimb & Härdtle, 2009) or the lack of it (Peterken & Mountford, 2017).

Over many centuries, simple Coppice, stands comprising only a coppiced layer and Coppice with standards, a predominant coppiced layer (the 'underwood') with a low-density upper layer of un-coppiced trees were the predominant practices in ancient woodlands across much of western and Mediterranean Europe (Rackham, 2003). Plants, which became to be regarded as 'Coppice-adapted', particularly vernal spring flowering species, were likely responding to the oscillations of light through opening of the canopy every 10-30 years (Hermy & Verheyen, 2007, Buckley, 2020). Forest-edge specialists, or ruderal species (opportunist plants with a broad tolerance of conditions), responding to pulses of light through new openings and disturbances, can also tell us much about the species potentially 'in waiting' contained within the seed bank of woodland soils from historical legacies (Grime et al., 1988, Verheyen et al., 2003, Hermy, 2015). Traditional coppicing, in which the production of underwood is the primary aim, became less economically attractive in the UK during the 19th century, had declined significantly by the 1980's (Buckley & Mills, 2015a). This decline has been associated with conversion of simple Coppice and Coppice-withstandard stands to high forest by planting and through neglect (Peterken & Mountford, 2017). The rising dominance of sawtimber, and firewood, and the demise of underwood markets, within the woodland economy and the substantial rise in the impact of deer browsing since the 2nd World War led to significant changes in woodland structure (Mason, 2007, Hopkins & Kirby, 2007).

Across Europe, Coppice management is still practiced on a significant scale reflecting a long history and importance associated with the use of underwood (see, e.g., Buckley, 2020). Coppice was likely to have been dynamic in varying rotation lengths, in response to societal demands as resource needs changed (Szabó, 2010). Coppice management has been shown to maintain favourable conditions for vascular plant species diversity including in woodlands where it has been reintroduced following abandonment suggesting a legacy effect that may be important for their conservation (Ewald et al., 2018). Structural characteristics of Coppice woodland succession can exert strong effects on vascular plant richness and diversity and are essential to our understanding of sustainable silvicultural management (Bartha et al., 2008, Bricca et al., 2020). In France, Coppice stands comprise canopy-forming species (e.g., lime Tilia cordata, hornbeam Carpinus betulus, ash Fraxinus excelsior, birch Betula pendula/pubescens) with an overstorey dominated by oak Quercus spp. The stemmed coppiuce layet (taillis) is cut on long rotations (30 years plus) and is combined with the removal of a proportion of the overstorey (Rochel, 2015). The conversion of Coppice to Irregular High Forest management, the keystone silvicultural system associated with the somewhat wider term Continuous Cover Forestry (CCF), has been a developing trend in France over the last 25 years and has provided a model for the silviculture practiced on the study site (Susse et al., 2011). This involves more frequent interventions than under the Coppice regime, and the use of permanent timber harvesting extraction racks (trackways) is important to avoid increased disturbance to the ground layer particularly on heavier soils (Sanchez, 2017). Studies in Europe identified that an increasing intensity of disturbances through mechanised forest operations can lead to more ruderal species and reduced numbers of forest specialist plants which may be at a competitive disadvantage (von Oheimb & Härdtle, 2009). Spatial heterogeneity associated with a mix of actively managed Coppice and abandoned stands has been found to be important in maintaining species richness of woodland specialist plants although this depends on locality and scale (Campetella et al., 2016, Tardella et al., 2019). Understanding the influence of management on woodland specialist plants is crucial because of the functional value they provide in respect of nutrient and decomposition cycles (Chelli et al., 2022).

In UK stands previously managed on shorter underwood rotations, longer periods of shade may negatively impact several woodland specialists, yet increased periods of openness may increase the numbers of

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622

more light demanding and competitive plants (Kirby, 2015). Therefore, species richness as a metric may mask the impacts of silviculture to woodland specialist plants (Boch et al., 2013). Irregular silviculture, a form of continuous cover forestry (hereafter CCF), (Puettmann et al., 2015), which aims at permanently irregular structures and uses selective harvesting of single, or small groups of trees leads to a mixed size structure and species composition, and through stand manipulation and gap creation utilises natural regeneration of successive cohorts (Sanchez, 2017, Susse et al., 2011). Studies in beech *Fagus sylvatica*-dominated European forests showed how Irregular High Forest may reduce homogenisation of the ground flora and retain forest specialists (von Oheimb & Härdtle, 2009).

The benefits of changing to Irregular High Forest Management for biodiversity, including ancient woodland plants adapted to traditional Coppice management or indeed unmanaged woodland, mostly remain unclear (Coll et al., 2018, Bürgi, 2015). Very little is known about silvicultural changes in ancient broadleaved woodland and the resulting environmental gradients that influence the plant community (Hermy & Verheyen, 2007, Buckley, 2020, Bergès & Dupouey, 2021). There is considerable interest in the promotion of natural processes in building resilience in the face of climate change, including the adoption of CCF alongside Coppice (Forestry Commission, 2020, Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, 2021). Silvicultural management systems including Irregular High Forest, are also likely to become important as an adaptive response to reducing disease transmission such as ash *Fraxinus excelsior* die-back *Hymenoscyphus fraxinaea* (Short & Shawe, 2018).

Using a range of plant groups (Rackham, 2003, Kimberlev et al., 2013), we explored the responses of vascular plants in ancient woodland with a focus on ancient woodland indicator plants and coppice plant groupings to the introduction of this novel silviculture in a working ancient semi-natural broadleaved woodland (for a definition see Spencer & Kirby, 1992) in southern England together with a comparison between the actively managed stands and those assigned to a Limited Intervention treatment. Assuming the woodland flora across our study had a common origin and shared a similar land-use history, it also seems reasonable to believe that any variation in species and groups between the actively managed and limited intervention stands is potentially due to management decisions over the last thirty years (Depauw et al., 2020). We 1) compare variation across Irregular High Forest, traditional Coppice and Limited Intervention stands using structural measures and assessed plant species composition, richness, and relative abundances. We then asked 2) whether there are species similarities between stand management types and 3) can we identify indicator species for each which help explain stand structural characteristics and inform silvicultural management?

2. Methods

2.1. Study area

The study area sits within 442 ha of semi-natural broadleaf woodland, across two contiguous blocks on the Rushmore Estate, in the Cranborne Chase, southern England (110–190 m a.s.l; 395724.26 E, 117963.15 N; Fig. 1). The principal National Vegetation Classification (NVC) (Rodwell et al., 1998), and European Nature Information System EUNIS categories of woodland that could be assigned to codes (Latham et al., 2018) relate to broadleaf stands on base-rich and mesotrophic soils (Rodwell et al., 1998), and were: W8 Fraxinus excelsior – Acer campestre - Quercus robur – Corylus avellana – Mercurialis perennis -Eurhynchium praelongum – Rubus fruticosus – Hyacinthoides non-scripta (EUNIS G1.A22 Fraxinus -Sorbus aucuparia -Mercurialis perennis forests) associated with base-rich soils within which W10 Quercus robur – Betula pendula – Corylus avellana – Rubus fruticosus – Pteridium aquilinum – Lonicera periclymenum – Hyacinthoides non-scripta (G1.A11 Mixed Atlantic Quercus forests with Hyacinthoides nonscripta) that fall within

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622



a)



Fig. 1. Location of study: a) study location in southern England, UK; b) sampling points across study area for the collection of vegetation, structural and plant community measures within locations of. Woodland stand types indicated by colour; Yellow – Limited intervention, Orange – Coppice, Red – Irregular High-Forest; c) example of plot layout for measuring habitat structures and from where plant species and community features were recorded in a 20 × 20 m quadrat and 3 m diameter circular sub-plots. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

the broad category of lowland mixed deciduous woodland (Rodwell et al., 1998). The dominant tree and shrub species are ash Fraxinus excelsior, pedunculate oak Quercus robur, field maple Acer campestre, silver birch Betula pendula, downy birch Betula pubescens, hazel Corylus avellana, spindle Euonymus europaeus, hawthorn Crataegus monogyna, sallow Salix cinerea, goat willow Salix caprea, dogwood Cornus sanguinea and blackthorn Prunus spinosa. There is scattered mature and veteran whitebeam Sorbus aria, and more locally distributed beech Fagus sylvatica and sycamore Acer pseudoplatanus.

2.2. Silvicultural management

The 442 ha of semi-natural woodland on the Rushmore Estate woodlands were historically managed under a coppice and coppice with standards system for many centuries (Poore, 2016). Originally mixed underwood of ash, hazel, birch, maple and whitebeam was cut on lengthening rotations during the early Modern Period, but during the 18th & 19th centuries underwood species composition was altered to increase the proportion of hazel and the area became a centre of the hazel underwood trades. The area under coppice management declined after the 1st World War and was accompanied by a long-term natural process of high-forest development, largely through the development of pole-stage ash within the coppice stands. Systematic coppice management had largely ceased in the 1980's but given the designation of site as a Site of Special Scientific Interest, a major project was undertaken from 1990 to restore areas of coppice, create a wide ride network, and allocate areas to a limited intervention treatment. Because of the precarious economic basis of coppice management efforts were also made to develop a diverse high forest management approach which could supplement coppice management in maintaining and enhancing biodiversity on the site (Poore, 2016).

We evaluated three broadleaved stand management types (Fig. 2). We define woodland management as harvesting of woody material and the stand as the silvicultural unit at which forest management was

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622



Fig. 2. Stand management types and examples of AWI plants associated with each (see Table 3 in results, arrows depict strongest association with a stand type in the examples), a) coppice with Lamiastrum galcobdolon in a diverse ground layer, mix of recently felled coppice and 7-year-old stems b) Irregular High Forest, varied tree sizes, canopy gaps with a patchily distributed understorey including bramble and variable ground layer composition including Adoxa moschatellina and c) limited intervention with Allium ursinum ground layer, dense shade no understorey. Rushmore, UK, April 2022.

undertaken.

Coppice stands (covering 59.0 ha of the project area) include both simple coppice and coppice with standards with up to 20 % cover of upper canopy trees. It should be noted, however, that effective underwood production requires a maximum cover of 10 % upper canopy trees (Harmer & Howe, 2003). Underwood cycle lengths vary with use: hazel dominated coppice cut every 8–15 years, birch coppice was managed on two rotations, with birch for horse jumps cut at 3–4 years and the remainder on > 25 year cycles for wood fuel. There was a broad representation of growth stages across our study site, with a mean age of

coppice during the study of 7.3 \pm 3.9 (SD) years with 0–5 years (n = 10), 6–9 years (n = 19), and 12–15 years (n = 11). Basal areas were in a range of 2–24 m²/ha-¹. At each cutting, the entire panel (felling) between 0.5 and 1.5 ha of underwood is removed leading to even-aged regrowth (Harmer & Howe, 2003).

Irregular High-Forest stands (covering 52.9 ha) were transformed from unmanaged coppice stands from the mid-1980's. They had already undergone some transition to a high forest structure over the preceding 20 - 50 years. This transformation involves the selective removal of harvestable trees and of weaker growing specimens and cutting the residual hazel and birch dominated understorey to increase light levels reaching the woodland floor. The aim is, however, for a suitable proportion of the understorey to re-grow, both for silvicultural reasons (to control seed bed conditions) and in order to create a complex habitat structure where the shrub layer is integrated within the high forest structure. The aim is to increase incremental growth and vigour of the retained trees to increase their resilience, enhance their economic value, promote natural regeneration of trees and shrubs and establish a range of tree size-classes.

With regard to the overall growing stock size, 'moderate stocking' is aimed for with basal areas (>7.5 cm diameter at breast height) in the range of $17-24 \text{ m}^2/\text{ha}^{-1}$. Lower stocked areas still in transition can have a range of $10-16 \text{ m}^2/\text{ha}^{-1}$. Understorey is dense in places yet patchily distributed as influenced by previous management and the effects of deer browsing. Species diversity is encouraged and individual trees with particular biodiversity values are retained, including senescent and standing deadwood (Susse et al., 2011). Irregular silviculture as practiced in our study involves interventions every 8–15 years (Poore, 2016). An intervention involves cutting all, or more usually a proportion, of the understorey, prior to selective removal of canopy trees as part of timber harvesting (Susse et al., 2011).

Limited Intervention stands (covering 43.4 ha) are closed canopy stands, with a higher tree density and basal area in the range $18-40 \text{ m}^2/\text{ha}^{-1}$, and more limited understorey due to a period of between 30 and 50 years without formal silvicultural intervention. Some closed-canopy have also be created by areas of abandoned overstood hazel that were last cut > 50 years ago (Poore, 2016).

Such structures appear to be typical of ancient woodland which has become neglected with closed canopy and understorey which is sparse or has grown up to become part of the woodland canopy layers (Amar et al., 2010, Hopkins & Kirby, 2007).

2.3. Field sampling

Plots were selected with each location a minimum of 100 m apart, and to reduce the influence of proximate habitats, plots were located a minimum distance of 30 m from stand edges stratified equally across the 3 stand management types (n = 120). Measurements of habitat structural variables were collected within a 30 m diameter circle (0.07 ha) with five sub-plots of 3 m diameter within each (four located at the cardinal points at 10 m radii and one at 2 m off-centre along a random compass bearing (Fig. 1) (Bibby et al., 2000). The plant community data were collected within a 20 \times 20 m quadrat at each plot (Kent, 2012). Fieldwork was conducted between 1st May and 31st July.

Within each plot, the following habitat structural measurements were recorded:

- Percentage of canopy openness was measured at each circular subplot with a spherical convex mirror densiometer (Lemmon, 1956) taken at 1.5 m above ground to gauge light levels.
- To calculate understorey density using the proportion of the shrub layer cover at 0.5 m and 2 m height bands, a percentage score of obscurations to the nearest 5 % was visually estimated. At each cardinal point of the plot at the sub-plot centres understorey density was visually assessed against a 50 × 30 cm chequer board with 10 × 10 cm squares (Alder et al., 2018).

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622

- Percentage cover of bramble was visually estimated overall within the plot because it can exert an important influence over the vascular plant community (Harmer et al., 2017), and % area of bare ground without plant growth or deep litter was visually estimated.
- Vascular plant richness and % cover (as an estimate of abundance of each plant species) at each plot within the quadrat scored using the Domin scale, subsequently converted to mid-point % categorical variables adapted from Kirby et al. (2022) (Supplementary Table S.1).

Vascular Plant groups (supplementary Table S.2 with all species recorded and their groupings).

We used all vascular plant species identified to compare species richness between the three stand management types described above.

Species were differentiated by groups. For ancient woodland in the UK, Rackham (2003) developed an approach based on Coppiceassociated plants which represent phytocoenological groups (Borhidi 1995), described as follows:

- Spring plants; species which flower early in the year and being vernal species have set seed by mid-summer.
- Summer plants; shade resistant summer flowering which actively grow during canopy leaf-cover.
- Buried seed plants; species which prolifically germinate following canopy opening with a persistent seed bank capable of withstanding decades of shade lying dormant until conditions become favourable with an increase in light.
- Mobile plants; windblown species that move around woodland, typically are short-lived biennials and are more abundant in open conditions though some may persist as perennial.
- Non-responsive plants; which are shade tolerant species and do not respond to canopy openings or may decline.

Finally, species have been checked against the list of Ancient Woodland Indicators – (hereafter AWI).

Ancient Woodland Vascular Plants are species with a direct association with woodland identified as being of ancient origin and are therefore a specialist group indicative of continuity (Rose, 1999, Peterken, 2000). Furthermore, with traits of dispersal limitation and sensitivity to intensive disturbance regimes their distinctiveness makes Ancient Woodland Vascular Plants important as a group on which to base conservation evaluation in UK woodland (Kimberley et al., 2013).

2.4. Data analysis

Differences in the percentages of individual habitat structural measures, and species richness for each plant group, across stand management types were tested using generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs), with Arcsine data transformation and Poisson distribution respectively (Bates et al., 2015). Plot nestedness (pseudoreplication) was accounted for by including stand unit number as a random effect in the models (Alder et al., 2021). Principal components analysis (PCA) was performed on the habitat structural variables to identify the main gradients and relative contribution of each variable to these (Alder et al., 2018).

A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination (using the package 'vegan' (Oksanen et al., 2020)) was used to explore Ancient Woodland Indicator plant composition and percentage cover across stand types. NMDS ranked the species in order and used the Bray-Curtis coefficient (Kent, 2012) between samples to create a dissimilarity matrix of plant communities for the stand types. An analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) was performed on the resulting ranked data using a nonparametric multiple permutation test (999 runs) for testing differences in the plant communities (McCune et al., 2002).

We used indicator species analysis (ISA) which combines abundances and frequencies of the plant occurrences to group those AWI species most strongly associated with particular stand management types

(Dufrêne, & Legendre, 1997). Indicator species values were calculated across a range between 0 (no indication) or 100 (exact indication). Indicator values were also calculated for combinations of stand types using an extension of the indicator species analysis method (De Cáceres et al., 2010). Values were tested using a permutation test run 999 times. ISA was performed using the package 'indicspecies' version 1.7.8 (De Cáceres, 2010). All data analysis was run using R version 4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2021) with figures produced using ggplot2 (Wickham et al., 2016). Significance was set at P < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Habitat structural measures across stand management types

Understorey densities in Irregular stands were intermediate between Limited Intervention and Coppice stands (See supplementary Table S.3). In the Coppice understorey densities at the 2 m height layer were significantly greater than in both other stand types. Bramble density was highest in Irregular over both other stand types, although the densities were as wide ranging in Coppice as Irregular. Canopy openness was greater in Irregular over Limited stands, while the latter was strongly associated with bare ground compared with the intervention stands. The first two PCA axes accounted for 67.1 % of original variation, Table 1. Axis 1 was associated with increasing bare ground and sparser understorey, especially at 0.5 m height, which was itself closely related to bramble *Rubus fruticosus* cover. For Axis 2, increasing canopy openness correlated with Irregular High Forest while understorey density at 2 m height associated with coppice and represented a closed understorey canopy, Fig. 3 a.

3.2. Vascular plant and group richness

A total of 91 vascular plant species were identified from seven plant groups including from all five of Rackham's Coppice plant groups (Rackham, 2003), ancient woodland indicators (AWI), and 'other' species which included several AWI that were not categorised as Coppice plant species (see supplementary Table S.2). While there were differences in species richness between different stand types, this varied depending on the plant group (Table 2). Four of the seven plant groups: All vascular plants; AWI's; Spring plants; and Buried seed plants, were similar between the two active intervention stands while significantly lower in Limited Intervention plots. There were no significant differences between species richness across stand types for Summer and Nonresponsive plant groups. Irregular stand type had significantly more Mobile plant species than Limited while Coppice was not significantly different from either.

3.3. Ancient woodland indicator species

The AWI plant community varied significantly between stands (ANOSIM statistic R: 0.13, P < 0.001) while NMDS for ancient woodland indicator species cover, had a stress value of 0.19 indicating a good fit of the data (McCune et al., 2002). Ordination ellipses (95 % confidence) revealed distinct spatial patterns with most AWI species cover associated with Coppice followed by Irregular. Limited intervention plots had more

Table 1

Factor loadings/correlations for habitat structural variables on the first two Principal Components axes with percentage variation given in parenthesis.

Axis 1 (45.4 %)	Axis 2 (21.7 %)
0.43	-0.14
-0.47	0.17
-0.30	0.69
-0.58	-0.12
-0.41	-0.68
	0.43 -0.47 -0.30 -0.58

variation in their AWI plant communities, and generally AWI plant cover correlated strongly with open canopy, yet also included plots with dense understorey and bramble cover (Fig. 3b). As with the PCA, both NMDS Axis 1 and 2 reflect a gradient from closed to open canopy; Axis 1 is positively associated with increasing understorey complexity and open canopy from bare ground while Axis 2 follows a transition from open, bare ground with a lack of understorey complexity to some bramble cover.

The frequency of occurrences across all 25 AWI species at plots ordered along the two main habitat structural (PCA) gradients are shown in Fig. 4. Axis 1 shows that most common species separate evenly between the active interventions and limited, while for both axis 1 and axis 2 less common species are more frequent in the active interventions. (See supplementary Table S.4 for correlations between AWI species and PCA factor scores for axis 1 and 2).

3.4. Stand type indicator species

Indicator species analysis (ISA) identified 22 species with a significant association with a particular stand type or stand type pair (Table 3). These included nine of the twenty-five AWI species from four Coppice plant groups. The Spring vernal species were all included in both coppice and Irregular and reinforce the results from the pairwise group tests which show richness in limited intervention decreases. Most differences between Coppice and Irregular were for either Buried seed plants or Summer perennials, while Limited Intervention had only one Non-responsive species which it shared with Irregular.

4. Discussion

4.1. Structural effects of silvicultural management

A primary aim of Irregular silviculture is the adoption of ecologically sustainable methods (Susse et al., 2011, Sanchez, 2017). An important objective of sustainable forest management is for forest managers to consider the potential impacts, following restructuring of woodlands, upon a range of taxonomic groups especially in ancient woodlands (Bricca et al., 2020, Larrieu et al., 2019, Brown et al., 2015). Irregular silviculture in temperate broadleaf woodland does appear to positively benefit other groups such as birds (Alder et al., 2018), and bats (Alder et al., 2021). Generally, we found Irregular silviculture has created dynamic woodland structures across a continuum not unlike a Coppice woodland with a broad range of age classes in varying stages of growth (Alder et al., 2018), although we recognise it may not be directly analogous (Bürgi, 2015). Irregular silviculture in our study retained several characteristics of early successional understorey associated with traditional coppicing (Sanchez, 2017) with a significantly more open canopy than Limited Intervention. In mixed hazel and birch coppices such as those within our study the ground flora is adapted to the rapid turnover of light to shade, and woodland species with varied requirements can persist side by side according to the stage of the coppice cycle (Buckley & Mills, 2015b, Kirby et al., 2017). Notably, we did not detect a significant difference in openness between Coppice and Limited stands which reflects the way we measured canopy openness in Coppice below understorey closure at 2 m height. The proportion of Coppice at <3 years age in our study was 10 % and so the majority was actively growing with closed canopy at around the fourth or fifth year since cutting (Mitchell, 1992). The creation of larger canopy gaps which remain open for many years can be detrimental to coppice adapted plants as the community can shift to grassland (Barkham, 1992) or develop a ruderal community (Klug et al., 2019). Although not tested, our study area had localised patches of woodland with high grass cover which may have been due to increased canopy opening followed by incursion by deer Cervidae (Kirby et al., 2022, Joys et al., 2004).

Within-stand gap creation in the Irregular High-forest stands is patchier than even-aged high-forest and regeneration of woody species

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622



Fig. 3. Ordinations from Principal Components Analysis factors 3a) of the main habitat structural variables associated with the three stand management types, Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling biplot showing NMDS 1 and 2 positions 3b) for Ancient Woodland Indicator plant species % cover with 95% confidence ellipses for habitat / species separation across stand types.

Table 2

Results of GLMM and pairwise comparisons of species richness for seven plant groups across the stand management types; medlans are given with range shown in parenthesis. Those pairs of stand types which differ significantly are shown between columns, the values across rows indicate whether the difference is positive or negative; L – Limited, I – Irregular, C – Coppice with those in bold denoting significant difference from pairwise test P < 0.05.

Woodland Plant Group	Limited	Irregular	Coppice	P
All vascular plants	8 (3 - 25) IC	18 (10 - 31)	16 (9 - 32)	<
		L	L	0.001
Ancient Woodland	2.5(0-14)	7.5 (1 - 13)	8 (2-12) L	0.016
Indicators	C			
Spring plants	1.5 (0-6) C	3.5 (0 - 6)	4 (0 - 6) L	0.033
Summer plants	1.5 (0 - 9)	3 (1 - 6)	4 (0 - 7)	0.116
Buried seed plants	2 (0 - 8) IC	6 (2-14) L	5.5 (1 - 14)	<
and the second sec			L	0.001
Mobile plants	0 (0 - 2) 1	1 (0 - 5) L	1(0-4)	0.006
Non-responsive plants	3 (1 - 5)	3(1-6)	2(0-5)	0.458

becomes more varied with a wider range of age-classes (Alder et al., 2021). This is unlike clear-cutting or more intensive even-aged high-forest management which can result in an increase in transient and nonwoodland plants (Tinya et al., 2019). Irregular High Forest management, as we have shown, produces both early successional and old growth characteristics important for maintaining biodiversity in temperate European woodlands, features which are often underrepresented (Hilmers et al., 2018). Despite the presence of deer, which are managed through a culling regime designed to significantly reduce their impact, our study showed how bramble Rubus fruticosus flourished within Irregular stands following canopy opening. This may indicate an effect of increased ground disturbance combined with reduced density and competition from the rapid understorey regrowth typically associated with the coppice cycle. Decocq et al. (2005) and Harmer et al. (2017) found that bramble decreased overall plant species richness in selectively cut forests, which was not the case in our Irregular stands. Van Calster et al. (2008) found a similar increase in bramble cover during canopy opening, yet increases in species richness in the herb layer correlated with uneven-aged high forest compared with even-aged and was related to edaphic factors influenced by silviculture. The impact of bramble can be varied according to land-use history (Hedl et al., 2021), local site conditions, the degree of canopy opening and the development of a competing woody understorey (Harmer et al., 2017). We found bramble was generally absent in Limited Intervention stands and suppressed in closed canopy coppice. However, despite highest cover values, bramble presence did not appear to have a negative effect for any plant group in Irregular stands. Bramble in these stands is selectively controlled where higher densities are deemed likely to suppress tree regeneration although this is infrequent and targeted. The rapid development of a woody understorey in gaps is generally desirable in Irregular stands as it negates such intervention and increasing understorey density within the 2-metre height band (analogous to Coppice at 3-5 years) may help in this respect.

Limited Intervention stands in our study appear to be typical of ancient woodland in lowland Britain which has become neglected and homogenously structured with closed canopy and a sparse understorey, or abandoned coppice that has grown up to become part of the woodland canopy (Amar et al., 2010, Hopkins & Kirby 2007). Species diversity in



Fig. 4. Occurrence of ancient woodland plant species at each plot (n = 120; coloured by stand type) ordered along ordination axes 1 and 2 of the PCA.

UK ancient woodlands is associated with structural heterogeneity (Peterken & Game 1964, Peterken & Mountford 2017) and our results suggest that Irregular High Forest management may offer a feasible alternative to coppicing where it is no longer practiced. The proximity of small canopy gaps created (every 7–10 years) within and between Irregular stands may retain habitat conditions suitable for ancient woodland indicator species (Klug et al., 2019). Chelli et al. (2021) suggest canopy heterogeneity developed by larger trees with a complex vertical distribution (as found in Irregular High Forest) may modulate the light heterogeneity in abandoned coppice and drive functional diversity.

4.2. Vascular plant groups and species responses

Most woodland plant groups in our study were tolerant of Irregular silviculture management, with the main differences in the plant communities being between managed and unmanaged stands. In central Europe the conversion to High Forest from traditional Coppice has been associated with losses of forest plant species of high conservation value (Müllerová et al., 2015). While our study found Summer perennials and Non-responsive groups were not significantly different across the three stand types, overall vascular plant richness was highest in Irregular High Forest followed by coppice. However, plant species richness *per se* does not necessarily provide a measure of the conservation value of a woodland, because it also includes both generalist and common nonwoodland species (Kirby et al., 2022, Hupperts et al., 2020, Boch et al., 2013, Bartha et al., 2008, von Oheimb & Härdtle 2009).

Decoq et al. (2005) found more ruderal and generalist plant species in a selective high-forest system that originated from a coppice with standards silviculture. Such effects may be related to the actual treatment on a site sensitive to soil compaction, in particular the lack of defined, permanent timber extraction racks leading to a wider area of the woodland subject to disturbance (Harmer et al., 2010). Moreover, even where ruderal/generalist plants occur they are likely to diminish as the stand structure develops (Bartha et al., 2008). While we did not detect a significant difference between Coppice and Irregular, Buried seed plant richness was significantly higher in the Irregular than Limited Intervention stands, which included widespread species which are more typical of disturbed soils. ISA identified 9 Buried seed species in Irregular with only 5 (of the same) species in Coppice (including bramble) while Limited Intervention had none. None of 4 Buried seed species ISA identified uniquely in Irregular are AWI. Following Hill et al. (2000) and

Table 3

Results of Indicator Species Analysis across stand types; Coppice plant groups are shown in superscript, Nr – Non-responsive, Bu – Buried seed, Sp – Spring, Su – Summer perennial, Mo - Mobile.

Ancient Woodland Species		Limited	Irregular	Coppice	Test	Р
Adoxa moschatellina ^{Nr}	Moschatel		1		0.34	0.02
Allium ursinum ^{Nr}	Ramsons	1	1		0.76	< 0.001
Carex sylvatica ^{Bu}	Wood sedge		1	1	0.59	0.002
Conopodium majus ^{Sp}	Pignut		1	1	0.82	< 0.001
Euphorbia amygdaloides Bu	Wood Spurge		1	1	0.76	< 0.001
Holcus mollis ^{Su}	Creeping Soft-grass			1	0.42	< 0.001
Hypericum androsaemum ^{Su}	Tutsan			1	0.35	0.05
Lamiastrum galeobdolon Sp	Yellow Archangel		1	1	0.8	< 0.001
Primula vulgaris ^{Sp}	Primrose		1	1	0.66	0.004
Other Vascular Plants						
Arctium spp ^{Mo}	Lesser/Greater Burdock		1	1	0.37	0.045
Ajuga reptans ^{Bu}	Bugle		1	1	0.42	0.02
Circaea lutetiana ^{Mo}	Enchanter's Nightshade		1		0.37	0.011
Cirsium arvense Mo	Creeping Thistle		1	1	0.4	0.024
Cirsium palustre Mo	Marsh Thistle			1	0.5	0.001
Clematis vitalba	Traveller's Joy			1	0.38	0.047
Dactylis glomerata ^{Bu}	Cock's Foot grass		1		0.39	0.006
Deschampsia caespitosa ^{Su}	Tufted Hair-grass		1	1	0.75	0.001
Eupatorium cannabinum Su	Hemp Agrimony			1	0.45	0.005
Ficaria verna Bu	Lesser Celendine		1		0.44	0.023
Galium aparine ^{Bu}	Cleavers		1		0.6	0.001
Geranium robertianum ^{Bu}	Herb Robert		1		0.45	0.001
Rubus fruticosus agg. ^{Bu}	Blackberry		1	1	0.96	0.001
Rumex sanguineus Bu	Wood Dock		1	1	0.39	0.022

Hill et al. (2004) we identified these species as generalists found in a broad range of temperate habitats in light (L) levels with an Ellenberg L value of 6, comparatively higher than other species of this group such as Bugle *Ajuga reptans* and the AWI species, Wood spurge *Euphorbia amygdaloides* with Ellenberg L values of 5 and 4 respectively. Of these Buried seed species cleavers *Galium aparine* is a species with an Ellenberg N (Nitrogen) value of 8 for nutrient rich soils. It is likely to have responded to soil disturbance following harvesting which may explain why Cock's-foot grass *Dactylis glomerata* was similarly commonest in Irregular stands (von Oheimb & Härdtle 2009). We did not test for soil compaction in our study, although species such as cleavers are known to be intolerant of compact soils (Godefroid & Koedam 2004).

Ancient woodland plants are susceptible to nutrient enrichment, especially nitrogen, which may arise through atmospheric deposition or localised agricultural drift (Kirby 2020). There have been concerns over the impact of canopy opening after many decades of neglect which releases the so-called 'nutrient time-bomb', yet this remains uncertain (Verheyen et al., 2012). While there were significantly more mobile species in Irregular stands than Limited Intervention, Coppice had a similarly high number. Buried seed species such as perennial nettle Urtica dioica were found as much in Limited Intervention stands as in Irregular and may be a response to localised enrichment especially of phosphates, (Capstick et al., 2019) from pheasant Phasianus colchicus rearing rather than silviculture (Sage et al.2005).

4.3. Woodland management implications

We recognise that our study is limited to one site with its own historical ecology which poses difficulties in making general recommendations (Hédl, et al., 2021). Nevertheless, we did not detect many significant differences between the ancient woodland plant communities of Coppice and Irregular stands. Neither did we find strong evidence of negative effects, e.g., from competitive exclusion, as a result of increases in species such as bramble and cleavers. This may be because Irregular High Forest as practiced in our study has a relatively low rate of disturbance compared to clear-felling (Harmer et al., 2010). Brown et al. (2015) found that ancient woodland plants were able to withstand high levels of exotic tree removal during restoration of ancient woodlands, although there may be a reduction in those shade adapted species initially. Clearly the intensity and methods of silvicultural practice vary which can greatly influence the resulting woodland plant community (Hermy 2015). For ancient woodlands however, Irregular silviculture as we have found appears to be benign and a preferable option to management neglect and the potential demise of specialist woodland plants as a result of closed canopy, shading and intense grazing by deer (Rackham 2008, Van Calster et al., 2008, Roleček et al., 2017).

Despite evidence of there being a time-lag between cause and effect of climate change in temperate forests (Bertrand et al., 2011) stand manipulation offers the prospect to evaluate responses of different taxonomic groups (Larrieu et al., 2019). At Rushmore coppice management is likely to continue as part of the mix of management types albeit greatly reduced compared to the early 19th century. This provides a unique opportunity for long-term comparison with Irregular High Forest management in an ancient woodland, see for example Kirby et al. (2022) and recommendations therein. The Rushmore Estate woodlands are particularly valuable in this respect with an important historical ecology and intimate mix of traditional and novel silvicultural management types for assessing how woodland plants respond (Bergès & Dupouey 2021). The interaction between canopy and woody understorey (and bramble) is likely to be important and warrants further research (Chelli et al., 2022, Landuyt et al., 2019, Dölle et al., 2017, Brown et al., 2015). Importantly, investigating how environmental conditions are moderated for Coppice adapted plants of ancient woodlands (Buckley 2020, Cervellini et al., 2017, Boch et al., 2013). This is important for ground flora because of the effects of increased temperatures (thermophilisation) following canopy opening in a changing climate (Zellweger et al., 2020, Schall & Heinrichs 2020, Landuyt et al., 2019). Moreover, Ash die-back Hymenoscyphus fraxineus will alter the canopy cover and the ground-layer composition, including natural regeneration of woody species (Mitchell et al., 2016, Broome et al., 2019).

The dynamics of woodland flora is complex and varies within a season as well as between sites and to fully understand changes in the patterns of woodland plants, long term studies in a range of stand management types is key (Keith et al., 2009, Hédl & Chudomelová 2020). To fully comprehend responses to the conditions produced by silvicultural management on woodland flora requires understanding of the management histories across a range of sites (Bricca et al., 2020, Barnes & Williamson 2015, Spencer 1990). Slow dispersing ancient woodland plants may be particularly vulnerable to changes in climate

and nutrient enrichment even though they may be buffered from its effects initially (Hermy 2015). Improving our knowledge of the impacts from raised temperatures (Govaert et al., 2020) is vital for ecosystem services where the ground flora plays an important role (Mitchell et al., 2014, Mitchell et al., 2016, Kirby et al., 2022).

Natural restructuring which creates a range of successional habitats and old growth can take centuries to establish in formerly managed woodland (von Oheimb et al., 2005, Peterken & Mountford, 2017). However, the choices for high-forest are varied and Irregular silviculture appears to offer a broad range of structures and habitat conditions (Alder et al., 2021). Using plant indicators based around AWI and Coppice-adapted groups (Rackham, 2003) we feel offers a robust mixture of species indicators to guide ancient woodland management (Ellis, 2015, Lelli et al., 2019, Swallow et al., 2020) (.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful for the assistance given by the Rushmore Estate, Trustees, the managing agent Mr Phillip Gready, along with Ian Burt, Andy Taylor, Rob Taylor and Don Taylor for practical help. Rhiannon Rogers and Jon Corkill of Dorset Environmental Records Centre helped with fieldwork and GIS support respectively. We are especially indebted to our funders, The Golden Bottle Trust and the Henry C. Hoare Charitable Trust, and are grateful to Dr Annabel King for the recommendation. We acknowledge the generous support of Forestry Commission (England). Keith Kirby and two anonymous reviewers made many valuable comments which significantly improved the text.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120622.

References

- Alder, D.C., Fuller, R.J., Marsden, S.J., 2018. Implications of transformation to Irregular silviculture for woodland birds: A stand wise comparison in an English bro
- woodland. For, Ecol. Manage, 422, 69-78.
 Alder, D.C., Poore, A., Norrey, J., Newson, S.E., Marsden, S.J., 2021, Irregular silviculture positively influences multiple bat species in a lowland temperate
- anythinter woodland. For. Ecol. Manage. 463, 118786.
 Amar, A., Smith, K.W., Buter, S., Lindsell, J.A., Hewson, C.M., Fuller, R.J., Charman, E. C., 2010. Recent patterns of change in vegetation structure and tree composition of British broadleaved woodland: evidence from large-scale surveys. Forestry 83 (4), 345-3
- Barkham, J.P., 1992. The effects of coppicing and neglect on the performance of the agement of Coppice
- Barknam, J.P., 1992. The effects of coppleting and neglect on the performance of the perennial ground flora. In: Buckley, P. (Ed.), Ecology and Management of Copplet Woodlands. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 115–146.
 Barnes, G., Williamson, T., 2015. Rethinking ancient woodland: the archaeology and history of woods in Norfolk. University of Hertfordshire Press.
 Bartha, S., Merolli, A., Campetella, G., Canullo, R., 2006. Changes of vascular plant
- diversity along a chronosequence of beech coppice stands, central Apennines, Italy, Plant Biosyst.-An Int. J. Dealing with all Aspects of Plant Biol. 142 (3), 572-563.
- Bates, D., Machler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4, J. Stat. Softw. 67 (1).
- rgès, L., Dupouey, J.L., 2021. Historical ecology and ancient forests: Progress, conservation issues and scientific prospects, with some examples from the French case. J. Veg. Sci. 32 (1), e12846.
- Bertrand, R., Lenoir, J., Piedallu, C., Riofrio-Dillon, G., de Ruffray, P., Vidal, C., Pierrat, J.C., Gégout, J.C., 2011. Changes in plant community composition behind climate warming in lowland forests. Nature 479 (7374), 517–520.

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622

- Bibby, C.J., Burgess, N.D., Hillis, D.M., Hill, D.A., Mustoe, S., 2000. Bird census chniques. Chapter 11 Description and Measurement of Bird Habitat 250-277. Elsevier,
- Boch, S., Prati, D., Müller, J., Socher, S., Baumbach, H., Buscot, F., Gockel, S., Hemp, A., Boch, S., Frad, D., Muller, J., Socher, S., Baumbach, H., Buscot, F., Gockel, S., Heinp, Hessenmöller, D., Källo, E.K., Linsenmair, K.E., 2013. High plant species richne indicates management-related disturbances rather than the conservation status of forests. Basic Appl. Ecol. 14 (6), 496–505. Borhidi, A., 1995. Social behaviour types, the naturalness and relative ecological indicator values of the higher plants in the Hungarian flora. Acta Botanica Hungar 20, 679–408.
- 39, 97-181.
- Bricca, A., Chelli, S., Canullo, R., Cutini, M., 2020, The legacy of the past logging: How forest structure affects different facets of understory plant diversity in aban coppice forests. Diversity 12 (3), 109. ome, A., Ray, D., Mitchell, R., Harmer, R., 2019. Responding to ash dieback
- Broome, A., Ray, D., Mitchell, R., Harmer, R., 2019. Responding to ash uleback (Hymenoscyphus fraxineus) in the UK: woodland composition and replacement tree species. Forestry: An Int. J. Forest Res. 92 (1), 100–119.
 Brown, N.D., Curtis, T., Adams, E.C., 2015. Effects of clear-felling versus gradual removal of conifer trees on the survival of understorey plants during the restoration of ancient woodlands. For. Ecol. Manage. 340, 15–22.
 Buckley, P., 2020. Coppice restoration and conservation: a European perspective.
- st Res. 25 (3), 125-133.
- Buckley, P., Mills, J., 2015a. Coppice silviculture: from the Mesolithic to the 21st century, In: K.J. Kirby, C Watkins (Eds.), Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes. CABI, (2015) Wallingford, UK, 77-92. Buckley, P., Mills, J., 2015b. The Flora and Fauna of Coppice Woods: Winners and Losers
- of Active Management or Neglect?. In: K.J.Kirby, C Watkins (Eds.), Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes. CABI, (2015) Wallingford, UK 129-139.
- Bürgi, M., 2015. Close-to-nature forestry. In: K.J. Kirby, C Watkins (Eds.), Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes. CABI, (2015) Wallingford, 107-115.
- Campetella, G., Botta-Dukat, Z., Wellstein, C., Canullo, R., Gatto, S., Chelli, S.
- Campetella, G., Borta-Dukát, Z., Wellstein, C., Canullo, R., Catto, S., Chelli, S., Mucina, L., Bartha, S., 2011. Patterns of plant train-environment relationships : a forest succession chronosequence. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 145 (1), 30–40. Campetella, G., Canullo, R., Gimona, A., Garadnai, J., Chiarucci, A., Giorgini, D., Angelini, E., Cervellini, M., Chelli, S., Bartha, S., 2016. Scale-dependent effect coppicing on the species pool of late successional beech forests in the central Apennines, Italy. Appl. Vegetation Sci. 19 (3), 474–405.
 Capstick, L.A., Sage, R.B., Hoodless, A., 2019. Ground flora recovery in disused phe pens is limited and affected by pheasant release density. Biol. Conserv. 231, 181–188. nt effects of
- 181-188.
- vellini, M., Fiorini, S., Cavicchi, A., Campetella, G., Simonetti, E., Chelli, S., Canullo, R., Gimona, A., 2017. Relationships between understory sp
- and local management practices in coppiced forests-Evidence from the Italian Apennines. For. Ecol. Manage. 385, 35–45. Ill. S., Bricze, A., Cuttini, M., Campetella, G., Cervellini, M., Tsakalot, J.L., Canullo, R., 2021. Large standard trees and deadwood promote functional divergence in the
- understory of beech coppice forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 494, 119324. elli, S., Ottaviani, G., Tsakalos, J.L., Campetella, G., Simonetti, E., Wellstein, G., Bartha, S., Cervellini, M., Canullo, R., 2022. Intra-and inter-specific leaf trait esponses of understorey species to changes in forest maturity. For. Ecol. Manage 506, 119977.
- Coll, L., Ameztegui, A., Collet, C., Löf, M., Mason, B., Pach, M., Verheyen, K., Abrudan, L. Barbati, A., Barreiro, S., Bielak, K., 2018. Knowledge gaps about mixed forests: What do European forest managers want to know and what answers can science provide? do European forest managers wan For. Ecol. Manage. 407, 106-115.
- Department of Food, Environment & Rural Affairs. 2021. The England Trees Action Plan 2021-2024. May 2021. The UK Government. Online: https://www.gov.uk/gov ernment/publications/england-trees-action-plan-2021-to-2024 Accessed 20/6/ 2022.
- 2022. De Caceres, M., Legendre, P., Moretti, M., 2010. Improving indicator species analysis by combining groups of sites. Oikos 119 (10), 1674–1684. Decocq, G., Aubert, M., Dupont, F., Alard, D., Saguez, R., Wattez-Franger, A., DeFoucdi, B., Delelis-Dusollier, A., Bardat, J., 2004. Plant diversity in a managed temperate decidoous forest: understory response to two silvicultural systems. J. Appl. Ecol. 41, 1065-1079.
- or, G., Aubert, M., Dupon, F., Bardat, J., Wattez-Pranger, A., Saguez, R., De Foucault, B., Alard, D., Delelis-Dusollier, A., 2005. Silviculture-driven vegetation change in a European temperate deciduous forest. Ann. Forest Sci. 62 (4), 313–323.
- standard and a second temperate declarous declarous rain. Forest et al. 60 (4), 515-525, auw, L., Perring, M.P., Landuyt, D., Maes, S.L., Blondeel, H., De Lombaerde, E., Brimelis, G., Brunet, J., Closset-Kopp, D., Czerepko, J., Decocq, G., 2020. Light availability and land-use history drive biodiversity and functional changes in forest
- availability and land-use history drive biodiversity and functional changes in forest herb layer communities. J. Ecol. 108 (4), 1411-1425.
 Dölle, M., Petritan, A.M., Biris, I.A., Petritan, I.C., 2017. Relations between tree canopy composition and understorey vegetation in a European beech-sessile oak old growth forest in Western Romania. Biologia 72 (12), 1422-1430.
 Düfriene, M., Legendre, P., 1997. Species assemblages and indicator species: the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. Ecol. Monogr. 67 (3), 545-366.
 Ellis, C.J., 2015. Ancient woodland indicators signal the climate change risk for dispersal-limited species. Ecol. Ind. 53, 106-114.
 Ewald, J., Heid, R., Chudomelová, M., Petrik, P., Sipoš, J., Vild, O., 2018. High resilience of John species accession of conject restoration-a chronoscuence from the oak

- cies composition to coppice restoration-a chro f Gerolfing (Bavaria). Tuexenia 38, 61–78. m the oak odland of Gerolfi
- Forestry Commission, 2020. Managing England's woodlands in a climate emergency. A guide to help foresters and agents implement adaptation actions. Version 2. Forestry Commission. Online. Date accessed 15/9/2021.

- Ford, E.D., Newbould, P.J., 1977. The biomass and production of ground vegetation and its relation to tree cover through a deciduous woodland cycle. J. Ecol. 201–212. is relation to tree over through a decidous woodland cycle. J. Ecol. 201–212. Gilliam, F.S., 2007. The ecological significance of the herbaceous layer in temperate
- Foreir ecosystems, Bioscience 57 (10), 845–856.
 Godefroid, S., Koedam, N., 2004. Interspecific variation in soil compaction sensitivity among forest floor species. Biol. Conserv. 119 (2), 207–217.
- Goldberg, E., Kirby, K., Hall, J., Latham, J., 2007. The ancient woodland concept as a ol in Great Britain, J. Nat. Conse n 15 (2) 109
- Goldberg, E., 2015. 22 The UK's Ancient Woodland Inventory and its Use. In: Kirby, K.J., Watkins, C., (Eds.), Europe's Changing Woods and Porests: From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes, CABI (2015) Wallingford UK, 326-336.Grime, J.P., Hodgson, J.G., Hunt, R., 1960, Comparative plant ecology: a functions approach to common British species. Unwin, Hyman, London.
- Нап er, R., Howe, J., 2003. The silviculture and management of Coppice woodlands.
- Harmer, R., Kerr, G., Thompson, R., 2010. Managing native broadleaved woodland. The
- Haimer, R., Reir, G., Holmpon, R., 2019. Humaging matter orbital evolution. Stationary Office Ltd (TSO).
 Harmer, R., Kerr, G., Stokes, V., Connolly, T., 2017. The influence of thinning inter and bramble control on ground flora development in a mixed broadleaved woodland. Forestry: Int. J. Forest Res. 90 (2), 247–257.
- Woodand, Forestry: Int. J. Forest Ref. 50 (2), 247–257.
 Hédl, R., Chudomelová, M., 2020. Understanding the dynamics of forest understorey: Combination of monitoring and legacy data reveals patterns across temporal scales. J. Veg. Sci. 31 (5), 733–743.
 Hedl, R., Cousins, S.A., Decocq, G., Szabó, P., Wulf, M., 2021, The importance of history for understanding contemporary ecosystems: Insights from vegetation science.
- J. Veg. Sci. 32 (3), e13048.
- J. Veg. Sci. 32 (5), e13040.
 Hermy, M., Verheyen, K., 2007. Legacies of the past in the present-day forest biodiversity: a review of past land-use effects on forest plant species compor diversity. In: Nakashizuka, T. (Ed.), Sustainability and Diversity of Forest Ecos ns. Springer, Tokvo.
- Hermy, 2015. Evolution and changes in the understorey of deciduous forests: lagging behind drivers of change. In: Kirby, K.J., Watkins, C., (Eds.), Europe's Changing Woods and Forests: From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes, CABI (2015), pp. 174-192
- Hill, M.O., Roy, D.B., Mountford, J.O., Bunce, R.G., 2000. Exter
- indicator values to a new area: an algorithmic approach. J. Appl. Ecol. 37 (1), 3–15. Hill, M.O., Preston, C.D., Roy, D.B., 2004. PLANTATT-attributes of British and Irish plants: status, size, life history, geography and habitats. Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.
- rs, T., Friess, N., Bässler, C., Heurich, M., Brandl, R., Pretzsch, H., Seidl, R., Hilm Mülle r, J., 2018. Biodiversity along temperate forest succession. J. Appl. Ecol. 55 (6),
- Hopkins, J.J., Kirby, K.J., 2007. Ecological change in British broadleaved woodland since 1947. Ibis 149, 29-40.
- Hupperts, S.F., Webster, C.R., Froese, R.E., Lilleskov, E.A., Marcarelli, A.M., Dickinson, Y. L., 2020. Increasing ground-layer plant taxonomic diversity masks declining phylogenetic diversity along a silvicultural disturbance gradient. Can. J. For. Res. 50 (12), 1259-1267.
- ewicz, B., Borysowicz, J., Cholewińska, O., 2021. Forest floor plant diversity drives
- the use of mature spruce forest by European bison. Ecol. Evol. 11 (1), 635-647. x, A.C., Fuller, R.J., Dolman, P.M., 2004. Influences of deer browsing, Coppice history, and standard trees on the growth and development of vegetation structure i Coppiced woods in lowland England. For. Ecol. Manage. 202 (1-3), 23-37. ucture in
- Reith, S.A., Newton, A.C., Morecroft, M.D., Bealey, C.E., Bullock, J.M., 2009, Taxon homogenization of woodland plant communities over 70 years. Proc. Royal So homogenization of woodland plan Biol. Sci. 276 (1672), 3539-3544. nunities over 70 years. Proc. Royal Soc. B:
- Kent, M., 2012. Vegetation description and data analysis: a practical approach. John Wiley & Sons. Kimberley, A., Blackburn, G.A., Whyatt, J.D., Kirby, K., Smart, S.M., 2013. Identifying.
- yndromes of conservation indicator species: how distinct are British oodland indicator plants from other woodland species? Appl. Veg. Sci. 16 the trait syndromes of con (4), 667-675.
- Kirby, K.J., 2015, Changes in the vegetation of clear-fells and closed canopy stands in an Kirby, K., 2020. Woodland Flowers: Colourful past, uncertain future. Blo Publishing.
- Kirby, K.J., Buckley, G.P., Mills, J., 2017. Biodiversity implications of Coppice decline, transformations to high forest and Coppice restoration in British woodland. Polia geobotanica 52 (1), 5–13.Kirby, K.J., Bazely, D.R., Goldberg, E.A., Hall, J.E., Isted, R., Perry, S.C., Thomas, R.G.,
- st: The good, the bad
- Killy, Kos, Balery, Okt, Odderg, Erk, Hai, Su, Jied, K., Ferry, Kos, Inomas K. 2022. Five decades of ground flora changes in a temperate forest: The good, the 1 and the ambiguous in bioliversity terms. For: Ecol. Manage. 505, 119396. Klug, B., Tintner, J., Heinz, I., Matiasch, L., 2019. Species composition change with different silvicultural methods-evidence of a long-term study over two decades in a Pannonian oak-hornbeam forest. Austrian J. Forest Sci./Centralblatt für das gesamte Pannonian oak-hornbeam fores Forstwesen 136 (3), 199–218.
- Landuyt, D., De Lombaerde, E., Perring, M.P., Hertzog, L.R., Ampoorter, E., Maes, S.L., De Frenne, P., Ma, S., Proesmans, W., Blondeel, H., Sercu, B.K., 2019. The functional role of temperate forest understorey vegetation in a changing world. Glob. Change Biol. 25 (11) 3625-3641.
- BIDL 23 (11), 50:25-3041.
 ieu, L., Gosselin, F., Archaux, F., Chevalier, R., Corriol, G., Dauffy-Richard, E., Deconchar, M., Gosselin, M., Lader, S., Savoie, J.M., Tillon, L., 2019. Assessing the potential of routine stand variables from multi-taxon data as habitat surrogates in Larrieu, L., G uropean temperate forests, Ecol. Ind. 104, 116-126.
- Latham, J., Hall, J., Holl, K., Perry, S., Goldberg, E., 2018. Guidelines for the Selection of Biological SSSIs. Part 2: Detailed Guidelines for Habitats and Species Groups.

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622

Chapter 2a Woodlands, Wood Pasture and Parkland, and Veteran Trees. Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough.

- Conservation Committee, reteroorougn. Lelli, C., Brunn, H.H., Chiarucci, A., Donati, D., Frascaroli, F., Fritz, Ô., Goldberg, L., Nascimbene, J., Tøttrup, A.P., Rahbek, C., Heilmann-Clausen, J., 2019. Bioldivers response to forest structure and management: Comparing species richness, conservation relevant species and functional diversity as metrics in forest conservation, For, Ecol. Manage, 432, 707-717,
- Conservation for a total manages 432, 707–117. imon, P.E., 1956. A spherical densiometer for estimating forest overstory density. Forest Sci. 2 (4), 314–320.
- Porest Sci. 2 (4), 314–320.
 Mason, W.L., 2007. Changes in the management of British forests between 1945 and 2000 and possible future trends. Ibis 149, 41–52.
 McCune, B., Grace, J.B., Urban, D.L., 2002. Analysis of ecological communities, Vol. 28.
 MjM software design, Gleneden Beach, OR.
- Mitchell, R.J., Beaton, J.K., Bellamy, P.E., Broome, A., Chetcuti, J., Eaton, S., Ellis, C.J., Gimona, A., Harmer, R., Heeter, A.J., Hewison, R.L., 2014. Ash dieback in the UK: a review of the ecological and conservation implications and potential management ontions, Biol. Conserv. 175, 95-109.
- options: biol. Conserv. 175, 95-105. Mitchell, R.J., Hewison, R.L., Hester, A.J., Broome, A., Kirby, K.J., 2016. Potential impacts of the loss of Fraxinus excelsior (Oleaceae) due to ash dieback on woodle vegetation in Great Britain. New J. Botany 6 (1), 2–15.
- Mitchell, P.L., 1992. Growth stages and microclimate in coppice and high forest. In; Buckley, G.P. (Ed.), Ecology and Management of Coppice Woodlands, Chapman & Hall, London. 31 - 51.
- Hall, London. 31 51.
 Müllerová, J., Hédl, R., Szabó, P., 2015. Coppice abandonment and its implications for species diversity in forest vegetation. For. Ecol. Manage. 343, 88–100.
 Naaf, T., Wulf, M., 2010. Habitat specialists and generalists drive homogenization and differentiation of temperate forest plant communities at the regional scale. Biol.
- Conserv. 143 (4), 248-855.
 Nordén, B., Dahlberg, A., Brandrud, T.E., Fritz, Ö., Ejmaes, R., Ovaskainen, O., 2014.
- Effects of ecological continuity on species richness and composition in forests and
- Effects of ecological continuity on species richness and composition in forests and woodlands: a review. Ecoscience 21 (1), 34-45.
 Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R., 2020, wegan: community ecology package. R package version 2 (0-2), 2012.
 Ottaviani, G., Götzenberger, L., Baczuo, G., Chiarucci, A., de Bello, F., Marcantonio, M., 2019. A multifaceted approach for beech forest conservation: Environmental drivers of understory plant diversity. Flora 256, 65–91.
 Peterken, G.F., 1993. Woodland conservation and management. Springer Science &
- Business Media. Peterken, G., 2000. Identifying ancient woodland using vascular plant indicators. British
- Wildlife 11 (3), 153-158. Peterken, G.F., Gai
- 11 (3), 153–156.
 F., Game, M., 1984. Historical factors affecting the number and distribution of the state of th 155-182.
- Peterken, G., Mountford, E., 2017. Woodland development: a long-term study of Lady Park Wood. CABI Wallingford 107 Park Wood. CABI, Wallingford, UK. Poore, A., 2016. Rushmore Estate Woods; management plan 2016-2026. Estate Office,
- Ore, A., 2016. Rusinnore Estate woods, management pain 2010-2018. Annual temanic Active State woods, Management pain 2010-2018. Annual temanic Active State Sta
- adoption? Forest Ecosyst. 2 (1), 1–16. https://www.education.com/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication/communication Rackham, O., 2008. Ancient woodlands: modern threats. New Phytol. 571-586.
- Rachham, O., 2006. Woodlands. Harper Collins UK. Rochel, X., 2015. 19 Forest Management and Species Composition: A Historical
- Approach in Lorraine, France. In: K.J. Kirby, C. Watkins (Eds.), Europe's Changing Woods and Forests: From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes, CABI (2015), pp 279 -289.
- Rodwell, J.S. (Ed.), 1998, British plant communities: volume 1, woodlands and scrub
- (Vol. 1). Cambridge University Press. eček, J., Vild, O., Sladký, J., Řepka, R., 2017. Habitat requirements of endangered species in a former Coppice of high conservation value. Folia Geobotanica 52 (1), 9-69.
- , 1999. Indicators of ancient woodland. British Wildlife, 10, 241-251. British
- Role, F., 1999. Indicators of ancient woodinand. Bittan Wildlife 10, 241-251. British Wildlife Publishing. Sage, R.B., Ludolf, C., Robertson, P.A., 2005. The ground flora of ancient semi-natural woodlands in pheasant release pens in England. Biol. Conserv. 122 (2), 243-252. Sanchez, C., 2017. Pro Silva Silviculture: Guidelines on Continuous Cover Porestry/Close
- to Nature Forestry Management Practices, Foret Wallonne, Namur, Belgium Schall, P., Heinrichs, S., 2020. Comment on "Forest microclimate dynamics drive plant
- responses to warming". Science 370 (6522). Short, I., Hawe, J., 2018. Ash dieback in Ireland-A review of European management
- options and case studies in remedial silviculture. Irish Forestry 75, 44–72.
 Spencer, J., 1990. Indications of antiquity: some observations of the nature of plants associated with ancient woodland. British Wildlife 2 (2), 90–102.
- Spencer, J.W., Kirby, K.J., 1992. An ancient woodland invertory for England and Wales Biol. Conserv. 62, 77–93.
 Susse, R., Allegrini, G., Bruciamacchie, M., Burrus, R., 2011. Management of Irregular
- Forests: developing the full potential of the forest. Association Futaie Irreguliere.
- Forestis developing the full potential of the forest, Association rutate irregulare, English translation P, Morgan, p. 144p. allow, K.A., Wood, M.J., Goodenough, A.E., 2020. Relative contribution of ancient woodland indicator and non-indicator species to herb layer distinctiveness in ancient semi-natural, ancient replanted, and recent woodland. Appl. Veg. Sci. 23 (4), 471-481.

- Szabó, P., 2010. Driving forces of stability and change in woodland structure: A case-study from the Czech lowlands. For. Ecol. Manage. 259 (3), 650–656.
 Tardella, F.M., Postiglione, N., Tavoloni, M., Catorci, A., 2019. Changes in species and functional composition in the herb layer of sub-Mediterranean Ostrya carpinifolia
- functional composition in the herb layer of sub-Mediterranean Ostrya carpinifolia abandoned coppices. Plant Ecol. 220 (11), 1043-1055.
 Tinya, F., Kovács, B., Prättälä, A., Farkas, P., Aszalós, R., Ódor, P., 2019. Initial understory response to experimental silvicultural treatments in a temperate oakdominated forest. Eur. J. Forest Res. 138 (1), 65-77.
 Van Galster, H., Baeten, L., Verheyen, K., De Keersmaeker, L., Dekeyser, S., Rogister, J.E., Hermy, M., 2006. Diverging effects of overstorey conversion scenarios on the understorey vegetation in a former Coppice-with-standards forest. For. Ecol. Manage. 256 (4), 519-528.
 Verheyen, K., Honnay, O., Motzkin, G., Hermy, M., Foster, D.R., 2003. Response of forest plant species to land-use change: a life-history trait-based approach. J. Ecol. 91 (4), 563-577.

Forest Ecology and Management 527 (2023) 120622

- Verheyen, K., Baeten, L., De Frenne, P., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Brunet, J., Cornelis, J., Decocq, G., Dierschke, H., Eriksson, O., Hedl, R., Heinken, T., 2012. Driving factors behind the eutrophication signal in understorey plant communities of deciduous temperate forests. J. Ecol. 100 (2), 352–365.
 von Oheimb, G., Härdde, W., 2009. Selection harvest in temperate deciduous forests: impact on herb layer richness and composition. Biodivers. Conserv. 18 (2), 271–287.
 von Oheimb, G., Westphal, C., Tempel, H., Härdde, W., 2005. Structural pattern of a new neural baeb forcer (Events winterio) (Service). North acc Genzon W. Borg. Ecol

- von Oheimb, G., Westphal, C., Tempel, H., Härdle, W., 2005. Structural pattern of a near-natural beech forest (Fagus sylvatica) (Serrahn, North-east Germany). For. Ecol. Manage. 212 (1-3), 253-263.
 Wickham, H., Chang, W., Wickham, M.H., 2016. Package 'ggplot2'. Create Elegant Data Visualisations Using the Grammar of Graphics. Version 2 (1), 1–189.
 Zellweger, F., De Frenne, P., Lenoit, J., Vangansbeke, P., Verheyen, K., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Baeten, L., Hédl, R., Berki, I., Brunet, J., Van Calster, H., 2020. Forest microclimate dynamics drive plant responses to warming. Science 368 (6492), 772–775. 772-775.

Table **S.1**. Measures using Domin score for ground flora % cover and conversion to mid-point value used in analysis.

Domin scores and	% range % Cover value equivalent
1	1.0
2	2.0
3	3.0
4 4-10%	7.5
5 11-25%	17.5
6 26-33%	29.0
7 34-50%	41.5
8 51-75%	62.5
9 76-90%	82.5
10 91-100%	95.0

Table **S.2** Vascular Plant Guilds (after Rackham, 2003, 2006) and other Vascular plants recorded at Rushmore. * Ancient woodland indicator plants, superscript letters refer to stand types where species was recorded; C - Coppice, I - Irregular, L - Limited intervention.

Spring perennial	Buried seed	Non Responsive
Anemone nemorosa* ^{CIL}	Ajuga reptans ^{CI}	Adoxa moschatellina* ^{CI}
Conopodium majus* ^{CIL}	Angelica sylvestris ^{CI}	Allium ursinum* ^{CIL}
Hyacinthoides non-scripta* ^{CIL}	Carex sylvatica* ^{CIL}	Arum maculatum ^{CIL}
Lamiastrum galeobdolon* ^{CIL}	Digitalis purpurea ^C	Athyrium filix-femina ^{IL}
Orchis mascula* ^{CIL}	Dactylis glomerata ^{CI}	Dryopteris affinis* ^{CIL}
Primula vulgaris* ^{CI}	Eupatorium cannabinum ^{CI}	Dryopteris dilatata ^{CIL}
Stellaria holostea* ^{CI}	Euphorbia amygdaloides* ^{CIL}	Dryopteris filix-mas ^{CIL}
	Ficaria verna ^{CIL}	Mercurialis perennis ^{CIL}
<u>Summer Perennial</u>	Fragaria vesca ^{CI}	
Brachypodium sylvaticum CIL	Galium aparine ^{CIL}	Other Species Recorded
Dactylorhiza fuchsii ^{CL}	Geranium robertianum ^{CIL}	Agrostis capillaris ^C
Deschampsia cespitosa ^{CIL}	Glechoma hederacea ^{CIL}	Astragalus glycophyllos ^C
Holcus mollis* ^C	Holcus lanatus ^I	Bromopsis ramosa* ¹
Galium odoratum* ^{CIL}	Hypericum androsaemum* ^{CL}	Carex flacca ^C
Listera ovata ^{CIL}	Hypericum hirsutum* ^{CIL}	Clematis vitalba ^{CIL}
Melica uniflora* ^{CIL}	Hypericum perforatum ^{CL}	Elymus caninus* ^L
Oxalis acetosella* ^{CIL}	Hypericum pulchrum ^C	Euonymus europaeus ^{CI}
Platanthera chlorantha* ^{CIL}	Juncus conglomeratus ^C	Festuca gigantea* ^{IL}
Pteridium aquilinum ^{CIL}	Juncus effusus ^{CI}	Lithospermum officinale ¹
Sanicula europaea* ^{CIL}	Luzula pilosa* ^C	Polystichum setiferum* ¹
Tamus communis* ^{CIL}	Lysimachia nemorum* ^{CI}	Primula veris ^{CI}
Viola reichenbachiana* ^{CIL}	Milium effusum ^{CIL}	Solanum dulcamara ^{CL}
Viola riviniana* ^{CIL}	Moehringia trinervia* ^{IL}	Veronica officinalis ^{CI}
	Myosotis arvensis ^C	Vicia sativa ^C
<u>Mobile</u>	Poa trivialis ^{CIL}	Vicia sepium ^L
Arctium sp. ^{CI}	Potentilla sterilis* ^{CIL}	Viola hirta ^C
Arrhenatherum elatius ^{CI}	Ranunculus repens ¹	
Circaea lutetiana ^{CIL}	Rubus fruticosus agg. ^{CIL}	
Cirsium arvense ^{CIL}	Rumex sanguineus ^{CI}	
Cirsium palustre ^{CI}	Scrophularia nodosa ^{CI}	
Cirsium vulgare ^{CI}	Silene dioica ^{IL}	
Epilobium montanum ^{CI}	Urtica dioica ^{CIL}	
Geum urbanum ^{CIL}	Valeriana officinalis ^C	
Stachys sylvatica ^{CI}	Veronica chamaedrys ^{CIL}	
Senecio jacobaea ^{CI}	Veronica montana ^I	
Taraxacum agg. ^{CIL}		

Footnote: Data collection for vascular plants took place between May and July 2016.

Table **S.3**. Habitat variables across stand type. Median values and range in parenthesis and results for mixed effect model with stand number as random factor for difference across stand type. All measured variables were percentage data analysed using Linear mixed effects model with arcsine transformation. Significant difference between paired stands indicated by letter (p < 0.05), L – Limited, I – Irregular and C – Coppice, values show whether comparison was positive or negative.

Habitat Variable	Limited	Irregular	Coppice	Р
Canopy openness	9.2 (7 -22) I	16.8 (7 - 40) L	9.4 (6 - 99)	0.038
Understorey density 0.5m	7.5 (0 - 81) IC	40 (3 - 100) L	54 (5 - 100) L	< 0.001
Understorey density 2m	16.3 (0 - 53) C	21.3 (0 - 69) C	60.6 (0 - 100) IL	< 0.001
Bramble	0.0 (0 - 6) I	29.1 (0 - 91) LC	3.6 (0 - 93) I	< 0.001
Bare Ground	35.7 (0 - 93) IC	0 (0 - 91) L	8.4 (0 - 57) L	< 0.001

AWI Species	Axis 1	Axis 2
Anemone nemorosa	0.156	0.412
Conopodium majus	0.162	0.281
Hyacinthoides non-scripta	0.069	0.141
Lamiastrum galeobdolon	0.254	0.318
Orchis mascula	0.166	0.191
Primula vulgaris	-0.023	0.063
Galium odoratum	0.110	0.001
Holcus mollis	0.225	0.094
Melica uniflora	-0.091	-0.211
Oxalis acetosella	-0.015	0.094
Platanthera chlorantha	0.167	0.066
Sanicula europaea	-0.016	0.120
Tamus communis	0.083	0.094
Viola reichenbachiana	0.020	0.132
Viola riviniana	-0.005	0.430
Carex sylvatica	0.165	0.259
Euphorbia amygdaloides	0.210	0.314
Hypericum androsaemum	0.042	0.130
Hypericum hirsutum	0.147	0.080
Lysimachia nemorum	0.101	0.330
Potentilla sterilis	0.158	0.352
Veronica montana	0.036	-0.110
Adoxa moschatellina	-0.018	-0.109
Allium ursinum	-0.079	-0.272
Dryopteris affinis	0.219	-0.044

Table S.4. Correlations between factor scores for PCA Axis 1 and 2 for AWI species
Chapter 4 Woodland Birds

4.1 Paper 2 Implications of transformation to irregular silviculture for woodland birds: A standwise comparison in an English broadleaf woodland

4.1.1 Background and Details of Authors Contributions

The following authors contributions are listed with their signatures.

Daniel Alder, Main Author: 90% Conceptualisation, Study design, Data collection of all field data on birds and habitat structural measures, Preparation of data and statistical analysis, writing, responding to Journal Editor and two reviewer's comments and re-wrote text prior to resubmission.

D.C. Alle

Prof. Robert Fuller - Advisor on analysis and comments on text

abort

Prof. Stuart Marsden – Principal Supervisor

Forest Ecology and Management 422 (2018) 69-78

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Forest Ecology and Management



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco

Implications of transformation to irregular silviculture for woodland birds: A stand wise comparison in an English broadleaf woodland



Daniel C. Alder^{a,b,*}, Robert J. Fuller^{c,d}, Stuart J. Marsden^b

^a Dorset Environmental Records Centre, Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP, UK
^b School of Science & the Environment, Manchester Metropolitan University, Chester Street, Manchester M1 5G versity, Chester Street, Manchester M1 5GD, UK

^e British Trust for Ornithology, The Nunnery, Thetford, Norfolk IP24 2PU, UK ^d School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich NR4 7TJ, UK

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords: Continuous cover forestry Semi-natural woodland Irregular silviculture Stand management Understorey characteristics Woodland bird communities Woodland birds in Britain have undergone significant long term declines since the late 1960s, associated in particular with changes in woodland structure in general, and loss of early successional vegetation. Irregular, continuous canopy broadleaf management is a form of selective logging, very recently adopted in UK that produces woodlands with open canopies and substantial mid- and understorey growth. We examined spring and late winter bird densities, estimated using distance sampling, at 310 points in irregular, transitional (that being managed towards irregular), limited intervention, and coppice stands within a large working broad-leaf woodland in lowland southern Britain. Almost all understorey and canopy vegetation measures differed significantly across stand types. Ten of 20 species had highest spring abundance in irregular woodland, five in coppice, three in transitional, and just two in limited intervention. In winter, 5-6 species preferred each of limited intervention, irregular and transitional, while no species preferred coppice. Densities differed little across seasons except in Paridae where abundances increased in late winter during which limited intervention stands were used more by this group. Birds generally occupied similar niche positions and had similar niche breadths across seasons. Compared to under-managed woodlands, irregular silviculture in UK's broadleaf woodlands is likely to enhance habitat quality for woodland birds, including several species of conservation concern e.g. marsh tit Poecile palustris which was twice as abundant in irregular stands as in any other stand type.

1. Introduction

Within the European forestry sector there is growing support for continuous cover forestry (CCF). These systems embrace a diversity of approaches but all seek to retain a continuous woodland cover, as opposed to large scale clear-felling (Mason et al., 1999; Mason, 2007). CCF systems, sometimes referred to as 'irregular forestry', are often advocated on the basis of having economic, ecosystem service and ecological advantages (Susse et al., 2011; Lõhmus et al., 2016; Pukkala et al., 2016). They form one strand of silvicultural alternatives to evenaged forestry which also include 'ecological forestry' or 'close-to-nature forestry' (Seymour & Hunter, 1999; Bürgi, 2015; Puettmann et al., 2015). All of these systems emphasise avoidance of clear-cutting, the use of mixtures of tree species, natural regeneration and small-scale structural variability (Puettmann et al., 2015). Improved understanding of the responses of biodiversity to a shift towards CCF from other systems such as clear-cutting and rotational coppicing (Harmer & Howe, 2003) have become increasingly important to forest managers

(Puettmann et al., 2015; Quine et al., 2007). Using an 'irregular' selective felling system, canopy opening is patchy and can resemble natural woodland processes, with canopy gaps leading to localised seedling regeneration, while developing a continuum of tree and shrub ages from young thicket stage to mature trees in each stand (Susse et al., 2011). This structure is expected to create a different range of ecological resources to those present within clear-felling and coppice systems with consequent shifts in the composition of bird communities (Quine et al., 2007; Fuller et al., 2012). In Europe there have been few comparisons of bird communities in stands managed under CCF with those in stands managed under other regimes, though more data are available for North America (see for example Forsman et al., 2010). In beech dominated woodlands in the Belgian Ardenne, bird abundances were higher in uneven stands compared with even-aged (du Bus de Warnaffe and Deconchat, 2008). However, the effects of stand composition (conifer vs broadleaf) were more explicitly demonstrated where management for uneven-aged conifer did not enhance bird diversity. Understorey development from conifer stands undergoing CCF

* Corresponding author at: Dorset Environmental Records Centre, Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP, UK. E-mail addresses: da.conservation@gmail.com (D.C. Alder), rob.fuller@bto.org (R.J. Fuller), s.mar u.ac.uk (S.J. Marsden)

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.04.004

Received 22 December 2017; Received in revised form 29 March 2018; Accepted 3 April 2018 Available online 11 April 2018

0378-1127/ © 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

management, important to several species of conservation concern, has highlighted the value of this management type in the UK (Calladine et al., 2015).

There is a more specific question concerning the wider adoption of new irregular forestry - can it assist in the recovery of declining woodland biodiversity? In the case of birds, several species of woodland birds in Britain have undergone striking contractions of range and decreases in abundance in recent decades. The species affected vary in taxonomy and ecology, though a disproportionately high number of long-distance migrants have declined (Hewson et al., 2007; Hewson & Noble, 2009; Fuller et al., 2013). There are several potential causes of these declines, one of which is reduction in habitat quality as a result of progressive shifts in woodland management that occurred during the 20th century (Fuller et al., 2007). Towards the end of that century much woodland had become heavily shaded, with associated reduction of understorey complexity, partly as a result of the demise of coppicing and partly due to canopy-closure in plantations within afforestation and existing broadleaf woodland (Hopkins & Kirby, 2007; Mason, 2007). Concurrently, numbers of deer also increased in Britain with similar consequences for woodland structure as lack of management (Gill & Fuller, 2007). These factors have led to interest in new regimes for woodland management that reflect both biodiversity concerns and which adapt to changes in woodland product demand (Fuller, 2013).

Britain lacks most of the specialist species dependent on late forest successional stages that can be found, for example, in eastern Europe and Fennoscandia where the conservation priority focuses mainly on retaining old forest stands (Wesołowski, 2005; Roberge et al., 2008). In Britain, however, the restoration of some form of woodland management including CCF Forestry, to unmanaged woods is widely regarded as potentially beneficial for conservation (Fuller et al., 2007). This reflects the fact that most unmanaged woodland does not consist of 'near natural' stands but is woodland that had formerly been harvested especially by a long tradition of coppicing (Buckley & Mills, 2015), and currently exists in a neglected often structurally homogenous condition (Peterken & Mountford, 2017; Mason, 2007). Therefore, woodland management, which we define here as sustainable harvesting of standing timber of varying age classes, may enhance habitat quality for a range of scarce and declining vertebrate and invertebrate species associated with early successional habitats; many of these species are ones that have been adapted to a very long history of human exploitation of British woodlands (Fuller, 2013; Hinsley et al., 2015). However, not all species may benefit from reintroducing coppicing, an example being marsh tit Poecile palustris (Broughton & Hinsley, 2015) and invertebrates that depend on features such as standing deadwood (Sterling & Hambler, 1988).

The results presented here provide, as far as we are aware, the first assessment of the responses of birds to CCF within temperate broadleaved stands in Europe. Our aim was to compare bird abundance and relevant vegetation attributes across four stand types in a large ancient semi-natural woodland: coppice; limited intervention (formedy managed, now neglected); irregular high forest; and transitional high forest. The latter consisted of stands undergoing initial management towards irregular. Having examined differences in habitat structure between these four broadleaf management types, we then compare bird densities both in spring and winter across stand types, and identify contrasts in habitat use across species and seasons.

2. Methods

2.1. Location and general description

The study was conducted on 442 ha broadleaf woodland and statutorily protected Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) spread across nine contiguous blocks on the Rushmore Estate, in southern England (110–190 m a.s.l; 395724.26 E, 117963.15 N; Fig. 1). The principal National Vegetation Classifications (NVC) are W8 (ash-field maple)

Forest Ecology and Management 422 (2018) 69-78

associated with base-rich soils with some W10 (oak-birch) on slightly acidic soils, that fall within the broad category of lowland mixed decidous woodlands on fertile soil with several sub-categories around the former (Rodwell et al., 1991, B. Edwards pers. comm., 2017). The dominant tree and shrub species are ash Fraxinus excelsior, pedunculate oak Quercus robur, field maple Acer campestre, silver birch Betula pendula, downy birch Betula pubescens, hazel Corylus avellana, spindle Euonymus europaeus, hawthorn Crataegus monogyna, sallow Salix cinerea, goat willow Salix caprea, dogwood Cornus sanguinea and blackthorn Prunus spinosa. There is scattered mature and veteran whitebeam Sorbus aria, and more locally distributed beech Fagus sylvatica and sycamore Acer pseudoplatanus. There are a significant number of veteran trees particularly of oak, ash and field maple along with whitebeam and 19th Century beech plantings (Poore, 2016).

2.2. Descriptions of stand types

The following broadleaf stand management types and prescriptions are described (A. Poore pers. comm. 2017; see Table 1 and Fig. 2).

'Limited intervention' stands were those with a closed canopy, high tree density, and limited understorey due to a long period (> 30 years) without formal silvicultural intervention. Some of the limited intervention stands have developed from open canopy high forest and have higher understorey densities.

'Coppice stands' have few canopy trees (< 10% canopy cover) and include both simple coppice and coppice with standards with up to 25% cover of standard trees. Coppice cycle lengths vary depending on uses with hazel dominated, (covering c.15 ha), cut every 8–12 years for hurdle fencing, thatching materials and bean poles. Birch coppice managed on two rotations of pure birch (c.19 ha) cut at 3–4 years for horse jumps or revetment faggots and the remaining 50 ha hazel-birch mix on 25–30 year cycles for wood fuel. (There was a broad representation of growth stages with a mean age of coppice during the study of 9.4 years (SD \pm 6.7) with 0–5 years (n = 25), 6–9 years (n = 37), 10–15 (n = 21), years and 15–30 years (n = 18)). At each cutting the entire panel between 0.5 and 1.5 ha of underwood is removed leading to even-aged regrowth (Harmer & Howe, 2003).

'Irregular High Forest stands' (continuous cover forestry) have been transformed from unmanaged coppice or even-aged stands to a selective irregular management for at least 30 years. This involves selective removal of harvestable trees, and of weaker growing specimens along with cutting of the understorey to increase light levels reaching the woodland floor. The aim is to increase incremental growth of retained trees to enhance their silvicultural and economic value, promote natural regeneration of trees and shrubs and establish a range of tree age classes. Selection of the trees best adapted to site conditions (phenotypes) is a key objective (Susse et al, 2011). Stands with 'moderate stocking' have stand basal areas (> 7.5 cm dbh) in the range 10–16 m² ha⁻¹. Understorey stocking varies with past management and the effects of deer, and can be dense in places yet patchily distributed.

'Transitional High Forest' stands are intermediate between coppice and irregular High Forest and are developing towards irregular from former coppice or even-aged high forest. Transitional stands have undergone initial interventions within the previous 10–20 years but are yet to develop the range of irregular stand elements i.e. mixed age and height classes of trees and saplings but often with a developed understorey. They are variable with regard to both canopy and understorey density. However, they broadly separate into two categories depending on whether large trees or pole-stage trees form the canopy (Poore, 2016).

2.3. Data collection

A plot-based stratified sampling approach was used (Bibby et al., 1998; Kent, 2012) for 310 plots derived from grid coordinates



Fig. 1. Location of Cranborne Chase and study area, above, Dorset-Wiltshire border, southern England, UK. Sampling points below within stand types; orange – coppice, blue – transitional high forest, yellow -limited intervention, and red – irregular high forest. © Natural England copyright 2012. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2012. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

Table 1

Areas of semi-natural broadleaved woodland stand types within the Rushmore Estate and number of sample plots where habitat structural measures and bird community data were collected.

Woodland type	Stand Type	Area (ha)	% Broadleaf Wood	Number of Sample plots
Semi-Natural	Irregular High	137.1	31	73
Broadleaved Woodland	Forest Transitional	97.4	22	75
woodrand	High Forest	97.4	22	/5
	Limited intervention	102	23	61
	Coppice	106.1ª	24	101
Total		442.6	100	310

^a Area in active rotation currently 85 ha.

generated in MapInfo version 12 (Pitney Bowes Ltd (2013)) representative of the four stand types. Plots were a minimum distance of 100 m apart to minimise duplication in counts of birds (Table 1). To reduce the influence of proximate habitats, plots were located a minimum distance of 30 m from stand edges (Bibby et al., 2000). Each plot consisted of a 30 m diameter circle (0.07 ha) with five subplots of 3 m diameter within each (four located at the cardinal points at 10 m radii (see Hansen & Hounihan, 1995) and one at 2 m off-centre along a random compass bearing.

Within 30 m plots, the following habitat measurements were made: number of trees > 50 cm dbh, number of woody stems (coppice and individual trees) of dbh 7.5- \leq 17.5 cm and 17.5- \leq 50 cm dbh, and the five trees with the largest dbh. These five were identified to species and mean dbh also calculated. At each 3 m subplot, the number of saplings and coppice stems < 3 cm, and > 3-7.5 cm dbh were counted if > 0.5 m tall. Percentage canopy openness was measured with a spherical convex mirror densiometer (Lemmon, 1956). Basal area (m² ha⁻¹) was measured at each plot centre using the relascope principle (Bitterlich, 1984) with each tree > 7.5 cm dbh counted in a 360° sweep at each



Fig. 2. Examples of stand types used in study shown clockwise from top left; limited intervention, coppice, transitional and irregular.

sample point centre. A minimum number of ten trees are required to give precision (Bitterlich, 1984). The relascope application MOTI was used (Rosset et al., 2014), calibrated for the basal area factor and camera in a Samsung Galaxy S2 smart-phone. To calculate understorey density, a percentage score of obscuration to the nearest 5% was estimated at each cardinal point using a 50×30 cm chequer board with 10×10 cm squares (Fuller & Henderson, 1992). Scores were taken at 0.5 m and 2.0 m above ground to assess variation at different levels. Dead trees and dead branches (snags) over 20 cm diameter were counted at each plot (Charman et al., 2010). Percentage means were calculated at each plot for bramble *Rubus fruticosus* cover and area of bare ground.

Bird occurrence and abundance was recorded using 5 min point counts (Bibby et al., 2000) at the 310 survey plots across three visit periods: early spring (28 April to 16 May 2014), late spring (21 May to 13 June 2014) and late winter (10 February to 12 March 2015). Counts started one hour after sunrise and completed by 09h30 for the spring visits, and 11h00 for winter visits. Counts took place during fine weather avoiding periods of persistent rain and wind (Bibby et al., 1998). The distance to each bird or group on first encounter was measured using a laser rangefinder and distances were estimated to singing/calling birds obscured by vegetation. Birds beyond 50 m of the plot centre were ignored, as were birds flying into or over the plot. Birds flying away were only recorded if they were believed to be 'within' the plot, and the distance to their original position could be measured (Buckland, 2006). All fieldwork was carried out by DA.

2.4. Data analyses

Given the spatial arrangement of woodland stands (Fig. 1), it is reasonable to expect some non-independence of sampled survey plots because they are nested within 53 stands. These stands have their own ecological signature, arising both from their geography and its effect on soil, isolation etc, but also through their history of management. The issue of pseudoreplication has received much attention from ecologists and statisticians (e.g. Hurlbert, 1984), with a great deal of debate as to how important the issue is, and how to best address it (Oksanen, 2001; Davies & Gray, 2015).

In an attempt to overcome the effect of non-independence in the across stand type habitat analysis, we "partialled out" the unwanted effect of stand number (the random effect; Davies & Gray, 2015). Differences in individual habitat measures were tested across stand type (the Fixed effect) using a generalised linear mixed model in package "lme4" with Stand number (1–35) as a random factor. The significance of the fixed effect and random effect were calculated using the ANOVA in "lmerTest", along with Tukey's post hoc pairwise comparisons across stand types.

In the bird density analysis, we did not consider stand number as a factor for two reasons. First, points were spaced 100 m apart and positioned in stands which themselves were often just 100–300 m long/wide and usually less than a few hundred metres from each other (Fig. 1). Second, numbers of survey points per stand were fairly even (mean = 5.7 ± 3.9 SD) with only five of the 53 stands having more than ten survey points. Any issue in pseudoreplication in the Distance analysis due to two visits to each survey point in the Summer are accounted for in the analysis by lumping data from the two visits to each point under 'effort = 2'.

To compare across stand types, density estimates (individuals $\rm km^{-2}$), coefficients of variation (% SE) and 95% confidence limits were produced in DISTANCE version 6, (Thomas et al., 2010). Data were truncated removing the furthest 5% of bird records to minimise the influence of outliers in the model. Data were entered as groups with 'exact' distances to encounters, with encounters of flying birds removed. Detection functions for spring and winter were very different, reflecting both the profound changes in visual detectability caused by leaf-fall in the largely deciduous woodland, and changes in vocalisation patterns between breeding and non-breeding seasons. While covariates (see below) can be added to alter parameters in the detection function to account for variation in vegetation coverage across plots but within season, we thought it safer to conduct separate seasonal analyses as the

actual family of detection model (e.g. Uniform, Half-normal) was likely to differ between spring and winter. The Multiple Covariate Distance Sampling (MCDS) engine was used with understorey density included as a covariate likely to influence detection probability (Marques et al., 2007). Density estimates for each species in each stand type were compared using ANOVA (seasons analysed separately) and significant differences between pairs of stand types identified with Tukey's range tests.

Principal components analysis (PCA) was used to condense the habitat variables onto two component axes/factors (Jolliffe, 2002) and centroids for stand type and each bird species plotted on these axes. The differences between mean 'niche positions' (coordinates of plots at which each bird species was recorded) on factors 1 and 2 in spring and winter were tested using Wilcoxon matched pairs tests. Niche widths of species on the two factor axes were calculated as the standard deviations of Factor 1 and 2 scores for 'positive' plots for each species. We then examined any widening or narrowing of habitat associations between seasons (Lloyd & Marsden, 2008).

3. Results

3.1. Habitat differences between stand types

Thirteen of the 17 vegetation habitat variables differed significantly across stand types (Table 2). Only dbh of largest tree, number of oak and dbh < 50 cm did not differ significantly between stands. There was a higher frequency of deadwood snags in irregular but this was not a significant fixed effect. Understorey densities were highest in coppice and irregular with coppice having markedly higher density at 2.0 m. Bramble cover was highest in irregular while the area of bare-ground was significant in limited intervention. Basal areas were lowest in both irregular and coppice compared to limited intervention and transitional stands. Canopy openness was much greater in irregular plots than in other stands.

3.2. Bird densities across stand types and season

Across the 310 points, we accumulated 4994 bird records of 38 species. We calculated density estimates for 16 resident species and four spring migrants (Table 3). Three from the 20 species went unrecorded in limited intervention stands, and two of the species were spring migrants (willow warbler *Phylloscopus trochilus* and garden warbler *Sylvia borin*). Six and five species had density estimates > 100 individuals km⁻² in at least one stand type in spring and winter respectively. Blue

tit Cyanistes caeruleus and wren Troglodytes troglodytes had estimates > 100 individuals km⁻² in all stand types in spring, and blue tit and great tit Parus major in all stand types in Winter.

The mean variation in densities across stand types in spring (the percentage difference between pairs of stand wise densities) was $31.2\% \pm 23.0$ (SD; n = 96). For winter, variation was $29.8\% \pm 20.8$ (n = 96), these figures not differing significantly (W = 4640, p = 0.94). There were significant differences in across-stand densities for twelve species in spring and six in winter (Table 3). Ten species had highest spring density estimates in Irregular stands, with seven of these being significantly higher than in Low intervention stands, and three being significantly higher than in both transitional and coppice. Marsh tit Poecile palustris and all four summer warblers had significantly higher densities in irregular over limited intervention. Coppice had five species with highest spring densities, and these included three of the four migrant warblers. All five species occurred in densities within coppice that were significantly higher than in limited intervention, transitional, or both. There were far fewer significant differences in densities across stand types in winter. Irregular stands had higher densities of four species than coppice, limited intervention, or both, while transitional was significant compared to coppice for two species.

3.3. Habitat gradients and bird niche positions from ordination

PCA identified two woodland structural gradients which accounted for 44.3% of the variance within 15 original habitat variables (Fig. 3). Factor axis 1 represented a gradient from open canopy mainly oak woodland with scattered large trees (> 50 cm dbh) associated with irregular stands to more closed woodland with relatively high tree and stem density aligned closely to limited intervention stands. These denser woodlands were composed of small saplings and shoots (3–7 cm dbh), small to medium (7–17.5 cm dbh), and larger (17.5–50 cm) trees. Factor 2 was associated with greater understorey density at both 0.5 m and 2.0 m height and had high density of stems (< 3 cm dbh) associated with coppice stands. These variables are negatively correlated with high scores for medium-large diameter sized trees within limited intervention stands.

The majority of bird species were associated with either coppice-like plots (dense understorey; top-left quadrant of Fig. 3) or irregular-type plots (open canopy; bottom-left quadrant). Garden warbler and willow warbler were particularly associated with coppice, and treecreeper *Certhia familiaris*, blue tit and chaffinch with irregular-type stands. Woodpigeon *Columba palumbus* was the only species strongly associated with dense plots characteristic of limited intervention management.

Table 2

Median values of habitat variables measured across the four stand types; lower and upper quartiles in parenthesis and results of ANOVA tests for random effects (stand number) and fixed effects (stand type) Pairwise comparisons usingTukey's *post-hoc* test, for stands; C - coppice, I - Irregular, L - Limited intervention and T - Transitional; those in bold are highly significant P < 0.005.

Habitat Variable	Coppics	e (n 101)	Irregula	ır (n 73)	Limited	(n 61)	Transiti	on (n 75)	Random	Fixed
Basal Area	18.0	(11-22) L	18.0	(15-22) L	29.0	(24-33) T	22.0	(18-27) L	0.001	< 0.001
Canopy Openness	10.4	(8-19)	21.3	(14-29) L	9.9	(8-14)1	10.9	(8-21)	0.001	0.05
Mean dbh	36.0	(24-49) 1	50.6	(44-56) C	42.8	(34-53)	39.4	(34-50)	0.001	0.001
Largest dbh	61.0	(46-79)	71.0	(58-82)	67.0	(52-83)	62.0	(51-70)	0.02	0.07
No. Oak	1.0	(0-2)	1.0	(0-2)	0.0	(0-0)	1.0	(0-2)	0.001	0.10
No. Ash	1.0	(0-2) I L	3.0	(2-4) C	2.0	(1-3) C	2.0	(1-4)	0.001	0.002
No. deadwood snags	8.0	(4-12)	13.0	(7-17)	8.0	(6-12)	8.0	(6-16)	0.001	0.07
Logs (m) per plot	0.0	(0-4) L	0.0	(0-4)	3.0	(0-8) C	1.0	(0-4)	0.001	0.02
Understorey density 0.5 m	48.0	(25-85) L T	56.0	(19-75) L T	7.0	(3-22) C 1	20.0	(11-36) I C	0.001	< 0.001
Understorey density 2 m	52.5	(30-76) I L T	23.8	(8-39) C	13.8	(5-28) C	17.5	(9-28) C	0.001	< 0.001
No. stems $\leq 3 \text{cm dbh}$	9.2	(5-18) I L T	2.8	(1-7) C	0.6	(0-2) C	5.4	(2-10) C	0.001	< 0.001
No. stems 3-7.5 cm dbh	3.2	(1-7) I L	0.2	(0-1) C	0.8	(1-2) C	2.2	(0-4)	0.001	< 0.001
No. trees 7.5-17.5 cm dbh	9.0	(1-39) L	9.0	(1-21) L	69.0	(43-88) CIT	21.0	(7-59) L	0.001	< 0.001
No. trees 17.5-50 cm dbh	2.0	(0-4) L T	5.0	(2-7) L	11.0	(5-16) I C	7.0	(3-12) C	0.001	< 0.001
No. trees ≥ 50 cm dbh	1.0	(0-2)	2.0	(1-3) C T L	2.0	(1-3)	1.0	(1-2)	0.001	0.10
Bramble% cover	2.8	(0-19) 1	30.0	(5-56) C T L	0.0	(0-4) I	0.0	0-71	0.001	< 0.001
Bare ground%	8.4	(0-29) 1	1.4	(0-12) L	26.0	(13-59) I	12.6	(6-35)	0.001	0.008

Table 3

Density estimates (individuals $km^{-2} \pm CV$), 95% confidence intervals and numbers of encounters for resident and spring migrant woodland birds by season and stand type. Results of Tukey's Range Test pairwise comparisons of density across stand types, where > indicates pairs differ at P < 0.05 and > > P < 0.005. Direction of sign denotes which density estimate is larger. C = coppice; I = irregular; L = limited intervention; T = transitional.

	Spring				Winter			
	Coppice	Irregular	Limited intervention	Transitional	Coppice	Irregular	Limited Intervention	Transitional
Woodpigeon	60.1 ± 10	32.4 ± 17	74.2 ± 12	66.0 ± 11	17.0 ± 35	20.0 ± 33	38.1 ± 22	47.2 ± 21
Columba palumbus	49–73(86) > I	23-45(33)	59–94(62) > I	53-82(71) > I	9-33(12)	10-39(10)	25-59(16)	31-71(25) > C
Great spotted	10.4 ± 27	12.7 ± 31	7.1 ± 47	9.2 ± 34	5.4 ± 50	19.0 ± 34	22.8 ± 30	16.2 ± 36
Woodpecker Dendrocopos major	6-18(15)	7-23(13)	3-17(6)	5-18(10)	2-14(4)	10-36(10)	13-41(10)	8-33(9)
Goldcrest	25.9 ± 27	27.2 ± 29	27.7 ± 32	60.1 ± 19	48.8 ± 28	68.8 ± 30	93.3 ± 27	47.9 ± 30
Regulus regulus	15-44(16)	16-48 (12)	15-51(10)	4287(28) > C I	28-84(15)	38-124(15)	55-159(17)	27-86(11)
Blue tit	124.7 ± 12	135.1 ± 13	129.4 ± 15	120.5 ± 14	173.3 ± 10	244.5 ± 9	197.7 ± 13	200.5 ± 11
Cyanistes caeruleus	99–158(66)	115-175(51)	96-174(40)	92-158(48)	142-211(74)	206-290(74) > C	153-255(50)	161-249(64)
Great tit	92.4 ± 22	115.2 ± 24	128.9 ± 24	86.4 ± 25	155.9 ± 19	182.1 ± 20	236.0 ± 19	194.2 ± 22
Parus major	61-141(27)	72-184(24)	81-206(22)	53-141(19)	107-228(29)	123-269(24)	163-343(26)	126-299(27)
Coal tit	22.5 ± 24	27.0 ± 24	9.2 ± 45	17.1 ± 30	17.3 ± 43	59.3 ± 25	62.6 ± 26	66.1 ± 24
Periparus ater	14-36(21)	17-44(18)	4-22(5)	10-30(12)	8-39(7)	36-96(17)	37-105(15)	41-105(20) > C
Marsh tit	65.1 ± 21	122.8 ± 19	53.8 ± 27	34.9 ± 29	63.1 ± 22	76.4 ± 24	86.3 ± 27	68.4 ± 23
Poecile palustris	43-99(29)	86-176(39) > C L T	32-91(14)	20-63(12)	41-96(21)	48-122(18)	51-146(17)	43-108(17)
Long-tailed Tit	66.0 ± 36	56.5 ± 46	0	33.5 ± 50	77.7 ± 37	65.7 ± 45	78.7 ± 44	41.6 ± 53
Aegithilos caudatus	33-130(13) > L	24-133(8) > L	0	13-86(5) > L	39-157(10)	28-153(6)	34-182(6)	15-112(4)
Chiffchaff	98.4 ± 11	82.5 ± 14	34.9 ± 23	35.0 ± 21				
Phylloscopus collybita	80–122(82) > > L T	63–108(49) > L T	23-55(17)	23-52(22)				
Willow Warbler	19.3 ± 62	5.4 ± 89	0	3.0 ± 113				
Phylloscopus trochilus	7-64(10) > L	1-25(2) > L	0	0.5-16(1) > L				
Blackcap Sylvia atricapilla	101.1 ± 12 81-127(79) > L T	120.2 ± 13 94–154(67) > > L T	50.4 ± 21 33-77(23)	49.3 ± 19 34–71(29)				
Garden Warbler	30.3 ± 20	18.9 ± 28	0	7.4 ± 38				
Sylvia borin	21-45(38) > L T	11-33(17) > L	0	4-15(7) > L				
Nuthatch	24.4 ± 32	31.4 ± 35	27.9 ± 37	29.7 ± 33	20.8 ± 23	29.4 ± 24	37.3 ± 21	29.6 ± 23
Sitta europaea	9-32(16)	16-61(16)	14-57(17)	16-56(17)	13-33(16)	18-47(16)	25-56(17)	19-47(17)
Treecreeper	9.4 ± 32	30.2 ± 21	25.6 ± 25	21.1 ± 24	20.4 ± 31	48.9 ± 22	34.4 ± 33	24.6 ± 32
Certhia familiaris	5–18(10)	20-46(23) > C	16-41(16)	13-34(17)	11-37(10)	31-76(17)	18-66(10)	13-46(9)
Wren	108.6 ± 8	221.6 ± 6	148.0 ± 8	180.1 ± 8	77.9 ± 15	163.5 ± 13	88.7 ± 19	106.6 ± 18
Troglodytes troglodytes	92-128(121)	195–252(176) > > C L	126-172(96)	154-211(1 5 1) > > C	58-105(43)	126-212(64) > > C > L	62-128(29)	74–153(44)
Blackbird	56.2 ± 10	53.6 ± 12	46.9 ± 14	63.2 ± 11	60.1 ± 16	82.4 ± 19	31.0 ± 28	49.2 ± 21
Turdus merula	46-68(78)	43-68(53)	36-62(38)	51-79(66)	44-83(36)	56-121(35) > L	18-54(11)	33-74(22)
Song thrush	29.2 ± 15	24.0 ± 19	11.0 ± 36	24.6 ± 18	24.3 ± 24	21.7 ± 27	19.5 ± 31	27.4 ± 23
Turdus philomelos	22-39(41) > L	17-35(24)	6-22(9)	17-35(26)	15-39(19)	13-37(12)	11-36(9)	18-43(16
Robin	134.0 ± 9	87.9 ± 13	132.6 ± 12	150.3 ± 10	80.9 ± 13	76.1 ± 15	96.1 ± 14	104.2 ± 11
Erithacus rubecula	112-161(109)	68-114(51)	106-167(61)	125–182(92) > I	62-105(54)	56-103(36)	73-127(38)	83-131(52)
Dunnock	51.8 ± 20	61.9 ± 22	20.9 ± 40	26.3 ± 29	67.3 ± 23	107.6 ± 20	15.1 ± 50	57.0 ± 27
Prunella modularis	35-77(34)	40-96(29)	10-45(8)	15-46(13)	43-105(30)	72–160(34) > L	6-39(4)	34-97(19)
Chaffinch	16.1 ± 20	29.8 ± 17	25.3 ± 22	19.7 ± 21	26.7 ± 23	25.2 ± 24	23.7 ± 31	35.8 ± 22
Fringilla coelebs	11-24(25)	22-41(34)	17-39(23)	13-30(23)	17-42(21)	16-41(14)	13-43(11)	23-55(21)

There was no systematic pattern of seasonal niche position shifts across species (Fig. 4a; F1: V = 64, p = 0.85, n = 16; F2: V = 51, p = 0.40, n = 16). Five species 'shifted' to increasingly open woodland in winter notably dunnock, already associated with open woodland, and wren associated with dense understorey. Great spotted woodpecker *Dendrocopos major* showed the greatest niche position shift, being associated with open woodland and dense understorey in spring and closed canopy plots (limited intervention) in winter. There was no significant increase or decrease in niche breadths between spring and winter (F1: V = 35, p = 0.10, n = 16 F2: V = 38, p = 0.13, n = 16) (Fig. 4b).

4. Discussion

4.1. Differences between stand types

There were clear differences between stand types in both bird communities and woodland structure. Unlike other stand types, irregular management was characterised by more open woodland with larger trees, developing understorey and an uneven mix of tree ages. Spring bird densities were highest or second highest in irregular for 15 of the 20 species examined. In contrast, limited intervention had the



Fig. 3. Ordination of sample plots on PCA Factors 1 and 2 with vectors showing contribution of individual habitat variables. Ordinations show mean positions of stand management types and bird species during the spring. B – blackbird, BC – blackcap, BT – blue tit, CH – chaffinch, CC, chiffchaff, CT – coal tit, D – dunnock, GC – goldcrest, GS – great spotted woodpecker, GT – great tit, GW – garden warbler, LT – long-tailed tit, MT – marsh tit, NH – nuthatch, R – robin, ST – song thrush, TC – treecreeper, WP – woodpigeon, WR – wren, WW – willow warbler. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

lowest or second lowest spring densities for 14 of 20 species, with notably low abundances for species, such as the warblers, that require complex understorey structures. There were generally low numbers of warblers in transitional stands suggesting the understorey was insufficiently developed. As expected from previous studies in the UK, three of four summer migratory warbler species had highest densities in coppice (e.g. Fuller & Henderson, 1992; MacColl et al., 2014) but all had second highest densities in irregular stands with blackcap *Sylvia atricapilla* more abundant. In winter, for all species, the highest abundances occurred in irregular, transitional and limited intervention stands, although there were fewer differences in bird abundances between stand types than in spring.

Previous European studies of birds in CCF stands have generated mixed findings although importantly these are not in pure broadleaf woodlands as in our study. Working in spruce plantations in upland Britain, Calladine et al. (2015) found that most 'mature forest' bird species reached higher abundance in CCF than in rotational clear-fells. However, in Belgium, du Bus de Warnaffe and Deconchat (2008) reported that in beech and conifer forests, no clear differences in bird communities were evident between CCF and clear-cut systems. In North America, a meta-analysis by Forsman et al. (2010) found that silviculture creation of small gaps did not result in clear negative impacts on bird communities relative to unlogged forest.

4.2. Seasonal differences

There were fewer differences between bird densities across stand

types in winter than in spring, presumably because resource use patterns differ in the former and latter (Fuller et al., 2012). In winter, many species, especially titmice, Paridae, nuthatch Sitta europaea and treecreeper become increasingly mobile, gleaning insect larvae from bark and buds in stands with higher tree density (Fuller, 1995). In our study, this group of birds associated least with coppice in winter. Previous studies have shown these resident species use a broader range of woodland habitats in winter (Bilcke, 1984). Although we did not look at demographic variation in our study it is known that several species differ in their seasonal responses to understorey age, coppice especially, depending on whether they are adults or juveniles (MacColl et al., 2014). Four species (blue tit, blackbird Turdus merula, wren and dunnock Prunella modularis) had significantly higher winter densities in irregular than in limited intervention stands. For those species associated with foraging close to the woodland floor, it seems likely that the denser understorey of irregular stands provides increased protection from predation risk and thermal variation (Holt et al., 2014). Although we found no statistically significant niche shifts from spring to winter for resident species, there were a few notable changes in habitat/niche use. Wren and dunnock were both significantly more abundant in irregular stands during the breeding season, and this association strengthened during the winter, presumably as they sought increased protection in the denser shrub-layer. Bramble Rubus fruticosus cover was significantly higher in irregular stands and contributed to the understorey density values at 0.5 m above ground which was strongly associated with this stand type in our study. Winter marsh tit densities were highest in limited intervention, although its density in irregular stands



Fig. 4. Spring and winter niche characteristics for resident woodland birds. a. niche position shifts from spring (letter codes; see Fig. 3.) to Winter – (blue points); b. niche breadth changes from Spring to Winter on Factor 1 and Factor 2 scores left and right respectively. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

were only a little lower, perhaps reflecting a widening of home range and differential use of habitats between the breeding and winter periods (Broughton et al., 2014). This is likely to be true of several species although there was little evidence of systematic movement of niches. Great spotted woodpecker was associated with open woodland during spring (see Calladine et al., 2015) and moved into stands with a greater abundance of fallen deadwood, closed canopy and higher basal area in

winter.

4.3. Implications for woodland bird conservation

We are unaware of any similar research in lowland broadleaved woodland in Britain or Europe where stands have undergone a transformation to an irregular high-forest management system, a type of

CCF. Taken overall, the findings suggest that irregular forestry can provide suitable woodland habitats for a high proportion of bird species in lowland British woodland, especially in spring, and that for some species it may even provide preferred habitats. In combination with previous studies referred to above, our research suggests that CCF is likely to be either beneficial or neutral in terms of its effects on bird communities. However, two important caveats should be acknowledged. Firstly, the effects may be context dependent according to region, forest type and the exact stand types being compared. Secondly, some early successional bird species may prefer either coppice or young clear-fells which can provide larger areas of young-growth than are found with CCF (Calladine et al., 2015). For example, in our study we found tree pipit Anthus trivialis exclusively in recent clear-fell gaps outside of the stand types under question.

The value of coppicing to early successional birds and other species associated with dense understorey is well documented (Fuller & Warren, 1991; Fuller, 1992; MacColl et al., 2014) while it has a strong cultural association with many ancient semi-natural woods such as those found in Cranborne Chase (Rackham, 1990; A. Poore pers. comm., 2017). Other than government grant-funding targeted at sites of high nature conservation value, woodfuel production is likely to be the main economic driver sustaining coppice management (Fuller, 2013; Buckley & Mills, 2015). However, irregular stand management as a more widely economically viable system appears to provide resources for most woodland birds associated with both understorey and old growth here in southern England. Furthermore, proponents of CCF point out the multiple benefits it can offer in terms of meeting sustainability measures (Bürgi, 2015).

No single silvicultural system can provide the preferred habitat of all woodland birds. In practice, therefore, a conservation strategy that embraces a dynamic range of management interventions is desirable to enhance habitat heterogeneity and complexity at varying spatial and temporal scales (Fuller et al., 2007; 2012, MacColl et al., 2014). Irregular CCF forestry clearly has the potential to play an important role in developing this heterogeneity. However, there is a question about whether it can meet the requirements of all early successional species. In this respect, further work is needed to assess how varying gap sizes and canopy openings within different variants of CCF affect biodiversity (Puettmann et al., 2015).

Finally, the results of this study support the notion that in a British context, management of neglected woodland benefits the numbers of many woodland bird species. Both the irregular stands and the coppiced stands held higher densities of breeding birds than the limited intervention stands, typical of much neglected woodland in lowland Britain. Restoration of such stands to a structurally more complex state through opening up the canopy to stimulate the understorey would be beneficial and, if conducted on a sufficiently large scale, could potentially assist in the recovery of some woodland bird populations at a regional level. In this context, it is notable that the spring abundance of marsh tit in irregular stands was approximately twice that in the other stand types. Broughton and Hinsley (2015) cautioned that large scale management by coppicing could be detrimental to habitat quality for this species, but it appears that irregular stand management may benefit it, though more research is needed to draw firm conclusions. An integrated approach to forest management which incorporates stand-level targets to attain biodiversity attributes e.g. deadwood, as shown by Susse et al (2011) is an exciting option; particularly if it can be adapted to include measures that provide important functional resources used by woodland birds in the UK including those associated with understorey.

Acknowledgements

Andy Poore (Consultant Forest Manager) provided background information on stand management and suitable locations for the study. Ian Burt (Rushmore Estate), Rhiannon Rogers and Jon Corkill (Dorset Environmental Records Centre) helped with fieldwork and GIS support respectively. For access to the woodlands we are grateful to the Trustees of the Rushmore Estate and particularly support from the managing agents Philip Gready and Ruth Mason, along with the gamekeepers Andy Taylor and Robert Taylor and coppice woodman Don Taylor for their practical assistance. We are particularly grateful to Dr Annabel King for the recommendation and assistance given during the planning stages. The fieldwork was funded by the Golden Bottle Trust, Henry Hoare Charitable Trust and Forestry Commission (England). The study formed part of a multi-taxon study of the effects of transformation of broadleaf woodland overseen by Dr Phil Sterling (Dorset County Council) and Andy Poore. There are no declarations of conflicts of interests.

References

- Bibby, C.J., Marsden, S., Jones, M., 1998. Bird Surveys. Expedition Advisory Centre. Bibby, C.J., Burgess, N.D., Hill, D.A., Mustoe, S.H., 2000. Bird Census Techniques, second ed. Academic Press, UK,
- Bilcke, G., 1984. Seasonal changes in habitat use of resident passerines. Ardea 72 (1),
- Bitterlich, W., 1984. The Relascope Idea. Relative Measurements in Forestry.
- Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux. Broughton, R., Hinsley, S., 2015. The ecology and conservation of the Marsh Tit in Britain, British Birds 108 (1), 12–28.
- Broughton, R. K., Bellamy, P.E., Hill, R.A., Hinsley, S.A., 2014. Winter habitat selection by Marsh Tits Poecile palustris in a British woodland. Bird Study 61 (3), 404–412. Buckland, S.T., 2006. Point-transect surveys for songbirds: robust methodologies. Auk 123 (2), 345-357.
- Buckley, P., Mills, J., 2015. The Flora and Fauna of Coppice Woods: Winners and Losers of Active Management or Neglect? Europe's Changing Woods and Forests: From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes, CABI, Wallingford, UK, pp. 129–139.
- Bürgi, M., 2015. Close-to-nature forestry. In: Kirby, K., Watkins, C. (Eds.), Europe's Changing Woods and Forests: from Wildwood to Managed Landscapes. CABI,
- Wallingford, UK, pp. 107–115.
 Calladine, J., Bray, J., Broome, A., Fuller, R.J., 2015. Comparison of breeding bird as
- semblages in conifer plantations managed by continuous cover forestry and clear-
- actionages in Contrast plannatory informations over interest plan center felling. For. Ecol. Manage. 344, 20–29.
 arman, E.C., Smith, K.W., Gruar, D.J., Dodd, S., Grice, P.V., 2010. Characteristics of woods used recently and historically by Lesser Spotted Woodpeckers Dendrocopos minor in England. Ibis 152 (3), 543–555.
- Davies, G.M., Gray, A., 2015. Don't let spurious accusations of pseudoreplication limit our ability to learn from natural experiments (and other messy kinds of ecological monitoring). Ecol. Evol. 5, 5295-5304.
- du Bus de Warnaffe, G., Deconchat, M. 2008. Imnact of four silvicultural systems on birds in the Belgian Ardeme: implications for biodiversity in plantation forests. Biodive Conserv. 17, 1041–1055.
- Forsman, J.T., Reunanen, P., Jokimaki, J., Monkkonen, M., 2010. The effects of sn Scale disturbance on forest birds: a meta-analysis. Can. J. For. Res. 40, 1833–1842.
 Fuller, R.J., 1992. Effects of coppice management on woodland breeding birds. In: Buckley, G.P. (Ed.), Ecology and Management of Coppice Woodlands. Chapman &
- Hall, London, pp. 169-192.
 Fuller, R.J., 2013. Searching for biodiversity gains through woodfuel and forest management. J. Appl. Ecol. 50 (6), 1295–1300.
 Fuller, R.J., Gillings, S., Lauder, A.W., Crowe, O., 2013. Pattern and change in the British
- and Irish avifaunas over a 40 year period, In: Balmer, D.E., Gillings, S., Caffrey, B.J., Swann, R.L., Downie, I.S., Fuller, R.J. (Eds.), Bird Atlas 2007–11: The Breeding and Wintering Birds of Brittain and treland. BTO Books, Thetford, pp. 115–146, Fuller, R.J., Henderson, A.C.B., 1992. Distribution of breeding songbirds in Bradfield
- ods, Suffolk, in relation to vegetation and coppice management. Bird Study 39 (2), We 73 88
- Fuller, R.J., 1995. Bird Life of Woodland and Forest. Cambridge University Press,
- Cambridge. Fuller, R.J., Smith, K.W., Grice, P.V., Gurrie, F.A., Quine, C.P., 2007. Habitat change and d birds in Britain: implications for management and future research. Ibis 149 (Suppl.), 261-268.
- (Sulpra), 201-200.
 Fuller, R.J., Smith, K.W., Hinsley, S.A., 2012. Temperate western European woodland as a dynamic environment for birds: a resource-based view. In: Fuller, R.J. (Ed.), Birds and Habitat: Relationships in Changing Landscapes. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 352-380.
- Cambridge, pr. 532–365.
 Fuller, R.J., Warren, M.S., 1991. Conservation management in ancient and modern woodlands: responses of fauna to edges and rotations. In: Spellerberg, I.F., Goldsmith, F.B., Morris, M.G. (Eds.), The Scientific Management of Temperate Communities for Conservation. British Ecological Society 31st Symposium. Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 445 471.

- Ecol. Monogr. 54, 187–211.
 Hansen, A.J., Hourihan, P., 1995. Canopy retention and avian diversity in the Oregon Cascades. In: Szaro, R.J. Johnston, D.W. (Eds.), Biodiversity in managed landscaper theory and practice. Oxford University Press, London, U.K., pp. 401–421.

Harmer, R., Howe, J., 2003. The Silviculture and Management of Coppice Woodlands. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh, UK. Hewson, C.M., Amar, A., Lindsell, J.A., Thewlis, R.M., Butler, S., Smith, K., Fuller, R.J.,

- 2007. Recent changes in bird populations in British broadleaved woodland. Ibis 149
- 2007. Recent changes in bird populations in British broadleaved woodland, 1015 1477 (Suppl. 2), 14–28.
 Hewson, C.M., Noble, D.G., 2009. Population trends of breeding birds in British woodlands over a 32-year period: relationships with food, habitat use and migratory behaviour. Ibis 151, 464–486.
 Hinsley, S.A., Fuller, R.J., Ferns, P.N., 2015. The changing fortunes of woodland birds in temperate Europe. In: Kirby, K., Watkins, C. (Eds.), Europe's Changing Woods and Forests: From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes. CABI Publishing, London, pp. 164–179.
- Holt, C.A., Fuller, R.J., Dolman, P.M., 2014. Exclusion of deer affects responses of birds to woodland regeneration in winter and summer. Ibis 156 (1), 116–131.
 Hopkins, J.J., Kirby, K.J., 2007. Ecological change in British broadleaved woodland since
- Forman, Jos, Andy J. A., 2007, R. 1997, and Composite Change in Struct Ordential Ordential State 1947. Ibis 149 (52), 29–40.
 Jolliffe, I., 2002. Principal Component Analysis. John Wiley Sons, Ltd.
 Kent, M., 2012. Vegetation Description and Data Analysis: A Practical Approach. Wiley-2014. Blackwell.
- Lemmon, P.E., 1956. A spherical densiometer for estimating forest overstory density. Forest Sci. 2 (4), 314–320. Lloyd, H., Marsden, S.J., 2008. Bird community variation across Polylepis woodland
- Fragments and matrix habitats: implications for biodiversity conservation within a high Andean landscape. Biodiv. Conserv. 17 (11), 2645-2660, Löhmus, A., Nellis, R., Pullerits, M., Leivits, M., 2016. The potential for long-term sus-
- tainability in seminatural forestry: a broad perspective based on woodpecker popu-lations. Environ. Manage. 57 (3), 558-571. MacColl, A.D., Feu, C.R., Wain, S.P., 2014. Significant effects of season and bird age on use of coppice woodland by songbirds. Ibis 156 (3), 561-575.
- Marques, T.A., Thomas, L., Fancy, S.G., Buckland, S.T., 2007. Improving estimates of bird density using multiple-covariate distance sampling. Auk 124 (4), 1229–1243. Mason, W.L., 2007. Changes in the management of British forests between 1945 and 2000 and possible future trends. Ibis 149 (s2), 41–52.
- Mason, W., Kerr, G., Simpson, J., 1999. What is Continuous Cover Forestry? Forestry Commission Edinburgh, Oksanen, L., 2001. Logic of experiments in ecology: is pseudoreplication a pseudoissue? Oikos 94, 27-38

Peterken, G., Mountford, E., 2017. Woodland Development: A Long-term Study of Lady

Forest Ecology and Management 422 (2018) 69-78

Park Wood, CABL

- Pitney Bowes Inc., 2013. Mapinfo Professional User Guide 12. Pitney Bowes Software Inc. Poore, A., 2016. Rushmore Estate Woods; Management Plan 2016-2026. Estate Office,
- Poore, A., 2016. Roshinore Estate woods, Management Pian 2016-2026. Estate Once, Tollard Royal, Wiltshrie.
 Putkala, T., Laiho, O., Lähde, E., 2016. Continuous cover management reduces wind damage. For. Ecol. Manage. 372, 120-127.
 Puettmann, K.J., Wilson, S.M., Baker, S.C., Donoso, P.J., Drössler, L., Amente, G., Harvey, B.D., Knoke, T., Lu, Y., Nocentini, S., Putz, F.E., 2015. Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged forest management-what limits global adoption? Forest Foreset 2 (1) 8 Ecosyst. 2 (1), 8.
- Ouine, C.P., Fuller, R.J., Smith, K.W., Grice, P.V., 2007, Stand management: a threat or opportunity for birds in British woodland? Ibis 149 (s2), 161–174. Rackham, O., 1990. Trees and Woodland in the British Landscape (No. Ed. 2). JM Dent &
- Sons Ltd. Roberge, J.-M., Angelstam, P., Villard, M.-A., 2008. Specialised woodpeckers and nat-
- Roberty F. and Figuration and Strategy an
- Wilkins, P., 1991. British Plant Communities. vol. I. Woodlands and scrub. set, C., Brand, R., Weber, D., Gollut, C., Wuillemin, E., Caillard, I., Schmocker, A., Fiedler, U., 2014. MOTI L'inventaire forestier simplifié par le smartphone. Haute Ro
- école des sciences agronomiques, forestières et alimentaires HAFL, Zollikofen, Suisse. Se
- Rapport final. March 2014, 110p mour, R.S., Hunter, M.L., 1999. Principles of ecological forestry. In: Hunter, M.L. (Ed.), Maintaining Biodiversity in Forest Ecosystems. Cambridge University Press,
- Cambridge, pp. 22-61.
 Sterling, P.H., Hambler, C., 1988. Coppicing for conservation: do hazel communities benefit. Woodland Conservation and Research in the Clay Veil of Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire, pp. 69-80. Susse, R., Allegrini, C., Brucíamacchie, M., Burrus, R., 2011. Management of Irregular
- Ser, K., Auegran, C., Buctanacche, M., Burus, K., 2011. Management of fregural Forests: developing the full potential of the forest. Association Futaie Irreguliere. English translation P. Morgan, 144p. omas, L., Buckland, S.T., Rexstad, E.A., Laake, J.L., Strindberg, S., Hedley, S.L., Bishop,
- Inomas, L., Buckiand, S. I., Rextaol, E.A., Laake, J.L., Strindberg, S., Healey, S.L., Bisnop, J.R. B., Marques, T.A., Bumham, K.-P., 2010. Distance software: design and analysis of distance sampling surveys for estimating population size. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 5–14, Wesołowski, T., 2005. Virtual conservation: how the European Union is turning a blind eye to its vanishing primeval forests. Conserv. Biol. 19, 1349–1358 Open canopy-Low to high scores for tree density closed canopy.

Chapter 5 Bats

5.1 Paper 3 Irregular silviculture positively influences multiple bat species in a lowland temperate broadleaf woodland

5.1.1 Background and Details of Authors Contributions

The following authors contributions are listed with their signatures.

Daniel Alder, Main Author: 80% Conceptualisation, Study design, Data collection of all field data on bats and habitat structural measures, Preparation data and statistical analysis, writing, responding to Journal Editor and two reviewer's comments and rewrote text prior to resubmission.

Co-authors

Mr A Poore: wrote text on silviculture and advised on silvicultural implications of results.

Dr. J D Norrey: provided advice and support with data analysis.

Dr S Newson: advisor on data collection, ran acoustic identification software.

Prof S Marsden: Main Supervisor.

Forest Ecology and Management 483 (2021) 118786



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect Forest Ecology and Management

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco



Irregular silviculture positively influences multiple bat species in a lowland temperate broadleaf woodland

D.C. Alder^{a,b,*}, A. Poore^c, J. Norrey^b, S.E. Newson^d, S.J. Marsden^b

Dorset Environmental Records Centre, Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP, UK

Department of Natural Sciences, Manchester Metropolitan University, Chester Street, Manchester M1 5GD, UK The Estate Office, Rushmare Estate, Tollard Royal, Salisbury, Wiltshire SP5 5PT, UK

^d British Trust for Ornithology, The Nunnery, Thetford, Norfolk IP24 2PU, UK

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords: Bat activity patterns Occupancy Structural heterogeneity Habitat use Stand type Woodland management Irregular high- forest Retention silviculture Continuous cover forestry Changing economics in the 20th century led to losses and fragmentation of semi-natural woodland in Britain and to a reduction in active woodland management with many becoming increasingly neglected, even-aged and with closed canopy. Lack of woodland management is known to contribute to declines in some taxonomic groups, for example birds. However, the response of bats to changes in woodland structure are poorly understood. We compared two measures of bat activity, derived from static acoustic recorders across 120 sample plots in coppice. irregular high forest (uneven-aged, continuous cover) and limited intervention (under-managed, even-aged) management stands, within a large tract of ancient woodland in southern England. Bat species richness was highest in irregular high forest stands, and there were significant differences in occupancy rates for most bat species across stand management types. Coppice recorded low activity of several bat species and irregular high forest showed high occupancy rates, including for Barbastelle Barbastella barbastellus, which is IUCN listed as near threatened. The occupancy rates in stand management types differed for some bat species between mid- and late summer counts, suggesting seasonal variation in habitat use. Within stands, most bat species were associated with opened canopy, lower growing stocks and reduced densities of understorey, and to a lesser extent, with large-girthed trees and presence of deadwood snags. In some cases, species responded to a given habitat variable similarly across the three stand management types, whereas in others, the response differed among stand management types. For example, increased numbers of large-girthed trees benefitted a number of bat species within coppice where these were least common, but not in irregular stands. Irregular silviculture high forest appears to provide many of the structural attributes that positively influence occupancy of several woodland bat species, including Barbastella barbastellus.

1. Introduction

Developing strategies for forest and woodland resilience in the face of climate change and increasing exploitation of forest resources is seen as a global priority (Pastur et al. 2020, Brang et al. 2014, Bussotti et al. 2015, Thompson et al. 2009). Structural and functional change following intensive silvicultural interventions (e.g. clear felling) can compromise woodland resilience and reduce the range of ecosystem services woodlands and forests support at multiple scales (Felipe-Lucia et al. 2018). Simplification of forest habitats has led to losses of biodiversity (Lelli et al. 2019) and in turn is likely to have impacted upon the ecological functioning and economic productivity of forest systems (Liang et al. 2016). During the 20th Century, many European woodlands became structurally more homogeneous as a result of clear-fell silviculture followed by abandonment and the rise of plantations or neglect (Hopkins & Kirby 2007, Savill 2015, Russo et al. 2016). In Britain many semi-natural woods were heavily exploited during both World Wars then abandoned due to the economic demise of coppice management after the Second World War (Hopkins & Kirby 2007). Many ancient woodlands in Britain (those present since at least 1600AD; Spencer & Kirby 1992) had been subject to traditional management regimes, particularly coppicing, for>650 years (Rackham 1986). The structural homogenisation of these woodlands following abandonment and the widescale conversion to coniferous plantation transformed Britain's

* Corresponding author at: Dorset Environmental Records Centre, Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP, UK.

E-mail addresses: da.conservation@gmail.com (D.C. Alder), forestry@rushmoreuk.com (A. Poore), J.Norrey@mmu.ac.uk (J. Norrey), stuart.newson@bto.org (S.E. Newson), s.marsden@mmu.ac.uk (S.J. Marsden).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118786

Received 5 August 2020; Received in revised form 6 November 2020; Accepted 8 November 2020 Available online 19 November 2020

0378-1127/@ 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

landscape during the 20th Century (Harmer et al. 2010) and ancient woodlands that were spared degradation are seen as relics of high historical/cultural (Rackham 2003) and nature conservation value (Fuller & Warren 1993). In these remaining semi-natural stands, however, there has been a long-term, natural process of structural change leading to increasing density of trees and declining density of underwood. Climate induced reduction in temperate forest health in Europe (Senf et al. 2018), and the ecological consequences of tree pests and pathogens e.g. *Hymenoscyphus fraxineus* on Ash, *Fraxinus excelsior*, are expected to increase in the absence of mitigation (Mitchell et al. 2014, Hill et al. 2019, Forestry Commission 2019).

Continuous cover forest management (CCF; Mason et al. 1999), is a relatively new woodland management system for the UK (Kerr 1999). Silvicultural management using CCF systems are likely to be important where adaptive responses to ecological change are essential (Wilson et al.2018). Irregular silviculture is one strand of CCF, which aims at permanently irregular high forest structures. It emphasises natural processes and seeks to develop complex habitat structures with a range of different size-classes of trees and an understorey partly comprised of tree saplings (Susse et al. 2011, Kerr 1999). This approach has been advocated because it provides a range of ecological benefits and ecosystem services (Pukkala 2016, Kerr 1999) while providing economic return (Lõhmus et al. 2016, Pastur et al. 2020). Using a stem-bystem or group harvesting system, canopy opening is patchy and can resemble natural woodland processes (Bürgi 2015, Kuuluvainen 2009), with canopy gaps leading to localised seedling regeneration, while developing a continuum of tree and shrub ages from young thicket stage to mature trees in each stand (Sanchez 2017, Susse et al. 2011). Seminatural stands are highly variable in the level and spatial distribution of their growing stock and in the spatial distribution of individual trees with high biodiversity or economic values (Susse et al. 2011). Unlike irregular silviculture, even-aged silviculture constrains within stand complexity (Puettmann et al. 2015, Sanchez 2017). Finally, Irregular Silviculture involves moderate change and provides benign environments for vulnerable stand elements such as standing deadwood (Sanchez 2017). Despite the potential of irregular management to support keystone species (Gustafsson et al. 2020, Basile et al. 2020), there remains a significant knowledge gap of the effects on biodiversity following its introduction within temperate forests (Storch et al. 2020). Recent research as part of our wider study has highlighted positive effects of irregular silviculture on woodland birds (Alder et al. 2018).

All 17 species of bats found in Britain use woodlands (Altringham 2003) and several, including Barbastella barbastellus, are reliant upon semi-natural broadleaf woodlands (Dietz et al. 2018, Zeale et al. 2012). Broadleaf woodland provides keystone resources on which many species depend (Mendes et al. 2017, Boughey et al. 2011). Bats are an important indicator of changes in the structure and function of managed temperate woodlands (Jones et al. 2009, Kalda et al. 2015) and provide important forest ecosystem services (Garin et al. 2019). The availability of insect prey (Tillon et al. 2018), the ability of bats to forage effectively (Müller et al. 2012, Adams et al. 2009), microhabitat features important for roost availability (Regnery et al. 2013, Tillon et al. 2015, Russo et al. 2016), and abundance of standing deadwood (Carr et al. 2019, Tillon et al. 2018, Dietz et al. 2018, Lučan et al. 2009, Russo et al. 2004), can influence bat abundance and are all affected by woodland management. Bat species within the same guild face competitive challenges that they must overcome in the way they respond to the often variable, complex vegetation structures of temperate woodland (Langridge et al. 2019, Denzinger & Schnitzler 2013). Partitioning of resources may be achieved through choice of prey, avoiding direct competition by feeding at different periods, selecting different habitat patches and through behavioural differences (Swift & Racey 1983).

While our knowledge of the habitat associations of European bats is good (Downs & Racey 2006, Tillon et al. 2018) we know little about the effects of different silvicultural management options across a range of broadleaf woodlands, and in particular as a result of manipulating high

Forest Ecology and Management 483 (2021) 118786

forest structures (Russo et al. 2016). Furthermore, caution has been urged over the restoration of traditional coppice management on *Plecotus auritus* (Murphy et al. 2012). Excessive levels of harvesting in high-forest stands are known to negatively affect bats (Tillon et al. 2018, Russo et al. 2016).

Studies in mixed broadleaf stands in western Europe have highlighted the positive influence on bats, in woodland managed sensitively to produce a varied structure (Jung et al. 2012) and through the introduction of innovative selective silviculture (Cistrone et al. 2015). Conversely, a comparison across even-aged, uneven-aged and unmanaged beech Fagus sylvatica forest by Schall et al. (2018) identified similar bat diversity. However, we are unaware of a direct comparison between management types in British woodlands that include irregular silviculture amongst the management options in ancient semi-natural broadleaf stands, and the effects on bats of creating diverse high forest structures. We compared a range of structural habitat measures across three management types and assessed bat species richness and activity of each species across coppice, limited intervention, and irregular high forest stands. We used two metrics of bat activity from acoustic recorders; (1) an encounter rate of number of passes through the night; (2) one reflecting the proportion of ten-minute periods during which each species was recorded at least once. We then looked within woodland stand management types to identify structural attributes influenced by woodland management and associated these with bat activity.

2. Methods

2.1. Study area and stand types

The study was conducted within 442 ha of semi-natural broadleaf woodland, mostly statutorily protected Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), across two contiguous blocks on the Rushmore Estate, in southern England (110-190 m a.s.l; 395724.26 E, 117963.15 N; Fig. 1). The principal National Vegetation Classifications (NVC) are W8 (ash-field maple) associated with base-rich soils with some W10 (oak-birch) on slightly acidic soils, that fall within the broad category of lowland mixed deciduous woodland on fertile soil with several sub-categories around the former (Rodwell et al. 1998, B. Edwards pers. comm. 2019). The dominant tree and shrub species are ash Fraxinus excelsior, pedunculate oak Quercus robur, field maple Acer campestre, silver birch Betula pendula, downy birch Betula pubescens, hazel Corylus avellana, spindle Euonymus europaeus, hawthorn Crataegus monogyna, sallow Salix cinerea, goat willow Salix caprea, dogwood Cornus sanguinea and blackthorn Prunus spinosa. There is scattered mature and veteran whitebeam Sorbus aria, and more locally distributed beech Fagus sylvatica and sycamore Acer pseudoplatanus. There are a significant number of veteran trees, those identified as having biological and cultural importance (Read 2000); particularly of oak, ash and field maple and 19th Century beech Fagus sylvatica plantings (Alder et al. 2018, Poore 2016).

2.2. Descriptions of broadleaf stand types

We evaluated three broadleaf stand management types (A. Poore pers. comm. 2019; Fig. 2). Silviculture is either high forest with trees derived from seed on long felling rotations 50-200 years or coppice, referring to cyclical cutting of regenerated stems on short rotations (Harmer et al. 2010). We define woodland management as the harvesting of woody material and the stand as the silvicultural unit at which forest management was undertaken.

Limited intervention stands (43.4 ha) were those with a closed canopy, high tree density, and limited understorey due to a long period (>30 years) without formal silvicultural intervention. Some of the limited intervention stands developed from open canopy high forest and had higher understorey densities. Limited intervention stands originate from three starting points which were typical in lowland Britain following reductions in broadleaf management (Mason 2007).

Forest Ecology and Management 483 (2021) 118786



Fig. 1. Location of study area within Cranborne Chase on the Dorset-Wiltshire border, southern Britain, UK. © Natural England copyright 2012. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2012.

- Stands which had a more varied structure when management ceased and where a somewhat more complex structure persists.
- Stands which had a more uniform coppice structure at the point of abandonment.
- Stands which came out of a wood pasture structure with less underwood but where some remnant scrub persists.

Coppice stands (59.0 ha) include both simple coppice and coppice with standards with up to 20% cover of upper canopy trees. However, effective underwood production requires a maximum cover of 10% upper canopy trees. Underwood cycle lengths vary with use: hazel dominated coppice cut every 8–12 years, birch coppice was managed on two rotations, with pure birch cut at 3–4 years and the remaining on > 25 year cycles for wood fuel. There was a broad representation of growth stages across our study site, with a mean age of coppice during the study of 7.3 \pm 3.9 (SD) years with 0–5 years (n = 10), 6–9 years (n = 19), and 12–15 years (n = 11). At each cutting, the entire panel (felling) between 0.5 and 1.5 ha of underwood is removed leading to even-aged regrowth (Harmer & Howe 2003).

Irregular High Forest stands (52.9 ha) were transformed to high forest (tree recruitment into canopy) from unmanaged coppice or developing high forest stands to an irregular stand structure for at least 30 years. This involved selective removal of harvestable trees and of weaker growing specimens and cutting the understorey to increase light levels reaching the woodland floor. The aim was to increase incremental growth of retained trees to enhance their economic value, promote natural regeneration of trees and shrubs and establish a range of tree age classes. Stands with 'moderate stocking' have stand basal areas (>7.5 cm diameter at breast height, (dbh)) in the range 17-24 m2 ha-1 whilst 'low stocking' are in the range 10-16 m² ha⁻¹. Understorey stocking was dense in places yet patchily distributed as influenced by management and the effects of deer browse. Species diversity was encouraged and individual trees with particular biodiversity values retained, including senescent and standing deadwood (Susse et al. 2011). A feature of irregular high forest stands at Rushmore was the high densities of retained deadwood and trees with cavities.

The coppice and irregular stand types in the south-west of our study were not chosen being unrepresentative of the age-classes of each; coppice here was mostly advanced in-cycle and the irregular was more recently transformed < 30 years ago.

2.3. Collection of acoustic data

Bats were sampled acoustically during the summer over two periods 24 June – 22 July and 31 July – 2 September 2015 using six Song Meter 3 (SM3) acoustic recorders fitted with a single omnidirectional microphone (Wildlife Acoustics Inc. USA). Microphones were polemounted at 3 m height to avoid reflected sounds from the ground, facing downwards at an angle of 45° , and placed a minimum of 1.5 m from dense leafy growth to reduce reflection from vegetation (Müller et al. 2012).

Full spectrum audio using an 8 kHz high pass filter was used to reduce the chance of recording low frequency sounds not made by bats (Newson et al. 2015). SM3s were programmed to switch on 15 mins before sunset and off 15 mins after sunrise, and record throughout the night (Froidevaux et al. 2014) using a trigger threshold above 12 dB and recording set to continue until no trigger was detected for a 2.0 s period (Newson et al. 2015). Each triggered event was categorised as a bat pass for each species identified following Newson et al. (2015). We adopted a stratified sampling procedure with simultaneous recording made using two SM3 units in each of the three stand types, each sampling night (Humes et al. 1999) with each plot sampled twice across the two periods with a minimum interval of 3 weeks between each visit (Frey-Ehrenbold et al. 2013). Plots were located a minimum of 30 m from the edges of each stand to reduce the effects from proximate habitats (Humes et al. 1999). There were 40 sampling plots (a total 120 plots) in each stand type across 26 individual stands Fig. 3. Acoustic sampling was conducted on nights without rain, wind speeds below force 4 on the Beaufort scale and temperatures above 7 °C (Froidevaux et al. 2014).

2.4. Sound identification of bats

Bats were identified according to a two-step procedure following Newson et al. (2017) whereby recordings were firstly filtered through species classifiers built by one of us (SEN) using the software TADARIDA (Bas et al. 2017), which assigns bat calls to species. This automatically detects and extracts acoustic features of the recorded echolocation calls and classifies them to species using a Random Forest algorithm (Claireau et al. 2019). Manual verification (step 2) of all bat calls following TADARIDA was made using Sonobat 4.1 software (www.sonobat.com) producing 35,230 confirmed bat passes from 137,018 sound files. Of these, 10,992 bat passes were not assigned to species as manual verification could not be identified with confidence to species (Russ 2012). Myotis mystacinus and M. brandtii, and Plecotus auritus and P. austriacus are particularly difficult to identify acoustically, and were treated as species pairs, therefore M. mystacinus / brandtii and P. auratus / austriacus respectively (Starik et al. 2018). 'Guilds' for each species identified are used; SRE - short range echolocators, MRE - medium range echolocators, LRE - long range echolocators (adapted from Denzinger & Schnitzler (2013)).





Fig. 2. Examples of stand types sampled in the study from top to bottom: limited intervention, coppice and irregular high forest.

2.5. Habitat measures

At each sample plot measurements of woodland structure were collected within a 30 m diameter circle (0.07 ha) with five sub-plots of 3 m diameter within each (four located at the cardinal points at 10 m radii and one at 2 m off-centre along a random compass bearing (Alder et al. 2018).

Within 30 m plots and 3 m sub-plots, the following habitat

Forest Ecology and Management 483 (2021) 118786

measurements were made:

- Number of trees/stems in each 30 m plot > 50 cm dbh, number of woody stems (coppice and individual trees) of dbh 7.5–17.5 cm and 17.5–50 cm dbh, and the five trees with the largest dbh. These five were identified to species and mean dbh also calculated.
- $\bullet\,$ At each 3 m subplot, the number of saplings and coppice stems < 3 cm, and > 3–7.5 cm dbh were counted if > 0.5 m tall.
- Percentage of canopy openness was measured at each 3 m sub-plot with a spherical convex mirror densiometer (Lemmon 1956).
- Growing stock density (basal area (m² ha-1)) was measured at each plot centre using the relascope principle (Bitterlich 1984) where each tree > 7.5 cm dbh is counted in a 360⁰ sweep at each sample point centre. A minimum number of ten trees are required to give precision (Bitterlich 1984). The relascope application MOTI was used for this (Rosset et al. 2014), calibrated for the basal area factor and camera and was used in a Samsung Galaxy S2 smart-phone.
- To calculate *understorey density*, a percentage score of obscuration to the nearest 5% was estimated at each cardinal point of the 30 m plot using a 50 \times 30 cm chequer board with 10 \times 10 cm squares (Alder et al. 2018).
- Standing deadwood, dead trees and dead branches (snags) over 20 cm diameter (as a proxy for cavity availability (Paillet et al. 2018)) were counted around each 30 m plot centre (Charman et al. 2010)
- Length of fallen logs over 20 cm diameter were measured entirely within each 30 m plot (Lush et al. 2012).
- Percentage cover was calculated at within 30 m plot for dominant vegetation; bramble Rubus fruticosus cover, and area of bare ground.

All fieldwork was carried out by DA.

2.6. Data analyses

Structural habitat measures were compared across stand types using a mixed effect models and pairwise comparisons with stand number as a random factor to account for nestedness in samples within stands. Measured continuous variables were analysed using Linear mixed model using the package "nlme" (Pinheiro et al. 2020) or GLMM with a gamma distribution. Count data was analysed with a GLMM with Poisson distribution. For percentage data an arcsine transformation was applied to the data and analysed using a Linear Mixed effects Model (see table × in supplementary material).GLMM models were performed using the "LME4" package (Bates et al. 2015). Tukey's post-hoc multiple comparison tests were used to make comparisons across management stand types. Spearman's rank correlations (supplementary file S 4) were used to select habitat variables to include in bat habitat association models and to compare across and within stand types.

We calculated bat species richness at each plot in each survey period. We expressed bat activity across stand types and survey periods using two different metrics. First, 'overall encounter rates' were calculated as the mean number of bat passes per hour, to give an overall indication of activity during the sampling night. For encounter rate we excluded the first and last 30 min of each night, to avoid issues associated with high numbers of bats moving to and from roost sites (Wood et al. 2017). The second, 'occupancy or activity rates', was calculated as the proportions of 10-minute periods during a night, within which the bat species was recorded at least once. Using the proportion of 10-minute periods, which differed across nights of different length (in our study period it varied between 7.5 h and 10.5 h), allowed us to account for night length differences in our activity metric.

A GLMM with Poisson distribution was used to analyse species richness across stand types. A GLMM with a binomial distribution was used to analyse activity level (proportion of possible 10-minute periods each species was active per night) between the stand types. Because sampling plots were nested within woodland stands (n = 30) we included stand number as a random factor in all models (Zuur et al.



Fig. 3. Location of sample points within three stand management types; orange coppice, yellow limited intervention and red irregular. Average nearest plot distances within stand types was 117 m. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

2009). Encounter rate data (mean number of bats per hour) being continuous and including zeros were analysed using a zero-inflated mixed effects model with a gamma distribution using the package 'glmmTMB' (Brooks et al. 2017). Models were run for each species with management stand type and an interaction with survey period and stand type as predictors.

To examine the effect of habitat variables on species activity within each habitat type separately, three GLMM's with binomial distribution were applied with canopy openness, general stem density, mean DBH and snag frequency as predictors. Habitat variables were based on gradients of openness, stem size and density and standing deadwood and selected by examining collinearity between all habitat variables collected. Model averaging using the package "MuMIn" (Barton, 2020) was used to identify the relative importance of each habitat variable on each species within the three stand types.

3. Results

3.1. Bat species data

Eleven bat species were identified (Table 1). Pipistrellus pipistrellus dominated the sample, making up 78% of records from 90% of plots. Three other species, Barbastella barbastellus, P. pygmaeus and Myotis mystacinus/brandtii all had>1,000 bat passes. Myotis mystacinus/brandtii group comprised 1,733 records and were recorded on 63% of plots. P. nathuaii (22 records; <2% of plots) and Nyctalus leisleri (52 records; 14% of plots) were deemed too rare for further analysis. Species richness differed between irregular and coppice stand types with higher species richness in the irregular stands (Cop- Irr, estimate \pm se, Z, p: -0.4 ± 0.1 , -2.6, 0.03; see Supplementary file S 2). Seven of the nine species were more often recorded in the second survey period than the first. However, there were no significant differences across survey periods, or interaction between period and stand management type.

Table 1

Bat passes and percentage of occupied survey plots for eleven bat species recorded over two survey periods.

Bat Passes					% Plots u	ised
Species/Guild	Period one	Period two	All	% of total	Period one	Period two
Plecotus auritus/ austriacus ^{SRB}	63	187	250	0.7	28.3	31.7
Barbastella barbastellus ^{SRB}	234	789	1023	2.9	40.0	37.5
Myotis natteren ^{SRB}	278	268	546	1.6	51.7	50.0
Pipistrellus pipistrellus ^{MRB}	9,881	17,660	27,541	78.0	89.2	90.8
Pipistrellus pygmaeus MRE	1,669	1,192	2,861	8.1	61.7	68.3
Pipistrellus nathusii ^{MRE}	22	0	22	0.1	2.5	0.8
Myotis mystacinus/ brandtii ^{MRB}	715	1,018	1,733	4.9	63.3	62.5
Myotis daubentonii ^{MRE}	147	316	463	1.3	42.5	49.2
Eptesicus serotinus ^{LRE}	181	247	428	1.2	50.0	56.7
Nyctalus noctula ^{LRE}	256	55	311	0.9	49.2	32.5
Nyctalus leisleri ^{LRE}	21	31	52	0.2	19.2	9.2
Total	13,467	21,763	35,230	100	96	96

3.2. Bat activity metrics across stand management types

Although encounter rates and occupancy metrics were correlated (r = 0.73, n = 2160, p < 0.001, across all species / survey period /and plots), occupancy indicated more significant differences among stands

or between survey periods (24 significant differences), than 'encounter rates' (10 significant differences). We describe our rationale for selection of each metric in the Discussion but here, we focus on the results of the latter (encounter rate results appear alongside occupancy rates in Supplementary file S1).

Activity for two of the three short-range echolocators was greatest in Irregular, for two of four MREs, and one of two LRE. We expand on differences in activity between species sharing similar traits in the discussion. Six of nine bat species (Fig. 4) had significantly greater occupancy in irregular high forest than in at least one of the other stand management types. *Eptesicus serotinus* and *P. auratus / austriacus* were most active compared to limited intervention; whereas *M. daubentonii*, *M. mystacinus / M. brandtii*, *P. pygmaeus* and *B. barbastellus* were encountered more than in Coppice (*P. pipistrellus* higher than in both).

Only *M. nattereri*, was significantly more likely to be recorded in limited stand management type over both coppice and irregular high forest. The results highlight the generally low occupancy rates in coppice stands. *M. nattereri*, *P. pipistrellus* and *P. pygmaeus*, and *M. mystacinus/brandtii* selected limited intervention over coppice, with *E. serotinus* more common in coppice than limited intervention.

Six of nine species showed significantly different levels of occupancy of the stand management types between the survey period. Two taxa, *P. pipistrellus* and *M. mystacinus/brandtii*, increased usage during period 2 in one stand type (limited intervention and coppice respectively) over another stand type (irregular high forest and limited intervention), suggesting a change in habitat use within the study area according to season. In contrast *P. pygmaeus* and *N. noctula* used two stand types less in period 2, which along with the general lack of records from period 2



Fig. 4. Bat activity (proportion of possible 10-minute periods each species was active per night) as a measure of occupancy throughout the sample night. Where significant, management code I = Irregular, G = Coppice, L = Limited were combined with < (less than) or > (greater than) and * (p < 0.05), *(p < 0.01), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant difference in management type. For survey period and management type interactions that were significant (s = 0.05), *(p < 0.05) to show significant difference and significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05), and *** (p < 0.05) to show significant (s = 0.05) to show significant (

(Table 1) suggest a movement out of the study site post-breeding. *M. nattereri*, although preferring limited intervention stands overall, reduced its use of this stand management type in period 2, while *B. barbastellus* used coppice stands more in period 2.

3.3. Stand habitat characteristics

There were 19 habitat variables which showed significant differences in pairwise comparisons of stand management types (Supplementary file S 3). Fig. 5 shows a schematic of the three stand management types labelled with key habitat features.

3.4. Habitat associations

Of the four habitat variables considered (see Supplementary file S 4 correlations of all habitat variables), canopy openness was significantly associated with bat occupancy rates in eleven species/stand type cases (Fig. 6), stem density in six, and DBH and snags five each. In nine of the eleven cases, it was high values of canopy openness that were positively associated with bat occupancy rates, while in all six cases, low stem density was associated with high occupancy rates. In general, larger DBHs and frequent snags promoted bat occupancy (Fig. 6).



Coppice: low tree stocking, dense understorey or no understorey if recently cut; few large trees; heavy moss cover



Irregular High Forest: patchy open canopy, range of tree sizes including large trees; variable understorey with low, dense bramble cover; combines many characteristics of coppice and limited intervention



Limited Intervention: High tree stocking with high stem density; few oaks; closed canopy; sparse understorey and bare ground; high volume of fallen dead wood.

Fig. 5. Significant structural characteristics identified within each stand.

Forest Ecology and Management 483 (2021) 118786

For some species, associations of occupancy with individual habitat measures was very similar across different stand management types. For example, *B. barbastellus* was strongly positively associated with the most open plots in all three stand management types, and *P. pygmaeus* generally negatively associated with stem density, regardless of stand type. The generalist/edge species *E. scrotinus* had no significant associations with any of the habitat variables which was consistent across stand management types.

In other cases, species appeared to respond differently to the same habitat variable in different stand management types. So, there was a stronger likelihood of a species having a positive relationship with Mean DBH in the coppice, and to a lesser extent, limited intervention, than in irregular stands where Mean DBH was higher. Nevertheless, there were several differences in species-specific responses across stand management types. Several of these involve the closely related species *P. pipistrellus* and *P. pygmaeus* despite sharing similar morphological characteristics the two Pipistrelles exhibit differences in habitat use. *P. pygmaeus* used closed canopy more than *P.Pipistrellus* which is more of an edge species. In other cases, it may be that the rarity of a bat species in one or more of the stand management types is affecting models. – essentially the habitat is far from suitable in terms of that individual habitat measure so changing values as they appear across our plots is having little effect on overall suitability.

4. Discussion

4.1. Species response to stand management

We found clear differences in bat occupancy among three stand management types. Irregular high forest, had the highest species richness, and highest occupancy rates for most bat species, including the IUCN 'near-threatened' *B. barbastellus* (Piraccini et al. 2016). Activity across three foraging guilds was higher in irregular than in either coppice or limited intervention stands. Coppice had lower bat activity for four species, *B. barbastellus*, *E. serotinus*, *M. daubentonii*, and *P. pipistrellus* and lower species richness compared with irregular stands. This may reflect the coppice age structure sampled with 10% at 0–3 years. Four plots in closed-canopy coppice (c14 years) where no bats were recorded, suggested that short-range echolocating (SRE) species including *M. nattereri* avoided densest clutter (Rainho et al. 2010, Froidevaux et al. 2016, Arlettaz et al. 2001).

Broadleaf stands which have undergone thinning can positively influence bats (Blakey et al. 2016) although recent research found rarer species benefitted from non-intervention compared to managed stands (Carr et al. 2019). However, the choices of silviculture management available to forest managers are diverse, reflecting site conditions and past management histories (Adams et al. 2009, Langridge et al. 2019). Irregular silviculture is very different from even-aged management (Bürgi 2015, Löhmus et al. 2016). Our study suggests variable retention of tree size classes, deadwood, understorey, open canopy and larger tree size associated with irregular seems to benefit multiple bat species across foraging guilds (Renner et al. 2018).

Structural complexity in irregular stands is likely to influence habitat quality for bats including accessibility to abundant invertebrate prey associated with denser low understorey (Starik et al. 2018, Tillon et al. 2018, Charbonnier et al. 2016, Plank et al. 2012, Adams et al. 2009). Differences in three-dimensional structure of vegetation influences the composition of bat species assemblages (Adams et al. 2009, Jung et al. 2012, Kirkpatrick et al. 2017). Work on woodland birds within our study area (Alder et al. 2016) indicated that irregular silviculture can provide several functional resources for species reliant on early successional growth and old growth features. Where woodland management constrains levels of decaying trees, the presence of keystone cavity makers like woodpeckers can be important (Remm & Löhmus, 2011). Great Spotted Woodpecker Dendrocopos major had highest spring densities in irregular stands in our study area where deadwood snags were frequent



-0.050 -0.025 0.000 0.025

Fig. 6. Habitat attributes across stands (upper) and bat species associations within each stand management type (lower) taken from a GLMM with binomial distribution and model averaging. The number shown in the individual panes are the sums of 'Akaike weights' over all models with Delta AICc < 6. The colour indicates the direction and strength of the fixed effect variable. Significance is indicated by * (p < 0.05), ** (p < 0.01), and *** (p < 0.001).

(Alder et al. 2018). Importantly, irregular silviculture creates benign conditions for retaining trees with special biodiversity features (Sanchez 2017).

B. barbastellus, a SRE, low-level foraging bat (Rainho et al. 2010, Plank et al. 2012, Denzinger & Schnitzler 2013), was significantly associated with more open canopy areas in all stand management types with highest occupancy in irregular high forest. Within coppice stands B. barbastellus was significantly associated with larger trees and strongly correlated to the presence of snags in all stand types (See Supplementary file S 3). Dead wood availability is important for *B. barbastellus* (Russo et al. 2004, Carr et al. 2019) because individuals frequently switch roosting locations (Russo et al. 2005). Their higher occupancy in irregular stands potentially reflects the abundance of retained deadwood (Görföl et al. 2019) and feeding habitat across patches of dense understorey (Zeale et al. 2012, Hill & Greenaway 2008). We found a negative association in limited intervention stands with deadwood snags; interestingly Tillon et al. (2016) did not identify a relationship between *B. barbastellus* and deadwood presence. Moreover, there may be

thermophilic benefits for *B. barbastellus* utilising open and sheltered interiors of irregular stands (Carr et al. 2019, Dietz et al. 2018).

Eptesicus serotinus occupancy was higher also in irregular and coppice stands Accessible prey is possibly a key factor; *E. serotinus* is an adaptable forager (Catto et al. 1996) using forest interiors where structural heterogeneity enables manoeuvrability (Langridge et al. 2019, Plank et al. 2012). It is associated with deadwood (Tillon et al. 2016) and tree roost woodpecker cavities (Langridge et al. 2019).

Nyctalis noctula, a LRE (Langridge et al. 2019), was encountered across all stand types, most in limited intervention but not significantly. It was negatively associated with canopy openness in limited intervention stands in our habitat models. *N. noctula* uses open-space flight-lines above the woodland canopy over which it can hawk flying insects (Müller et al. 2013).

Several Myotis species are morphologically similar yet differ in echolocation, enabling each to exploit different vegetation structures (Siemers & Schnitzler 2004). M. daubentonii, an edge species (Müller et al. 2012), had highest occupancy in irregular high forest, significantly so over coppice and a positive association with canopy openness. Plank et al. (2012) found this species flew at ground level in uncluttered woodland which explains its low occupancy in coppice. Snag frequency within limited intervention stands was important, perhaps because open understorey enables M. daubenonii to exploit snags as roosts. The species is known to use cavity roosts which develop in humid conditions associated with closed-canopy woods (Boonman 2000).

M. mystacinus/brandtii stand-wise occupancy was highest within limited intervention followed by irregular high forest over coppice. Our models showed strong avoidance of highest stem densities typical of dense coppice and accords with a association with woodland edges (Müller et al. 2013). The species group utilises lower height stratum beneath canopy in accessible forest interiors, (Cel'uch & KRopil, 2008, Froidevaux et al. 2016). Despite high tree densities in limited intervention stands the open understorey enables the species to manoeuvre at heights below 10 m (Bačkor 2016).

M. nattereri with highest occupancy in limited intervention over coppice and irregular high forest suggest it is able to exploit a range of closed canopy environments including all but the densest clutter where it gleans arthropods from foliage (Swift & Racey 2002, Tillon et al. 2016). The negative relationship with mean dbh and positive with deadwood snags suggests avoidance of open habitats with larger trees. *N. nattereri* as a SRE exploits closed-canopy woods using very broadband echolocation to forage in cluttered conditions (Siemers & Schnitzler 2000, Müller et al. 2012, Plank et al. 2012).

Although recorded in our study area we did not identify *Myotis* bechsteinii. This species exploits tree canopies and can go undetected (Plank et al. 2012). *M. bechsteinii* is difficult to distinguish acoustically from other *Myotis* species (Russ 2012), particularly in cluttered wood-lands. It is possible that recordings were missed during auditing.

Plecotus auritus/austriacus: was significantly associated with irregular stands compared with limited intervention stands, less so in coppice stands. *Plecotus auritus/austriacus* occupancy was positively associated with mean tree dbh in irregular stands. *P. auritus* is known to avoid wide gaps (Entwistle et al. 1996, Murphy et al. 2012) which may explain the negative association with mean dbh in coppice. We found *Plecotus spp* used coppice more than limited intervention. There have been concerns over the widespread reintroduction of coppice for *P. auritus* which appears to prefer well-developed understorey and more heterogenous canopy structure (Murphy et al. 2012). In the absence of natural disturbances, creating the desired understorey requires silvicultural intervention which we suggest irregular silviculture could satisfy (Mölder et al. 2019, Horak et al. 2014).

Both *Pipistrellus* species tended to avoid the cluttered environment in coppice reflecting their similar morphology as MRE (Nicholls & Racey 2006a, Carr et al. 2019). There was a positive habitat association with canopy openness in coppice and limited intervention stands for *P. pipistrellus* yet a negative association within limited intervention for

Forest Ecology and Management 483 (2021) 118786

P. pygmaeus which may reflect habitat partitioning (Nicholls & Racey 2006b, Davidson-Watts et al. 2006).

4.2. Conservation and research implications

Although *P. pipistrellus* and *P. pygmaeus* made up 86% of all bat passes, we recorded over 200 passes for nine species, at > 25% of plots. The proportion of ten-minute periods with at least one pass, provided a useful measure of intensity of habitat use through the night (Gorresen et al. 2008).

Most European bats can be recorded beneath tree canopy (Müller et al. 2012) although differences in canopy height and vegetation structure may affect detection probabilities across stand types (Gorresen et al. 2008). Except for *Plecotus* species, the difference in detection distance between extremes of recording in open environments and dense forest understorey is about 5-m or less (Barataud 2015). In practice, the difference in detection distance between stands is less because the influence of understorey heights and densities varies depending upon the growth stage.

We identified important associations between bat species and woodland structures, but these do not fully describe the complex needs of individual species (Langridge et al. 2019). Linking activity patterns of bats to three dimensional models of habitat complexity, (e.g. using LIDAR data), are exciting developments, particularly for the study of volant animals within complex forest habitats (Froidevaux et al. 2016, Russo et al. 2016, Renner et al. 2018). Despite including stand number as a random effect in models, we acknowledge habitat use across stand types will be blurred especially in ancient woodlands with intricate habitat mosaics (Hilmers et al. 2018).

Irregular silviculture in our study appeared to promote structural features which positively influence bat activity (Kusch et al. 2004, Wood et al. 2017, Starik et al. 2018). In managed temperate high-forests habitat complexity increases in stands under irregular silviculture (Jung et al. 2012, Gustafsson et al. 2020). Understorey density, at 0.5 m was similar between irregular and coppice yet considerably less in irregular at 2 m (Supplementary file S 3), and combined with a varied distribution of tree sizes and open canopy suggests irregular maybe more accessible to foraging bats across guilds which our results indicate (Adams et al. 2009, Titchenell et al. 2011, Wood et al. 2017).

Our study area within a complex patchwork reflects historical changes in woodlands over much of lowland Britain (Peterken 2015). Differences between irregular high forest and limited intervention here are less than is often encountered in managed high forest (Peterken & Mountford 2017). Coppice had low tree densities and reduced deadwood, typical of managed coppice (Harmer & Howe 2003, Buckley & Mills 2015, Buckley 2020), limiting roost availability. Irregular silviculture incorporates structural similarities of both young coppice and old growth stands and appears to cater for several species associated with each (Alder et al. 2018). Further research on habitat selection for rare bats like *B. barbastellus* will be beneficial, particularly elucidating knowledge of moth prey between stand management types including irregular high forest.

Transformation to heterogenous irregular high forest appears to enhance habitat quality for woodland bats (Tillon et al. 2018, Ketzler et al. 2018). Large trees provide important foraging resources including saproxylic invertebrates (Siitonen et al. 2015) and roosting features (Dietz et al. 2018). Structural diversity is likely to become an important ambition for forest managers (Forestry Commission 2019), which potentially establishes a range of resources benefitting woodland bats (Langridge et al. 2019, Tillon et al. 2015). The biodiversity value of successional gradients within temperate European forests is clear (Hilmers et al. 2018, Kuuluvainen 2009). Stand manipulation provides an opportunity to create dynamic, mixed structures, enhancing habitat quality for a range of species (Lelli et al. 2019, Dieler et al. 2017) including bats within temperate broadleaf woodland (Carr et al. 2019). Non-intervention as the appropriate woodland management

treatment for bat conservation may not be broadly applicable without an understanding of the structural characteristics required by bats, which is more useful to forest managers (Law et al. 2016, Langridge et al. 2019). Each woodland has its own historical signature reflecting past exploitation; many unmanaged woodlands today lack the mix of characteristics found in both old growth woodlands and in-cycle coppice (Amar et al. 2010, Peterken & Mountford 2017; Buckley, 2020). Interventions are often necessary to transform even-aged or neglected woodland to create such conditions (Ketzler et al. 2018, Law et al. 2016, Jung et al. 2012, Patriquin et al. 2003, Susse et al. 2011). Irregular silviculture in temperate woodlands may offer a sustainable and cost-effective option for the conservation of woodland biodiversity.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful for the assistance given by the Rushmore Estate, Trustees, the managing agent Mr Phillip Gready, along with Ian Burt, Andy Taylor, Rob Taylor and Don Taylor for practical help throughout. Rhiannon Rogers and Jon Corkill of Dorset Environmental Records Centre helped with fieldwork and GIS support respectively. Dr Niamh McHugh made useful suggestions on data analyses. We are especially indebted to our funders, The Golden Bottle Trust and Henry Hoare Charitable Trust, and are grateful to Dr Annabel King for the recommendation. We acknowledge the generous support of Forestry Commission (England). Stuart Newson was supported by the BTO's Young Scientists' Programme. Freddie Poore kindly drew the stand type schematics.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118786.

References

- Adams, M.D., Law, B.S., French, K.O., 2009. Vegetation structure influences the vertical stratification of open-and edge-space aerial-foraging bats in harvested forests. For.
- Ecol. Manage. 258 (9), 2090–2100.
 Alder, D.C., Fuller, R.J., Marsden, S.J., 2018. Implications of transformation to irregula silviculture for woodland birds: A stand wise comparison in an English broadleaf woodland, For, Ecol. Manage, 422, 69-78,
- Altringham, J. D. (2003). British Bats (Collins New Naturalist Library, Book 93) (Vol. 93). HarperCollins.
- th K.W. Butler, S. Lindsell, J.A. Hewson, C.M. Fuller, R.J. Charman, E. A C. 2010. Recent patterns of change in vegetation structure and tree composition of British broadleaved woodland: evidence from large-scale surveys. Forestry 83 (4), 345-356.
- Arlettaz, R., Jones, G., Racey, P.A., 2001, Effect of acoustic clutter on prey detection by bats. Nature 414 (6865), 742. Backor, P., 2016. The activity of bats in the Badinsky Prales primeval forest. Folia
- ologica Vol. 43, no. 1.
- Oecologica Vol. 43, no. 1.
 Barataud, M., 2015. Acoustic ecology of European bats. Species, identification, study of their habitats and foraging behaviour. Biotope, Meze.
 Bas, Y., Bas, D., Julien, J.F., 2017. Tadarida: A toolbox for naimal detection on acoustic recordings. Journal of open research software 5 (1).
 Basile, M., Asbeck, T., Pacioni, C., Mikusinki, G., & Storch, I. (2020). Woodpecker cavity
- establishment in managed forests: relative rather than absolute tree size matters.
- Wildlife Biol ogy, (1). Barton, K., 2020. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1 (43), 17. https://
- CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn. Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. J. Stat. Softw. 67 (1).
- Bitterlich, W. 1984. The relazoope idea. Relative measurements in forestry.
 Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux.
 Blakey, R.V., Law, B.S., Kingsford, R.T., Stoklosa, J., Tap, P., Williamson, K., 2016. Bat communities respond positively to large-scale thinning of forest regrowth. J. Appl. Ecol. 53 (6), 1694-1703.

Forest Ecology and Management 483 (2021) 118786

- Boughey, K.L., Lake, I.R., Haysom, K.A., Dolman, P.M., 2011. Effects of landscape-scale fland configuratio on and extent on roost location for six bat species across the UK. Biol. Conserv. 144 (9), 2300-2310.
- nman, M., 2000. Roost selection by noctules (Nyctalus noctula) and Daubenton's bats (Myotis daubentonii). J. Zool. 251 (3), 385–389. ng, P., Spathelf, P., Larsen, J.B., Bauhus, J., Bonceina, A., Chauvin, C., Drössler, L.,
- García-Güemes, C., Heiri, C., Kerr, G., Lexer, M.J., 2014. Suitability of close-to nature silviculture for adapting temperate European forests to climate change Forestry S7 (4), 492–503.soks, M.E., Kristensen, K., van Benchem, K.J., Magnusson, A., Berg, C.W., Nielsen, A.,
- Skaug, H.J., Machler, M., Bolker, B.M., 2017, glmmTMB balances speed and flexibility among packages for zero-inflated generalized linear mixed modeling. The
- Buckley, P., & Mills, J. (2015). Coppice silviculture: from the Mesolithic to the 21st century. Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes; Kirby K, Watkins C (Eds). Cabi Int, Oxfordshire, UK, 77-92.
- ckley, P., 2020, Copt e restora n and conse tion: a Euro
- Journal of Porest Research 1–9. Bürgi, M. (2015). Close-to-nature forestry. Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes; Kirby K, Watkins C (Eds). Cabi Int, Oxfordshire, UK. 107-115.
- otti, F., Pollastrini, M., Holland, V., Brueggemann, W., 2015. Funct adaptive capacity of European forests to climate change. Environ. Exp. Bot. 111. 91-113.
- Carr, A., Weatherall, A., Jones, G., 2019. The effects of thinning management on bats and their insect prey in temperate broadleaved woodland. Por. Ecol. Manage. 457. 117682
- Catto, C.M.C., Hutson, A.M., Raccey, P.A., Stephenson, P.J., 1996. Foraging beha and habitat use of the serotine bat (Eptesicus serotinus) in southern England. J. Zool. 238 (4) 623-633
- Graver, A., 2016. Bat and offer diversity and more properties of matrice and tree composition in European forests. Occologia 182 (2), 529–537.
 Charman, E.C., Smith, K.W., Gruar, D.J., Dodd, S., Grice, P.V., 2010. Characteristics of woods used recently and historically by Lesser Sported Woodpeckers Dendrocopo minor in England. Ibis 152 (3), 543–555.
 Cistrone, L., Altea, T., Matteucci, G., Posillico, M., De Cinti, B., Russo, D., 2015. The

- Castrone, L., Attea, T., Matteucci, G., Posilico, M., De Cini, B., Russo, D., 2015. The effect of thinning on bat activity in Italian high forests: the LIFF+ " ManFor C. BD." experience. Hystrix, the Italian. J. Mammal. 26 (2), 125–131.
 Claireau, F., Bas, Y., Pauwels, J., Barré, K., Machon, N., Allegrini, B., Puechmaille, S.J., Kerbiriou, C., 2019. Major roads have important negative effects on insectivorous bat activity. Biol. Conserv. 235, 53–62.
- Davidson-Wats, I., Walls, S., Jones, G., 2006. Differential habitat selection by Pipistrellus pipistrellus and Pipistrellus pygmaeus identifies distinct conservation needs for cryptic species of echolocating bats. Biol. Conserv. 133 (1), 118–127.
- needs for cryptic species of ecnolocating back, biol. conserv. 133 (1), 116–127.
 Dieler, J., Uhl, E., Biber, P., Müller, J., Rötzer, T., Pretzsch, H., 2017. Effect of forest stand management on species composition, structural diversity, and productivity in the temperate zone of Europe, Eur. J. Forest Res. 136 (4), 739–766.
 Dietz, M., Brombacher, M., Erasmy, M., Fenchuk, V., Simon, O., 2018. Bat community and roost site selection of tree-dwelling bats in a well-preserved European lowland forest. Acta Chiropterologica 20 (1), 117–127.
 Denzinger, A., Schnitzler, H.U., 2013. Bat guilds, a concept to classify the highly diverse forozine and echolection behaviors of microchiroptern bars. Front Physical 4
- foraging and echolog ion behaviors of microchiropteran bats. Front. Phys
- Downs, N.C., Racey, P.A., 2006. The use by bats of habitat features in mixed farmland in
- Bowing, Hoc, Racey, P.A., 2000. The use by outs of induction fractional infection infection infection in the section of the
- Felipe-Lucia, M.R., Soliveres, S., Penone, C., Manning, P., van der Plas, F., Boch, S., Prati, D., Ammer, C., Schall, P., Gossner, M.M., Bauhus, J., 2018. Multiple fore attributes underpin the supply of multiple ecosystem services. Nat. Commun. 9 un. 9 (1). 1-11.
- Forestry Commission (2019) Managing England's woodlands in a climate emergency. A guide to help foresters and agents implement adaptation actions. Version 1. Forestry Commission. Online. Date accessed 8/12/2019. https://www.gov.uk/government/
- publications/managing-englands-un-aclimate-emergency.
 Frey-Ehrenbold, A., Bontadina, F., Arlettaz, R., Obrist, M.K., 2013. Landscap connectivity, habitat structure and activity of bat guilds in farmland-doi ated
- matrices, J. Appl. Ecol. 50 (1), 252–261.
 Froidevaux, J.S., Zellweger, F., Bollmann, K., Obrist, M.K., 2014. Optimizing passive
- acoustic sampling of bats in forests. Ecol. Evol. 4 (24), 4690-4700. idevaux, J.S., Zellweger, F., Bollmann, K., Jones, G., Obrist, M.K., 2016. From field surveys to LiDAR: shining a light on how bats respond to forest structure. Remote Froidevaux, J.S., Zelly Sens. Environ, 175, 242-250,
- Fuller, R.J., Warren, M.S., 1993. Coppiced woodlands: their management for wildlife. Joint Nature Conservation Committee London. Garin, L. Alhartza, J., Goiti, U., Arrizabalaga-Escudero, A., Nogueras, J., Ibáñez, G.
- 2019. Bats from different foraging guilds prey upon the pine processionary moth. PeerJ 7, e7169.
 Gorresen, P.M., Miles, A.G., Todd, C.M., Bonaccorso, F.J., Weller, T.J., 2008. Assessing
- bat detectability and occupancy with multiple auto J. Mammal. 09 (1), 11-17. ed ech ion detectors

Forest Ecology and Management 483 (2021) 118786

Görföl, T., Haga, K., Dombi, I., 2019, Roost selection of barbastelle bats (Barbastella

- Cortol, T., Haga, K., Domo, L. 2019. Roost selection of parbastelle bart (Barbastella barbastellus) in an intensively managed floodplain forest: implications for conservation. North-Western Journal of Zoology 15 (2), 184–186. Gutztafsson, L., Bauhus, J., Asbeck, T., Augustynczik, A.L.D., Basile, M., Frey, J., Gutzat, F., Hanewinkel, M., Helbach, J., Jonker, M., Knuff, A., 2020. Retention as an integrated biodiversity conservation approach for continuous-cover forestry in Ruemer. Ambie 1.12. rope. Ambio 1-13. Harmer, R., Howe, J., 2003. The silviculture and management of coppice woodlands.
- Han
- Forestry Commission, Edinburgh. mer, R., Kerr, G., Thompson, R., 2010. Managing native broadleaved woodland. The Stationary Office Ltd (TSO). Hilmers, T., Friess, N., Bässler, C., Heurich, M., Brandl, R., Pretzsch, H., Seidl, R., Mall
- r, J., 2018. Biodiversity along temperate forest succession. J. Appl. Ecol. 55 (6), Hill, D.A., Greenaway, F., 2008. Conservation of bats in British woodlands. British
- Wildlife 19 (3), 161.
- Hill, L., Hemery, G., Hector, A., Brown, N., 2019. Maintaining ecosystem properties after loss of ash in Great Britain. J. Appl. Ecol. 56 (2), 282–293.Hopkins, J.J., Kirby, K.J., 2007. Ecological change in British broadleaved woodland since 1947. Ibis 149, 29-40.

- 1947. Ibis 149, 29-40.
 Horak, J., Vokas, S., Kour, J., Halda, J.P., Bogusch, P., Pech, P., 2014. Biodiversity of most dead wood-dependent organisms in thermophilic temperate oak woodlands thrives on diversity of open landscape structures. For. Ecol. Manage. 315, 80-65.
 Humes, M.L., Hayes, J.P., Collopy, M.W., 1999. Bat activity in thinned, unthinned, and old-growth forests in western Oregon. J. Wildl. Manag. 553-561.
 Jones, G., Jacobe, D.S., Kunz, T.H., Willg, M.R., Racey, P.A., 2009. Carpe notem: the importance of bats as bioindicators. Endangered Species Research 8 (1-2), 93-115. Jung, K., Kaiser, S., Söhm, S., Nieschulz, J., Kalko, E.K., 2012. Moving in three dimensions: effects of structural complexity on occurrence and activity of
- insectivorous bats in managed forest stands. J. Appl. Ecol. 49 (2), 523-531.
 Kalda, R., Kalda, O., Löhmus, K., Liira, J., 2015. Multi-scale ecology of woodland bat the role of species pool, landscape complexity and stand structure. Biodivers. Conserv. 24 (2) 337-353. 24 (2), 337–353. Kerr, G., 1999. The use of silvicultural systems to e
- ance the biological diversity of
- Reff, 67, 1999. The dee of structural systems to enhance the biological alternaly of plantation forests in Britinin. Forevery 72 (3), 1911–205.
 Ketzler, L.P., Comer, C.E., Twedt, D.J., 2018. Bat community response to silvicultural treatments in bottomland hardwood forevers managed for wildlife in the Mississippi Alluvial Valley. For: Bcol. Manage. 417, 40–40.
 Kirkpatrick, L., Oldfield, L.P., Park, K., 2017. Responses of bats to clear fell harvesting in
- Sitka Spruce plantations, and implications for wind turbine installation. For. Ecol. Manage, 395, 1–8.Kusch, J., Weber, C., Idelberger, S., Koob, T., 2004. Foraging habitat preferences of bats
- Kush, by Heer, C., hencerger, G., Robert, W., Work, Forgan annual presentes of ban-in relation to food supply and spatial vegetation structures in a western European low mountain range forest. Folio Zoologica Praha 53 (2), 113–128. Kuuluvainen, T., 2009, Forest management and biodiversity conservation based on natural ecosystem dynamics in northern Europe. The complexity challenge. Ambio 38 (6), 309-315.
- ngridge, J., Pisanu, B., Laguet, S., Archaux, F., Tillon, L., 2019. The role of complex vegetation structures in determining hawking bat activity in temperate forests. For.
- Low, B., Park, K. J., & Lacki, M. J. (2016). Insectivorous bats and silviculture: balancing ber production and bat conservation. Bats in the Anthropocene: Conservation
- bats in a changing world, 105-150. Dats in a changing word, 105-150. Lelli, C., Bruun, H.H., Chirarcei, A., Donati, D., Frascaroll, F., Pritz, Ö., Goldberg, L., Nascimbene, J., Tøttrup, A.P., Rahbek, C., Heilmann-Clausen, J., 2019. Biodivers response to forest structure and management: Comparing species richness, conservation relevant species and functional diversity as metics in forest
- conservation, For. Ecol. Manage. 432, 707–717.
 Liang, J., Crowther, T.W., Picard, N., Wiser, S., Zhou, M., Alberti, G., Schulze, E.D., McGuire, A.D., Bozzato, F., Pretzich, H., de-Miguel, S., 2016. Positive biodivers productivity relationship predominant in global forests. Science 354 (6309). aaf8957.
- Löhmus, A., Nellis, R., Pullerits, M., Leivits, M., 2016. The potential for long-term Dominos, A., Veins, K., Funetrio, M., Devis, M., 2010. The potential for tong-term sustainability in seminatural forestry: a broad perspective based on woodpecker populations. Environ. Manage. 57 (3), 558–571. Lučan, R.K., Hanåk, V., Horáček, I., 2009. Long-term re-use of tree roosts by European
- forest bats. For. Ecol. Manage. 258 (7), 1301-1306. Lush, M.J., Hewins, E.J., Lush, C.E., Peterken, G.P., 2012. Woodland Conservation
- Condition Survey Handbook: A method for assessing the nature conservation condition on nor i-statutory woodlands. Version 1.0. exeGesIS SDM Ltd. 65, pp.
- condition on non-statutory woodlands. Version 1.0. excelesis SDM Ltd, 65, pp. Mason, W., Kerr, G., Simpson, J., 1999. What is continuous cover forestry? Informati Note, Forestry Commission, Edinburgh, p. 8. Mason, W.L., 2007. Changes in the management of British forests between 1945 and 2000 and possible future trends. Ibis 149, 41–52. Mendes, E.S., Fonseca, G., Marques, S.F., Maia, D., Pereira, M.J.R., 2017. Bat richnet and activity in heterogeneous landscapes: guild-specific and scale-dependent? Londoream Rev. 262 (0) 2055. 211. ent of British forests between 1945 and
- Landscape Ecol. 32 (2), 295-311.
- Mitchell, R.J., Beaton, J.K., Bellamy, P.E., Broome, A., Chetcuti, J., Eaton, S., Ellis, C.J., Gimona, A., Harmer, R., Hester, A.J., Hewison, R.L., 2014. Ash dieback in the UK: a review of the ecological and conservation implications and potential management
- options. Biol. Conserv. 175, 95–109. Mölder, A., Meyer, P., Nagel, R.V., 2019. Integrative management to sustain biodiversity and ecological continuity in Central European temperate oak (Quercus robur, Q. petraea) forests: An overview. For. Ecol. Manage. 437, 324–339.

- Müller, J., Mehr, M., Bässler, G., Fenton, M.B., Hothorn, T., Pretzsch, H., Klemmt, H.J., Brandl, R., 2012. Aggregative response in bats: prey abundance versus hab Oecologia 169 (3), 673-684.Müller, J., Brandl, R., Buchner, J., Pretzsch, H., Seifert, S., Strätz, C., Veith, M., habir
- Fenton, B., 2013. From ground to above canopy—Bat activity in mature forests is driven by vegetation density and height. For. Ecol. Manage. 306, 179–184. Murphy, S.E., Greenaway, F., Hill, D.A., 2012. Patterns of habitat use by female brown long-eared bats presage negative impacts of woodland conservation manag
- 3. Zool. 283 (3), 177-183. wson, S.E., Evans, H.E., Gillings, S., 2015. A novel citizen science approach for large scale standardised monitoring of bat activity and distribution, evaluated in eastern
- England, Biol. Conserv. 191, 38-49. cngnand, stoi. Conserv. 191, 36–49. son, S.E., Evans, H.E., Gillings, S., Jarrett, D., Raynor, R., Wilson, M.W., 2017. Large-cale citizen science improves assessment of risk posed by wind farms to bats in southern Scotland. Biol. Conserv. 215, 61–71. Net
- Nicholls, B., Racey, P.A., 2006a. Contrasting home-range size and spatial parti
- cryptic and sympatric pipistrelle bars. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 61 (1), 131–142, holls, B., Racey, P.A., 2006b. Habitat selection as a mechanism of resource partitioning in two cryptic bat species Pipistrellus pipistrellus and Pipistrellus pygmaeus. Ecography 29 (5), 697–706. Nich
- Fryamican Exoperative 20(3), 051-960.
 let, Y., Archaux, F., du Puy, S., Bouger, C., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., Gilg, O.,
 Gosselin, F., Guilbert, E., 2018. The indicator side of tree microhabitas: A multi-taxon approach based on bats, birds and saproxylic beetles. J. Appl. Ecol. 55 (5), Paille
- 2147-2159.
- Patriquin, K.J., Barclay, R.M., 2003. Foraging by bats in cleared, thinned and unharvested boreal forest. J. Appl. Ecol. 40 (4), 646-657. Pastur, G.J.M., Vanha-Majamaa, I., Pranklin, J.F., 2020. Ecological perspectives on
- ntion fo estry. Ecological Processes 9 (1), 1-6 Variable Freemon foreary, Boological Process 9 (1), 1-6.
 Peterken, G. F. (2015). 18 Woodland History in the British Isles-An Interaction of Environmental and Cultural Forces. Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes; Kirby K, Watkins C (Eds). Cabi Int, Oxfordshire, Un acc.
- UK. 265. G., Mountford, E., 2017. Woodland Development: A Long-term Study of Lady Park Wood. CABI.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., Team, R. C. 2020, nlme: linear and
- Pinneto, F., Dates, D., Deboy, G., Bahad, D., Feln, K. G., 2020. Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inter-Inte ed Species T2553A22029285.en. Date accessed 14th November 2019.
- Plank, M., Fiedler, K., Reiter, G., 2012. Use of forest strata by ba J. Zool. 226 (2), 154–162.
- Poore, A., 2016. Rushmore Estate Woods; management plan 2016-2026. Estate Office, Tollard Royal, Wiltshire,
- Fonard Roya, Wilson, S.M., Baker, S.C., Donoso, P.J., Drössler, L., Amente, G., Putz, F. E., 2015. Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged forest management-what limits global adoption? Forest Ecosystems 2 (1), 8.
- Pukkala, T., 2016. Which type of forest management provides most ecosystem services?
- Pitkala, 1, 2010. minute type. 9 Forest Ecosystems 3 (1), 9.
 Rackham, O., 2003. Ancient woodland, its history, vegetation and uses in England, 2nd edn. Castlepoint Press, Dalbeattie, UK.
- Rackham, O. (1986). The history of the countryside. J M Dent & Sons. Ratham, O. (1900) The motory of the county state 5 m bent & sola.
 Rainho, A., Augusto, A.M., Palmeirim, J.M., 2010. Influence of vegetation clutter on the capacity of ground foraging bats to capture prev. J. Appl. Ecol. 47 (4), 850–856.
 Read, H., 2000. Veteran Trees A guide to good management. English Nature, on clutter on the
- M. H., Soos Vetrain Free A guide to good managements angular Nature, Peterborough (United Kingdom). aner, S.C., Suarez-Rubio, M., Kaiser, S., Nieschulze, J., Kalko, E.K., Tschapka, M., Jung, K., 2018. Divergent response to forest structure of two mobile vertebrate
- groups. For. Ecol. Manage. 415, 129–138. nery, B., Couvet, D., Kubarek, L., Julien, J.F., Kerbiriou, C., 2013. Tree microhabitats as indicators of bird and bat communities in Mediterranean forests. Ecol. Ind, 34, Reg as indicat 221-230.
- Remm J. Lohmus A. 2011. Tree cavities in forests-the broad distribution pattern of a keystone structure for biodiversity. For. Ecol. Manage. 262 (4), 579–565.
 Rodwell, J. S. (Ed.). (1998). British plant communities: volume 1, woodlands and scrub
- (Vol. 1). Cambridge University Press. Russ A Guide to Species Identification, Pelagic Publishing, J.M., 2012, Briti h Bat Calls
- Rosset, C., Brand, R., Caillard, I., Fiedler, U., Gollut, C., Schmocker, A., Weber, D., Wuillemin, E. and Dumollard, G., (2014). MOTI-L'inventaire forestier facilité par le smartphone. Haute école des sciences agronomiques, forestières et alimentaires HAFL
- o, D., Cistrone, L., Jones, G., Mazzoleni, S., 2004. Roost selection by barbastelle bats Russo, D., Castione, L., Jones, G., Mazzorell, S., 2004. Robinstelle bats (Barbastella Barbastellus, Chiroptera: Vespertiloudae) in beech woodlands of central Italy: consequences for conservation. Biol. Conserv. 117 (1), 73–81. Russo, D., Cistrone, L., Jones, G., 2005. Spatial and temporal patterns of roost use by tree-dwelling barbastelle bats Barbastella barbastellus. Ecography 28 (6), 769–776.
- Russo, D., Billington, G., Bontadina, F., Dekker, J., Dietz, M., Gazariyan, S., Jones, G., Meschede, A., Rebelo, H., Reiter, G., Ruczyński, I., 2016. Identifying key research objectives to make European forests greener for bats. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 4, 87.

chez. C. 2017. Pro Silva Silviculture: Guidelines on Continuous Cover Forestry/Close Management Practices, Foret Wallonne, Namur, Belg

Sovill, P. (2015). High forest management and the rise of even-aged stands. Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes; Kirby K, Watkins C (Eds), Cabi Int. Oxfordshire, UK, 93-106,

- Schall, P., Gossner, M.M., Heinrichs, S., Fischer, M., Boch, S., Prati, D., Buscot, F., 2018. The impact of even-aged and uneven-aged forest management on regional biodiversity of multiple taxa in European beech forests. J. Appl. Ecol. 55 (1), 2020 0780 (2020). 267-278
- 207–270.
 Senf, G., Pflugmacher, D., Zhiqiang, Y., Sebald, J., Knom, J., Neumann, M., Hostert, P., Seidl, R., 2018. Canopy mortality has doubled in Europe's temperate forests over the last three decades. Nat. Commun. 9 (1), 4978.
- nast intere declates, Val. Commun. 9 (1), 49/5.
 Siltonen, J., & Ranius, T. (2015). The Importance of Veteran Trees for Saproxylic Insects.
 Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes; Kirby K, Watkins C (Eds). Cabi Int, Oxfordshire, UK, 140.
- K. Watkins C (Eds). Cabi Int, Oxfordshire, UK, 140. Siemers, B.M., Schnitzler, H.-U., 2000. Natterer's bat (Myotis nattereri Kuhl, 1818) hawks for prey close to vegetation using echolocation signals of very broad bandwidth. Behavioural Ecology & Sociobiology 47, 400–412. Siemers, B.M., Schnitzler, H.U., 2004. Echolocation signals reflect niche differentiation in five sympatric congeneric bat species. Nature 429 (6992), 657–661. Spencer, J.W., Kirby, K.J., 1992. An ancient woodland inventory for England and Wales.
- Spencer, J.W., Kirby, K.J., 1992. An ancient woodland inventory for England and Wales. Biol. Conserv. 62, 77–93.
 Starik, N., Görtert, T., Heitlinger, E., Zeller, U., 2018. Bat Community Responses to Structural Habitat Complexity Resulting from Management Practices Within Different Land Use Types.—A Case Study from North-Eastern Germany. Acta Chiropperologica 20 (2), 387–405.
 Storch, I., Penner, J., Asbeck, T., Baaile, M., Bauhus, J., Braunisch, V., Dormann, C.F., Frey, J., Gärtner, S., Hanewinkel, M., Koch, B., 2020. Evaluating the effectiveness of retention forestry to enhance biodiversity in production forests of Central Europe using an interdisciplinary, multi-scale approach. Ecol. Evol. 10 (3), 1489–1509.

- Susse, R., Allegrini, C., Bruciamacchie, M., Burrus, R., (2011). Management of Irregular Forests: developing the full potential of the forest. Association Putaie Irreguliere. English translation P. Morgan, 1449.Swift, S.M., Racey, P.A., 1953. Resource partitioning in two species of vespertilionid bats (Chiroptera) occupying the same root. J. Zool. 200 (2), 249–259.Swift, S., Bacey, P., 2002. Cleaning as a foraging strategy in Natterer's bat Myotiz naturerr. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 52 (5), 400–416.
- Thompson, I., Mackey, B., McNulty, S., & Mosseler, A. (2009). Forest resilience, biodiversity, and climate change. In Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal. Technical Series no. 43, 1-67. (Vol. 43, pp. 1-67).

- Diversity, Montreal. Fermical series no. 45, 1-07, (vol. 45, pp. 1-07).
 Tillon, L., Breso, K., Aulagnier, S., 2015. Tree selection by roosting bats in a European temperate lowland cub-Atlantic forest. Mammalia 80 (3), 271-279.
 Tillon, L., Bouget, C., Paillet, Y., Aulagnier, S., 2016. How does deadwood structure temperate forest bat assemblages? Eur. J. Forest Res. 135 (3), 433-449.
 Tillon, L., Langridge, J., Aulagnier, S., 2018. Bat Conservation Management in Exploited European Temperate Porests. In Bats. IntechOpen.
- European Temperate Porests. In Bata. IntechOpen.
 Titchenell, M.A., Williams, R.A., Gehrt, S.D., 2011. Bat response to shelterwood harvests and forest structure in oak-hickory forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 262 (6), 980–988.
 Wilson, E., Short, I., Ni Dhubhain, A., 2018. Continuous Cover Porestry: The rise of transformational silviculture. Forestry Journal 283, 33–40.
 Wood, H., Lindborg, R., Jakobston, S., 2017. European Union tree density limits do not reflect bat diversity in wood-paratures. Biol. Conserv. 210, 60–71.
 Zeale, M.R., Davidson-Watts, I., Jones, G., 2012. Home range use and habitat selection by barbastelle bats (Barbastella barbastellus): implications for conservation.
 J. Mammal. 93 (4), 1110–1118.
 Zum A. Jeno E.N. Waller, N. Savaliev, A.A. Smith, G.M. 2009. Mixed effects models.

- J. Mammal. 99 (4), 1110–1116. Zuur, A., Ieno, E.N., Walker, N., Saveliev, A.A., Smith, G.M., 2009. Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Springer Science & Business Media.

S 1. Pairwise comparisons for overall night encounter rate (mean bats per hour) and occupancy (proportion of 10 min periods in which the species was recorded per night) as a measure of activity across night at each stand types and between survey periods for nine bat species. P values in bold are significant. Zero inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Models with Gamma distribution were run using the package "glmmTMB" on the encounter rate. Activity levels were analysed using a GLMM with a binomial distribution using the package "LME4".

			Encou	nter Rates		Activi	ity Levels	
Species	Fixed eff	ects	Estimate±SE	z/t	р	Estimate±SE	z/t	р
Barbastelle	I	rr - Lim	0.47±0.61	0.77	0.72	1.48±0.80	1.84	0.155
Barbastella barbas	stellus (Cop - Lim	0.03±0.67	0.05	1.000	-1.12±0.84	-1.34	0.370
SRE	(Cop - Irr	-0.44±0.59	-0.74	0.740	-2.60±0.77	-3.37	0.002
	5	Sur 2 Lim	-0.05±0.52	0.515	0.931	0.05±0.27	0.19	0.851
	5	Sur 2 Irr	0.26±0.27	0.96	0.340	0.07±0.12	0.54	0.588
	5	Sur 2 Cop	0.004±0.47	0.01	0.994	0.65±0.25	2.57	0.008
Serotine	I	rr - Lim	1.16±0.35	3.31	0.003	2.15±0.63	3.45	0.002
Eptesicus serotinu	s (Cop - Lim	0.28±0.35	0.82	0.690	1.83±0.67	2.71	0.018
LRE	G	Cop - Irr	-0.87±0.29	-3.05	0.007	-0.34±0.49	-0.68	0.773
	5	Sur 2 Lim	-0.13±0.28	-0.47	0.641	0.47±0.31	1.53	0.125
	5	Sur 2 Irr	-0.67±0.22	-3.00	0.003	-0.06±0.16	-0.38	0.703
	S	Sur 2 Cop	-0.44±0.24	-1.85	0.064	-0.46±0.24	-1.91	0.057
Daubenton's	I	rr - Lim	0.004±0.35	0.01	1.000	0.62±0.59	1.04	0.550
Myotis daubentoni	<u>i</u> (Cop - Lim	-0.96±0.38	-2.52	0.031	-1.33±0.66	-2.00	0.110
MRE	(Cop - Irr	-0.97±0.34	-2.85	0.012	-1.95±0.65	-3.00	0.007
	5	Sur 2 Lim	-0.82±0.33	-2.50	0.012	-0.33±0.21	-1.60	0.109

	Sur 2 Irr	-0.20±0.24	-0.82	0.412	-0.16±0.14	-1.10	0.273
	Sur 2 Cop	0.33±0.36	0.90	0.365	0.03±0.27	0.12	0.905
Whiskered/Brandt's	Irr - Lim	-0.29±0.50	-0.57	0.840	-0.55±0.43	-1.29	0.403
M. mystacinus/brandtii	Cop - Lim	0.97±0.50	-1.92	0.130	-1.63±0.42	-3.90	<0.001
MRE	Cop - Irr	-0.68±0.45	-1.52	0.280	-1.08±0.44	-2.47	0.036
	Sur 2 Lim	-1.11±0.39	-2.88	0.004	-0.64±0.14	-4.55	<0.001
	Sur 2 Irr	0.38±0.39	1.04	0.300	0.07±0.12	0.55	0.579
	Sur 2 Cop	0.72±0.42	1.72	0.086	0.40±0.15	2.65	0.008
Natterer's	Irr - Lim	-0.14±0.41	-0.340	0.940	-1.68±0.43	-3.90	<0.001
M. naterreri	Cop - Lim	-0.48±0.43	-1.13	0.500	-2.54±0.49	-5.22	<0.001
SRE	Cop - Irr	-0.34±0.44	-0.77	0.720	-0.86±0.50	-1.73	0.195
	Sur 2 Lim	-0.46±0.30	-1.52	0.127	-0.99±0.18	-5.49	<0.001
	Sur 2 Irr	0.30±0.32	0.94	0.350	0.08±0.16	0.51	0.610
	Sur 2 Cop	0.06±0.36	0.15	0.879	0.22±0.22	1.01	0.310
Noctule	Irr - Lim	-0.82±0.45	-1.81	0.170	-0.6±0.71	-0.84	0.670
Nyctalus noctula	Cop - Lim	-0.39±0.40	-0.98	0.590	0.52±0.61	0.85	0.670
LRE	Cop - Irr	0.43±0.39	1.09	0.520	1.12±0.73	1.55	0.270
	Sur 2 Lim	-0.008±0.31	-0.03	0.980	-0.45±0.22	-2.06	0.039
	Sur 2 Irr	-0.28±0.45	-0.63	0.527	-0.31±0.34	-0.92	0.356
	Sur 2 Cop	-0.32±0.39	-0.84	0.403	-0.72±0.27	-2.61	0.009
Brown long eared	Irr - Lim	0.56±0.54	1.03	0.550	2.58±0.99	2.61	0.024
Plecotus auratus/austriacus	Cop - Lim	-0.31±0.54	-0.57	0.830	1.77±1.01	1.75	0.183
SRE	Cop - Irr	-0.87±0.37	-2.33	0.050	-0.80±0.75	-1.08	0.523
	Sur 2 Lim	-0.21±0.53	-0.39	0.696	0.62±0.44	1.42	0.157
	Sur 2 Irr	-0.65±0.23	-2.81	0.005	-0.31±0.18	-1.67	0.094
	Sur 2 Cop	0.07±0.34	0.20	0.844	-0.41±0.29	-1.39	0.166
Common pipistrelle	Irr - Lim	1.07±0.49	2.20	0.071	2.82±0.45	6.31	<0.001
Pipistrellus pipistrellus	Cop - Lim	-0.78±0.48	-1.63	0.232	0.96±0.35	2.75	0.016
MRE	Сор - Ін	-1.85±0.46	-4.06	<0.001	-1.86±0.43	-4.31	<0.001
	Sur 2 Lim	0.32±0.33	0.97	0.330	0.60±0.07	8.06	<0.001

	Sur 2 Irr	0.02±0.29	0.08	0.933	-0.25±0.06	-3.83	<0.001
	Sur 2 Cop	-0.08±0.32	-0.24	0.814	0.13±0.08	1.61	0.108
Soprano pipistrelle	Irr - Lim	-0.54±0.52	-1.06	0.540	-0.06±0.64	-0.10	0.995
P.pygmaeus	Cop - Lim	-1.38±0.55	-2.52	0.032	-1.83±0.56	-3.25	0.003
MRE	Cop - Irr	-0.84±0.53	-1.57	0.258	-1.77±0.66	-2.66	0.021
	Sur 2 Lim	-0.79±0.34	-2.33	0.020	-0.39±0.10	-4.09	<0.001
	Sur 2 Irr	0.09±0.36	0.24	0.811	-0.29±0.12	-2.45	0.014
	Sur 2 Cop	-0.03±0.50	-0.06	0.953	0.21±0.17	1.22	0.224



S 2. Median ± Inter-quartile ranges of bat species richness by stand type and survey period.

S 3. Habitat difference across stand type. Median values and Interquartile range in parenthesis and results for mixed effect model with stand number as random factor for difference across stand type. Measured continuous variables were analysed using Linear mixed model ^a or GLMM with a gamma distribution ^b. Count data was analysed with a GLMM with Poisson distribution ^c. For percentage data an arcsine transformation was applied to the data and analysed using a Linear Mixed effects Model ^d. Significant difference between stands indicated by letter (p < 0.05), L – Limited, I – Irregular and C – Coppice

Habitat Variable	Limited	Irregular	Coppice	
				Р
Basel Area ^b	29.0 (9) IC	20.0 (7.5) L	16.5 (9) L	<0.001
Canopy Openness ^d	9.2 (5.1) I	16.8 (12.0) L	9.4 (4.7)	0.038
Mean DBH ^b	41.6 (18.5)	48.8 (17.2)	36.5 (32.5)	0.029
Largest DBH ^b	70.0 (29.3)	62.5 (26.6)	56.0 (33.8)	0.553
No. Tree Species ^c	2.0(1)	2.0 (0.3)	2.0(1)	0.755
No. Oak ^c	0.0 (0) IC	1.0 (2) L	0.5 (1) L	< 0.001
No. Ash ^c	2.0 (2)	3.0 (2) C	1.5 (3) I	0.048
Snag Frequency ^c	8.0 (5.5)	12.0 (9.3) C	7.0 (8.3) I	0.031
Fallen Logs ^c	5.0 (9.3) C	1.5 (5)	0 (3.3) L	< 0.001
Density 0.5m ^d	7.5 (18.3) IC	40 (51.5) L	54 (52) L	<0.001
Density 2m ^d	16.3 (17.5) C	21.3 (19.4) C	60.6 (48.1) IL	< 0.001
Sapling 3cm ^a	0.6 (1.7) C	2.1 (5.5) C	15.7 (20) IL	< 0.001
Sapling 3 – 7.5cm ^a	0.8 (1.3) C	0.4 (3.1) C	4.0 (5.4) IL	< 0.001
Tree_50cm ^c	1.5 (1)	2.0 (2)	1.0(2)	0.253
Tree.17.5_50cm °	11.5 (11.5) IC	5 (7) LC	2 (3.3) IL	<0.001
Tree.7.5.17.5cm ^c	72.5 (38)	18.0 (22.5)	9.0 (25.8)	0.073
All Stems ^b	85.8 (40.3) IC	31.5 (25.4) L	42.0 (30) L	<0.001
Bramble ^d	0.0 (0) I	29.1 (55.7) LC	3.6 (20.9) I	< 0.001
Bare Ground ^d	35.7 (51.7) IC	0 (15.1) L	8.4 (25.7) L	0.001
Understory Age ^c	50.0 (20) IC	9.0 (9.5) L	7.0(6.5) L	<0.001

Variables	1		Mean dbh	ofOak	-	frequency		logs density 0.5m density 2m 3cm	density 2m	3cm	μ	>50cm	17.5_50cm	7.5-17.5cm	All stems	Bramble		mercury	cover
Basal area Canony openness	0.000	0.000	0.246	0.0011	0.866	0.001 <	0.023	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0001	0.269	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.000
Mean dbh	0.422	0.246		< 0.0001		< 0.0001	0.004	0.294	0.054	0.002		< 0.0001	0.188	0.098	0.000	0.066	0.927	0.018	0.148
Number of Oak	0.011			0		< 0.0001	0.510	0.004	0.199	0.031		< 0.0001	0.022	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.004	0.108	0.040	0.814
Number of Ash	0.866		0.005	0.062	0	0.342	0.506	0.347	0.022	0.007		0.199	0.010	0.022	0.000	0.002	0.003	0.761	0.016
Snags frequency	0.801	0.001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.342	0	0.479	0.897	0.070	0.097		< 0.0001	0.211	0.040	0.000	0.003	0.121	0.364	0.044
Fallen logs	< 0.0001	0.023		0.510	0.506	0.479	0	0.000	0.050	0.002	0.492	0.172	0.000	0.001	0.010	< 0.0001		< 0.0001	0.114
Understorey density 0.5m	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.294	0.004	0.347	0.897	0.000	0	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.566	0.838	0.005	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001		< 0.0001	0.545
Understorey density 2m	< 0.0001	0.537	0.054	0.199	0.022	0.070	0.050	< 0.0001	0	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.633	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.113	0.043		0.000	0.005
Sapling dbh 3cm	< 0.0001	0.405	0.002	0.031	0.007	0.097	0.002	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0	< 0.0001	0.099	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.100	0.230	0.225	< 0.0001	0.000
Sapling dbh 3-7.5cm	0.191	< 0.0001	0.023	0.559	0.047	0.071	0.492	0.566	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0	0.459	0.001	0.507	0.054	0.002	0.062	0.548 <	< 0.0001
Tree dbh >50cm	0.269		< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.199	< 0.0001	0.172	0.838	0.633	0.099	0.459	0	0.113	0.139	0.003	0.072	0.746		0.832
Tree dbh17.5_50cm	< 0.0001	0.822	0.188	0.022	0.010	0.211	0.000	0.005	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.001	0.113	0	0.003	0.014	0.621	0.045	0.000 < 0.0001	0.0
Tree dbh 7.5-17.5cm	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.098	0.098 < 0.0001	0.022	0.040	0.001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.507	0.139	0.003	0	< 0.0001	< 0.0001		< 0.0001	0.298
All stems	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.000	< 0.0001	0.000	0.000	0.010	< 0.0001	0.113	0.100	0.054	0.003	0.014	< 0.0001	0	< 0.0001		0.001	0.584
Bramble	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.066	0.004	0.002	0.003 <	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.043	0.230	0.002	0.072	0.621	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.891
Bareground	< 0.0001 < 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.927	0.108	0.003	0.121	0.000	< 0.0001	0.735	0.225	0.062	0.746	0.045	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0	0.002 < 0.0001	0.0
Dog's mercury	< 0.0001	0.012	0.018	0.040	0.761	0.364 <	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.000	< 0.0001	0.548	0.155	0.000	< 0.0001	0.001	< 0.0001	0.002	0	0.542
Variables	Basal area	C anopy openness	Mean dbh	Number of Oak	Number of Ash	Snags frequency	Fallen logs	Understorey density 0.5m	Understorey density 2m	Sapling dbh 3cm	Sapling dbh 3-7.5cm	Tree dbh >50cm	H	Tree dbh Tree dbh 7.5 7.5_50cm 17.5cm	All stems	Bramble	Bare- ground	Dog's mercury	Moss
Basal area		-0.33	0.07	-0.23		0.02		-0.65	-0.44	-0.57		-0.10	0.62	0.65	0.55	-0.41	0.45	0.42	-0.32
Canopy openness	-0.33	1.00	0.11	0.26	0.03	0.30	-0.21	0.46	-0.06	-0.08	-0.52	0.05	0.02	-0.39	-0.48	0.59	-0.44	-0.23	-0.27
Mean dbh	0.07	0.11	1.00	0.44	0.26	0.61	0.26	-0.10	-0.18	-0.29		0.83	0.12	-0.15	-0.33	0.17	0.01	0.22	-0.13
Number of Oak	-0.23	0.26	0.44	1.00	-0.17	0.46	-0.06	0.26	0.12	0.20		0.47	-0.21	-0.35	-0.39	0.26	-0.15	-0.19	0.02
Number of Ash	0.02	0.03	0.26	-0.17	1.00	0.09	0.06	-0.09	-0.21	-0.25	-0.18	0.12	0.23	-0.21	-0.34	0.28	-0.27	-0.03	0.22
Snags frequency	0.02	0.30	0.61	0.46	0.09	1.00	0.07	-0.01	-0.17	-0.15		0.49	0.11	-0.19	-0.34	0.27	-0.14	0.08	-0.18
Fallenlogs	0.37	-0.21	0.26	-0.06	0.06	0.07	1.00	-0.33	-0.18	-0.29		0.13	0.33	0.31	0.24	-0.38	0.32	0.47	-0.14
Understorey density 0.5m	-0.65	0.46	-0.10	0.26	-0.09	-0.01	-0.33	1.00	0.57	0.53	-0.05	-0.02	-0.25	-0.62	-0.49	0.60	-0.40	-0.54	0.06
Understorey density 2m	-0.44	-0.06	-0.18	0.12	-0.21	-0.17	-0.18	0.57	1.00	0.69		-0.04	-0.38	-0.37	-0.15	0.19	-0.03	-0.35	0.26
Sapling dbh 3cm	-0.57	-0.08	-0.29	0.20	-0.25	-0.15	-0.29	0.53	0.69	1.00	0.49	-0.15	-0.53	-0.47	-0.15	0.11	-0.11	-0.41	0.34
Sapling dbh 3-7.5cm	-0.12	-0.52	-0.21	0.05	-0.18	-0.17	0.06	-0.05	0.45	0.49		-0.07	-0.31	0.06	0.18	-0.28	0.17	-0.06	0.49
Tree dbh >50cm	-0.10	0.05	0.83	0.47	0.12	0.49	0.13	-0.02	-0.04	-0.15	-0.07	1.00	-0.15	-0.14	-0.27	0.16	-0.03	0.13	-0.02
Tree dbh17.5_50cm	0.62	0.02	0.12	-0.21	0.23	0.11	0.33	-0.25	-0.38	-0.53	-0.31	-0.15	1.00	0.27	0.22	-0.05	0.18	0.34	-0.37
Tree dbh 7.5-17.5cm	0.65	-0.39	-0.15	-0.35	-0.21	-0.19	0.31	-0.62	-0.37	-0.47	0.06	-0.14	0.27	1.00	0.88	-0.52	0.35	0.42	-0.10
All stems	0.55	-0.48	-0.33	-0.39	-0.34	-0.34	0.24	-0.49	-0.15	-0.15	0.18	-0.27	0.22	0.88	1.00	-0.59	0.42	0.31	-0.05
Bramble	-0.41	0.59	0.17	0.26	0.28	0.27	-0.38	0.60	0.19	0.11	-0.28	0.16	-0.05	-0.52	-0.59	1.00	-0.62	-0.46	-0.01
Bareground	0.45	-0.44	0.01	-0.15	-0.27	-0.14	0.32	-0.40	-0.03	-0.11	0.17	-0.03	0.18	0.35	0.42	-0.62	1.00	0.27	-0.42
q		20 0	0.22	-0.19	-0.03	0.08	0.47	-0.54	-0.35	-0.41	-0.06	0.13	0.34	0.42	0.31	-0.46	0.27	1.00	-0.06
Dog's mercury	0.42	-0.20								10.04	0.4.0	c U U	7 6 0	010	005	-0.01	0 1 7	-0.06	1 00

5.4. Spearman's correlation table for testing habitat straibles and selection of those to use in bat activity and habitat association model: slove probability

Chapter 6 Discussion

6.1 Context of the research

The introduction of a novel continuous cover forestry using Irregular high forest management, into an ancient semi-natural woodland, presented a unique opportunity to understand the influence of structural changes across a range of taxonomic groups. It is timely given the increasing urgency for both foresters and nature conservationists to consider different options of forest and woodland management against a backdrop of climate change (Larsen et al. 2022). The demise of traditional coppice management across Europe raises concerns for the conservation of ancient woodlands and their inherent biocultural interests (Müllerová et al. 2015). A key question asks if there are alternative forms of silvicultural management which maintain coppice-associated species (Kirby et al. 2017). As demonstrated in this thesis, a lack of management has been linked with reduced structural heterogeneity and lower species richness and abundances in key woodland groups. Woodland resilience in response to climate change and new pest and disease outbreaks has been highlighted as a key challenge to forest management given the increasing and multiple demands being placed upon woodlands and their ability to sustain natural capital for the benefit of society (Stafford et al. 2021, Spencer and Field 2019). Importantly, woodland species which depend upon woodland functional resources, are vital to ecosystem functioning and woodland resilience (Spencer 2018). Continuous cover forestry, of which Irregular high forest is one silvicultural system, is being encouraged in Europe as it may mitigate risks from extremes in temperature and weather events, through diversification of stand structure and tree species composition (Vitkova and Dhubháin 2013, Tew et al. 2021). However, demonstrating the effects on biodiversity following transformation towards irregular structures in temperate forests remains a priority to inform ecologists and foresters alike (Kjučukov et al. 2022). This thesis has brought together forestry and ecology expertise and highlights some important findings from research undertaken in southern Britain. A primary aim for the study has been to address the paucity of information around the introduction of Irregular high forest in Britain (Mason et al. 2022). Moreover, understanding how structure varies between and within silvicultural management types; traditional coppiced woodlands,

recently established Irregular high forest stands, transitional high forest stands that are undergoing the initial stages of transformation towards Irregular structure, and limited intervention stands, those that had been unmanaged for at least 30 years, was fundamental to this research as much as how species responded to it.

The research objectives addressed were:

1) To examine the structural habitat characteristics of vegetation within the study woodlands and identify how any variations relate to stand management.

2) To examine the composition and richness of woodland flora community using phytosociological groups and relate these to the structural habitat characteristics across the following stand management types; coppice, Irregular and limited intervention.

3) To identify patterns of bird community composition and abundance in Spring and Winter across different woodland management regimes of the broadleaf woodland mosaic (i.e., between areas of coppiced woodlands, irregular high forest stands, transitional stands and limited intervention stands).

4) To identify the bat community composition, present within each stand type and identify the relative patterns of activity for each species. Activity was defined by analysis using acoustic recognition, and to examine the habitat structural characteristics of those locations used by bats across the stands.

5) To use the results of 1-4 to produce recommendations and guidance to the forestry and statutory nature conservation bodies.

Ancient semi-natural woodlands in Britain are valuable repositories of biological and cultural legacies in the landscape (Rackham 2003). They have an 'ecological memory' that retains evidence of past events including intensive human exploitation (Vellend *et al.* 2007, Kirby *et al.* 2022, Ogle *et al.* 2015). Yet, ancient woodlands are facing uncertainties as the climate changes and withdrawal of management alters the composition of their inherent species (Rackham 2008). Continuity of management is recognised as important

when considering the nature conservation value of ancient woodland as much because of the cultural associations alongside the biological interests that arose (Dolman et al. 2017, Bergès and Dupouey 2021). Demands for sustainable timber resources are likely to increase and expectations for woodlands to provide multiple ecosystem services are accelerated as society looks to the natural world to adapt and mitigate the predicted worse-case scenarios of the human-induced ecological crisis (Hahn et al. 2021). While continuity of management is deemed important it remains unclear how ancient woodlands will respond to changes in silviculture practice (Fichtner and Härdtle 2021). Furthermore, uncertainties exist over climate effects on woodland vegetation from raised temperatures (thermophilisation) with some evidence of thermal buffering provided by tree canopy retention (Zellweger *et al.* 2020). The extent of woods and forests has been altered considerably since the last ice-age c.10,000 years BCE, much of which as a result of human activity and exploitation (Rackham 2003). Tree composition has changed and with a comparatively low number of tree species present in ancient seminatural woodlands in the UK, options available for their sustainable management in a rapidly changing climate requires careful consideration (Spencer and Field 2019). Moreover, throughout their history, the extent of ancient and semi-natural woodlands has varied according to changes in exploitation by people and livestock or abandonment; woodlands in many places have been temporally dynamic in how open or closed canopy they were (Barnes and Williamson 2015).

Many ancient broadleaf woodlands in lowland Britain and central and southern Europe have a long tradition of coppice management over many centuries (Buckley 2020). This created significant areas of young woody growth, cyclically felled on short rotations of between 7 and 25 years (Harmer and Howe 2003). Despite intensive management specialist woodland plant species associated with the periodic opening followed by rapid canopy closure thrived and distinct flora developed as a result (Decocq *et al.* 2005). Abandonment of coppice management has led to a reduction and loss of this community as a result of structural homogenisation through canopy closure and shading with only plants tolerant of such conditions, remaining (Kopecký *et al.* 2013). These structural changes are known to negatively affect several woodland birds, with species associated with the early to mid-successional stages of woody growth found in coppice cycle,

declining as important nesting and foraging resources disappear (Fuller 1992). Ancient semi-natural broadleaf woodland is also important for all species of UK bats *Chiroptera* where foraging and roosting sites include a range of structural attributes including cavities, splits and woodpecker holes associated with old growth and deadwood and open canopy areas with woodland edge ecotones (Erasmy *et al.* 2021, Dietz *et al.* 2009). Further, Barbastelle bat *Barbastella barbastellus* a rare woodland specialist requires a combination of the above resources when selecting maternity roosts (Kortmann *et al.* 2018).

6.2 Synopsis of results

There were many striking variations identified between the stand management types with most habitat structural measures showing significant differences. Higher basal area and higher total stem counts were found in limited intervention stands, which lacked any understorey. These stands represent a time since last management of at least 30 years and some up to 50 years, which has led to a simplified structure and a closed canopy. The larger trees in this study were associated with Irregular stands where mean diameter at breast height (dBH) was most positively related. Large trees provide critical resources for woodland biodiversity (Lindenmayer et al. 2014). Both coppice and Irregular high forest being open canopy, exhibited different understorey characteristics compared with limited intervention stands and transitional stand management. The latter representing an intermediate stage following an initial silvicultural intervention after a long period, c.30 years, of neglect. While coppice and Irregular stands shared similar understorey characteristics at the lower 0.5 m level height, coppice was significantly positively associated with the 2 m height band compared with Irregular. This reflects the stages at which the coppice growth had reached when measured with only 10% at less than three years since cutting. Coppice management also requires a high stool density to be viable, with 1,200-2,000 stools ha⁻¹ for hazel and produces a high number of growing shoots per stool when cut on a 7–10-year cycle compared to older stools, and those cut on longer rotations associated with high forest and under-managed stands (Harmer and Howe 2003). Conversion to high forest leads to a decrease in understorey regrowth, particularly

for hazel, because of the relationship between the increasing number of canopy trees and the availability of light reaching the understorey (Howe 1995). However, Irregular high forest had a more open overstorey and was characterised by a lower basal area, which was comparable with that of coppice over the wider woodland area in this study. Bramble contributed to the higher values associated with understorey density at 0.5 m height band being most positively correlated with Irregular. Bramble is associated with canopy opening and can lead to a reduction of ground flora unless canopy closure occurs rapidly as in the case of coppice (Harmer *et al.* 2017). However, bramble was not negatively associated with the ground flora in this study although its presence is carefully monitored by the estate foresters, and interventions through cutting undertaken where it has suppressed tree regeneration (Poore 2016). Bramble is an important species providing cover for nesting birds and nectar sources for invertebrates (Fuller and Warren 1993).

For all groups studied, woodland birds, bats and vascular plants, species richness and abundance were associated with a more open canopy and developed understorey. These findings concur with those of Sebek et al. (2015) who identified similar patterns in bird and plant species responses following canopy opening in otherwise closed canopy woods. However, species richness per se may not reflect the conservation value of ancient woodlands as it includes species with a ubiquitous distribution that are often generalists (Hopkins and Kirby 2007, Fuller et al. 2007). All the species of conservation interest were positively associated towards increasingly open woodland and understorey, although some, including Barbastelle bat Barbastella barbastellus, with a Vulnerable conservation status in the United Kingdom and globally near-threatened (Mathews and Harrower 2020, Piraccini 2016), avoided the densest understorey (Alder et al. 2021). Marsh Tit Poecile palustris, a red listed bird of conservation concern (Stanbury et al. 2021), also positively responded in this way with exceptionally high densities in Irregular high forest (Alder et al. 2018). Marsh Tit requires cavities in trees in which to nest and suitable foraging resources within the canopy and understorey (Broughton et al. 2012). In this study both Marsh Tit and Barbastelle bat were most strongly associated with Irregular high forest stands with fewer but larger canopy trees and a higher proportion of standing deadwood than the other stand types (Alder et al. 2018, Alder et al. 2021). Woodland bat

species richness was highest in Irregular high forest stands, where activity levels for six of nine bat species reached a maximum. Notably, this included the rarest species encountered, Barbastelle.

Stands with larger trees and their associated microhabitat features, deadwood snags and cavities are generally valuable to forest biodiversity especially those associated with old growth such as saproxylic invertebrates, lichens and fungi (Dieler *et al.* 2017). However, in lowland British woodlands early successional habitats typically associated with the coppice cycle are important for several taxa; birds, vascular plants and thermophilic invertebrates because of the varied and dynamic changes that rapidly occur over 7-10 years of a typical rotation (Fuller and Warren 1991). Several woodland bird species in our study were mainly associated with coppice e.g., Garden warbler *Sylvia borin* and Willow warbler *Phylloscopus trochilus* while avoiding open areas without dense understorey regardless of canopy cover. Irregular high forest provided some of their habitat requirements with second highest densities, being notably absent in the limited intervention stands where the structural resources which they rely on were absent (Alder *et al.* 2018). While those species associated with old growth features in mature trees e.g., Great spotted woodpecker *Dendrocopus major*, and Eurasian Treecreeper Certhia familiaris, were most abundant in Irregular high forest.

In some cases, species responded to a given habitat structural variable similarly across the three stand management types, whereas in others, the response differed among stand management types. For example, several bat species were significantly associated with larger diameter trees in coppice stands but not Irregular. This may be because in coppice, larger trees are at the lowest density and provide an increasingly important foraging and navigating resource for bats in this stand type (Langridge *et al.* 2019), or it may be that a particular species exhibited differential habitat segregation (Davidson-Watts *et al.* 2006). For bats, and quite likely other mobile vertebrates, changes in habitat use can vary according to location within a landscape matrix (Lintott *et al.* 2015). Habitat selection is scale dependent and detection of resource-use versus its availability can be localised when these resources e.g., foraging sites, are geographically restricted (Alder and Marsden 2010, Johnson 1980).
There were no significant differences detected in ancient woodland vascular plant abundances between coppice or Irregular stands (Alder et al. 2023). All are coppiceassociated species with a long history of alignment with traditional coppice management (Rackham 2003). Ancient woodland vascular plants are indicators of woodland continuity yet exhibit varied phytosociological responses according to individual species adaptation to the amount of light they receive; different species responding according to their tolerance or avoidance of shade (Kirby 2021). Some, like Dog's Mercury Mercurialis perennis, are shade tolerators, identified as significantly so in this study while others such as Woodruff Galium odoratum are vernal species which emerge and flower during early spring before leaf-emergence on trees and shrubs (Decocq et al. 2005). Ancient Woodland Vascular Plant richness characterised the dependence of the light and dark phases being positive with an opening canopy and understorey, while negative in stands which are closed yet lack understorey (Alder et al. 2023). Coppice-associated plant communities are linked to a rapid and dynamic change following the rotational cutting of woody stems which is typically very 7-15 years, sometimes longer, although extending cutting cycles does alter plant communities towards increasing shade tolerance (Buckley 2020). Conversely, areas of woodland that become permanently open in which woody vegetation is constantly being removed e.g., by heavy browsing by deer Cervidae may lose the woodland plant community which is replaced by a grasses *Poacaea* and sedges Cyperaceae (Cooke and Farrell 2001). While there was no evidence in the study at Rushmore of significant deer impacts there were higher cover values detected for grasses in the Irregular stands.

6.3 Woodland Management Implications

Continuous cover forestry, of which Irregular high forest is one management system, promotes diverse stand structures which can help mitigate uncertain risks resulting from a less stable climate while promoting biodiversity (Tew *et al.* 2021, Pommerening and Murphy 2004, Kerr 1999). Most woodlands in Europe have been affected by human intervention with few uniquely natural stands, such as those of Białowieża, Poland, to act as a guide to natural stand dynamics and how these interact with woodland species

(Jaroszewicz et al. 2019). Moreover, there will be geographically distinctive woodlands throughout Europe which reflect a blend of historical use, soils, and climate (Krumm et al. 2020, Larsen et al. 2022). However, forest management when carefully considered at multiple scales has the potential for positive outcomes for biodiversity (Schulze et al. 2019). In this research at Rushmore, species-specific responses to woodland gradients varied considerably and although the results are likely to be similar to those found on a natural disturbance gradient within temperate woodlands, the difficulties in making assumptions of overall habitat conditions in dynamic structures are recognised. However, this research has shown how Irregular silviculture accommodated bats, birds and ancient woodland plants, and was significantly correlated with each of two gradients, (those which accounted for the most structural variation), in the multivariate analysis. These included a more open canopy with a mix of understorey densities and lower basal area. Compared with coppice and limited intervention stands, Irregular silviculture provided the broadest range of conditions along a wide 'structural bandwidth' that included both old growth and early successional habitat structures; important functional resources for woodland biodiversity (Hilmers et al. 2015). A knowledge of structural gradients and microhabitat features can be especially useful to guide woodland management alongside a priori evidence of the responses of different taxa to various environmental conditions (Paillet et al. 2018, Evans et al. 2019).

The dynamics of woodland vegetation are not immutable although the development of a more uneven-aged and vertically mixed structure can be very gradual, often taking hundreds of years in even-aged high forest in the absence of significant natural disturbances (Peterken and Mountford 2017). Stand management using Irregular high forest therefore presents an opportunity to rapidly create structural complexity and heterogeneity at varying spatial scales providing conditions for a range of woodland species in addition to sustainable exploitation of the timber resource (Quine et al. 2007, Kerr 1999). Woodland heterogeneity will become increasingly important as part of an adaptive response towards developing resilient woodlands (Muys *et al.* 2022). Targeted woodland management measures which lead to woodland structures like those identified in Irregular high forest in this study i.e., lower basal area, heterogeneous canopy cover and dynamic understorey regeneration have been shown to benefit specialist and

threatened woodland birds, and highlights the value of structural complexity in woodland (Bellamy *et al.* 2022).

The European Forestry Institute (EFI) the representative Forestry organisation of thirty European member states, including the United Kingdom, has established the newer concept of 'Closer to Nature Forest Management' (Larsen *et al.* 2022) Using the most recent scientific research, (including work on woodland birds from this study (Alder *et al.* 2018)), the EFI defines the concept along the recommendation of seven principles for forest and woodland management (Larsen *et al.* 2022). All of which can be delivered through the adoption of Irregular high forest management.

The seven principles of Closer-to-Nature Forest Management are:

- 1. Retention of habitat trees, special habitats, and dead wood
- 2. Promoting native tree species as well as site adapted non-native species
- 3. Promoting natural tree regeneration
- 4. Partial harvests and promotion of stand structural heterogeneity
- 5. Promoting tree species mixtures and genetic diversity
- 6. Avoidance of intensive management operations
- 7. Supporting landscape heterogeneity and functioning

Irregular silviculture appears to provide a range of resources for different taxonomic groups reflecting the stand successional gradient with a comparatively broad 'structural bandwidth.' Integrating silvicultural interventions which represent a more heterogenous stand structure and tree species composition associated with continuous cover forestry are known to be important to a broad range of communities in temperate forests (Tinya *et al.* 2021). For those ancient woodland species associated with early successional and more open woodland, Irregular silviculture in this study retained suitable conditions, while also exhibiting old growth features notably larger trees and standing deadwood. Irregular silviculture, as has been demonstrated in this study, offers reasons for optimism.

6.4 Future research

Where a primary aim is to conserve a range of woodland species through retaining both early successional and old growth characteristics which are known to be lacking in many European ancient woodlands, care is required in selecting indicator species which are truly representative of a wider cohort (Oettel and Lapin 2021). Advancing knowledge of woodland structures and the way they correlate with a selection of relevant indicator species will be useful to inform forest managers (Lõhmus *et al.* 2015). Further research is suggested within Irregular high forest to include invertebrate groups e.g., Moths, and also Fungi, Bryophytes and Lichens as these are likely to exhibit contrasting responses to woodland management (Gerlach *et al.* 2013, Jokela *et al.* 2018). Ancient woodlands, however, vary considerably in Britain (Rodwell 1998) and environmental conditions correspondingly will be different and therefore selection of indicator species should reflect this (Goldberg *et al.* 2007). It is important to recognise that no single type of silviculture can cater for all species and wider landscape scale factors affect populations (Nilsson 2009).

Responses of different species to varying conditions along gradients requires further research from a range of sites before they can be more widely applicable as indicators; this should include looking at other metrics e.g., traits and phylogenetic diversity, which may further explain the relationships between an organism and habitat (Evans *et al.* 2019, Bełcik *et al.* 2020). A recommendation pertinent to this study is to undertake a traits-based analysis of the moth data from Rushmore to better interpret the associations with the structural gradients and to explore congruence with the different plant guilds that were identified (Alder *et al.* 2023). This should include an assessment of species similarity to check for patterns of community congruence in the way moth and plant communities (and the other vertebrate species) relate to each other within and between sites representing different habitat structures and silvicultural management types (Larrieu *et al.* 2019). An understanding of these trophic interactions can provide valuable insights into how species of conservation concern e.g., Barbastelle bat, is influenced by woodland management (Carr *et al.* 2020). Linking species diversity and key woodland indicator species with economic measures such as timber yield and incremental growth of timber

trees will likely be necessary when accounting for the wider benefits of forestry management (see Susse *et al.* 2011). Moreover, identifying indicator species and associated biological communities will be important when considering the ecological functioning of woodlands and their resilience to meet with the various demands being placed upon them towards climate adaptation (Crane 2022). Natural capital value, carbon stocks, carbon sequestration, flood management, rewilding and human wellbeing are increasingly being recognised in environmental and forestry policy mechanisms (Dandy 2023). The asset value of UK woodlands was estimated to be £351.4 billion in 2020; while timber and wood fuel accounted for 3.6% of this figure or £12.6 billion (ONS 2022). In order to meet the broad range of objectives, the outcomes for biodiversity should be better understood alongside the silvicultural management types used (Asbeck *et al.* 2021).

Promoting stand structural characteristics with known associations for woodland species diversity across a forest successional gradient (Hilmers et al. 2018), is likely to meet the habitat requirements of a range of woodland species and taxonomic groups (Leidinger et al. 2020). Selecting a combination of habitat structural measures may be especially helpful to develop species diversity models as has been shown for forest plant communities (Gao et al. 2014). Further studies looking at the interaction with tree canopy and understorey structures and the way it modulates woodland plant communities are recommended in Irregular stands. Moreover, developing stand-level structural indicators of biodiversity may be more readily interpretable for foresters, rather than using indicator species, to guide forest management (Cosović et al. 2020). The value of structural indicators of biodiversity requires further testing with a wider cohort of taxonomic groups, including the examples mentioned above, in different stand management types to assess their potential congruence and surrogacy. As found in this research species of conservation concern i.e., Marsh Tit, Barbastelle bat and ancient woodland plants appear to flourish in Irregular silviculture, although these do not fully account for the beta diversity found in ancient woodlands. Nevertheless, a blend of stand structural measurements and targeted monitoring of different taxon with known habitat associations e.g., ancient woodland specialists, may offer a pragmatic solution to foresters to help towards enhancing overall woodland biodiversity (Tinya et al. 2021).

Importantly, such measures must be readily interpretable on the ground, simple to integrate into forest management plans and contribute to conservation condition assessments for ancient woodlands (Lelli *et al.* 2019, Goldberg *et al.* 2015, Kraus and Krumm 2013, Ferris and Humphrey 1999).

Alder, D.C., Edwards, B., Poore, A., Norrey, J. and Marsden, S.J., 2023. Irregular silviculture and stand structural effects on the plant community in an ancient semi-natural woodland. Forest Ecology and Management, 527, p.120622.

Alder, D. C., Poore, A., Norrey, J., Newson, S. E., and Marsden, S. J. 2021. Irregular silviculture positively influences multiple bat species in a lowland temperate broadleaf woodland. Forest Ecology and Management, 483, 118786.

Alder, D. C., Fuller, R. J., and Marsden, S. J. 2018. Implications of transformation to irregular silviculture for woodland birds: A stand wise comparison in an English broadleaf woodland. Forest Ecology and Management, 422, 69-78.

Asbeck, T., Sabatini, F., Augustynczik, A.L., Basile, M., Helbach, J., Jonker, M., Knuff, A. and Bauhus, J., 2021. Biodiversity response to forest management intensity, carbon stocks and net primary production in temperate montane forests. Scientific Reports, 11(1), p.1625.

Barnes, G. and Williamson, T., 2015. Rethinking ancient woodland: the archaeology and history of woods in Norfolk. University of Hertfordshire Press. 288pp.

Bełcik, M., Lenda, M., Amano, T., and Skórka, P. 2020. Different response of the taxonomic, phylogenetic and functional diversity of birds to forest fragmentation. Scientific reports, 10(1), 1-11.

Bellamy, P.E., Charman, E.C., Riddle, N., Kirby, W.B., Broome, A.C., Siriwardena, G.M., Grice, P.V., Peach, W.J. and Gregory, R.D., 2022. Impact of woodland agri-environment management on woodland structure and target bird species. Journal of Environmental Management, 316, p.115221.

Bergès, L., and Dupouey, J. L. 2021. Historical ecology and ancient forests: Progress, conservation issues and scientific prospects, with some examples from the French case. Journal of Vegetation Science, 32(1), e12846.

Broughton, R. K., Hill, R. A., Freeman, S. N., Bellamy, P. E., and Hinsley, S. A. 2012. Describing habitat occupation by woodland birds with territory mapping and remotely sensed data: an example using the Marsh Tit (Poecile palustris). The Condor, 114(4), 812-822.

Buckley, P. 2020. Coppice restoration and conservation: a European perspective. Journal of Forest Research, 25(3), 125-133.

Carr, A., Weatherall, A., Fialas, P., Zeale, M. R., Clare, E. L., and Jones, G. 2020. Moths consumed by the Barbastelle Barbastella barbastellus require larval host plants that occur within the bat's foraging habitats. Acta Chiropterologica, 22(2), 257-269.

Cooke, A. S., and Farrell, L. 2001. Impact of muntjac deer (Muntiacus reevesi) at monks wood national nature reserve, Cambridgeshire, eastern England. Forestry, 74(3), 241-250.

Ćosović, M., Bugalho, M. N., Thom, D., and Borges, J. G. 2020. Stand structural characteristics are the most practical biodiversity indicators for forest management planning in Europe. Forests, 11(3), 343.

Davidson-Watts, I., Walls, S., and Jones, G. 2006. Differential habitat selection by Pipistrellus pipistrellus and Pipistrellus pygmaeus identifies distinct conservation needs for cryptic species of echolocating bats. Biological conservation, 133(1), 118-127.

Dandy, N. 2023. Is rewilding relevant to contemporary forest policy? British Wildlife 34. (4). 247–253.

Decocq, G., Aubert, M., Dupont, F., Bardat, J., Wattez-Franger, A., Saguez, R., De Foucault, B., Alard, D. and Delelis-Dusollier, A., 2005. Silviculture-driven vegetation change in a European temperate deciduous forest. Annals of forest science, 624, pp.313-323.

Dieler, J., Uhl, E., Biber, P., Müller, J., Rötzer, T., and Pretzsch, H. 2017. Effect of forest stand management on species composition, structural diversity, and productivity in the temperate zone of Europe. European Journal of Forest Research, 136(4), 739-766.

Dietz, C., von Helversen, O., Nill, D., Lina, P.H. and Hutson, A.M., 2009. Bats of Britain, Europe and Northwest Africa. London: A & C Black. 400pp.

Dolman, P., Williamson, T., Fuller, R., and Barnes, G. 2017. What does 'traditional'management really mean?. British Wildlife, 29(2), 113-119.

Evans, P.M., Newton, A.C., Cantarello, E., Sanderson, N., Jones, D.L., Barsoum, N., Cottrell, J.E., A'Hara, S.W. and Fuller, L., 2019. Testing the relative sensitivity of 102 ecological variables as indicators of woodland condition in the New Forest, UK. Ecological Indicators, 107, p.105575.

Erasmy, M., Leuschner, C., Balkenhol, N., and Dietz, M. 2021. Shed light in the dark–How do natural canopy gaps influence temperate bat diversity and activity? Forest Ecology and Management, 497, 119509.

Ferris, R., and Humphrey, J. W. 1999. A review of potential biodiversity indicators for application in British forests. Forestry, 72(4), 313-328.

Fichtner, A., and Härdtle, W. 2021. Forest Ecosystems: A Functional and Biodiversity Perspective. In Perspectives for Biodiversity and Ecosystems (pp. 383-405). Springer, Cham.

Fuller, R.J. and Warren, M.S. 1991. Conservation management in ancient and modern woodlands: responses of fauna to edges and rotations. The Scientific Management of Temperate Communities for Conservation (eds I.F. Spellerberg, F.B. Goldsmith and M.G. Morris), pp 445–472. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.

Fuller, R.J. and Warren, M.S., 1993. Coppiced woodlands: their management for wildlife. Second edition. Joint Nature Conservation Committee. 29pp.

Fuller, R. J. 1992. Effects of coppice management on woodland breeding birds. In Buckley (Ed.) Chapter 9. Ecology and management of coppice woodlands, pp.169-192. Chapman and Hall. 336pp.

Fuller, R. J., Smith, K. W., Grice, P. V., Currie, F. A., and Quine, C. P. 2007. Habitat change and woodland birds in Britain: implications for management and future research. Ibis, 149, 261-268.

Gerlach, J., Samways, M., and Pryke, J. 2013. Terrestrial invertebrates as bioindicators: an overview of available taxonomic groups. Journal of insect conservation, 17(4), 831-850.

Gao, T., Hedblom, M., Emilsson, T. and Nielsen, A.B., 2014. The role of forest stand structure as biodiversity indicator. Forest Ecology and Management, 330, pp.82-93.

Goldberg, E., Kirby, K., Hall, J., and Latham, J. 2007. The ancient woodland concept as a practical conservation tool in Great Britain. Journal for Nature Conservation, 15(2), 109-119.

Goldberg, E., 2015. The UK's Ancient Woodland Inventory and its use. Europe's changing woods and forests: In Kirby,K.J. and Watkins, C.(eds) From Wildwood to Managed Landscapes. Wallingford: CABI, pp.326-336.

Jaroszewicz, B., Cholewińska, O., Gutowski, J. M., Samojlik, T., Zimny, M., and Latałowa, M. 2019. Białowieża forest—A relic of the high naturalness of European forests. Forests, 10(10), 849.

Jokela, J., Juutilainen, K., Korpela, L., Kouki, J., Kuntsi, S., Koivula, M., and Siitonen, J. 2018. Cross-taxon congruence and relationships to stand characteristics of vascular plants, bryophytes, polyporous fungi and beetles in mature managed boreal forests. Ecological Indicators, 85, 137-145.

Johnson, D.H., 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology, 611, pp.65-71.

Hahn, T., Eggers, J., Subramanian, N., Toraño Caicoya, A., Uhl, E., and Snäll, T. 2021. Specified resilience value of alternative forest management adaptations to storms. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 36(7-8), 585-597.

Harmer, R. and Howe, J., 2003. The silviculture and management of coppice woodlands. The silviculture and management of coppice woodlands. Forestry Commission. Edinburgh. 88pp.

Hilmers, T., Friess, N., Bässler, C., Heurich, M., Brandl, R., Pretzsch, H., Seidl, R. and Müller, J., 2018. Biodiversity along temperate forest succession. Journal of Applied Ecology, 55(6), pp.2756-2766.

Hopkins, J. J., and Kirby, K. J. 2007. Ecological change in British broadleaved woodland since 1947. Ibis, 149, 29-40.

Howe, J. 1995 Hazel coppice, past, present and future. Hampshire County Council. 38pp.

Kerr, G. 1999. The use of silvicultural systems to enhance the biological diversity of plantation forests in Britain. Forestry, 72(3), 191-205.

Kirby, K.J., Buckley, G.P. and Mills, J., 2017. Biodiversity implications of coppice decline, transformations to high forest and coppice restoration in British woodland. Folia geobotanica, 52, pp.5-13.

Kirby,. 2021. Woodland flowers. Colourful past, uncertain future. Published by Bloomsbury Wildlife, London. 400pp.

Kirby, K. J., Bazely, D. R., Goldberg, E. A., Hall, J. E., Isted, R., Perry, S. C., and Thomas, R. C. 2022. Five decades of ground flora changes in a temperate forest: The good, the bad and the ambiguous in biodiversity terms. Forest Ecology and Management, 505, 119896.

Kjučukov, P., Hofmeister, J., Bače, R., Vítková, L., & Svoboda, M. 2022. The effects of forest management on biodiversity in the Czech Republic: an overview of biologists' opinions. iForest-Biogeosciences and Forestry, 153, 187.

Kopecký, M., Hédl, R., and Szabó, P. 2013. Non-random extinctions dominate plant community changes in abandoned coppices. Journal of Applied Ecology, 50(1), 79-87.

Kortmann, M., Hurst, J., Brinkmann, R., Heurich, M., Silveyra González, R., Müller, J., and Thorn, S. 2018. Beauty and the beast: how a bat utilizes forests shaped by outbreaks of an insect pest. Animal Conservation, 21(1), 21-30.

Kraus D., Krumm F. (eds) 2013. Integrative approaches as an opportunity for the conservation of forest biodiversity. European Forest Institute. 284 pp.

Krumm F, Rigling A, Bollmann K, Brang P, Dürr C, Gessler A, Schuck A, Schulz-Marty T, Winkel G. 2020. Synthesis: improving biodiversity conservation in European managed forests needs pragmatic, courageous, and regionally-rooted management approaches. In: Krumm F, Schuck A, Rigling A (eds). How to balance forestry and biodiversity conservation – A view across Europe. European Forest Institute (EFI); Swiss Federal Institute for Forest, Snow and Landscape Research (WSL), Birmensdorf. pp. 609–633.

Langridge, J., Pisanu, B., Laguet, S., Archaux, F. and Tillon, L., 2019. The role of complex vegetation structures in determining hawking bat activity in temperate forests. Forest Ecology and Management, 448, pp.559-571.

Larsen, J.B., Angelstam, P., Bauhus, J., Carvalho, J.F., Diaci, J., Dobrowolska, D., Gazda, A., Gustafsson, L., Krumm, F., Knoke, T., Konczal, A., Kuuluvainen, T., Mason, B., Motta, R., Pötzelsberger, E., Rigling, A., Schuck, A., 2022. Closer-to-Nature Forest Management. From Science to Policy 12. European Forest Institute.

Larrieu, L., Gosselin, F., Archaux, F., Chevalier, R., Corriol, G., Dauffy-Richard, E., Deconchat, M., Gosselin, M., Ladet, S., Savoie, J.M. and Tillon, L., 2019. Assessing the potential of routine stand variables from multi-taxon data as habitat surrogates in European temperate forests. Ecological Indicators, 104, pp.116-126.

Leidinger, J., Weisser, W.W., Kienlein, S., Blaschke, M., Jung, K., Kozak, J., Fischer, A., Mosandl, R., Michler, B., Ehrhardt, M. and Zech, A., 2020. Formerly managed forest reserves complement integrative management for biodiversity conservation in temperate European forests. Biological conservation, 242, p.108437.

Lelli, C., Bruun, H.H., Chiarucci, A., Donati, D., Frascaroli, F., Fritz, Ö., Goldberg, I., Nascimbene, J., Tøttrup, A.P., Rahbek, C. and Heilmann-Clausen, J., 2019. Biodiversity response to forest structure and management: Comparing species richness, conservation relevant species and functional diversity as metrics in forest conservation. Forest Ecology and Management, 432, pp.707-717.

Lindenmayer, D.B., Laurance, W.F., Franklin, J.F., Likens, G.E., Banks, S.C., Blanchard, W., Gibbons, P., Ikin, K., Blair, D., McBurney, L. and Manning, A.D., 2014. New policies for old trees: averting a global crisis in a keystone ecological structure. Conservation Letters, 7(1), pp.61-69.

Lintott, P.R., Bunnefeld, N., Minderman, J., Fuentes-Montemayor, E., Mayhew, R.J., Olley, L. and Park, K.J., 2015. Differential responses to woodland character and landscape context by cryptic bats in urban environments. PLoS One, 105, p.e0126850. Lõhmus, A., Nellis, R., Pullerits, M., and Leivits, M. 2016. The potential for long-term sustainability in seminatural forestry: a broad perspective based on woodpecker populations. Environmental Management, 57(3), 558-571.

Mason, W. L., Diaci, J., Carvalho, J., and Valkonen, S. 2022. Continuous cover forestry in Europe: usage and the knowledge gaps and challenges to wider adoption. Forestry: An International Journal of Forest Research, 95(1), 1-12.

Mathews F, and Harrower C. 2020. IUCN – compliant Red List for Britain's Terrestrial Mammals. Assessment by the Mammal Society under contract to Natural England, Natural Resources Wales and Scottish Natural Heritage. Natural England, Peterborough ISBN 978-1-78354-485-1

Müllerová, J., Hédl, R., and Szabó, P. 2015. Coppice abandonment and its implications for species diversity in forest vegetation. Forest Ecology and Management, 343, 88-100.

Muys, B., Angelstam, P., Bauhus, J., Bouriaud, L., Jactel, H., Kraigher, H., Müller, J., Pettorelli, N., Pötzelsberger, E., Primmer, E., Svoboda, M., Thorsen, J.B., Van Meerbeek, K. 2022. Forest Biodiversity in Europe. From Science to Policy 13. European Forest Institute.

Nilsson, S, G. 2009. Selecting biodiversity indicators to set conservation targets: Species, structures, or processes? In Villard, M. A., and Jonsson, B. G. (Eds). Setting conservation targets for managed forest landscapes. Cambridge University Press. 79-108.

Ogle, K., Barber, J.J., Barron-Gafford, G.A., Bentley, L.P., Young, J.M., Huxman, T.E., Loik, M.E. and Tissue, D.T., 2015. Quantifying ecological memory in plant and ecosystem processes. Ecology letters, 18(3), pp.221-235.

Oettel, J., and Lapin, K. 2021. Linking forest management and biodiversity indicators to strengthen sustainable forest management in Europe. Ecological Indicators, 122, 107275.

ONS., 2022 Office for National Statistics released 15 December 2022, ONS website, bulletin, Woodland natural capital accounts, UK: 2022 https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/bulletins/woodlandnaturalc apitalaccountsuk/2022 Date accessed 20/4/2023

Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Du Puy, S., Bouget, C., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., Gilg, O., Gosselin, F. and Guilbert, E., 2018. The indicator side of tree microhabitats: A multi-taxon approach based on bats, birds and saproxylic beetles. Journal of Applied Ecology, 55(5), pp.2147-2159.

Peterken, G. and Mountford, E., 2017. Woodland development: a long-term study of Lady Park Wood. CABI. Wallingford. 285pp.

Piraccini, R. 2016. Barbastella barbastellus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T2553A22029285. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-2.RLTS.T2553A22029285.en Date accessed 20/4/2023

Poore, A. 2016. Rushmore Estate Woods; management plan 2016-2026. Estate Office, Tollard Royal, Wiltshire.

Pommerening, A., and Murphy, S. T. 2004. A review of the history, definitions and methods of continuous cover forestry with special attention to afforestation and restocking. Forestry, 77(1), 27-44.

Quine, C. P., Fuller, R. J., Smith, K. W., and Grice, P. V. 2007. Stand management: a threat or opportunity for birds in British woodland? Ibis, 149, 161-174.

Rackham, O., 2003. Ancient woodland, its history, vegetation and uses in England. New ed. Dalbeattie: Castlepoint Press.(Original work published 1980). 588pp

Rackham, O. 2008. Ancient woodlands: modern threats. New Phytologist, 571-586.

Rodwell, J.S. ed., 1998. British plant communities: volume 1, woodlands and scrub. Cambridge University Press. 395pp.

Schulze, E.D., Craven, D., Durso, A.M., Reif, J., Guderle, M., Kroiher, F., Hennig, P., Weiserbs, A., Schall, P., Ammer, C. and Eisenhauer, N., 2019. Positive association between forest management, environmental change, and forest bird abundance.

Sebek, P., Bace, R., Bartos, M., Benes, J., Chlumska, Z., Dolezal, J., Dvorsky, M., Kovar, J., Machac, O., Mikatova, B. and Perlik, M., 2015. Does a minimal intervention approach threaten the biodiversity of protected areas? A multi-taxa short-term response to intervention in temperate oak-dominated forests. Forest Ecology and Management, 358, pp.80-89.

Spencer, J. 2018. Forest resilience in British forests, woods and plantations-the ecological components. Quarterly Journal of Forestry, 1121, 53-62.

Spencer, J. W., & Field, A. 2019. Forest resilience in British forests, woods & plantations:
4. Forestry practice and 21st century challenges. Quarterly Journal of Forestry, 1133, 169-177.

Stanbury, A., Eaton, M., Aebischer, N., Balmer, D., Brown, A., Douse, A., Lindley, P., McCulloch, N., Noble, D. and Win, I., 2021. The status of our bird Populations. The fifth Birds of Conservation Concern in the United Kingdom, Channel Islands, and Isle of Man and second IUCN Red List assessment of extinction risk for Great Britain. British Birds, 114, pp.723-747.

Stafford, R., Chamberlain, B., Clavey, L., Gillingham, P.K., McKain, S., Morecroft, M.D., Morrison-Bell, C. and Watts, O. Eds. 2021. Nature-based Solutions for Climate Change in the UK: A Report by the British Ecological Society. London, UK. Available at: www. britishecologicalsociety.org/nature-basedsolutions Date accesed 20/4/2023

Tew, E., Coventry, R., Fensom, E. and Sorensen, C., 2021. Forest Resilience Part 2. Practical considerations. Quarterly Journal of Forestry 115 (3), 196-207.

Tinya, F., Kovács, B., Bidló, A., Dima, B., Király, I., Kutszegi, G., Lakatos, F., Mag, Z., Márialigeti, S., Nascimbene, J. and Samu, F., 2021. Environmental drivers of forest biodiversity in temperate mixed forests–A multi-taxon approach. Science of the Total Environment, 795, p.148720.

Vellend, M., Verheyen, K., Flinn, K., Jacquemyn, H., Kolb, A., Van Calster, H., Peterken, G., Graae, B.J., Bellemare, J., Honnay, O., and Brunet, J. 2007. Homogenization of forest plant communities and weakening of species–environment relationships via agricultural land use. Journal of Ecology, 95(3), pp.565-573.

Vitkova, L., & Dhubháin, Á. N. 2013. Transformation to continuous cover forestry - a review. Irish forestry, 119-140.

Zellweger, F., De Frenne, P., Lenoir, J., Vangansbeke, P., Verheyen, K., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Baeten, L., Hédl, R., Berki, I., Brunet, J. and Van Calster, H., 2020. Forest microclimate dynamics drive plant responses to warming. Science, 368(6492), pp.772-775.

Appendices

Appendix 1 Glossary of terminology and abbreviations used

Ancient woods (or ancient forests) are those where there has been continuous woodland cover since a set threshold date, often around 1600 CE in Britain. These might, however, be on land that was open at some time before this date, so they are not necessarily primary. They have also usually been felled or manged at some time.

ASNW – ancient semi-natural woodland, British context to describe woodland present since 1600 CE. Used interchangeably with ancient woodland and ancient forest.

AWI – ancient woodland indicator species; pertinent to vascular plants in ancient seminatural woodland used to assist with the classification of ancient woodland.

AWVP – ancient woodland vascular plant mostly synonymous with AWI but can include associated plants that form part of Rackham's coppice-guild

Block – woodland management unit area which may be comprised of several stands of different silvicultural type.

CCF – continuous cover forestry; a type of high forest silviculture based on retention of tree cover within a woodland. Continuous cover is an approach to forest management that is guided by four main principles:

1. managing the forest ecosystem rather than just the trees;

- 2. using natural processes as the basis for stand management;
- 3. working with site limitations;

4. creation of a diverse stand structure with a range of species.

As defined in Mason, B., Kerr, G. and Simpson, J. 1999) What is continuous cover forestry? Forestry Commission Information Note 29. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.

Close to nature forestry – another term which is often used synonymously with CCF and avoids clear-cutting, uses natural forest processes, natural regeneration and harvesting selectively, while allowing non-native species planting for economic necessity, adding structural diversity and minimising use of artificial pesticides and fertilizers. As defined in Bürgi, M. 2015: "Close-to-nature forestry." In, Kirby K, Watkins C (eds) Europe's changing woods and forests: from wildwood to managed landscapes; Cabi Int, Oxfordshire, UK, CABI, Wallingford 107-115.

Closer to nature forest management – a framework and guiding principles of the management of forests and woods coined by the European Forestry Institute which aims to improve the conservation values and climate resilience of multifunctional, managed forests throughout Europe. As defined in Larsen, J.B., Angelstam, P., Bauhus, J., Carvalho, J.F., Diaci, J., Dobrowolska, D., Gazda, A., Gustafsson, L., Krumm, F., Knoke, T., Konczal, A., Kuuluvainen, T., Mason, B., Motta, R., Pötzelsberger, E., Rigling, A., Schuck, A., 2022. Closer-to-Nature Forest Management. From Science to Policy 12. European Forest Institute.

Coppice – the underwood silvicultural system of cyclical cutting of trees which regrow and are harvested on short rotations between 4 and 30 years across a compartment or coup. The resultant growth is therefore even-aged. Typically, single species but can be two or three species. See Harmer and Howe (2003).

Coup – a term describing the compartment or area of underwood which is under a coppice management system.

Forest – an area of trees and a term which in this thesis is interchangeable with woodland. It also refers to the medieval description of land which was subject to forest law related to hunting and had varying degrees of tree cover not always entirely wooded, e.g., The New Forest in Hampshire. High forest – refers to canopy cover and relates to the system of silviculture which harvests canopy trees or overstorey but also refers to unmanaged woodland cover with a high forest canopy cover that has developed since last management often many decades earlier.

Intervention – a term used to describe a forestry action undertaken within a stand or entire woodland block.

Irregular or Irregular high forest - Irregular stands are those where felling and regeneration are continuous over the whole area of a stand and in general where single tree or group selection systems are being used.

Overstorey – another name for canopy relating to the timber tree cover or coppice which has become overstood from neglect and now forms the main canopy overhead.

Plantation - are areas where the majority of trees have been planted. The stands may be created within existing woodland or on previously open ground, and are often referred to as planted forests. The trees may be native to the area or introductions; they may be planted in large even-aged blocks or as wide-spaced individual stems Evans 2009). Evans, J. 2009). Sustainable silviculture and management. Planted forests: Uses, impacts and sustainability, 113-140.

Self-thinning – woody stems which are shaded and weakened that die off as part of the process of natural stand dynamics.

Silvicultural system - Defined by Matthews 1991) as:

'the process by which crops constituting a forest are tended, removed, and replaced by new crops, resulting in the production of stands of distinctive form.' Matthews, J. D. 1991. Silvicultural systems. Oxford University Press. 284pp.

Stand – a distinct silvicultural unit area of woodland within a block which may itself be sub-divided into compartments for management.

Stool – a living coppice stump from which successive growing shoots emerge following each cutting intervention which for hazel is on a 7-to-10-year rotation, and for birch on a 3 to 4 year rotation in the study.

SFM – sustainable forest management, which aims to maintain and enhance the economic, social and environmental values of all types of forests, for the benefit of future generations, adopted at the Earth Summit United Nations Conference on Environment and Development) in Rio de Janeiro in 1992.

UKFS – United Kingdom Forestry Standard sets out the guidelines to sustainable forestry management and is the governance towards certification in accordance with national and international obligations.

UKWAS – United Kingdom Woodland Assurance Scheme, a certification scheme to meet with the requirements of the UKFS.

Underwood – refers to the woodland produce derived from coppicing trees.

Wood - woodland and Forest are all used generally to describe tree-covered lands. Wood tends to be used where relatively small discrete areas of land are involved: woodland and forest are used for more extensive tracts.

Wood Pasture - refers to landscapes where grazing by domestic stock or deer has created or maintained a relatively open tree cover. This includes parks whose boundaries are often marked by walls or fences as well as less well-defined areas with scattered trees.